
 

 
 

 
 

AGENDA PAPERS FOR 
 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

 

Date: Thursday, 15 October 2020 
 

Time:  4.00 pm 
 

Place:  Virtual Meeting on Zoom  
PLEASE NOTE: A link to the virtual meeting can be found below: 

 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCjwbIOW5x0NSe38sgFU8bKg/videos 
 

 
AGENDA    ITEM   

 
1.  ATTENDANCES   

 
To note attendances, including Officers and any apologies for absence.  
 

 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
Members to give notice of any Personal or Prejudicial Interest and the nature 
of that Interest relating to any item on the Agenda in accordance with the 
adopted Code of Conduct. 
 

 

3.  MINUTES   
 
To receive and, if so determined, to approve as a correct record the Minutes 
of the meetings held on 10th and 24th September, 2020.  
 

 
 
 

3 

4.  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC   
 
A maximum of 15 minutes will be allocated to public questions submitted in 
writing to Democratic Services (democratic.services@trafford.gov.uk) by 4pm 
two working days prior to the meeting. Questions must be within the remit of 
the Committee or be relevant to items appearing on the agenda and will be 
submitted in the order in which they were received. 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCjwbIOW5x0NSe38sgFU8bKg/videos


Planning and Development Management Committee - Thursday, 15 October 2020 
   

 

 

5.  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REPORT   
 
To consider a report of the Head of Planning and Development, to be tabled 
at the meeting.  
 

 

6.  PLANNING OBLIGATIONS: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS TOWARDS 
THE CARRINGTON RELIEF ROAD   
 
To consider the attached report of the Head of Planning and Development.  
 

 
 
 

6 

7.  APPLICATION FOR OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION 100400/OUT/20 - 
FORMER B&Q SITE, GREAT STONE ROAD, STRETFORD M32 0YP   
 
To consider the attached report of the Head of Planning and Development.  
 

 
 
 

7 

8.  APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP ETC   
 
To consider the attached reports of the Head of Planning and Development, 
for the following applications. 
 

Applications for Planning Permission  

100270 

Land Bound By Elsinore Road And Skerton Road, 
Stretford M16 0WF 

100835 165A Marsland Road, Sale, M33 3WE 

101019 4 Woodlands, Davyhulme, M41 7AA 

101192 26 Grangethorpe Road, Urmston, M41 9HT 

101371 39 - 42 Ingleby Court, Stretford, M32 8PY 

101460 1 Lichfield Road, Davyhulme, M41 0RU 

101467 321 Moorside Road, Flixton, M41 5PA 
 

 
 
 

8 

9.  URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY)   
 
Any other item or items which by reason of special circumstances (to be 
specified) the Chair of the meeting is of the opinion should be considered at 
this meeting as a matter of urgency. 
 

 

 
SARA TODD 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Membership of the Committee 
 
Councillors L. Walsh (Chair), A.J. Williams (Vice-Chair), Dr. K. Barclay, T. Carey, 
M. Cordingley, B. Hartley, D. Jerrome, M. Minnis, D. Morgan, K. Procter, B. Rigby, 
E.W. Stennett and B.G. Winstanley. 
 
 

https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=Q6OB44QL01T00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QAQ95OQLLJ600
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QBYJLWQLM4200
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QCVVKQQLMKO00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QDTB82QL01T00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QE9X0HQLFKV00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QEA8F7QL00Y00


Planning and Development Management Committee - Thursday, 15 October 2020 
   

 

 

 
Further Information 
For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact: 
 
Michelle Cody, Governance Officer 
Tel: 0161 912 2775 
Email: michelle.cody@trafford.gov.uk  
 
This agenda was issued on 6th October, 2020 by the Legal and Democratic Services 
Section, Trafford Council, Trafford Town Hall; Talbot Road, Stretford, Manchester, 
M32 0TH  
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
 10th SEPTEMBER, 2020   
 
 PRESENT:  
 
 Councillor Walsh (In the Chair),  
 Councillors Dr. Barclay, Cordingley, Evans (Substitute), Hartley, Holden (Substitute), 

Jerrome, Minnis, K. Procter, Stennett MBE, Williams and Winstanley.  
 
 In attendance:  Head of Planning and Development (Ms. R. Coley), 
 Head of Major Planning Projects (Mr. D. Pearson),  
 Major Planning Projects Manager (Mrs. S. Lowes), 
 Planning and Development Manager (East) (Ms. H. Milner),  
 Major Planning Projects Officer (Mr. C. McGowan),  
 Principal Highways & Traffic Engineer (Amey) (Mr. G. Evenson), 
 Solicitor (Mrs. C. Kefford),  
 Senior Governance Officer (Mr. I. Cockill),  
 Governance Officer (Miss M. Cody).  
 
 Also present:  Councillors Anstee CBE and Wright.  
 
 APOLOGIES 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Carey, Morgan and Rigby MBE.  
 
107.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Councillor Cordingley declared a Personal and Prejudicial Interest in Application 

99829/FUL/20 (Land at Circle Court, Barton Road, Stretford) due to his involvement.  
 
 Councillor Holden declared a Personal and Prejudicial Interest in Application 

100961/VAR/20 (Stretford Grammar School, Granby Road, Stretford) as he is a 
Governor at the School.  

  
108. MINUTES  
 
    RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 13th August, 2020, be 

approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  
 
109. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

No questions were submitted.  
 

110. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REPORT  
 
 The Head of Planning and Development submitted a report informing Members of 

additional information received regarding applications for planning permission to be 
determined by the Committee.  

 

Agenda Item 3



Planning and Development Management Committee 

10th September, 2020  
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

   RESOLVED:  That the report be received and noted.  
 
111.  APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP ETC 
 
 (a) Permission granted subject to standard conditions prescribed by statute, if any, and 

to any other conditions now determined  
 

 Application No., Address or Site 
 

 Description 

 100680/FUL/20 – Heyes Lane 
Junior and Infant School, Crofton 
Avenue, Timperley.  
 

 Erection of 1no. log cabin with storage to 
provide extra classroom space. 

 100961/VAR/20 – Stretford 
Grammar School, Granby Road, 
Stretford.  

 Application for variation of condition 5 on 
planning permission 97477/FUL/19 (Erection 
of a single storey extension, reconfiguration of 
car parking and ancillary works.). For 
proposed new surface water run-off rates and 
attenuation storage. 
 

 [Note:  Councillor Holden declared a Personal and Prejudicial Interest in Application 
100961/VAR/20, as he is a Governor at the School.  He remained in the meeting but did 
not participate in the debate or cast a vote on the Application.] 
 

 101160/VAR/20 – Broomwood 
Community Wellbeing Centre, 105 
Mainwood Road, Timperley.  

 Application for variation of condition 2 on 
planning permission 93797/FUL/18 (Erection 
of a single storey extension to the east facing 
elevation to form a sports hall) to vary the 
approved plans.  
 

112. APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 99829/FUL/20 – LAND AT CIRCLE 
COURT, BARTON ROAD, STRETFORD  

 
 [Note: Councillor Cordingley declared a Personal and Prejudicial Interest in Application 

99829/FUL/20, due to his involvement.  After making representations to the Committee 
he remained in the meeting but did not participate in the debate or cast a vote on the 
Application.] 

 
 The Head of Planning and Development submitted a report concerning an application for 

planning permission for the erection of a 9-storey hotel (use class C1) comprising 197 
bedrooms, formation of a new vehicular access onto Barton Road; associated parking 
and servicing areas; landscaping; provision of a detached sub-station and associated 
development thereto. 

 
 It was moved and seconded that planning permission be refused.  
 
 The motion was put to the vote and declared carried.  
 
   RESOLVED:  That planning permission be refused for the following reasons: 



Planning and Development Management Committee 

10th September, 2020  
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

 
(1) The proposed development, by reason of its siting, scale, height, massing and 

external appearance would result in an unduly cramped, dominant and obtrusive 
form of development, which would be out of keeping with the character of the 
surrounding area. Moreover, the development would result in the loss of trees 
within the site which it is unable to successfully mitigate with replacement planting 
because of the development's cramped layout. As such, the proposed development 
represents poor design, which would have a detrimental impact on the character 
and visual appearance of the street scene and the surrounding area. It is therefore 
considered that it would fail to comply with Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework, and the National Design Guide. 
  

(2) The proposed scheme represents an unsustainable form of development with 
limited accessibility to sustainable modes of transport and a reliance on private car 
journeys. The development would generate an additional demand for car parking 
which cannot be accommodated on the site in a satisfactory manner, resulting in 
vehicles being forced to park on the surrounding road network to the detriment of 
highway safety and residential amenity. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, SPD3: Parking Standards and 
Design and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

(3) The proposed vehicular access, with substandard visibility splays, would pose an 
unacceptable risk to highway safety on a busy road in close proximity to schools, a 
petrol filling station and residential properties. The proposed development is 
therefore contrary to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, SPD3: 
Parking Standards and Design and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
113. APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 100737/FUL/20 – 34 GREEN 

COURTS, GREEN WALK, BOWDON  
 
 The Head of Planning and Development submitted a report concerning an application for 

planning permission for the change of use of dwellinghouse into 3 residential units with 
the erection of a two-storey side extension, including minor alterations to existing 
elevations and the creation of two new bin stores. 

 
 It was moved and seconded that planning permission be refused.  
 
 The motion was put to the vote and declared lost.  
 
 It was moved and seconded that planning permission be granted subject to an additional 

condition requiring the provision of one additional parking space.  
 
 The motion was put to the vote and declared carried.  
 
   RESOLVED:  That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions now 

determined, with the removal of Condition 9 (as detailed in the Additional 
Information Report) due to duplication and subject to a further condition as follows:-  

 
 (9)  The residential units hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until the six 



Planning and Development Management Committee 

10th September, 2020  
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

car parking spaces shown on the approved site layout plan, received by the local 
planning authority on 14th September 2020, have been provided. The approved 
parking spaces shall be retained thereafter for the parking of vehicles.  

 
   Reason: In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity, having regard 

to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
114.  PROPOSED S TOPPING UP OF HIGHWAY VERGE LYING BETWEEN 

WESTINGHOUSE ROAD PARKWAY A5081AND PARKWAY CIRCLE AT TRAFFORD 
PARK  

 
 A report was submitted advising Members of an Application made to the Secretary of 

State for Transport under S247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to stop up 
an area of highway in Trafford Park to enable development to be carried out in 
accordance with the Planning Permission deemed to be granted by the Secretary of 
State for Transport under reference TWA/14/APP/06 and in connection with the 
Statutory Instrument 2016 No.1035 The Transport for Greater Manchester (Light Rapid 
Transit System) (Trafford Park Extension) Order 2016. 

 
   RESOLVED:   That no objection be raised to the Application. 
  
 The meeting commenced at 4.11pm and concluded at 6.11pm.   
 



 PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
 24th SEPTEMBER, 2020   
 
 PRESENT:  
 
 Councillor Walsh (In the Chair),  
 Councillors Dr. Barclay, Hartley, Jerrome, Minnis, Morgan, K. Procter, Rigby MBE, 

Stennett MBE, Williams and Winstanley.  
 
 In attendance:  Head of Planning and Development (Ms. R. Coley), 
 Head of Major Planning Projects (Mr. D. Pearson),  
 Major Planning Projects Manager (Mrs. S. Lowes), 
 Planning and Development Manager (East) (Ms. H. Milner),  
 Major Planning Projects Officer (Mr. J. Davis),  
 Principal Highways & Traffic Engineer (Amey) (Mr. G. Evenson), 
 Solicitor (Ms. J. Cobern),  
 Senior Governance Officer (Mr. I. Cockill),  
 Governance Officer (Miss M. Cody).  
 
 Also present:  Councillor Brophy.  
 
 APOLOGIES 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Carey and Cordingley.  
 
115.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 No declarations were made. 
  
116. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 
  A number of questions were submitted which were considered to be invalid, however, it 

was determined that these be treated as additional representations and as such were 
addressed within the Additional Information Report.   
 

117. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REPORT  
 
 The Head of Planning and Development submitted a report informing Members of 

additional information received regarding applications for planning permission to be 
determined by the Committee.  

 
   RESOLVED:  That the report be received and noted.  
 
118. APPLICATION FOR OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION 99795/OUT/20 – FORMER 

KELLOGG’S SITE, TALBOT ROAD, STRETFORD  
 
 The Head of Planning and Development submitted a report concerning an application for 

outline planning permission (with all matters reserved except for access) for the 
redevelopment of the site for up to 750no residential dwellings (Use Class C3); local 



Planning and Development Management Committee 

24th September, 2020  
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

centre and office uses (Use Class E); education (Use Class F1); hotel (Use Class C1); 
drinking establishment (sui generis); energy centre (Use Class B2) uses and associated 
infrastructure and open space, with access from Talbot Road. 

 
   RESOLVED: That Members are minded to grant planning permission for the 

development and that the determination of the application hereafter be deferred 
and delegated to the Head of Planning and Development as follows:-  

 
(i)   To complete a suitable Legal Agreement under S106 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to secure:  
 

 The provision of 15 per cent affordable housing on site which shall reflect the 
overall mix of unit sizes to be delivered.  

 A financial contribution towards off-site open space and facilities for 
children/young people.  

 A financial contribution towards off-site healthcare improvements.  

 Either the delivery of the primary school on site, or a financial contribution 
towards improvements to off-site primary education facilities.  

 A financial contribution towards the delivery of the proposed ‘processional route’ 
along Brian Statham Way.  

 A viability review mechanism to capture additional profits above those 
anticipated by the submitted Viability Appraisal, to fund further developer 
contributions.  

 A commitment to undertake and/or fund parking surveys on surrounding streets 

and where necessary, to seek and fund Traffic Regulation Orders and 
extensions to resident parking schemes. 

 
(ii) To carry out minor drafting amendments to any planning condition. 

 
(iii) To have discretion to determine the application appropriately in the circumstances 

where a S106 Agreement has not been completed within three months of the 
resolution to grant planning permission. 

 
(iv)   That upon the satisfactory completion of the above Legal Agreement planning 

permission be granted subject to the conditions now determined (unless amended 
by (ii) above).  

 
119.  APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION 100759/VAR/20 – 92-94 PARK ROAD, 

TIMPERLEY  
 
 The Head of Planning and Development submitted a report concerning an application for 

the removal of Condition 2 on planning permission H/21049 (Change of use of 94 Park 
Road from retail and residential accommodation to banking and ancillary office use of 
land to rear of 92 and 94 Park Road for car parking) to allow for the re-use of the 
building. 

 



Planning and Development Management Committee 

24th September, 2020  
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

   RESOLVED:  That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions now 
determined with the removal of Condition 2 and amendment to Condition 3 as 
follows:-   

 
 (2)  The development hereby permitted shall not take place until delivery and servicing 

hours, plans showing details of waste storage, the means of access and the areas 
for the movement, loading, unloading and parking of vehicles have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in strict accordance with the hours of servicing / delivery. The 
development shall not be brought into use until such areas have been provided, 
constructed and surfaced in complete accordance with the approved plans. 
Thereafter, the means of access and the areas for the movement, loading, 
unloading and parking of vehicles shall be retained for their intended purpose. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, revocation and re-enactment thereof, no development (other than 
that carried out in accordance with this permission) shall take place on any of the 
areas so provided.   

 
   Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made within the site for the 

accommodation of vehicles attracted to or generated by the proposed 
development, and to ensure that servicing / deliveries can be achieved outside of 
peak traffic times, having regard to L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, 
Supplementary Planning Document 3 - Parking Standards and Design and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

    
120. CHESHAM HOUSE, 101 CHURCH ROAD, URMSTON: MAKING OF IMMEDIATE 

ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR 
THE DEMOLITION OF THE BUILDING 

 
 The Head of Planning and Development submitted a report setting out the reasons 

behind the proposal to make an immediate Article 4 Direction removing permitted 
development rights for the demolition of Chesham House. 

 
   RESOLVED –  
 

(i) That the making of an immediate Direction pursuant to Article 4(1) of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 to 
withdraw the permitted development rights to demolish Chesham House, 101 
Church Road, Urmston is appropriate, and justified, as demolition of Chesham 
House would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and constitutes a 
threat to the amenities of the area. 
 

(ii) Approve the making of the Article 4(1) Direction for Chesham House, 101 Church 
Road, Urmston.  

 
(iii) Delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Governance and Community 

Strategy to make the Article 4(1) Direction for the land at Chesham House, 101 



Planning and Development Management Committee 

24th September, 2020  
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

Church Road, Urmston and delegate to the Corporate Director of Place authority to 
carry out all necessary consultation following the making of the Direction, to notify 
the Secretary of State in accordance with statutory requirements and to take all 
other action considered necessary or expedient to give effect to the matters set out 
in the report.  

 
(iv) Confirm that the Article 4(1) Direction will be effective with immediate effect once 

made. 
 

(v) Delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Governance and Community 
Strategy to confirm the Direction in due course if there are no objections.  

 
(vi) Request that subsequent planning applications involving the demolition of 

Chesham House and where the Article 4 Direction remains in force to be referred 
to the Planning and Development Management Committee for determination. 

 
  The meeting commenced at 5.31pm and concluded at 7.48pm.  
 
 



  

 
TRAFFORD COUNCIL 
 
Report to:   Planning and Development Management Committee 
Date:    15th October 2020  
Report for:   Decision  
Report of:  Head of Planning and Development 
 
Report Title 
 

 
Planning Obligations: Developer Contributions towards the Carrington Relief 
Road. 
 

 
Summary 
 

 
The report explains the current position with the severely congested road 
infrastructure in the Carrington Strategic Location and the competing separate 
proposals for junction improvements to mitigate the impact from individual 
developments.  
 
This report explains that, following a change in the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Regulations, S106 contributions to highways and other infrastructure can now 
be sought, as well as CIL. 
 
The report explains that there is a significant funding gap for the Carrington Relief 
Road, which is required by Policy SL5 of the Core Strategy to make development 
acceptable in the Carrington Strategic Location, and would provide a single solution 
to mitigate highways impacts from developments in the allocation. The Carrington 
Relief Road will also enable future development in the GMSF New Carrington 
allocation to come forward.  
 
The report then sets out how financial contributions towards the Carrington Relief 
Road will be calculated for development within the Carrington Strategic Location in 
accordance with Policies SL5 and L8 of the Core Strategy, returning to a formula 
used prior to the adoption of CIL.  
 
The additional funding from developer contributions makes the delivery of the 
Carrington Relief Road much more certain as the funding gap can be closed by a 
mixture of these contributions and future CIL payments.  
 
The methodology for calculating developer contributions is a material consideration 
in the determination of planning applications with immediate effect. It does not 
replace existing policy or guidance but explains how it is to be applied. 
 

 
 
Recommendation  
 

 
That Planning and Development Management Committee note the contents of this 

Agenda Item 6



  

report and the methodology for calculating developer contributions to the Carrington 
Relief Road and approves it as a material consideration in the determination of 
planning applications. 
 

 
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 
Name:  Sarah Lowes 
Extension: 0161 912 3215 
 
1.0 Introduction and Background 

 
1.1 The Council is currently developing initial proposals for a significant piece of 

highways infrastructure in Carrington – known locally as the Carrington Relief 
Road. The local highway network within the Carrington area and specifically the 
A6144 Manchester Road is operating well above capacity and is subject to severe 
congestion and significant queueing of traffic at peak times. The proposed new 
road will address this capacity issue and open up large areas of mainly brownfield 
land for development in accordance with Council’s aspirations for the Carrington 
Strategic Location as set out in the adopted development plan – specifically Policy 
SL5 of the Trafford Core Strategy.  
 

1.2 The delivery of new highway infrastructure including the relief road is key to 
unlocking the development potential of the strategic allocation and beyond  and, 
further, without this new highway infrastructure the individual and cumulative 
impact of new development in the area would result in a severe impact on the local 
road network. Policy SL5 requires new road infrastructure – and developer 
contributions towards it – to make development acceptable in the Strategic 
Location. Policy SL5.2 of the Core Strategy states that the Strategic Location can 
deliver new road infrastructure to serve the development area to relieve 
congestion on the existing A6144 and Policy SL5.4 states that in order for 
development to be acceptable ‘contributions towards schemes to mitigate the 
impact of traffic… includ[ing] highway infrastructure schemes’  will be required. A 
new ‘link road’ is identified in both Paras 8.66  and 8.73 of the Core Strategy and 
the evidence base that underpinned the Core Strategy identified that ‘significant 
schemes’ were required (Para 8.74). This ‘link road’ is what is now known as the 
CRR. Delivery of the CRR has proved very challenging not least because under 
the CIL regulations in place until September 2019 the only means of securing 
these developer contributions was through the Community Infrastructure Levy. 
The CRR was included in the Council’s CIL Regulation 123 list and S106 
contributions could not thus be sought. 
 

1.3 The new highway will directly benefit a number of development sites within the 
SL5 allocation and also facilitate  additional  development sites in the future in 
Carrington, Partington and Sale West as the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework and the New Carrington allocation comes forward. 

 
1.4 The Council are currently developing a number of options for the road layout for 

consultation before working up a detailed design for the chosen route. Although 
the precise alignment of the highway infrastructure is yet to be determined, and 
will require its own planning permission, the need for significant strategic 
improvements to the highway network in Carrington is well established. It is 
proposed that a planning application for the road will be submitted in early 2021.  
On current estimates the cost of the road is likely to be £30 million.  The Council 



  

has secured grant funding in the region of £14.4 million through Growth Deal 3 
and the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF); a £15.6 million funding gap has 
therefore been identified.  

 
1.5 This report sets out how developer contributions via planning obligations from 

planning applications can be secured towards this necessary highways 
infrastructure (the Carrington Relief Road) and how these contributions are to be 
calculated. This will substantially address the funding gap and support the delivery 
of development in accordance with Policies SL5 and L8 of the Core Strategy.  It is 
evident from the imposition of various ‘Grampian’ and phasing conditions on 
existing planning permissions and Committee ‘minded to grant’ resolutions in the 
Strategic Location that individual and piecemeal highway improvements will not 
deliver the necessary highway capacity to deliver development in the Strategic 
Location.  
 

2.0 Carrington Strategic Location 
 

2.1 The Carrington area is identified as a strategic location within the Trafford Core 
Strategy 2012, with the aim of reducing the isolation of both Carrington and 
Partington by redeveloping large areas of former industrial brownfield land to 
create a mixed use sustainable community. This is set out in Policy SL5 of the 
Core Strategy which considers that the location could deliver 1560 residential 
units; 75 hectares of employment land together with new road infrastructure to 
serve the development and to relieve congestion on the existing A6144. 
 

2.2 The policy goes on to say that contributions towards schemes to mitigate the 
impact of traffic generated by the development on the Strategic, Primary and Local 
Road Networks will be required; these include public transport and highway 
infrastructure schemes.   

 
2.3 The draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) seeks to build on Core 

Strategy Policy SL5 and looks to allocate a much larger area of land around 
Carrington, Sale West and Partington for development of a significant mixed use 
community of approximately 4000 residential units and 350,000m2 of employment 
floorspace.  The Carrington Relief Road needs to be in place to allow further road 
infrastructure to be constructed to open up additional development land to realise 
this aspiration.  The GMSF is currently in draft form and a Regulation 19 
consultation on the submission draft of the plan is due to commence in November 
2020. 

 
2.4 A number of planning applications have been granted planning permission within 

the Strategic Location – including the Carrington Village application. The 
applications to date have not contributed towards the provision of the Carrington 
Relief Road and have mitigated the site specific impact of their individual 
development by junction and road improvements on Manchester Road and at the 
Flixton Junction and Carrington Spur/Banky Lane. This is because at the time of 
the Committee resolutions to grant planning permission the Council was unable to 
take a financial contribution to the CRR as it was on the Council’s Regulation 123 
list for the Community Infrastructure Levy, or in the case of the revised Carrington 
Village application, as the contribution was taken ‘in kind’ through the transfer of 
the land required for the CRR to the Council for £1. However, these road and 
junction improvements only mitigate the impact of the developments already 
granted planning permission. They do not address the underlying fundamental 
highway and transport problem with this strategic location as a whole, do not 



  

improve overall capacity, do not meaningfully reduce congestion, if at all, and are 
expensive short term fixes which bring no additional benefits to the road network 
and cause additional delay and disruption during their implementation. They do not 
deliver what the policy requires and that which was a fundamental premise of the 
allocation. Additionally, some require third party land with no certainty in delivery, 
and are the subject of ‘Grampian’ or phasing conditions which limit development 
until the road improvements are completed.  
 

2.5 Therefore, for further development to come forward a strategy for the delivery and 
implementation of the Carrington Relief Road is required.  The road will 
accommodate the increased demand that will be generated by significant 
development in the area, open up new development sites and will allow the 
Council to deliver development within the SL5 allocation. 

 
2.6 The alternative is to allow piecemeal minor mitigation which would not address the 

fundamental constraints of the existing infrastructure and would not secure the 
infrastructure which is a necessary component of the allocation. That is judged 
unacceptable and counter-productive for the basic reason that the need for the 
CRR will remain. It is inappropriate in principle to devote resources to ad hoc 
mitigation schemes which will become redundant when the CRR is provided rather 
than secure a SL5 consistent overall scheme.  

 
3.0 The Planning Policy Context: Road Infrastructure and Planning Obligations 
 
3.1 As explained above, the Carrington Relief Road is required by Policy SL5 of the 

Core Strategy to bring forward development in the Strategic Location and beyond. 
Policy L4 of the Core Strategy – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility sets out 
the means by which the Council will facilitate the Delivery Strategy by promoting 
the development and maintenance of a sustainable integrated transport network.  

 
3.2 Policy L4.1(b) states that the Council will bring forward new highway schemes 

which will improve accessibility and provide additional capacity and / or address 
identified congestion, access, safety and environmental impact problems. Policy 
L4.1(c) continues by stating the Council will promote integrated transportation 
axes to facilitate north – south – east – west linkages with a particular objective of 
improving accessibility for communities in disadvantaged neighbourhoods.  

 
3.3 Policy L4.1(f) and (g) state that any necessary highway schemes required for each 

phase of development should be in place before first occupation of that phase, or 
an agreed mechanism to ensure that it will be delivered to the required standards 
and timescale agreed by the Council and its partners, and that developer 
contributions will be sought where appropriate towards the provision of highway 
schemes in accordance with the Strategic and Place Objectives. 

 
3.4 Policy L8 – Planning Obligations of the adopted Core Strategy sets out the 

Council’s development plan requirements in relation to the collection of developer 
contributions. It reflects both the law and government policy in the NPPF in respect 
of the three tests required for a planning obligation; that the contributions  should 
be a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; b) directly 
related to the development; and c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind 
to the development. The policy is up to date in this respect.  
 

3.5 Policy L8.3 states that contributions will be sought from all new development and 
the nature and level of contributions will be established on a site by site basis, 



  

relating to the type and size of the development proposal. It states that the 
‘Trafford Developer Contribution’ is a contribution required to make a development 
acceptable in planning terms and is a formula based standard charge. Policy L8.4 
then goes on to provide a list of infrastructure that developer contributions will be 
sought for, specifically including ‘highways infrastructure’. Policy L8.6 states that 
where a development is required to contribute towards strategic infrastructure, that 
a financial contribution will be sought towards the provision of these benefits 
offsite, and that the collected monies will be pooled for each specific project. 

 
3.6 Policy L8 is supported by SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014). This sets out the 

Council’s approach to seeking planning obligations in conjunction with Trafford’s 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) (Para 1.3). This document states in 
Paragraph 2.3 that it is possible that planning conditions, planning obligations and 
CIL could each apply to the same application, in order to fulfil the hierarchy of 
needs to make a development acceptable in planning terms Transport and 
accessibility infrastructure is identified in Table 2.1 of this document as a type of 
infrastructure for which S106 contributions may be required. 

 
3.7 Paragraph 3.37 of SPD1 states that new growth will put further pressure on roads 

and transport networks and create demand for strategic and local transport 
infrastructure and that there is a need for this to be addressed through site specific 
planning obligations for transport infrastructure. In Paragraph 3.39 it states that 
planning obligations may be required to address localised impacts, for example 
relating to congestion, and which will be particularly relevant to larger 
developments.  

 
3.8 The mechanism for calculating developer contributions to the CRR set out in this 

report is then, in effect, how development plan policy in Policy L8 of the Core 
Strategy and the accompanying guidance in SPD1 will be applied in practice. It is 
not new policy or guidance – simply the means by which existing policy will be 
applied.  

 
 
4.0 Funding the Relief Road 

 
4.1 Based on current projections the cost of the Carrington Relief Road is 

approximately £30 million. The Council have secured £14.4 million in grant 
funding. A further £15.4 million is required to bring the relief road forward.  When 
the Core Strategy was adopted it was anticipated that development within the area 
would provide a proportionate contribution towards highway and public transport 
infrastructure to mitigate the impacts of the development secured through S106. 
This was calculated and set out in SPD1: Planning Obligations (2012).  
 

4.2 SPD1: Planning Obligations (2012) set out that developer contributions would be 
sought for highway improvement works (Para 3.3.4), including new routes. The 
CRR (or the Carrington By-Pass as it was known then) was included in a list of 
expected transport infrastructure improvements that would be delivered by this 
mechanism. Table 3.2 states that the Carrington By-Pass had a projected cost of 
£16.0m, with general developer contributions of £1.4m.  Annex B of the 2012 SPD 
(Technical Note 2 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility) provided more detail 
on the Carrington By-Pass and described it thus: ‘…[a] major highway 
improvement scheme [that] would provide substantially improved access into the 
Partington and Carrington areas, creating development opportunities for a number 
of large regeneration sites in the area that are currently held back due to poor 



  

access’. Notably the £1.4m identified from S106 was a ‘general contribution’ as it 
was expected that ‘the majority of [the Carrington By-Pass] funding will be required 
from developers of specific sites within these areas and therefore the general 
contribution element is a relatively small percentage of the scheme and reflects 
the benefits to be brought to other developments through the delivery of the 
scheme’ i.e. that the CRR would be required as site specific mitigation for the  
majority of the development in the Carrington area.   
 

4.3 In 2014 the Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and the 
Carrington Relief Road was added to the Regulation 123 list, which at that time 
was the list of infrastructure within the Borough which was intended to be funded 
by CIL. The pooling restrictions also applied. The legislation in force at the time 
meant that on the adoption of a Community Infrastructure Levy (and the inclusion 
of a piece of infrastructure on a Regulation 123 list), S106 contributions could no 
longer be sought for that infrastructure which was instead to be funded through 
CIL. As a consequence, SPD 1 was updated and the requirement for contributions 
towards major highway infrastructure was removed, and S106 contributions 
towards this highway infrastructure were no longer sought.  

 
4.4 However, at about the same time a corporate decision was taken use the entirety 

of the Council’s initial CIL receipts to fund the Council’s contribution toward the 
Metrolink extension – a total of £20m. The final payment toward this is to be made 
within this financial year 2020/2021 and therefore no other infrastructure has been 
able to be funded through CIL. In addition no S106 contributions have been 
secured toward the Carrington Relief Road in this period, given the restrictions on 
S106 funding items on a Regulation 123 list. 

 
4.5 In September 2019 the Government made changes to the CIL Regulations and 

enabled Councils to take both S106 contributions and CIL payments for the same 
piece of infrastructure. Pooling restrictions were removed at the same time – 
pooling restrictions being that more than six contributions could not be combined 
to deliver the same infrastructure.  Following the update in late 2019 the National 
Planning Policy Guidance says:  

 
‘Authorities can choose to pool funding from different routes to fund the same 
infrastructure provided that authorities set out in infrastructure funding statements 
which infrastructure they expect to fund through the levy. 

 
This means that, subject to meeting the 3 tests set out in CIL regulation 122, 
charging authorities can use funds from both the levy and section 106 planning 
obligations to pay for the same piece of infrastructure regardless of how many 
planning obligations have already contributed towards an item of infrastructure.’ 

 
4.6 This now means that in addition to CIL the Council can revert to its previous 

position of securing financial contributions through S106 agreements from 
development in the Carrington area towards the relief road, in accordance with 
Policy SL5 of the Core Strategy, provided the development would have an impact 
on the road network. There is no geographical limit to the development in the 
Borough which may fund the CRR via CIL. It is therefore anticipated that a 
combination of CIL monies and financial contributions through S106 can fill the 
funding gap identified for the Carrington Relief Road and gives a significantly 
enhanced level of certainty to the ability of the Council to deliver the CRR.  
 



  

4.7 The September 2019 amendments to the CIL Regulations also required Councils 
(by 31 December 2020) to produce a new ‘Infrastructure Funding Statement’ to 
replace their Regulation 123 list and work is ongoing in respect of this. It is 
anticipated that the Carrington Relief Road will be included on the Infrastructure 
Funding Statement, but this will not alter the current position, which is that both 
CIL and S106 payments can be used to fund it.   

 
4.8 There have been a number of planning applications granted or with resolutions to 

grant within the Carrington/Partington area which will directly benefit from the 
Carrington Relief Road. A contribution of £384,000 from the Lock Lane, Partington 
S106 (originally dating from prior to the adoption of CIL) is available for highway 
improvements which can be put towards the CRR. There is also the potential for 
approximately a further £3.3m of future CIL contributions, arising from consented 
developments in this area as they come forward. The approval of the Council’s 
Executive would be required to direct these CIL contributions to the CRR. These 
monies added to the £14.4m of CRR funding already obtained leaves a funding 
shortfall of approx. £12m against the projected £30 million project costs of the 
road.  

 
4.9 In addition, there is no geographical limit to the allocation of CIL funding and any 

scheme in the Borough could potentially have its CIL contributions allocated to the 
CRR, as has taken place thus far with the Council’s Metrolink contribution.  The 
Council’s Executive will in due course be asked to consider whether all CIL 
contributions – those from developments in Carrington and Partington and those 
elsewhere in the Borough, should be directed to the CRR up until the  point at 
which the funding gap has been met (once the final Metrolink payment has been 
made). Since the decision to allocate CIL funding to Metrolink, no subsequent 
decision has been made by the Council in respect of the allocation of future CIL 
funding, therefore this funding has not been allocated to any other infrastructure 
and for the avoidance of doubt, cannot be directed towards affordable housing. 
This approach may also enable the Council to draw down additional match funding 
from other sources, reducing the funding gap further. This allocation of CIL would 
be on the basis that the CRR was the overarching infrastructure priority so as to 
facilitate major housing delivery in this area. 

 
5.0 Methodology for calculating contributions 

 
5.1 Before CIL was introduced the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document 1: 

Planning Obligations 2012 set out calculations to allow for developer 
contributions to infrastructure required within the Borough, including highway 
infrastructure. The Carrington Relief Road was identified as a piece of 
infrastructure required to support development as set out in the Core Strategy.  
Highway infrastructure contributions within SPD1 2012 were based on trip 
generation from a proposed development. This document was updated and 
superseded by the current adopted SPD1 in 2014 when the CIL Charging 
Schedule was also adopted. However, given it was based on policy in the Core 
Strategy, which remains the adopted development plan for the Borough, it is a 
reasonable starting point to revisit how those contributions should be calculated, 
now S106 contributions can be sought for highways infrastructure once again. 
 

5.2 The basic calculation uses the number of daily trips generated for the type of 
development (residential/commercial) divided by the total number of projected 
trips for all projected development within the area and then multiplied by the cost 
of the mitigation – i.e. the piece of infrastructure to be funded. This number is 



  

then divided by the total number of residential units or amount of commercial 
floorspace per 100m2.  This produces a figure to be applied per residential unit 
and by 100m2 of commercial floor space. The calculation is as follows: 

 
Daily trips for each type of development (residential/commercial) / total 

number of trips from all projected development within area x cost of 
infrastructure 

_______________________________________________________________ 
 

Total amount of commercial floorspace/number of residential units 
 

5.3 This formula has been applied in the context of the Carrington Relief Road.  The 
undeveloped sites within the Carrington Strategic Location allocation have been 
identified. Baseline trip generation figures have been extracted from consented 
development within Carrington (see table 1 in appendix 1) and sensitivity 
checked by highway engineers at Amey. These trip generation figures have then 
been applied to the anticipated and projected development within the Carrington 
Strategic Location and immediate area to generate the overall anticipated daily 
trips for the area. This has then been filtered down into the total daily trips for 
each type of development, i.e. residential, storage and distribution, office, and 
general industrial. 
 

5.4 Using these figures and the formula above a figure per residential unit and 100m2 
of commercial floorspace has been calculated as set out in table 2 of Appendix 1. 
This will be applied to all major planning applications coming forward with 
immediate effect (i.e. those of 10 or more residential units or 1000sqm or more of 
floorspace).  
 

5.5 This methodology shall be used to calculate developer contributions for all 
otherwise acceptable development within the SL5 Carrington Strategic Location 
identified on the Council’s Composite Proposal Map. It can also be used to 
calculate contributions for any otherwise acceptable development within the 
wider Carrington and Partington area which may come forward prior to the 
adoption of the GMSF. The written justification to Policy SL5 states that 
development quantums beyond that identified in Policy SL5 will require the 
satisfactory provision of identified infrastructure requirements and appropriate 
mitigation measures. 
 

5.6 Where contributions are secured, planning permissions will be subject to S106 
obligations and / or planning conditions which restrict the occupation of all or part 
of the development until the Council confirms to the developer that it is delivering 
the CRR. In practice, this delivery trigger will be met at the point the CRR obtains 
its own planning permission. A substantial proportion of any contribution will be 
expected on commencement, with further triggers thereafter. Any phasing of 
payments or occupation will be determined on a case by case basis and will be 
set out and justified in the officer report to Planning Committee.  
 

5.7 There are instances where a developer has already identified road improvements 
– primarily at the Flixton Road junction – which would serve to address the site 
specific highways impacts of a scheme, but would not address the strategic need 
for the CRR to improve the accessibility of the Carrington and Partington area. 
Consequently, the mechanism will be that there will be a condition providing that 
the development or relevant phase of the development will not commence or be 
occupied until either: (1) the Council has given notice that the CRR will be built in 



  

which case the requirement to undertake the works at the Flixton Road junction 
will be disapplied; or (2) if the Council has not given such notice, the 
improvements to the Flixton Road junction will be required. This thus puts the 
onus on the Council to move quickly to confirm the delivery of the CRR. Where a 
developer does not have a suitable scheme for the Flixton Road junction which 
mitigates the highways impacts of their development, the restriction would be 
entirely based on the delivery of the CRR.   

 
5.8 In the event the Council does not deliver the CRR, there would be a time period 

in which the Council is able to spend the S106 monies on wider improvements to 
the Flixton Road junction, including, if necessary, acquiring third party land. Any 
negative difference between the cost of delivering these improvements and the 
CRR contribution (equalised between the parties), would be returned to the 
developer.  
 

5.9 Conditions / S106 requirements will need to be tailored to each particular scheme 
but the model will be as follows:- 
 

Condition 
 

(i) This condition does not apply if the Council has given notice 
that the CRR is to be delivered.  

(ii) If such notice has not been given, before [entering into 
contracts for/commencing] any works at Flixton junction, 14 
days’ notice of intention to [enter into such 
contracts/commence such works] shall be given to the 
Council. In the event that the Council then gives notice under 
this condition those 14 days that the CRR will be delivered not 
to [enter into any such contract/commence any such work]. 

(iii) Unless notice has been given by the Council under 1 or 2, not 
to occupy any [residential units / floorspace] on the site unless 
and until [site specific highway improvements] have been 
completed.  
Reason: To ensure that the highway impacts of the 
development are appropriately mitigated in the interests of 
highway safety and the free-flow of traffic, having regard to 
Policies SL5, L3, L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
S106 obligation 
 

(iv) To pay the CRR contribution to the Council at the time set out 
below.  

(v) In the event that the Council provides notice under condition X 
(1 or 2) that the CRR will be delivered, the CRR contribution 
shall be paid [upon commencement of the development/first 
occupation/phasing]. 

(vi) In the event that the Council does not provide notice under 
condition X (1 or 2) but does provide notice that the CRR is to 
be delivered before the expiration of [X] years from 
commencement of development, to pay the CRR contribution 
[within 28 days of the giving of such notice/phased triggers] 
less all costs which are certified to have been incurred or are 



  

certified to have been committed to be incurred by the 
[developer] on the works under condition X (2). 

(vii) In the event that construction of the CRR is not commenced 
by XXX the Council may use the CRR contribution towards the 
cost of any works to improve the Flixton junction.  

(viii) In the event that the CRR contribution is not spent on  the 
CRR or under sub-para 4 within [x] years of giving any notice 
by the Council, any sums which have been paid but are 
unspent at that date shall be repaid.   

  
5.10 The CRR will mitigate the impacts on the existing local roads and provide 

additional capacity. It will also unlock further road infrastructure which will enable 
the delivery of the GMSF New Carrington allocation. It is recognised that for a 
period of time between planning permission being granted for the CRR and it 
being completed – i.e. the construction period for the road, development may be 
occupied that results in a severe impact on the local highway network. In 
determining planning applications Members of the Committee will be required to 
balance this impact against the benefits of the delivery of the CRR. 
 

5.11 This impact will however be relatively short-lived. The timetable for delivering the 
CRR is anticipated to be as follows:- 
 

Milestone Date Trigger for occupation of 
development  

Consultation and 
selection of preferred 
option 

November 2020 to April 
2021 

 

Planning application 
submission 

December 2021  

Planning permission 
granted 

September 2022  

Construction starts April 2023  

Road opens September 2024  

 
 
6.0 Conclusion 
 
6.1 Following the changes to the CIL Regulations in late 2019, the Council is now 

able to secure S106 developer contributions towards the delivery of infrastructure 
in addition to the Community Infrastructure Levy. With specific regard to the 
Carrington Relief Road, this allows S106 contributions to be secured from 
development within the Carrington Strategic Location, to assist with the delivery 
of the road in accordance with Policy SL5 (and the wider New Carrington 
proposed allocation), and to mitigate the impacts of that development on the local 
road network. The Council can do this using existing policy and guidance in the 
Core Strategy and SPD1 (Planning Obligations) 2014 and applying that policy 
using a formula which was used to calculate developer contributions to highways 
improvements prior to the adoption of CIL.  
 

6.2 This report sets out a formula for calculating contributions with a figure per 
residential unit or 100m2 of commercial floorspace. This formula will be applied 
within immediate effect to all major development within the SL5 Carrington 
allocation and to other windfall sites in Carrington and Partington.  This will give a 



  

greater level of certainty in the implementation and delivery of the CRR and the 
long term, single project to mitigate the impacts of that development. 

 
7.0    Recommendation 
 
7.1 That the Planning and Development Management Committee Members note the 

contents of this report, and its appendices, and also note and approves that the 
methodology for calculating developer contributions is a material consideration in 
the determination of planning applications with immediate effect. 

  



  

APPENDIX 1: CALCULATION OF CONTRIBUTION 
 
Worked example 
 

 The data shows an annualised daily forecast trip rate of 2965.14 trips for 
storage and distribution sites anticipated on the remaining sites within the 
Carrington Strategic Location.  

 The total annualised daily vehicle trips from all projected future development 
in the Carrington Strategic Location, is forecast to be 8600.57.  

 The cost associated with storage and distribution (B8) development is 
therefore calculated by dividing the B8 vehicle trips (2964.14) by the total 
vehicle trips from all projected developments (8600.57) and multiplying this 
by the highway infrastructure cost (£12m) = £3,446,480.  

 Dividing this figure by the total gross floor area (GFA) projected for storage 
and distribution, in units of 100sqm, then gives a figure for the costs 
associated with each unit (of 100sqm) of B8 development: £3,466,480 
divided by 1560.60 (156060/100) = £2209 per 100sqm. 

 A 20,000sqm development, for example, would generate a contribution of 
£441,800.  

 

Table 1: Average daily vehicle trips generated by development type 
 

Type of Development  Daily vehicle trips generated  

Office (B1) 13 

General industrial  (B2) 4.6 

Storage and  distribution  (B8) 2 

Residential (C3) 4.4 

  
 

Table 2: Contributions Resulting from Trafford's Anticipated Developments: For 
Highways based on 'Vehicle Trips'. 

 Anticipated 
Carrington 
Development  

Total 
Projected 
Daily 
Trips for 
Use 

Total amount 
of floor space 
in 100m2/Units 

Contribution per £ 
Unit/100m2 

Office (B1) 13374 sqm 1738.62 133.75 Sqm £15114 /100sqm 

General 
industrial  (B2) 

26750 sqm 1230.40 267.50 Sqm £5348 /100sqm 

Storage and  
distribution  
(B8) 

156060 sqm 2965.14 1560.60 Sqm £2209 /100sqm 

Residential (C3) 606 unit
s 
2666.4 606 Units £5116 /unit 

Total   8600.57     

 
 
 
 
 



WARD: Longford 
 

100400/OUT/20 DEPARTURE: No 

 

The demolition of existing retail unit and associated structures; 
erection of buildings for a mix of use including: 333 apartments 
(use class C3) and communal spaces ancillary to the residential 
use; flexible space for use classes A1, A3, D1 and/or D2; undercroft 
car parking; new public realm; and associated engineering works 
and infrastructure 

 
Former B&Q Site , Great Stone Road, Stretford, M32 0YP 
 

APPLICANT:  Accrue (Forum) 1 LLP 
AGENT:  WSP Indigo 

RECOMMENDATION:  MINDED TO REFUSE (IN CONTESTING THE APPEAL) 
 
 
 
INTRODUCTORY MATTERS 
 
The context of this report is to establish the Council’s stance at a forthcoming appeal 
in respect of application ref. 100400/OUT/20 (following the submission of a non-
determination appeal).  The submission of this type of appeal has removed the ability 
of this Council to determine the application.  However, there remains a need to 
define the Council’s position to adopt the appeal.  
 
Upon submission of the planning application it was considered by the Officer’s that 
the application was invalid due to the lack of a Financial Viability Assessment as part 
of the planning application submission.  The applicant disputed the need for a 
Financial Viability Appraisal and the Council subsequently sought legal advice.  The 
Counsel advice received supported the applicant’s position on this matter. The 
application was validated on the 25 June 2020 and back dated to the date at which it 
was valid in all other respects, the 16 April 2020.  As a result of this delay, the target 
date for the determination of the application was the 16 July 2020.  The applicant 
refused to agree to a requested extension of time.   
 
The applicant’s decision to submit a non-determination appeal comes at a time when 
the application was still in the early stages of consideration and when negotiations 
were continuing in an attempt to resolve outstanding issues.  Moreover, 
amended/additional information was submitted for the Council’s review after the 
appeal was lodged to the Planning Inspectorate.  The effect is that, as reflected in 
this report, there are some matters on which a solution may be capable of being 
reached but other matters remain outstanding at this time.  
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7



SITE 
 
The application site is vacant, approximately 1 ha in size and is located on Great 
Stone Road.  A single storey retail warehouse unit is located on the site and this unit, 
formerly occupied by B&Q.  Car parking serving this retail unit is located to the front 
and side of the unit.   
 
The site is rectangular in shape and is bound by Great Stone Road to the south 
west, the Metrolink to the south east and Lancashire Cricket Club (LCC) to the north 
east and north west. To the rear of the site (NE) is a single storey building which 
provides ancillary facilities to LCC and to the side (NW) there is a car park.   There is 
a tree buffer along the south eastern boundary of the site with a number of trees 
falling within the application site and on adjacent Metrolink land. 
 
The site fronts Great Stone Road which gradually increases in height from 27.15m 
AOD to 32.69m AOD as it passes the front of the application site and forms a bridge 
over the Metrolink line.  The majority of the site is set at a lower land level than the 
adjacent public highway and has a site level of between 27.23 m AOD and 27.51m 
AOD.   
 
To the south-east, south and west of the application site the area is generally 
residential in character, predominantly characterised by the development of two 
storey dwellings. To the north and north east of the site, the area is sport and 
leisure/civic in character, with Trafford College, Stretford Police Station and Trafford 
Town Hall all being within the wider vicinity of the site. 
 
In terms of scale, development within the immediate vicinity of the site is generally 
two storeys high, although the height of development does increase within the LCC 
ground with the spectator stands rising to the equivalent of approximately six storeys 
in height and the Lancastrian Office Centre which is two and six storeys in height.    
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This outline planning application seeks approval for access, appearance, layout and 
scale of the development.  The only reserved matter is landscaping. 
 
This outline planning application seeks permission for the development of: 

 333 apartments with a mix of 2 x studio, 108 x 1 bed, 190 x 2 bed, 33 x 3 bed 
units and 133m2 ancillary residents amenity space (use class C3 – 
residential); 

 Two flexible commercial units measuring 180m2 and 168m2.  The planning 
statement explains that these commercial units could be used for the following 
purposes: 

 Café (use class A3) 
 Convenience retail serving the local residential population (use class 

A1); 
 Community facility such as ‘drop-in’ health care clinic, hireable 

meeting space or temporary ‘pop up’ uses (use class D1); and/or 
 Gym and fitness suite serving the local market (use class D2).  

 



DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford 
comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially 
supersedes the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see 
Appendix 5 of the Core Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by 
Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
 
SL3 – Lancashire Cricket Club Quarter 
L1 – Land for New Homes 
L2 – Meeting Housing Needs 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L5 – Climate Change 
L7 – Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations 
W1 – Economy 
W2 – Town Centres and Retail  
R1 – Historic Environment  
R2 – Natural Environment  
R3 – Green Infrastructure  
R5 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Trafford Inner Area 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
 
H10 – Priority Regeneration Area – Old Trafford  
S11 – Development Outside Established Centres 
 
OTHER RELEVANT DOCUMENTS 
 
Civic Quarter Area Action Plan (Regulation 18 Draft – February 2020 - The 
Council is bringing forward a Civic Quarter Area Action Plan (AAP), which was 
consulted on between 5th February and 9th April 2020.  The application site is located 
within a prominent location in the ‘Southern Neighbourhood’ of the proposed AAP 
along with the Lancashire Cricket Club (LCC) ground and the Lancastrian House 
Office development.   



 
The AAP is at present a consultation draft and therefore can only be afforded limited 
weight in the determination of this planning application. 
Refreshed Stretford Masterplan (2018) – The Refreshed Stretford Masterplan 
(2018) identifies the proposed development site as being within the UA92 Campus 
Quarter. The Masterplan states that the intention is for the proposed development 
site to be incorporated into the wider master planning work being undertaken in this 
area.  Although not a Development Plan Document the Refreshed Stretford 
Masterplan is a material consideration in the determination of planning applications 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, 
will be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework 
for individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was 
published on 31 October 2016, and a further period of consultation on the revised 
draft ended on 18 March 2019. A Draft Plan will be published for consultation in 
autumn 2020 before it is submitted to the Secretary of State for independent 
examination. The weight to be given to the GMSF as a material consideration will 
normally be limited given that it is currently at an early stage of the adoption process. 
Where it is considered that a different approach should be taken, this will be 
specifically identified in the report. If the GMSF is not referenced in the report, it is 
either not relevant, or carries so little weight in this particular case that it can be 
disregarded. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 19 
February 2019.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 

 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, and 
was updated on 1st October 2019. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the 
report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
94974/OUT/18 - Outline application sought for the demolition of existing retail unit 
and associated structures; erection of building for a mix of uses including: 433 
apartments (use class C3) and communal spaces ancillary to the residential use; 
flexible spaces for use classes A1, A3, B1, D1, and/or D2; undercroft car parking; 
new public realm; and associated engineering works and infrastructure. Consent is 
sought for access, appearance, layout and scale with all other matters reserved. 
Refused, 29.03.2019 for the following reasons: 
 

1. The proposed development would represent poor design as its height, scale, 
layout, density, massing and monolithic appearance are inappropriate in its 
context and would result in a building which would be significantly out of scale 



and keeping with its surroundings. This would have a highly detrimental 
impact on the street scene and the character and quality of the area. This 
would be contrary to Policies SL3, R3 and L7 of the adopted Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

2. The proposed development would not provide a development plan policy 
compliant level of planning obligations in relation to affordable housing; spatial 
green infrastructure and outdoor sports provision; healthcare facilities; and 
site specific highways improvements to suitably and appropriately mitigate the 
impacts of the development. The applicant has failed to demonstrate that 
there is a robust viability case to demonstrate that the scheme could not offer 
a policy compliant level of obligations. The proposed development is therefore 
contrary to Policies SL3, L2, L4, L5, L7 and L8 of the adopted Core Strategy 
and the Council's adopted Revised Supplementary Planning Document 1 
(SPD1) - Planning Obligations and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
3. The proposed development by virtue of its height, massing, scale and layout 

would result in a poor level of amenity and unacceptable living standards for 
future occupiers of the development, by virtue of inadequate daylight, sunlight 
and outlook in both apartments and amenity areas. The proposed 
development is therefore contrary to Policies SL3, L3 and L7 of the adopted 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4. The proposed development by virtue of its height, massing, scale and layout 

would result in harm to the amenity of existing residential properties on Great 
Stone Road and Trent Bridge Walk by virtue of noticeable reductions in the 
amount of daylight and sunlight that they receive, and would also have an 
overbearing impact on these properties and other residential properties in the 
wider 'Gorses' area. The proposed development is therefore contrary to 
Policies SL3, L3 and L7 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. The applicant has failed to demonstrate, through the submission of sufficient 

information, that the adverse wind related impacts of the development can be 
adequately mitigated. Based on the information before the Council the 
proposal would result in an unacceptably windy environment for future 
occupiers of the development, to the detriment of their amenity and which 
would not provide acceptable living conditions, contrary to Policy SL3, L3 and 
L7 of the adopted Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. The proposed development would have a harmful impact on the setting of 

Trafford Town Hall equating to 'less than substantial' harm in National 
Planning Policy Framework terms. The benefits of the scheme are not 
considered to outweigh the identified harm to a designated heritage asset. 
The proposed development is therefore contrary to Policies SL3, L3 and R1 of 
the adopted Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7. The applicant has failed to provide requested information to allow an informed 

assessment to be made of the impact of the proposed development on the 
setting and therefore significance of Longford Park Conservation Area, a 
designated heritage asset. The applicant has therefore failed to demonstrate 



the development would not harm the significance of the designated heritage 
asset. The proposed development is therefore contrary to Policy R1 and 
Place Objective STO22 of the adopted Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
8. The proposed development would have a dominating and adverse impact on 

Lancashire Cricket Club (LCC) as well as its setting and cultural character and 
identity. LCC is a non-designated heritage asset and internationally significant 
visitor attraction, cultural and tourism venue. The scale of the harm and the 
significance of the asset, as well as the potential impact on the visitor 
experience are considered to be sufficient to weigh strongly against the 
proposals. The development is therefore contrary to Policies SL3, R1 and R6 
of the adopted Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
9. No dedicated car parking is provided for the 1,181sq metres of retail and / or 

commercial floorspace proposed and the applicant has not demonstrated that 
reasonable and enforceable planning conditions could be used to limit the use 
of this floorspace to occupants of the proposed development. Failure to 
provide adequate car parking provision for these uses would result in ad-hoc 
on street parking to the detriment of highway and pedestrian safety, contrary 
to Policy L4 of the adopted Core Strategy, ppSPD3: Parking Standards and 
Design and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
91337/DEM/17 - Demolition of all buildings including vacant unit. (Consultation under 
Schedule 2, Part 11 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015.  Prior Approval Approved 08.06.2017. 
 
H27952 – Removal of condition no 3 (attached to planning permission H/4717) to 
allow Sunday trading (0900 – 1800). Allowed at appeal 04.10.1989. 
  
H04717 – Change of use from entertainment centre to DIY homes & garden centre 
for supply to the public and trade of home and garden maintenance and 
improvement materials.  Approved 15.11.1978. 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
The applicant has submitted the following information in support of this planning 
application: 
 

 Affordable Housing Statement  

 Air Quality Assessment and Air Quality Note 

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment  

 Carbon Budget Statement  

 Crime Impact Statement 

 Daylight and Sunlight Assessment 

 Design and Access Statement  

 Draft Heads of Terms 

 Ecological Assessment 

 Environmental Risk Assessment 



 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 

 Heritage Statement  

 Landscape Design Statement  

 Landscape and Townscape Visual Impact Assessment 

 Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment 

 Planning Statement (including Retail Sequential Test) 

 Statement of Community Engagement 

 Transport Assessment 

 Travel Plan 

 Wind Microclimate Report 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Cadent Gas – no objection, it is highly likely that there are gas services and 
associated apparatus in the vicinity. 
 
Clinical Commissioning Group – no objection and no contribution required 
towards health services. 
 
Electricity North West – the proposed development is adjacent to or may affect 
Electricity North West’s operational land or electricity distribution assets.  
 
Environment Agency – no objection in principle, however the EA advise that the 
site appears to have been the subject of past industrial activity which poses a 
medium risk of pollution to controlled waters.  The EA also advise that reference is 
made to the EA’s ‘Guiding Principles for Land Contamination’ on managing risks to 
the water environment and consultation with Pollution and Licensing on generic 
aspects of land contamination. 
 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) – no comments 
to make on this development.  
 
Greater Manchester Cycling Campaign - no response received. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) – no objection subject to the imposition 
of conditions in accordance with the recommendations outlined in section 5 of the 
submitted report relating to: native tree planting within the landscaping scheme; 
external lighting design; pre-commencement survey of the site for badgers and the 
adjacent area; bird breeding and vegetation clearance; installation of bird boxes; 
and, biodiversity enhancements.  
 
Greater Manchester Fire Authority – no response received. 
 
Greater Manchester Pedestrian Association - no response received. 
 
Greater Manchester Police (Design for Security) – a condition to reflect the 
physical security specifications set out in the Crime Impact Statement should be 
imposed should planning permission be granted. 
   
Local Highway Authority – no objection subject to conditions.   



 
Local Lead Flood Authority – no objection subject to a conditions requiring a 
scheme to improve the existing surface water drainage system based on the details 
within the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (February 2020) to be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
Sport England – object on the grounds of increased traffic and impact of the 
proposed development on the cricket training facility.  
 
Trafford Council, Arboriculturalist – no objections to the proposed development 
subject to conditions. 
 
Trafford Council, Education Admissions – No objection in principle. Contribution 
towards off-site primary school provision requested. 
 
Trafford Council, Heritage Development Officer – the application is located within 
the vicinity of three heritage assets:  

 Trafford Town Hall (Grade II listed) - The proposed development will result 
in the loss of glimpses of the clock tower across the application site, 
however this harm is considered to be negligible. 

 Longford Park Conservation Area – the proposed development will result 
in a minor change to the setting of Longford Park and the appreciation of 
the Conservation Area in views looking northwards across the open space.  
The proposed development, is also likely to also impact on the experience 
of the Park at night time which is a relatively dark space.   

 Old Trafford Cricket Ground and pavilion – this is considered to be a non-
designated heritage asset. The submitted images indicate there is 
potential for the development to cause negligible harm to the setting of Old 
Trafford Cricket Ground. The proposed development will result in the loss 
of glimpses of the pavilion and cricket ground, however this harm is 
negligible. 

 

Trafford Council, Housing Strategy – no objections in principle to the above 
planning application which will bring much needed residential units into Old Trafford.  
The scheme proposes to provide 333 units of residential accommodation which is a 
positive contribution towards addressing the housing needs of the borough.  The mix 
of the proposed development is considered to be acceptable. 
 
Trafford Council, Pollution & Licensing, Air Quality – there are no objections to 
the proposed development subject to the imposition of recommended conditions. 
 
Trafford Council, Pollution & Licensing, Land Contamination - The submitted 
Phase 1 Environmental Risk Assessment report has identified that there may be risk 
associated with possible contamination from former commercial uses on the site.  A 
condition is recommended to secure the submission of an investigation and risk 
assessment in relation to contamination on site. 
  
Trafford Council, Pollution & Licensing, Nuisance – there are no objections to 
the proposed development subject to the imposition of recommended conditions.  
   
Trafford Council, Strategic Planning – comments included within observations. 



 
Trafford Council, Waste Management – no objections. 
 
Transport for Greater Manchester – concern was raised with the modelling of the 
existing situation at the Talbot Road / Great Stone Road junction, as the results 
show that junction is operating above absolute capacity with the pm peak surveyed 
flows; this should not be the case as the surveyed flows only counted the traffic that 
passed through the junction.  Consequently, TfGM recommended that the trip 
development and modelling was reassessed.  
 
Further information was provided in the form of two Transport Assessment 
Addendums, however neither report addressed TfGM’s concerns in relation to 
junction modelling and trip development.    
 
Transport for Greater Manchester (Metrolink) – TfGM have advised that, in 
principle, Metrolink support the aspiration for a cycle/footway link to the Old Trafford 
Tram Stop, any such provision must be wholly at the expense of others and must not 
adversely impact Metrolink operations and/or maintenance responsibilities. 
 
It is noted that the root protection area for the trees within the ownership of TfGM 
would likely extend into the application site. Concerns can be addressed by 
condition. 
 
United Utilities – no objection subject to the imposition of recommended conditions. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
Four letters of representation have been received objecting to the proposed 
development on the following grounds: 

- A leisure centre has been proposed for this site which would provide the 
residents of North Trafford with a brand new high quality facility that would 
benefit local residents; 

- A housing development which is not in keeping with the area would be a 
major blow; 

- The height of development does not fit in with the current houses in the area 
- The level of car parking is insufficient and would lead to people parking on 

nearby estates causing disruption and traffic issues.  One car parking space 
should be provided per flat; 

- The site has always been a benefit to local residents, i.e. bowling alley, 
concert venue, B&Q; 

- There are enough flats in the area and the development would be used for Air 
BnB for matches and concerts at both Old Trafford sporting grounds; 

- The area needs more 3-4 bedroom reasonably priced family homes not more 
flats; 

- One and two bedroom apartments will not be purchased by owner-occupiers 
in this area. The properties will be buy-to-let. It would be much more beneficial 
to provide a small estate of family homes, surrounded by green space and 
including a small park. The area includes good schools and transport links, 
and is ideal for families. This will bring stability and investment to the area in a 
way in which apartment blocks will not. 



- Opposed to underground parking as this will create a dangerous underground 
space, open to exploitation by drug dealers. Parking should be on street level, 
next to houses. I would like to see secure cycle parking, and charge points for 
electric cars. 

- It would also be beneficial to the area to include: a GP surgery; a small 
supermarket; a gym 

- The site is too small, the road access is insufficient and cannot be improved 
as it is a bridge.  

- As this site is below the bridge road lower flats will be in darkness all the time.  
- Great Stone Road cannot cope with the additional traffic generated by this 

development.  At rush hour Great Stone Road is bumper to bumper and the 
only possible way out will be onto this road  

  
This application was called in to Planning Committee by Cllr Jarman on the following 
grounds: 

- Although this application has been scaled back from the previous application 
the massing of the site is still too dense and the proposed heights of the 
tallest blocks I consider to be still too imposing. From the virtual 
representation I believe the external appearance of the building could also be 
improved.  

- This is a key redevelopment site in the Civic Quarter Masterplan area and the 
councillors believe that a more strategic view of how this site should be 
utilised as a community asset is required.  
 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT AND THE DECISION-TAKING PROCESS 
 
1. S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that planning 

applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF at paragraphs 2 
and 47 reinforces this requirement and at paragraph 12 states that the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as a starting point for decision making, 
and that where a planning application conflicts with an up to date (emphasis 
added) development plan, permission should not normally be granted. 

 
2. The Council’s Core Strategy was adopted in January 2012, prior to the 

publication of the 2012 NPPF, but was drafted to be in compliance with it.  It 
remains broadly compliant with much of the policy in the 2019 NPPF, 
particularly where that policy is not substantially changed from the 2012 
version.  It is acknowledged that policies controlling the supply of housing are 
out of date, not least because of the Borough’s lack of a five year housing land 
supply, but other policies relevant to this application remain up to date and can 
be given full weight in the determination of this application. Whether a Core 
Strategy policy is considered to be up to date or out of date is identified in each 
of the relevant sections of this report and appropriate weight given to it. 

 



3. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions, and as the 
Government’s expression of planning policy and how this should be applied, 
should be given significant weight in the decision making process. 

 
4. Paragraph 11 d) of the NPPF indicates that where there are no relevant 

development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out of date, planning permission should be 
granted unless: 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 
5. Policies controlling the supply of housing and those relating to design and 

heritage are considered to be ‘most important’ for determining this application 
when considering the application against NPPF Paragraph 11 as they control 
the principle of the development and are relevant to the impact of this large 
building on the streetscene and the existing residents living close to the site.  
The Council does not, at present, have a five year supply of immediately 
available housing land and thus Policies L1 and L2 of the Core Strategy are 
‘out of date’ in NPPF terms albeit other aspects of the policies such as 
affordable housing targets, dwelling type, size and mix are largely still up to 
date and so can be afforded substantial weight. 

 
6. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy is considered to be compliant with the NPPF and 

therefore up to date as it comprises the local expression of the NPPF’s 
emphasis on good design and, together with associated SPDs, the Borough’s 
design code. Full weight can be afforded to this policy.  

 
7. Policy R1 of the Core Strategy, relating to the historic environment, does not 

reflect case law or the tests of ‘substantial’ and ‘less than substantial harm’ in 
the NPPF. Thus, in respect of the determination of planning applications, Core 
Strategy Policy R1 is out of date. Although Policy R1 of the Core Strategy can 
be given limited weight, no less weight is to be given to the impact of the 
development on heritage assets as the statutory duties in the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 are still engaged.  Heritage policy 
in the NPPF can be given significant weight and is the appropriate means of 
determining the acceptability of the development in heritage terms.  

 
 The Strategic Location  

 
8. The application site is located in the ‘Lancashire Cricket Club Quarter’ Strategic 

Location, which is covered by Core Strategy Policy SL3. It should be noted that 
in March 2020, the ‘residential allowance’ attributed to SL3 was uplifted from 
the Core Strategy target of 400, to a total of 2,800 units. It was also assumed 
that for the purposes of this residential allowance, the boundaries of SL3 were 
effectively amended to match the Civic Quarter AAP boundary. 

 



9. Notwithstanding this update to the housing numbers that can be 
accommodated within the SL3 boundary, as the Council no longer has a five 
year supply of deliverable housing land, Policy SL3 still cannot be considered to 
be up-to-date for the purposes of Paragraph 11 as it refers specifically to the 
number of residential units which could be provided within the Strategic 
Location. 

  
10.  Nonetheless, in other respects the policy is considered to be broadly compliant 

with the NPPF as it seeks to deliver a strengthened mixed use community 
centred around the existing sporting and community facilities.  The LCC 
Quarter is one of the most visited places in the Borough containing the sporting 
attraction that is the Cricket Club and a number of important community 
facilities such as Trafford Town Hall, Trafford College and Stretford Leisure 
Centre, the area is however also fragmented by a number of large footprint 
single uses.  CS Policy SL3 identifies a significant opportunity to improve the 
visitor experience for its sporting attractions and to create a new residential 
neighbourhood.   

 
11. CS Policy SL3 states that major mixed-use development will be delivered in this 

Location to provide a high quality experience for visitors balanced with a new, 
high quality residential neighbourhood centred around an improved stadium at 
LCC.  CS Policy SL3 goes on to state that the Council considers that this 
Location can deliver: 

 A redeveloped LCC sports stadium with ancillary sports and leisure 
facilities; 

 400 residential units (updated to 2,800 as noted above) comprising 
predominantly accommodation suitable for families; 

 A redeveloped and renovated Trafford Town Hall providing new 
accommodation for Trafford Council’s administrative functions; 

 Improvements to education, community and commercial facilities (including 
a superstore); and 

 Improvements to the local highway network and better linkages with public 
transport infrastructure. 

 
12. It should be noted that the LCC Strategic Location has already delivered a 

partially redeveloped LCC sports stadium, a redeveloped and renovated 
Trafford Town Hall, a superstore and some residential development.  
Improvements have also been made to the local highway network including the 
introduction of cycle route improvements along Talbot Road. 
 

13. It should be noted however, that the Core Strategy does not limit the number of 
new dwellings to be provided within this location to 400 (updated to 2,800) and 
the proposed development of an additional 333 dwellings in this location would 
contribute significantly to the housing land supply.  

 
14. The Draft Land Allocations Plan (LAP) is at a very early stage in its preparation 

and has been put on hold, pending the production of the Greater Manchester 
Strategic Framework, therefore has limited material weight in the determination 
of this application.  With the exception of the Draft Civic Quarter Area Action 
Plan, the LAP remains the most recent statement of policy published by the 



Council (2014) in respect of this site.  The supporting Land Allocations 
Consultation Draft Policies Map identifies the LCC Quarter Strategic Location 
referred to in Core Strategy Policy SL3 as part of policies LAN1 (Lancashire 
County Cricket Club Quarter Strategic Location) and LAN2 (Lancashire County 
Cricket Club Stadium Area).  The application site is located within LAN2. 

 
15. Policy LAN1 identified the LCC Quarter Strategic Location as a location suitable 

for a mix of residential and supporting commercial and/or community uses to 
serve the needs of the proposed and existing communities within the Strategic 
Location.  With regard to residential accommodation specifically, LAN 1 states 
that a minimum of 400 residential units should be delivered in the Plan period 
2014 – 2026/27 and residential development will be encouraged at densities of 
between 30 and 150 dwellings per hectare in the form of a number of 
apartment blocks varying in height storeys.  LAN 1 advises that development 
within this area should provide a range of 2, 3 and 4-bed dwellings provided in 
well-designed buildings with approximately two thirds of the units suitable for 
families. LAN1 further indicates that development within the Lancashire Cricket 
Club Quarter should be designed to a high quality, reflecting the significance of 
the Strategic Location as a visitor destination of Regional significance.   

 
16. Policy LAN1 also encourages a mix of uses, including a range of retail uses 

(Use Classes A1 to A5), commercial, leisure and community facilities (Use 
Classes D1 and D2) at a scale to serve the needs of the proposed communities 
within the Strategic Location.  This policy also details the provision of new open 
space and green infrastructure required to support the anticipated residential 
development in this area.    

 
17. The Draft LAP states in Policy LAN 2 that the Council will support the continued 

use and improvement of the area identified on the Policies Map for a cricket 
stadium and associated hospitality, conference, club store, events, hotel and 
spectator/visitor car park uses by Lancashire Cricket Club.  A range of 
commercial and/or community uses (including use classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, 
B1, C1, D1, D2 and similar appropriate uses) will be encouraged where they 
support the operation of the Stadium and are consistent with other policies 
within the Local Plan and relevant criteria within national policy.  Residential 
development will be supported on sites fronting onto Great Stone Road and 
Talbot Road, including where it is part of a mixed-use scheme, the policy 
states. 

 
18. It should be noted that the justification for Policy LAN2 states “The function of 

the area as a stadium and major tourist destination should not be compromised 
through significant impact on the operation and/or amenity of the LCC Stadium 
or other uses in the vicinity of the proposal, including issues of security and 
overlooking.” 

 
Draft Civic Quarter Area Action Plan (AAP): 

 
19. The Council has recently consulted on a Draft Civic Quarter Area Action Plan 

(AAP). This is intended to establish a vision, masterplan and strategy for how 
the area could be revitalised and developed over the next 15 years and 



beyond. The AAP area covers the current application site as well as land as far 
north as Chester Road, Great Stone Road to the west, Trafford Bar Metrolink 
stop to the east and the Manchester-Altrincham Metrolink line to the south. This 
will form part of the Council’s Development Plan and includes policies on a 
wide range of matters relevant to the development management process. 
Given that this is currently at ‘Regulation 18’ draft stage however, the weight to 
be afforded it in the determination of this application is limited, and it is not 
considered to be determinative document in the assessment of this planning 
application. 

 
20. Although carrying limited weight at this time, the application site has been 

identified within the Draft AAP as an optimal location for consolidated car 
parking and complementary leisure-based activities, combined to serve as a 
centre of excellence for health and well-being, recreational and sporting offer 
for the area, working collaboratively with Stretford High School, UA92 and other 
schools and communities. The proposed development of a high density 
residential scheme does not accord with the vision for this site. 

 
21. In the interest of achieving high quality urban design the draft AAP outlines key 

objectives in relation to form and massing, frontages, amenity and residential 
quality.  Of relevance to this scheme are the following points: 

 
Form and massing – developments should incorporate variation to scale and 
massing to create townscape interest, high quality outlook and maximise light 
penetration.  Taller developments should incorporate large internal courtyards 
which are informed by an assessment of daylight and sunlight availability.  
These daylight and sunlight studies should also demonstrate that developments 
will minimise impacts to amenities and neighbouring areas and provides positive 
daylight conditions within dwellings.  All homes should provide for direct sunlight 
to enter at least one habitable room for part of the day, with living areas and 
kitchen dining spaces receiving direct sunlight.   
 
Frontages – the AAP advises that active frontages must be maximised with no 
more than 20% of the total frontage of each side of a perimeter block or 
development to be inactive.  Lobbies to developments should be clearly 
articulated within the elevation to provide a clear and visible entrance and retail 
frontages should be fully integrated with the architecture of the building.   
 
Amenity – there is an emphasis on providing private amenity space, with 
defensible space at ground floor level. Communal gardens must include 
playable spaces with incidental play sculptures, playable hard landscape 
features, grassed areas and planting.   
 
Residential quality - all units must meet or exceed the minimum National Space 
Standards.  The design of development must maximise dual aspect units (with 
a target of achieving more than 50% across the site), limit the number of single 
aspect units and seek to avoid north facing single aspect units which will be 
permitted for non-family dwellings and in exceptional circumstances only. 

 



22. The Refreshed Stretford Masterplan had shown that a leisure centre might be 
built on the former Kellogg’s site. However, the Draft AAP, building on the 
principles set out in the RSM, reflects and advances the ambition set out in the 
RSM to improve the leisure offer available within this part of the Borough, 
identifying the former B & Q site as the optimal location for a leisure centre. 
Like the Draft AAP, the RSM can only carry limited weight and is not 
considered to be a determinative document in the assessment of this planning 
application. 
 
Housing Land Supply 

 
23. The NPPF places great emphasis on the need to plan for and deliver new 

housing throughout the UK.  The Government’s current target is for 300,000 
homes to be constructed each year to help address the growing housing crisis.  
Local planning authorities are required to support the Government’s objective of 
significantly boosting the supply of homes.  With reference to paragraph 59 of 
the NPPF, this means ensuring that a sufficient amount and variety of land can 
come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing 
requirements are addressed, and that land with permission is developed 
without unnecessary delay.  Within the Core Strategy, the first Strategic 
Objective - SO1 - recognises the importance of promoting sufficient housing 
across the Borough to meet Trafford’s needs.     

 
24. Policy L1 of the Trafford Core Strategy seeks to release sufficient land to 

accommodate 12,210 new dwellings (net of clearance) over the plan period up 
to 2026. Regular monitoring has revealed that the rate of building is failing to 
meet the housing land target and the latest monitoring suggests that the 
Council’s supply is in the region of only 2.4 years. Therefore, there exists a 
significant need to not only meet the level of housing land supply identified 
within Policy L1 of the Core Strategy, but also to make up for a recent shortfall 
in housing completions. 

 
25. Policy L2 of the Core Strategy indicates that all new residential proposals will 

be assessed for the contribution that would be made to meeting the Borough’s 
housing needs. The location of the application site is significant in that it sits 
immediately adjacent to the Old Trafford Metrolink stop, with quick and easy 
access to retail and other facilities in Manchester City Centre, as well as 
Stretford, Sale and Altrincham. The development itself will also provide some 
local centre uses and public open space. 

 
26. The NPPF requires policies and decisions to support development that makes 

efficient use of land; including giving substantial weight to the value of using 
suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes and to support the 
development of under-utilised land, especially if this would help to meet 
identified needs for housing where land supply is constrained and available 
sites could be used more effectively (paragraph 118). That the proposed 
development site is a vacant, brownfield site in a sustainable location in a 
borough that does not have a five year rolling supply of housing land is 
acknowledged, as is the recognition that the site represents an opportunity to 
deliver a high density scheme. However, the NPPF also makes it clear, at 



Paragraph 122 that the requirement to make efficient use of land must take into 
account, amongst other matters, the desirability of maintaining an area’s 
prevailing character, and the importance of securing well-designed, attractive 
and healthy places. That the site is suitable for a high density residential led 
scheme is not disputed.  However, the number of units proposed leads to a 
development which is entirely out of scale with its surroundings.  A scheme 
could be brought forward which makes beneficial use of this brownfield site and 
delivers a sizeable number of units without the commensurate harm. These 
matters are discussed later in the report.  

 
Housing Mix 

 
27. The NPPF at paragraph 61 requires local planning authorities to plan for an 

appropriate mix of housing to meet the needs of its population and to contribute 
to the achievement of balanced and sustainable communities. This approach is 
supported by Policy L2 of the Core Strategy, which refers to the need to ensure 
that a range of house types, tenures and sizes are provided.  
 

28. Policy L2 of the Core Strategy indicates that the proposed mix of dwelling types 
and sizes should contribute to meeting the housing needs of the Borough as 
set out in the Council’s Housing Strategy and Housing Market Assessment.  
Policy L2 sets out that the Council will seek to achieve a target split of 70:30; 
small:large (3+ beds) with 50% of the “small” homes being accommodation 
suitable for families.  Policy L2.7 also states that the development of one bed 
room dwellings will normally only be considered acceptable for schemes that 
support the regeneration of Trafford’s town centres and the Regional Centre.  
For the LCC Quarter Strategic Location, Policy SL3 of the Core Strategy states 
residential development should provide accommodation suitable for families.  

 
29. The proposed development would provide for a mix of two x studio units (1%), 

108 x 1 bed (32%), 190 x 2 bed (57%) and 33 x 3 bed (10%).  This equates to a 
split of 90:10 small:large units - a significantly higher proportion of small units 
than the target set out in Policy L2.  All of the two bedroom units comply with 
minimum national described standards, and are capable of accommodating 
three persons, whilst 21 of the two bedroom properties are of a size capable of 
accommodating four persons with floorspace in excess of 70 sq m.  Thus all of 
the two bed units could be considered to provide smaller two bed family 
accommodation.  

 
30. It is noted that the proposed units are generally all in compliance with the 

nationally described space standards, with the majority of one beds being 
suitable for one person and a small proportion appropriate for two persons. The 
three bed units all exceed the national described standards and provide a mix 
of units capable of accommodating four, five and six persons. 

 
31. The applicant has sought to justify the proposed housing mix with a Housing 

Needs Statement and has explained that three bedroom apartments are not 
typically provided in high rise apartment schemes, where developers often only 
providing studios, one and two bedroom apartments, as they seek to maximise 
the number of properties in the building to improve viability.  However, the 



provision of 33, three bedroom apartments in this scheme is in direct response 
to the needs of the market as identified by Policy L2 and the SHMA.  Of the 
smaller apartments provided, the majority are two bedrooms, as required by 
Policy L2. 

 
32. Overall the proposed housing mix fails to comply with the requirements of 

Policy L2, however consultation with the Council’s Housing Strategy officer has 
been undertaken and they have advised that the mix of proposed units is 
acceptable. The proposed mix of units would provide a range of new homes for 
families and smaller households and so in terms of housing mix, the scheme is 
considered appropriate for this Strategic Location.  

 
Affordable Housing 

 

33. The NPPF states that for major development involving the provision of housing, 
at least 10% of the homes should be available for affordable home ownership.  
In respect of the provision of affordable housing, at the local level, the 
requirement to secure an affordable contribution is covered by Core Strategy 
Policy L2.   
 

34. Core Strategy Policy L2 does not capture the broader range of affordable 
housing categories advanced by the NPPF and is thus out of date on this point.  
Nevertheless, L2 seeks to ensure that a range of housing tenures are provided 
across the Borough which helps to secure the achievement of balanced and 
sustainable communities in line with the general tenor of advice on this point 
set out within Paragraph 61 of the NPPF.  Policy L2 is clear that in respect of all 
qualifying development appropriate affordable provision should be made.   

 
35. In recognising that the Borough does not perform as a single uniform property 

market, the policy explains that Trafford is split into three broad market 
locations which have different percentage requirements for the provision of 
affordable housing.  As corroborated by the accompanying Supplementary 
Planning Document (Revised SPD1: Planning Obligations, July 2014), which 
draws upon the recommendations of the Trafford Economic Viability Study 
(2009 and a 2011 update), the application site is located within a ‘cold market 
location.’  In such locations, provision of affordable housing at a lower level is 
typically sought than in ‘moderate’ and ‘hot’ market locations.  Policy L2 and 
SPD1 also recognise that different market conditions can apply throughout a 
development plan period which also impact upon the level of affordable 
provision that a new residential development can successfully sustain.  ‘Poor 
market conditions’ had been in force since the Core Strategy’s adoption which 
was in recognition of the UK housing market undergoing a period of significant 
downturn following the 2008 recession.  However, in recent years the 
residential market has shown signs of recovery and has now re-stabilised.  It 
follows that in November 2018 a recommendation of officers to accept a shift to 
‘good market conditions’ for the purposes of negotiating affordable housing and 
applying Policy L2 and SPD1 was accepted by the Planning and Development 
Management Committee.  The effect therefore, is, that within this ‘cold market 
location’ and under present ‘good market conditions’ a 10% affordable housing 
target will normally be applied.  



 
36. However, in addition to the application of the affordable housing policy on the 

basis of geographical and market conditions, Policy L2 and SPD1 go on to 
explain that “In areas where the nature of the development is such that, in 
viability terms, it will perform differently to generic developments within a 
specified market location, the affordable housing contribution will be determined 
via a site specific viability study, and will not normally exceed 40%”.  SPD1 also 
states that this approach to the application of Policy L2 and SPD1 will apply in 
the case of most of the strategic locations.  

 
37. In this instance it is considered that the proposed development will, in viability 

terms, perform differently to generic developments within the Old Trafford 
Market Area.  Cushman & Wakefield (viability consultant for the applicant) 
argue that the existing building would have a higher alternative use value (AUV) 
if refurbished than the residual land value (RLV) generated from the proposed 
residential development. Cushman & Wakefield calculate an AUV of 
£3,524,578 based on refurbishing and then selling the existing retail warehouse 
with the RLV generated for the proposed residential scheme being £3,482,000. 
Generic new build residential developments would expect the change of use 
would generate a higher value, at B&Q the applicant is arguing the proposed 
residential use has a lower value than the alternative use. 

 
38. The restrictions on the existing use of the site through a planning condition and 

the subject property’s current condition is another reason why the site in 
viability terms will perform differently to other generic developments in the area. 
As the site can only be leased to a DIY operator and that the condition of the 
building would inhibit it being suitable for a DIY operator, this means it is hard to 
generate an EUV for the site. Therefore, the subject site has a very low EUV 
when compared to other schemes in Old Trafford, which is a reason why it 
would operate differently in viability terms. 

 
39. In addition, the total finance costs assumed amount to £4,469,377 as a result of 

the development phasing assumed by Cushman & Wakefield. It is assumed 
that all 333 apartments proposed would be delivered in one phase. This is a 
unique approach to take for a scheme of this scale, it would be anticipated in 
generic developments that the proposal would be delivered in multiple phases 
generating a much reduced finance cost.   

 
40. Given the three reasons identified above it is considered that the fourth bullet 

point of adopted Core Strategy (2012) Policy L2.12 is engaged, as it is 
demonstrated that the proposed development will perform differently in viability 
terms to generic development in the Old Trafford Market Area and it is 
appropriate to review the applicant’s Financial Viability Appraisal (FVA) to 
determine whether the proposed development is capable of supporting up to 
40% affordable housing provision.   

 
41. The application proposes the provision of 10% affordable housing comprising 

17 x 1 bed units and 17 x 2 bed units.   

 



42. The applicant’s FVA was reviewed by the Council’s independent viability 
advisor who does not consider that the appraisal meets the required tests set 
out in the NPPF and PPG to demonstrate unequivocally that if Planning Policy 
requirements for affordable housing is greater than is being proposed (10% 
affordable housing), the Former B&Q Site, Old Trafford scheme would be 
undeliverable on viability grounds.  The proposed development is therefore 
considered to be contrary Core Strategy Policy L2 in this regard. Discussions 
with the applicant are continuing and an update will be provided within the 
Additional Information Report. 

 
Summary of principle of residential development: 

 
43. Whilst the Council’s housing supply policies are considered to be out-of-date in 

that it cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites, the 
scheme achieves many of the aspirations which the policies seek to deliver. 
Specifically, the proposal contributes towards meeting the Council’s housing 
land targets and housing needs identified in Core Strategy Policies L1 and L2 in 
that the scheme will deliver 333 new residential units on a brownfield site in a 
sustainable location within the urban area.  It is also considered to be 
acceptable in relation to Core Strategy Policies L1.7 and L1.8, in that it helps 
towards meeting the wider Strategic and Place Objectives of the Core Strategy.  
The absence of a continuing supply of housing land has significant 
consequences in terms of the Council's ability to contribute towards the 
Government's aim of boosting significantly the supply of housing.  Significant 
weight should therefore be afforded in the determination of this planning 
application to the scheme’s contribution to addressing the identified housing 
shortfall, and meeting the Government's objective of securing a better balance 
between housing demand and supply. 

 
Non- residential uses  

 
44. The submitted planning application also seeks planning permission for the 

development of two flexible commercial units measuring 180m2 and 168m2.  
The permission seeks to keep these uses flexible and interchangeable and 
proposes the following uses: 
o Café (use class A3) 
o Convenience retail serving the local residential population (use class A1); 
o Community facility such as ‘drop-in’ health care clinic, hireable meeting 

space or temporary ‘pop up’ uses (use class D1); and/or 
o Gym and fitness suite serving the local market (use class D2).  

 
45. Paragraph 86 of the NPPF requires local planning authorities to apply a 

sequential test to planning applications for main town centre uses which are not 
located within an existing centre.  Main town centre uses should be located in 
town centres, then in edge of centre locations; and only if suitable sites are not 
available (or expected to become available within a reasonable period) should 
out of centre sites be considered.  

 
46. The use classes proposed as part of this development fall within the definition 

of ‘main town centre uses’ in the NPPF.  



 
47. Policy W2 of the Core Strategy, which is considered to be compliant with the 

NPPF in supporting the growth of town centres and the role they play in local 
communities and is therefore up-to-date for the purposes of decision making. It 
states that outside the established retail centres, there will be a presumption 
against the development of retail, leisure and other town centre-type uses 
except where it can be demonstrated that they satisfy the tests outlined in 
current Government Guidance. 

 
48. A sequential test was submitted in support of this planning application, which 

assessed the level of floor space on an aggregated basis and assessed the 
availability of floorspace (ranging between 307 m2 and 356 m2, allowing for a 
flexibility of 10% in floorspace area either way) within an agreed search area. 

 
49. The assessment focused on Great Stone Road Neighbourhood Centre and 

Gorse Hill and Trafford Bar Local Centres.  All vacant sites within the defined 
centre and within circa 300m (edge of centre) were assessed. 

 
50. The assessment found that there were no sequentially preferable sites within, 

or on the edge of the identified centres. Officers have analysed the submitted 
assessment and concluded that the applicant has satisfied the requirements of 
the sequential test, in that it has been demonstrated that there are no 
sequentially preferable sites (either within or closer to established retail centres) 
that could accommodate the proposed retail units and the principle of the 
proposed commercial uses comply with Core Strategy policy W2. 

 
DESIGN AND APPEARANCE 

 
Policy Background 

 
51. The promotion of high standards of design is a central narrative within the 

NPPF. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF outlines three objectives which are key to 
achieving sustainable development, one of which is a social objective.  The 
delivery of a well-designed and safe built environment is part of achieving that 
strong social objective.  The NPPF continues, at paragraph 124, that the 
creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve.  Paragraph 130 urges local 
planning authorities to refuse development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and 
the way it functions.  It continues, that, when determining applications, great 
weight should be given to outstanding or innovative designs which promote 
high levels of sustainability, or help to raise the standards of design more 
generally in an area.  

 
52. The Core Strategy also attaches importance to the design and quality of the 

Borough’s built environment.  The text supporting Policy L7 advises that high 
quality design is a key factor in improving the quality of places and in delivering 
environmentally sustainable developments.  Design solutions must: be 
appropriate to their context; and enhance the street scene by appropriately 
addressing scale, density, height, massing, layout, elevational treatment, 



materials, hard and soft landscaping, and boundary treatments, the policy is 
clear.  Policy L7 is considered to be compliant with the NPPF as it comprises 
the local expression of the NPPF’s emphasis on good design and, together with 
associated SPDs, the Borough’s design code. It can therefore be given full 
weight in the decision making process. 

 
53. Both the supporting text to L7 and paragraph 129 of the NPPF also stress the 

importance of using tools such as Building for Life in the design of 
development.   

 
The National Design Guide (NDG) published in October 2019 seeks to 
demonstrate how well-designed places that are beautiful, enduring and 
successful can be achieved in practice. The NDG outlines the ten 
characteristics which contribute towards the cross-cutting themes for good 
design set out in the NPPF – character, community and climate. 

 
54. The site is occupied by a vacant single storey retail warehouse which does not 

positively contribute to the character and appearance of the area.  The ground 
level of the existing site is generally level, however Great Stone Road rises in 
height the highway. 

 
The Proposed Development  

 
55. The proposed development comprises the construction of two residential blocks 

of apartments which are between four and nine storeys in height, excluding the 
basement car park.  The proposed basement car park sits circa 1.5 metres 
below the existing site level, which results in a podium style development for 
the northern block of development.  No topographical survey was submitted as 
part of the application. 
 

56. The site as existing is generally level; however it is sited adjacent to the 
Metrolink line with Great Stone Road rising in height to create a bridge over the 
Metrolink line.  Much of the site therefore sits below the adopted highway. 

 
57. Two new pedestrian accesses are proposed along the site frontage to Great 

Stone Road, one at a central point to the development and one at the southern 
end, adjacent to the Metrolink line.   

 
58. Due to the nature of the site levels the two most southerly pedestrian accesses 

are not level with the ground floor level and instead provide a raised link into 
the development, with a raised footbridge link connecting these two accesses.   
 

59. The northern block of development is generally square in its floorplan layout 
with a break in the Great Stone Road frontage providing access through the 
site.  There is a two storey undercroft through the rear elevation connecting to 
the pedestrian pathway which runs around the perimeter of the site.  The rear 
elevation of the northern block has a small projecting element facing the 
southern block of development which has an inverse ‘L’ shaped floorplan. 
 



60. The site layout retains the existing vehicular access at the north western corner 
of the site.  This access point also provides a level pedestrian access from 
Great Stone Road to the pedestrian pathway running around the perimeter of 
the site.  In the long term the applicant hopes to join the development to a new 
pedestrian link to Old Trafford Metrolink stop. 

 
61. Access to the residential units is either gained via the car park lifts or via 

access points within the internal courtyards.  The northern courtyard provides 
three entrances to the northern development block and two entrances to the 
two central development blocks.  There are two entrances to the southern block 
from within the courtyard and one entrance facing Great Stone Road.   

 
62. The site access layout is complex and is illustrated in the plan bundle 

‘Accessibility Information’ and pages 24 to 27 of the Amended Design and 
Access Statement which should be read in conjunction with the following plans 
PL_102 ‘Level 0 Plan Rev D’ and PL_103 ‘Level 1 Plan’.  The issue of 
accessibility is explored in detail later in this report at paragraphs 102 to 109. 

 
63. Car parking is provided at in the basement level which extends across 

approximately 50% of the site and provides car parking for 98 vehicles.  The 
basement car park results in parked vehicles being shielded from the public 
highway and provides a level development platform for the proposed 
development. The basement also provides refuse storage facilities, cycle 
parking and a plant room. 

 
64. Public realm and landscaping is proposed to the front and rear of the site, 

within the courtyards and at roof top level.   

 
65. The front elevation of the proposed development is located between 9 and 14.5 

metres from the adopted highway, Great Stone Road.  

 
66. The norther western boundary is sited approximately 9.9 metres from the 

adjacent LCC car park, between 6.4 and 10 metres from the north eastern 
boundary with LCC and between 3.6 and 4 metres from the south eastern 
boundary with the Metrolink line.  The proposed development has a width of 
110 metres across the site and is between 65 and 68 metres deep. 

 
67. The front elevation of the proposed development is between four and seven 

storeys in height.  The proposed development steps up in height to the rear 
(north eastern elevation) of the site to nine storeys in height through the gradual 
stepping of the northern, central and southern blocks of development which run 
NW to SE through the site.  Due to the podium style development on the 
northern part of the site the height of these nine storey blocks varies between 
27.4 and 25.9 metres above existing ground level.   

 
68. The north western elevation which is visible when approaching the site from 

Talbot Road rises in height in two steps from four storeys in height to five 
storeys and finally to seven storeys.  The south eastern elevation which is 
visible on the approach from The Quadrant/Chorlton direction steps up in height 
from seven to nine storeys in one change of building height.  The central 



section of the proposed development rises in height from five to eight to nine 
storeys, but in a different arrangement to the setbacks on the north western 
elevation.  These set-backs can be seen in full on the north western and south 
eastern elevations and courtyard section B-B (drawings PL_201, PL_203 and 
PL_222 B respectively). 

 
69. The front elevation creates an active frontage to Great Stone Road with 

commercial units also present at first floor/podium level.   
 
70. The façade treatment of the proposed is contemporary in design and 

incorporates various design features such as projecting brick feature panels, 
terracotta baguette detailing to vertical balcony screens, angled brick panels to 
add window details and windows sets backs.  Drawing PL_202 indicates that 
the side and rear elevations continue a similar level of detail as noted on the 
front elevations. It is considered appropriate for further details confirming the 
design approach on the side and rear elevations to be secured before the 
appeal is determined.  

 
Townscape Visual Impact Assessment 

 
71. Visual Impact Assessments provide a useful tool to help identify the effects of 

new developments on views and on the landscape and townscape itself. They 
allow changes to views and landscape/townscape to be understood and 
ultimately inform the design of the proposed development. 
 

72. ‘Townscape effects’ relate to the impact on the physical characteristics or 
components of the environment which together form the character of that 
townscape, including buildings, roads, paths, vegetation and water areas.  
‘Visual effects’ relate to impacts on individuals whose views of that townscape 
could change as a result of the proposed development, such as residents, 
pedestrians, people working in offices, or people in vehicles passing through 
the area. 

 
73. The applicant submitted an amended Landscape/Townscape Visual Impact 

Appraisal (TVIA), following the request of additional viewpoints from Longford 
Park Conservation Area.  The submitted TVIA includes fifteen wireframe 
viewpoints, the location of which can be seen at Appendix 1, which were 
produced to inform the TVIA. These viewpoints provide a visual representation 
of what the proposed development would look like from each viewpoint.   

 
74. Additional viewpoints (VP) were requested including a portrait representation of 

VP1 and VP5, a VP from Longford Park and from within the cricket ground 
were requested during the course of this application.  A viewpoint from 
Longford Park Conservation Area was submitted and a CGI was submitted 
indicating a view within the cricket ground.  The request for portrait versions of 
VP1 or VP5 to show the full visual impact of the building was not addressed by 
the applicant.  

 
75. The submitted Landscape/Townscape Visual Impact Appraisal (TVIA) also 

analyses the TVIA produced in support of the Draft Civic Quarter AAP by 



Randall Thorp and considers the extent to which the character area 
descriptions outlined in the TVIA supporting the Draft Civic Quarter AAP are 
relevant in the context of the proposal site. 

 
76. Although the AAP TVIA is not relevant to the determination of this application, 

the applicant’s appraisal of the AAP TVIA is of interest as it supports the 
applicant’s justification for the scale of the proposed development. 

 
77. In summary the AAP TVIA locates the application site in the ‘Southern 

Neighbourhood’ and in terms of townscape character assesses it as forming 
part of the ‘Sports and Recreational character area’.  This character area is 
noted to be of ‘moderate townscape quality’ and of ‘high’ value (paragraph 
4.23).  The AAP TVIA advises on appropriate heights for development in the 
various locations in the AAP area and advises that development on the 
application site should be low level, at less than 6 storeys as there are 
“sensitivities to height due to the proximity to neighbouring suburban homes.”  

78. The applicant’s TVIA also disagrees with some of the conclusions of the AAP 
TVIA.  The areas of disagreements and criticism are as follows: 

 The description of the townscape character area in the AAP TVIA focuses 
on the sports and recreational use of the area and does not acknowledge 
the mixed uses in the area (Lancastrian House and the former B&Q) and 
states that the Townscape Character Area “appears to have been named a 
Sports and Recreational Area to be in keeping with the Civic Area Action 
Plan’s Vision for the Southern Neighbourhood which is for a public centre of 
excellence for health and wellbeing, sport and exercise.” 

 The applicant’s TVIA states that the AAP TVIA assessment of the 
townscape quality and value of the sports and recreational area focuses 
mainly on the perceived high value of the Cricket Ground and does not 
consider the moderate to low value of the offices, car parking and former 
B&Q site.  The applicants consider the value for the character area to be 
‘good’ as opposed to the AAP TVIA which values the character as ‘high’. 

 The applicant’s TVIA states that “Randall Thorp’s analysis regarding height 
does not consider design factors that could reduce the impacts on the 
neighbouring residential area such as stepping back building height in 
transition. This would help building integration into the townscape setting 
between residential use and mixed urban use” 

 The AAP TVIA advises that the Civic Quarter AAP proposals would bring 
moderate change that is generally beneficial in nature to the surrounding 
area.  The applicant’s TVIA agrees that the changes would be beneficial to 
the area, but states “it could be argued that the level of change could be 
higher due to the scale of the changes affecting the whole character area. It 
is worth noting that the proposed residential scheme (the proposal 
assessed within this document) would only change the south-west corner of 
the area whilst still having a beneficial change based on good-design and 
being congruous with the surrounding mixed use architecture.” 

 The applicant’s TVIA disagrees with the AAP TVIA’s assessment of the 
townscape value of the residential area as having a moderate sense of 
place, and instead considers it to be low.  It should however be noted that 
the residential area for the purposes of the AAP is wide ranging and covers 
areas surrounding the whole AAP area and also pockets within it, therefore 



the ‘sense of place’ throughout the ‘residential area’ as defined in the AAP 
TVIA will inevitably vary.  

 The AAP TVIA states that the Southern Neighbourhood Area proposals 
would have a medium magnitude of change on the neighbouring residential 
area which would be beneficial in nature due to having a positive change to 
the townscape setting.  The applicant’s TVIA consider that as large parts of 
the adjacent character area will experience limited to no intervisibility with 
the Southern Neighbourhood Area proposals, a medium-low change 
appears more appropriate.  

 
79. The applicant’s TVIA states that it is considered the proposed development 

would “be of a similar nature to the height and massing of the leisure centre 
and car parking areas proposed within the Area Action Plan and that the 
proposed residential schemes would also have a similar susceptibility to 
change.”  Although it is unknown what height and massing any potential leisure 
centre would be on this site, it is not considered that a leisure development is 
likely to be of the scale the applicant claims. 

 
80. It should be noted that the massing study in the AAP TVIA assesses the 

development site on the basis of four and two storey development.  The 
maximum height of six storeys in this area is intended to be just that, a 
maximum and it is not intended that six storeys would spans across the whole 
site. 

 
81. In terms of impact on the Sports and Recreational Townscape Character Area, 

the applicant’s TVIA considers the overall townscape quality to be Good-
Ordinary with low susceptibility to change from the proposed development.  The 
value is considered to be Good and the quality is considered Good-Ordinary 
resulting in the sensitivity to change being Medium.  

 
82. The TVIA goes on to state that: 

 
“The varied heights of the site from 4 to 8 storeys would integrate with the 
existing varied heights of the up to 3 storey high residential area and the 5 
to 6 storey buildings within and around the Sports and Recreational TCA. 
The other parts of the Civic Area Action Plan facilitate far taller buildings to 
the north and north-east from 7 to 11+ storeys high. The design of the 
proposed development has considered the surrounding height differences 
and has stepped back the building height in transition to reduce the 
impacts on the neighbouring residential area. The transitional approach to 
the building height will also integrate the proposed development into the 
townscape setting between the residential area and the mixed urban area. 
 
The proposed development would not affect the key characteristics of TCA 
which is the Lancashire County Cricket Club and would be a positive 
change with the loss of the degraded former B&Q site. The addition of the 
proposed development would be of good-design and congruous with the 
surrounding mixed use architecture. The magnitude of change to the 
Sports and Recreational TCA would be a Medium-Low Change and the 
Overall Landscape Effects would be Moderate-Slight Beneficial.” 



 
83. It should be noted that the development is four to nine storeys in height, not 

eight as stated in the applicant’s TVIA.  The models within the TVIA do however 
appear to accurately to reflect the height of the proposed development.  
 

84. With regard to impacts on the adjacent residential area, the applicant’s TVIA 
considers the proposed development would indirectly affect other townscape 
character areas within the study area and that these effects would not be 
detrimental.  The TVIA goes on to state that the residential area is “of ordinary-
poor quality and the value Low as it is residential area that has a low sense of 
place with no noted significance or distinct features. Randall Thorp 
acknowledges that it is normal for the residential area to experiences views 
towards higher buildings located on the periphery of the TCA.  This appraisal 
considers a low susceptibility to change for the residential area due to the 
existing influence of taller buildings resulting in a Low Sensitivity. 

 
The proposed development would indirectly impact on part of the residential 
area with large parts of the character area experiencing limited to no 
intervisibility of the proposed development. The change would be congruous 
with the surrounding mixed urban area while the nature of change would be 
beneficial as the proposed change would be an improvement in quality and 
condition to the surrounding mixed urban area already with tall buildings 
nearby. The magnitude of change to the Residential Area TCA would be 
Medium-Low and the overall landscape effects would be Moderate-Slight 
Beneficial.” 

 
85. The applicant’s TVIA concludes that the proposed development will be visible 

from locations close to the proposal site. They consider that the townscape and 
visual changes which will result from the development will be contained to a 
relatively small area with, recorded visual effects over moderate substantial 
only occurring within 0.6 km from the site, and then only where views of the 
building are possible. The applicant considers that the nature of change which 
will result from the scale and appearance of the proposed development will be 
noticeable and prominent but not always adverse. The applicant’s TVIA 
considers that some change from a number of vantage points would be neutral 
and potentially beneficial in nature. The applicant’s TVIA also states that “no 
notable townscape effects are recorded and no notable effects are assessed 
for the local conservation and historic assets. For those visual effects that are 
notable at moderate-substantial or above, the mitigation proposals reduce 
some of these over time through screening and integration. Those that remain 
are expected to become over time an accepted part of the established urban 
scene with the nature of change altering from adverse to neutral.” 

 
86. The additional viewpoints from Longford Park and within the cricket ground 

were requested to enable additional assessments to be made with regard to 
concerns over the potential impact of development on heritage assets.  Further 
assessment on this point can be found at paragraphs 139 to 154. 
 

87. It is considered that the TVIA attaches too much weight to the taller buildings to 
the north of the site and does not provide sufficient consideration of the larger 



proportion of the surrounding area which has a prevailing height of two storeys.  
It is also considered that the assessment of the effect of the proposed 
development on character has generally under-stated the likely scale of the 
development in comparison with the existing buildings surrounding the cricket 
club, Metrolink stop and office developments off Talbot Road.  The assessment 
describes the existing buildings (which are a maximum of six storeys in height 
and visually permeable with glimpses between the blocks of Lancastrian House 
and LCC possible) as being ‘broadly similar and coherent in scale’ as the 
proposed development which extends to the equivalent of nine storeys.  It is 
considered that this is an inaccurate judgement on the relative heights of the 
proposed development and surrounding existing buildings.  The proposed 
development offers very limited views through the site and the side blocks (NW 
and SE elevations) are generally unbroken except for single a step in heights.  
The six storey elements of the Lancastrian Office Block measure circa. 18 
metres in height and the LCC stadium has a general height of 20 metres. 

 
88. It is also considered that the predicted magnitude of change for some of the 

views has been understated and the use of landscape (rather than portrait 
photography) in visualisations has meant that the upper part of the building is 
not shown in some images, particularly VP 1 and VP5. This gives an 
incomplete and inaccurate representation of the likely visual impact of the 
proposals.  

 
89. It is considered that the conclusion of the TVIA that there would be ‘no notable 

townscape effects’ arising from the proposed development is an inaccurate 
summary of the likely impact of the development and the proposals are likely to 
result in some significant impacts on the local townscape character and key 
views, particularly when travelling along Great Stone Road and when viewed 
from Longford Park Conservation Area. Whilst it is acknowledged that some 
effects will be beneficial such as the introduction of a new active frontage along 
Great Stone Road and the removal of the existing building on site, the scheme 
is also likely to result in negative townscape and visual effects. These primarily 
relate to the scale and massing of the proposed scheme which is out of scale 
with the character of not just its immediate context, but the wider surrounding 
area. 

 
90. The visual representations 1 to 3, 5, 8, 9, 14 and 15 included in Appendix 1.0 of 

the amended TVIA demonstrate that the proposed development will be highly 
visible from a number of viewpoints.  Its prominence is exacerbated by the 
scale, height and massing of the proposed development and it is clear within 
the viewpoints that there are no developments of a comparable scale and 
massing which sit within the same viewpoint.  This indicates that the scale of 
the proposed development is out of keeping with the general character of the 
development area. 

 
Scale, height and massing of proposed development 

 
91. This planning application includes scale as a matter to be determined as part of 

this outline planning application.  Scale is defined as the height, width and 



length of each building proposed within the development in relation to its 
surroundings. 
 

92. The proposed development is nine storeys in height at its highest, stepping 
down to four to seven storeys in height along the Great Stone Road site 
frontage.   

 
93. The Great Stone Road frontage is split into three blocks development.  The 

northern block of development measures 16 metres in width, whilst the central 
and southern blocks measure 34 and 36 metres in width respectively.  

 
94. The rear element of the proposed development is broken up into two blocks of 

development, which step from five to seven, eight and nine storeys in height.  
As noted in paragraph 67 of this report, due to the podium style development 
on the northern part of the site the height of these nine storey blocks varies 
between 27.4 and 25.9 metres.    

 
95. There is only one complete break in the building block forming the rear 

elevation of the site, between the central and southern blocks, measuring 12 
metres.  The rear elevation of the southern block measures 16 metres in width.  
The rear elevation of the northern and central blocks measures 75 metres in 
width with a break of only 14.5 metres around the central point of the rear 
block, above the fifth storey level.  The northern and southern blocks of 
development are between 66 and 68 metres in depth. 

 
96. The Design and Access Statement does not include an explanation as to how 

the approach to layout or height of the proposed development has been 
derived, or how alternative forms of development may have been considered at 
the outset of the design process, such as a larger number of smaller building 
blocks.  The NPPF seeks to make efficient use of land, however there is a 
difference between making and efficient use of land and delivering and 
appropriately scaled scheme.  The applicant’s intent however, seems to have 
been to design the scheme to maximise the number of residential units that can 
be accommodated on the site with little thought for the site’s context or the 
residents living around it. The applicant’s initial proposal for the site (albeit this 
was only the subject of a pre-application enquiry) was for a three high rise 
towers ranging from 12 to 26 storeys in height. This was not pursued, but 
instead application reference 94974/OUT/18 was submitted (a single building 
covering the whole site and varying in height from five to 13 storeys). The 
current scheme represents a trimmed down version of this.   

 
97. A brief scale analysis is included at page 7 of the DAS which assesses 

development surrounding the application site into ‘Large scale mass’ and ‘Small 
scale mass’.  The DAS explains that the ‘large scale stadium’ at LCC has ‘been 
a main influence of the scheme’s varied massing’ and makes reference to tall 
buildings on Talbot Road being ‘up to 10 storeys high’.  The DAS goes on to 
state the “proposal steps down towards Great Stone Rd in response to the low-
rise housing to the west. This forms a screen to the higher massing along the 
eastern edge of the site”.  

 



98. Page 8 of the DAS examines the immediate context of the site, although some 
of the images are taken from 0.7km from the site with three of the six buildings 
taken as context (Lancastrian House, UA92 and Oakland House) addressing a 
primary route into the city (Talbot Road).  It is not considered that the 
assessment of the immediate context in the DAS accurately represents the true 
site context.  
 

99. The LPA consider the context of the site to be largely characterised by 
domestic scale buildings on Great Stone Road and Trent Bridge Walk.  The 
cricket club forms the setting for the site, and although the structures on site are 
large, they are of a massing and layout which provide glimpses through the site 
and does not dominate the local landscape.  The Lancastrian House office 
development (at two and six storeys in height) is also acknowledged to 
represent a larger scale development in the context of this site than the 
adjacent domestic dwellings, however, the form and massing of this 
development with four narrow six storey blocks (12 metres wide by 40 metres 
long) being separated by four, 33 metre long two storey blocks, provides views 
through the development and the six storey blocks, which results in a 
development which does not dominate the local townscape.     
 

100. As seen in the visual representations included within the TVIA the proposed 
development does not sit within the context of other large scale development 
and is predominantly viewed against a setting of two storey residential 
dwellings, the cricket spectator stands which are approximately six storeys in 
height and the adjacent Lancastrian House office development, which is two 
and six storeys in height. Whilst the floodlighting columns are seen in views 
these do not dominate the views or local skyline. 

 
101. Overall it is considered that the proposed scheme results in the development of 

a large scale residential building which has no comparator in the local area 
whilst the imposing scale and mass of the building fails to respond sensitively to 
the adjacent two storey dwellings or the stands that sit within the cricket 
ground. It is not clear whether there would be a requirement for roof top plant 
on the building. In the absence of such information, it has to be assumed that 
plant will be sited on top of the roof, which will only add to the building’s height 
and mass.   Furthermore, it is not considered that the area set aside for planting 
along the rear boundary of the site would provide adequate space for a 
landscaping scheme to flourish and soften the appearance of the proposed 
development.  

 
Layout and accessibility  

 
102. This planning application includes layout as a matter to be determined as part 

of this outline planning application. Layout is defined as the way in which 
buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are provided, 
situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces 
outside the development.  The submitted plans are not fully detailed, for 
example, annotated room layouts are not included on the floor plans. The 
submitted details are however considered to be sufficient to determine the 
acceptability of the site layout. 



 
103. The site layout retains the existing vehicular access point from Great Stone 

Road and upgrades this to create an access road along the northern side 
elevation serves the basement car park. 

 
104. The site layout addresses the change in levels of Great Stone Road through 

the use of a podium across the northern section of the site which allows the 
proposed development to address Great Stone Road at a level which is 
accessible by pedestrians at various points along its frontage.  

 
105. As noted in the previous section which outlines the details of the proposed 

development, access to the site is complex with the varying site levels between 
Great Stone Road and the application site.  As a result of these site levels, 
access is gained via mix of level and stepped pedestrian access points to the 
two courtyards and development blocks as outlined below.   

 
106. The northern pedestrian access provides a level access to one of the proposed 

flexible commercial units (noted as a café) and the southern courtyard.  The 
northern courtyard is accessible via a platform lift adjacent to the proposed 
retail unit or steps.  An additional platform lift proposed in the central block of 
development which provides access between the southern and northern 
courtyards. 

 
107. The central pedestrian access is level with Great Stone Road for approximately 

nine metres before reaching a stepped access down to the southern courtyard. 
The most southerly pedestrian access is stepped upwards directly from Great 
Stone Road and provides access into the southern block of development.   

 
108. A platform lift to the ground floor level is provided in the north western corner of 

the car park and this would provide access to the commercial unit and the 
pathway along the north western side elevation. 
 

109. Four lifts provide access to all levels from the basement car park to every floor 
in the northern and central blocks of development and two further lifts provide 
access to floors from ground level upwards in the southern block.  There is no 
basement car park on the southern part of the site.  

 
110. The developer has indicated the intention to provide a connection to the Old 

Trafford Metrolink in the future. At this time however, this is not possible as the 
proposed connection would require the use of land which is currently in the 
ownership of LCC. 

 
111. The proposed development is set back from the back edge of the pedestrian 

footpath along Great Stone Road by between 9 metres and 14.5 metres and 
incorporates two full height openings into both courtyards.  The front facades of 
the proposed development also incorporate set-backs to the upper floors of 
development which combined with the openings provide visual interest and 
texture. 
 



112. The proposed development seeks to create an active frontage to Great Stone 
Road with pedestrian access points and commercial units at the ground floor. It 
is considered that this is achieved with a degree of success along Great Stone 
Road in relation to the northern block, however the central block of 
development is screened by the embankment to the site as a result of the rising 
road level of Great Stone Road and the appearance of an active frontage 
across the site frontage varies.  

 
113. The remaining three elevations however, have little animation at ground floor 

level, however private terrace/garden areas are proposed to ground floor units 
to the majority of the internal and external perimeters.  Landscaping details do 
not form part of this application however the Landscape Design Statement 
indicates that hedgerow planting will delineate these spaces. 

 
114. The communal entrances to each block are provided within the internal 

courtyards.  Communal entrances should bring variation and interest to the 
building, should be visible from the street and be clearly identified. 

 
115. Basic courtyard elevations have been provided for review, however they are 

limited in detail.  Due to the late submission of these details it has not been 
possible to secure further information, however on the basis of the information 
submitted, it is not possible to discern where on the elevations the building 
entrances are, without cross-referencing the floorplans.  Without further detail, it 
is not possible to comment on the acceptability of the proposed access points 
with regard to the accessibility and layout of the development.    

 
116. The layout of the proposal results in two blocks of development. The proposed 

development incorporates a gap through the southern courtyard, which creates 
a sense of permeability, however the northern courtyard has a limited level of 
permeability with a two storey undercroft providing access through the 
courtyard and a break in the height of development above this undercroft area, 
resulting in development with an overall height of five storeys, excluding the 
raised podium.   
 

117. The proposed development seeks to maximise the width of the site and results 
in a layout which is four metres from the boundary with the Metrolink line.  This 
boundary is heavily landscaped with a number of mature trees which takes 
away from any potential daylight and sunlight to occupiers of units within the 
lower floors of development.  Aside from amenity concerns which are explored 
later in this report, it is considered that a wider buffer should be provided along 
this boundary in the interests of good design in terms of preventing the 
development from looking cramped on its site, creating an inviting and 
desirable space and the opportunity for a decent landscaping scheme to be 
provided as well as to enable future maintenance of the proposed development.   

 
118. The layout of the proposed development, by reason of the size of the footprint 

of the two buildings also leaves insufficient room for appropriate landscaping to 
soften the appearance of the proposed development.  The scale of the 
proposed development is considered to appear as a large unbroken and 



impermeable building when approached along Great Stone Road which results 
in an unacceptable over-dominant visual impact on the surrounding area. 

 
119. The layout of the site, combined with the height of the proposed development 

results in an overshadowing impact of the building on the internal landscaped 
courtyards. This is explored in more detail within the ‘Amenity’ section of this 
report, but is another indicator that the layout and scale of the proposed 
development is inappropriate.  

 
Appearance  
 

120. This planning application includes appearance as a matter to be determined as 
part of this outline planning application. Appearance is defined as the aspects 
of a building or place within the development which determine the visual 
impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture. 

 
121. The character of the local area is varied but the submitted documentation does 

not provide a rationale on design cues or influences for the proposed 
development as one would expect, however the submitted Design and Access 
Statement explains that the elevational treatment has been designed to provide 
texture and depth to the elevation. 

 
122.  As noted previously there are concerns regarding the scale and massing of the 

proposed development. It is also considered that the form of the development, 
i.e. two large buildings, one ‘L’ shaped and one ‘U’ shaped on a site of this size 
is inappropriate in this context. The design approach is considered to be out of 
character with both the immediate context and that of the wider area 
(notwithstanding the presence of buildings of considerable scale within the 
wider area).  Whilst a limited number of viewpoints have been included in the 
TVIA, those that have been taken in close proximity to the site, together with 
the cricket pitch views, demonstrate how incongruous this form of the 
development will be and how big it will look in close proximity to and in stark 
contrast with the two storey dwellings on both Great Stone Road and Trent 
Bridge Walk. The combined length, height and width of the buildings will appear 
larger than many of the stands at the cricket ground. 

 
123. The front façade, in itself, although irregular in appearance, includes a number 

of set-backs at various points along the frontage, recessed windows details and 
sloping brick panels and integral balconies which create a depth to the façade 
and introduce some balance.   

 
124. Additional information submitted illustrates the more detailed elements of the 

scheme such as the proposed balcony design, textured brick work detailing and 
terracotta baguette screen details.  In terms of materials, the development 
proposes the use of a buff brick throughout the scheme, (although the 
prevailing character of the area is one typified by red brick buildings), including 
the detailed panels, with curtain walled glazing to the ground floor commercial 
units, warm grey aluminium framed windows and concrete string course, 
horizontal terracotta baguettes.  



 
125. The same elevational treatment is carried through the remainder of the external 

facing elevations of the development, however fewer balconies are proposed 
on the rear and side elevations.  The use of the same architectural approach to 
the external facing facades adds to the monotonous appearance of the 
building. There is no objection to a contemporary approach to the design in 
itself, and it is accepted that the proposed detailing will help, in a limited way to 
add interest to the external facing facades. 

 
126. Basic courtyard elevations have been provided for review.  The detailing shown 

on the courtyard elevations indicates that in comparison to the external 
elevations, which are more ‘public facing’ the level of detail proposed is 
minimal, with no indication of any relief or texture within the courtyard areas, 
unlike the external facades, which indicate shading, texture and depth.  Due to 
the late submission of these details it has not been possible to secure further 
information, however on the basis of the information submitted, the proposed 
elevation treatment of the internal courtyards is considered to be inferior to that 
of the ‘public facing’ elevations and unacceptable. 

 
127. Although the approach to the detail on some of the proposed external elevation 

treatments adds interest, it is the combination of the scale and appearance of 
the two buildings, particularly when viewed from the side and rear, and when 
both the length and width of the buildings can be seen together, that will 
dominate views around the area.  In summary, it is considered that the 
proposed development will appear as a dominant and incongruous feature 
within the local and wider streetscene, which is detrimental to the overall 
character and townscape of both the immediate and wider area. 

 
Density  

 
128. The Local Plan does not seek to impose either minimum or maximum densities 

on proposed development however, the issue of density is referred to in 
Strategic Objective 1 of the Core Strategy which states that the Council will 
promote sufficient high quality housing in sustainable locations, of a size, 
density and tenure needed to meet the Borough’s needs and to contribute 
towards those of the city region. Policy L1.4 states that the Council will seek to 
ensure the efficient use of land, concentrating higher density housing 
development in appropriate and sustainable locations where it can be 
demonstrated that it is consistent with the provisions of L2 (Meeting Housing 
Needs). These policies can be seen to encourage higher density development 
in appropriate locations and Policy L7.1 goes further to act as a ‘sense check’ 
and states that development should enhance the street scene or character of 
the area by appropriately addressing density, amongst other criteria. 
 

129. The NPPF addresses the issue of density in paragraphs 122 and 123. 
Paragraph 123 states that “Where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of 
land for meeting identified housing needs, it is especially important that 
planning policies and decisions avoid homes being built at low densities, and 
ensure that developments make optimal use of the potential of each site” and at 
bullet point c) states “local planning authorities should refuse applications which 



they consider fail to make efficient use of land, taking into account the policies 
in this Framework”. 

 
130. Although the NPPF encourages the efficient use of land, paragraph 122 

emphasises that development should also take into account the desirability of 
maintaining an area’s prevailing character and the importance of securing well 
designed, attractive and healthy places. 

 
131. Throughout the NPPF there is an emphasis on good design, therefore it is clear 

that although higher density developments are encouraged within the NPPF, 
they should not be at such a high density as to be detrimental to the design of 
the development or at a density that is inappropriate to its location. 

 
132. Although the GMSF is of limited weight in the determination of this application, 

Policy GM-H 4 is of relevance in terms of density. Increasing the average 
density of new housing developments in the most accessible locations is an 
important part of the overall strategy in the GMSF, it will help to ensure the 
most efficient use of the land, assist in the protection of greenfield land and 
maximise the number of people living in the most accessible locations. In Policy 
GM-H 4 this location is within the ‘Other rail stations with a frequent service and 
all other Metrolink stops’ category. This states that where sites are within 400 
metres of these transport locations, the minimum net residential density should 
be 70 dwellings per hectare. 

133. The density of the proposed development at 333 dwellings per hectare is 
considered to be inappropriate and excessive for the suburban location of this 
application site, particularly when the density of the immediately adjacent 
residential development is in the region of circa 30-40 dwellings per hectare 
and there is no relevant precedent in the surrounding area.  

 
Conclusion on design and appearance 

 
134. Good quality design is an integral part of sustainable development. The NPPF 

and PPG recognise that design quality matters and that the planning process 
should be used to drive up standards across all forms of development. 
 

135. The proposed development at nine storeys in height with a density of 333 
dwellings per hectare is considered to be significantly out of keeping with the 
general character and appearance of the local area in terms of scale, massing, 
appearance and density.  There are no comparators within the vicinity of the 
application site and it is apparent in the representative views contained within 
the submitted TVIA that the proposed development would appear as an 
incongruous feature within the local and wider streetscene. 

 
136. The layout of the site, in combination with the scale of the development also 

results in overshadowing of the internal courtyard amenity areas, which is 
considered to be a further indicator that the scale of the proposed development 
is not acceptable. 

 
137. The front façade of the proposed development does deliver some positive 

features with the creation of an active frontage to Great Stone Road and an 



interesting contemporary design approach which incorporates design features 
which help to break up the façade.  However, it is not considered that this 
overcomes the harm caused by the scale, massing and form and appearance 
of the proposed development.  This will be particularly evident when particularly 
when viewed from the rear and side elevations and when both the length and 
width of the buildings can be seen together.  

 
138. Overall it is considered that the proposed development represents a poorly 

designed scheme and is therefore contrary to Core Strategy Policy L7 and the 
NPPF, which at paragraph 130 indicates that permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for 
improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions. 
 
HERITAGE 
 

139. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 requires the Local Planning Authority to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which they possess and section 72(1) of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of Conservation Areas. 

 
140. Policy R1 of the Core Strategy states that all new development must take 

account of surrounding building styles, landscapes and historic distinctiveness 
and that developers must demonstrate how their development will complement 
and enhance existing features of historic significance including their wider 
settings, in particular in relation to conservation areas, listed buildings and other 
identified heritage assets. This policy does not reflect case law or the tests of 
‘substantial’ and ‘less than substantial harm’ in the NPPF. Thus, in respect of 
the determination of planning applications, Core Strategy Policy R1 is out of 
date and can be given limited weight. 

 
141. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF establishes that when considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.  The NPPF sets out 
that harm can either be substantial or less than substantial and there will also 
be cases where development affects heritage assets but from which no harm 
arises.  Significance is defined in the NPPF as the value of a heritage asset to 
this and future generations because of its heritage interest, which includes any 
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic interest.  The significance of a 
heritage asset also derives from an asset’s setting, which is defined in the 
NPPF as ‘the surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced’.   

 
142. The application site lies within the setting of Trafford Town Hall which is Grade 

II listed, Longford Park Conservation Area and Old Trafford Cricket Ground, 
which is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset.   

 
143. Trafford Town Hall is significant for its aesthetic, historical illustrative and 

communal values.  The clock tower in particular is an important local and 



distinctive landmark and views of this contribute greatly to its aesthetic value.  
Its landmark quality orientates residents and visitors and provides a focal point 
within the locality.  A clock face is intentionally visible on all four elevations of 
the tower emphasising the importance and visibility of this civic building at the 
time of construction in 1933 and this remains the case today.  Currently there 
are glimpses of the clock tower from within and across the application site; 
these views therefore contribute to the significance of this Grade ll listed 
building.  It should be noted that Core Strategy Policy SL3 also references the 
requirement for new development to protect, preserve and enhance the listed 
Trafford Town Hall. 

 
144. The proposed development will result in the loss of glimpses of the clock tower 

across the application site, however Viewpoint 1 of the LVIA does however 
indicate the most prominent view of the clock tower will be retained across the 
car park serving LCC. This harm is considered to be negligible.  

 
145. The site will be visible form Longford Park Conservation Area.  The significance 

of the Conservation Area derives from the site of the former Longford Hall and 
its association with John Rylands.  During the 20th century, the Estate was 
designated as a public park and a key aesthetic value of the site comes from its 
green spaces, mature trees and planting.  The layout of the spaces reflects 
both the park’s historic estate use and changes made during its use as a park.  
The central and southern parts of the Conservation Area are defined by the 
estate buildings, formal gardens and tree lined paths, whereas the northern end 
of the park is much more open in character, with wide expanses of fields.  In 
the 1930s a number of buildings and structures were added to the park 
including the former Firswood Library and entrance from the Quadrant to the 
north.  The park, which is also highly valued as a recreational facility, provides 
vistas across to the open space to the north of the Conservation Area and 
beyond from the former Firswood Library towards the application site.  

 
146. Despite the potential impact on the Longford Park Conservation Area identified 

in the submitted Heritage Statement, no viewpoints were included in the LVIA.  
An updated LVIA including an additional viewpoint from Longford Park was 
subsequently requested and provided.  The submitted viewpoint demonstrated 
that the proposed development would result in a minor harm to the setting of 
Longford Park and the appreciation of the Conservation Area in views looking 
northwards across the open space.  It is also considered that the proposed 
development may impact on the experience of the Park at night time which is a 
relatively dark space. 

 
147. The Old Trafford Cricket Ground and pavilion are identified as a non-

designated heritage asset.  The pavilion was designed by Thomas Muirhead 
architect also of the pavilion at the Oval.  Despite being altered and rebuilt after 
WWII bomb damage as well as a comprehensive redevelopment in recent 
years, the building maintains its original layout and relationship with the cricket 
pitch.  The building remains an iconic image of LCC and has remained in its 
intended use since 1895, the circa 1920s turnstiles fronting Brian Statham Way 
are also of interest. The Cricket Ground is a recognisable and distinctive 
landmark and has considerable communal value for its contribution to the 



sporting heritage of Old Trafford both locally and internationally.  Similar to 
Trafford Town Hall, there are glimpses of the pavilion and cricket ground from 
Great Stone Road across and from within the application site. 

 
148. The proposed development will result in the loss of glimpses of the pavilion and 

cricket ground, however this harm is considered to be negligible.  Additional 
viewpoints from the Old Trafford cricket ground looking towards the proposed 
north eastern (rear) elevation were requested, however the applicant was 
unwilling to provide a formal viewpoint from within the cricket ground.  As an 
alternative, views from within the cricket ground taken from the architect’s 
model were provided.  Although these aren’t verified images they do indicate 
that there is potential for the development to cause negligible harm to the 
setting of Old Trafford Cricket Ground.   

 
149. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that “When considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more 
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of 
whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance.”  Paragraph 194 of the NPPF requires “Any 
harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset” to be any 
harm to be justified in a clear and convincing manner.  As stated in paragraph 
190 of the NPPF, LPAs are required to avoid or minimise any conflict between 
the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 

 
150. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to a 

designated heritage asset, paragraph 196 of the NPPF indicates that this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.  The minor harm 
to the setting of Longford Park Conservation Area and the negligible harm to 
Trafford Town Hall therefore need to be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal in accordance with paragraph 196 of the NPPF.  Whilst the harm 
relates to setting, the balancing exercise should still take into account the 
statutory duty of Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Building & Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 ‘to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas’.  

 
151. As per paragraph 197 of the NPPF, “the effect of an application on the 

significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in 
determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly 
affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset.”   The harm to the Old Trafford cricket ground is in this instance 
considered to be negligible.  

 
152. It is acknowledged that the proposed development would provide a number of 

public benefits, most notably 333 apartments on a vacant brownfield site in a 
sustainable location, and at a time when the Council cannot demonstrate a 
rolling five year housing land supply.  This would represent a significant 
contribution to the Council’s housing land supply figures and targets for 
delivering residential development on brownfield sites.  The proposal would 



provide 34 affordable homes, and is also likely to provide increased spending in 
the local area and a benefit to local shops.  Considerable weight must therefore 
be given to these benefits, albeit that the scale of benefit in terms of housing 
numbers only arises as a direct result of the inappropriate design, height, scale, 
appearance and mass of the proposed building and the consequential harm 
identified here and elsewhere in this report.  It is also noted that many of these 
benefits would also result from the provision of an alternative scheme that 
appropriately addressed these matters.   

 
153. The harm caused to the significance of Longford Park Conservation Area as a 

result of the proposed development impacting on the setting of the designated 
heritage asset as a result of the design, excessive height, scale, mass and 
appearance of the proposed development, is such that the public benefits 
identified are not considered to outweigh this harm. 

 
154. In relation to the consideration of the development proposal against paragraph 

11d) of the NPPF, it is considered that the adverse impacts to designated 
heritage asset resulting from the scheme provide a clear reason for refusal of 
the application.  The public benefits of the scheme are not considered to 
outweigh the less than substantial harm identified.  The proposed development 
is also contrary to Core Strategy Policy R1.  The impact on the non-designated 
heritage asset is weighed in the wider planning balance in the conclusion of this 
report. 
AMENITY  

 
155. In addition to ensuring that developments are designed to be visually attractive 

paragraph 127 of the NNPF advises that planning decisions should create 
places that provide a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 

 
156. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy contains similar requirements and requires 

development to be compatible with the surrounding area and not prejudice the 
amenity of future occupiers of the development and/or occupants of adjacent 
properties by reason of, amongst others, overbearing, overshadowing, 
overlooking, visual intrusion, noise and/or disturbance. It has already been 
concluded earlier in this report that L7 is considered to be up to date for 
decision making purposes and that full weight can be attached to it. 

 
157. A range of issues have been considered under the broad topic of residential 

amenity in this case.  All issues are considered in turn below, and with the 
impacts on both existing and prospective residents discussed.      

 

Overlooking  
 

158. An important consideration in seeking to deliver and maintain good standards 
of residential amenity is associated with avoiding adverse overlooking.  This is 
ordinarily achieved by ensuring that an appropriate degree of separation exists, 
particularly between habitable room windows of facing properties, and also 
when bearing in mind the prospect for private amenity space to be overlooked. 

 



159. The Council’s New Residential Development Planning Guidelines document 
(PG1) does not include specific distance guidelines for tall buildings, other than 
stating that for development of four or more storeys where there would be 
major facing windows, flats should retain a minimum distance of 24m across 
public highways and 30m across private gardens.  These guidelines were not 
written with high density developments in mind and carry limited weight in these 
circumstances. 

 

160. Habitable room windows are located in all elevations of the proposed 
development with nearly all flats within the development having a single aspect 
outlook, with 151 residential units having either a north easterly or north 
westerly aspect. 

 

161. The nearest existing residential properties are located opposite the site on 
Great Stone Road.  The front façade of the proposed development is located 
between 34 metres and 42.7 metres from the front elevation of the existing 
residential dwellings on Great Stone Road.  It should be noted that these 
dwellings are set at a lower ground level than Great Stone Road rising in height 
in front of these dwellings. 

 

162. The application site is also located adjacent to the existing residential dwellings 
on Trent Bridge Walk which is located on the opposite side of the Metrolink line 
adjacent to the site.  These dwellings are located between 38 metres and 44 
metres away from the side elevation of the proposed development.  The 
remaining external facing elevations will overlook the LCC ground and car 
parking area.   

 

163. In terms of the internal layout, the courtyards achieve interface distances of 34 
metres by 30 metres in the northern courtyard and 31 metres by 27.6 to 30 
metres in the southern courtyard.  Oblique views may be possible within the 
courtyard, however given the nature of the proposed development within a 
residential block and courtyard setting, this interface is considered to be 
acceptable.  

 

164. The proposed development generally exceeds the separation distances set out 
within PG1 with the exception of the eastern end of the southern courtyard, if 
the separation distances across private gardens were applied.  As noted 
before, PG1 was not written with high density developments in mind and this 
minor breach is considered to be acceptable and the internal relationships 
within the proposed development are considered to be acceptable.   

 

165. The proposed development would also result in the introduction of a significant 
number of new habitable room windows and balconies overlooking the existing 
dwellings on Great Stone Road and Trent Bridge Walk.  Whilst these residents 
are likely to feel overlooked as a result of this, particularly as these dwellings 
are not currently overlooked to their front elevations, the separation distances 
are considered to be acceptable and it is not considered that the proposed 
relationship would result in an unacceptable level of overlooking.  

 

Overbearing impact 



 

166. The need to ensure that the proposed development would not have an 
overbearing impact is a further, important residential amenity consideration.  
The term ‘overbearing’ is used to describe the impact of a building on its 
surroundings, and particularly a neighbouring property, in terms of its scale, 
massing and general dominating effect.   

 
167. The existing situation of the dwellings located on Great Stone Road and Trent 

Bridge Walk must also be considered in assessing whether the proposed 
development would result in an overbearing impact to existing occupiers.  

 
168. This proposal would introduce a building of significant height, scale and mass 

to the application site, which is not comparable to the scale of any development 
within the vicinity, which in itself is generally dominated by two storey 
residential dwellings.     

 

169. Whilst SPD4 is not directly of relevance to a development of this nature as it 
focuses on residential alterations and extensions, it does advise on appropriate 
separation distances between developments to prevent an unacceptable 
overbearing impact.  These are different to the privacy distances previously 
mentioned.  Acknowledging the chief purpose of the SPD in informing 
householder planning applications, it recommends a distance of 15 metres 
between the principal elevation of one dwelling and a blank (i.e. no windows) 
elevation of another (assuming two-storey properties).  For each additional 
storey, an additional three metres may be required, it continues.    

 

170. The nearby two storey residential dwellings will be most impacted upon by the 
proposed development and an assessment has to be made to understand 
whether the proposed development would result in an unacceptable 
overbearing impact on existing residents on Trent Bridge Walk and Great Stone 
Road.   

 

171. In assessing the proposed development against the criteria of SPD4 the 
proposed development would be expected to achieve separations distances 
between 21 and 36 metres as the site rises in height.  The development 
achieves these distances. 
 

172. However, whilst the proposed development meets the standards set out in 
SPD4, it must be acknowledged that SPD 4 was written for house extensions 
and is not readily applicable in this scenario.  Furthermore, it is considered that 
the proposed development by reason of its sheer scale and mass will form a 
significant block of development which would be readily visible from the 
windows, gardens and streets of the surrounding area.   
 

173. The front façade has been broken up in to three blocks of development which 
allows views through the two courtyard access points, however the scale and 
massing of these blocks of development at 16, 33 and 33 metres in width will 
likely remain visible to occupiers of Great Stone Walk resulting in a dominating 
and overbearing effect.   

 



174. The side elevation of the proposed development measures 68 metres in length 
is substantial in scale and massing at seven and nine storeys (20 and 26 
metres) in height.  It is considered that this elevation, with one step in height 
would result in an overbearing impact to the residents of Trent Bridge Walk.  

 

175. Overall it is considered that the proposed development would introduce a 
dominant and intrusive feature which would appear overbearing to the 
surrounding area and would significantly affect existing views and appear 
completely at odds with the scale, form and character of the area.  

 

Outlook 
 

176. The issue of outlook is also a consideration in the determination of impact on 
amenity.  A satisfactory outlook should be maintained for existing properties 
and ensured for future occupiers of the proposed development. 

 
177. Occupiers of the flats located at ground and first floor level in the rear elevation 

of the proposed development would directly overlook a building which provides 
ancillary facilities to LCC and is located within the LCC ground.  The building is 
industrial in design being clad in corrugated metal cladding.  This building has 
an eaves height of approximately seven metres and is located approximately 
12.5 metres away from the rear elevation of the proposed development where 
habitable room windows would be located. 

 

178. A review of the level 0, level 1 floorplans and courtyard sections AA and BB 
indicates that fourteen flats with single aspect outlooks would directly face this 
unit and a further four units would also look onto this elevation.   

 

179. The ground floor units would benefit from some landscaping to screen this with 
garden areas being provided to these units.  The Level 0 site layout plan 
indicates that trees would be planted along this rear boundary, however the 
Landscape Design Statement contained conflicting information with the Level 0 
plan at page 14 omitting any reference to trees on this boundary.   

 

180. Clarification on this matter was sought, including a request for further 
information demonstrating the likely level of planting anticipated on this 
boundary.  Although landscaping is a reserved matter the ability to 
appropriately landscape the rear boundary is important as this impacts on the 
outlook of the lower floor units as well as the general amenity of the site.  There 
is concern that the amount of space potentially set aside for tree planting (0.5 
metres) would provide very little room for tree planting which would provide any 
meaningful softening, nor would it allow room for trees to grow, flourish and 
mature within the bounds of the application site. The development is 
considered to be too close to this boundary. 
 

181. Given the close proximity of the LCC building on the rear site boundary to the 
proposed development and the lack of room for site landscaping, this raises 
concerns that occupiers of these ground floor units are likely to have a poor 
outlook. It is also noted that these units are north-east facing and generally in 



the shade throughout much of the day, naturally suffering from poor levels of 
daylight. 

 

182. The proposed layout provides a separation distance of between 3.5 to 4 metres 
from the south eastern site boundary (Metrolink).  TfGM have commented that 
Metrolink frequently receive complaints from residents where their property 
adjoins Metrolink land that has trees on it due to the shading from the trees.   It 
is considered that the proximity of the side elevation to the south eastern 
boundary which is heavily landscaped with substantial trees within the TfGM 
Metrolink line ownership will result in a dark, shaded and poor outlook for 
occupiers of units in the lower floors of the southern block adjacent to the 
Metrolink line.  
 
Daylight and Sunlight 

 

183. With specific regard to amenity in terms of daylight and sunlight paragraph 123 
c) of the NPPF states that where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of 
land for meeting identified housing needs, it is important that planning policies 
and decisions avoid homes being built at low densities, and ensure that 
developments make optimal use of the potential of each site, the NPPF goes 
on to state that local planning authorities should take a flexible approach in 
applying policies or guidance relating to daylight and sunlight, where they would 
otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site (as long as the resulting scheme 
would provide acceptable living standards).   

 
184. As previously noted Policy L7 also seeks to ensure that development must not 

prejudice the amenity of future occupiers of the proposed development and 
existing occupiers of adjacent properties. 

 

185. New residential development should also be designed to ensure that adequate 
levels of natural light can be achieved.  With this in mind, the application is 
accompanied by a specialist study which has sought to establish the extent of 
any sunlight and daylight loss on surrounding properties, and whether any 
overshadowing would occur and the level of daylight and sunlight serving the 
units within of the proposed development.  For the sake of clarity, daylight is 
defined as the volume of natural light that enters a building to provide 
satisfactory illumination of internal accommodation between sunrise and 
sunset.  Sunlight refers to direct sunshine, and overshadowing is a 
consequence of the loss of sunlight. 

 

186. The report is based on the methodologies set out in the Building Research 
Establishment (BRE) report 'Site layout planning for daylight and sunlight - A 
guide to good practice'. 

 

187. The report focuses on the nearest sensitive receptors, listed below.  These 35 
residential properties are located in the immediate vicinity of the site.  No 
commercial receptors have been considered by this report.   

 

 No.s 9-21 Trent Bridge Walk (all inclusive) 

 No.s 47-61 Gorse Crescent (odd no.s only) 



 No.s 44 – 50 Great Stone Road (even no.s only) 

 No.s 54 – 58 Great Stone Road (even no.s only) 

 No. 55 Great Stone Road 

 No. 1 - 4 Gorse Avenue (all inclusive) 

 No.s 6 & 8 Gorse Avenue 
 
188. The report also assesses the impact of the proposed development on future 

occupiers to establish whether a satisfactory level of daylight would be received 
internally.  

 
189. The report refers to three measures of diffuse daylight: Vertical Sky Component 

(VSC), No-Sky Line (NSL) and Average Daylight Factor (ADF).  Sunlight is 
measured as Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH).  Each of these is 
explored in further detail below. 

 
190. The VSC method measures the amount of sky that can be seen from the centre 

of an existing window and compares it to the amount of sky that would still be 
capable of being seen from that same position following the erection of a new 
building.  The measurements assess the amount of sky that can be seen 
converting it into a percentage.  If the VSC within new development is : 

 

 At least 27%, conventional window design will usually give reasonable 
results; 

 Between 15% and 27%, special measures such as larger windows and 
changes to room layout are usually needed to provide adequate 
daylight; 

 Between 5% and 15%, it is very difficult to provide adequate daylight 
unless very large windows are used; 

 Less than 5%, it is often impossible to achieve reasonable daylight, 
even if the whole window wall is glazed. 

 
191. When assessing the VSC of existing developments, if the VSC, with the new 

development in place, is less than 27% and less than 0.8 times its former value, 
occupants of the existing building will notice the reduction in the amount of 
skylight.  The area lit by the window is likely to appear gloomier and electric 
lighting will be needed more of the time.  It should be noted that the 27% VSC 
target value is derived from a low density suburban housing model.    

 
192. NSL is a measure of daylight distribution within an existing building/room. The 

NSL divides points on the working plane which can and cannot see the sky.  In 
housing, the working plane is assumed to be horizontal and 0.85 metres above 
the floor.  If from a point in a room on the working plane it is possible to see 
some sky then that point will lie inside the NSL contour. Conversely, if no sky is 
visible from that point then it would lie outside the contour.  As areas beyond 
the NSL receive no direct daylight, they usually look dark and gloomy 
compared with the rest of the room, however bright it is outside.  
Supplementary electric lighting will be needed if a significant part of the working 
plane lies beyond the NSL. 

 



193. When comparing the NSL for existing buildings against that proposed following 
development, BRE guidelines state that if the no-sky line moves so that the 
area of the existing room which does receive direct skylight is reduced to less 
than 0.8 times its former value, then this will be noticeable to the occupants, 
and more of the room will appear poorly lit from those that cannot. 

 
194. Average daylight factor (ADF) is a measure of the overall amount of daylight 

provision in new rooms.  The BRE guidelines advise that the acceptable 
minimum ADF target value depends on the room use and advises an ADF of 
1% for a bedroom, 1.5% for a living room and 2% for kitchens.  It should be 
noted that the BRE guidance advises that an ADF of 5% would provide a well 
daylit space and 2% would provide a partly daylit space, where electric lighting 
is likely to be turned on. 

 
195. Annual Probability of Sunlight Hours is a measure of sunlight that a given 

window may expect over a year period.  BRE guidance recommends that at 
least one main window wall should face within 90 degrees of due south and the 
APSH received at a given window in the proposed development should be at 
least 25% of the total available, including at least 5% in winter.   

 
196. BRE guidance notes that a dwelling with no main window wall within 90 

degrees of due south is likely to be perceived as insufficiently lit.  In large 
residential developments the number of dwellings whose living rooms face 
solely north, north east or north west should be minimised, unless there is 
some compensating factor such as an appealing view to the north,  

 
197. When assessing the impact of APSH in existing developments, if a living room 

of an existing dwelling has a main window facing within 90 degree of due south, 
and any part of a new development subtends an angle of more than 25 
degrees to the horizontal measured from the centre of the window, then the 
sunlighting of the existing dwelling may be adversely affected.  This will be the 
case if the centre of the window fails to meet the criteria outlined above and 
received less than 0.8 times its former sunlight hours during either period and 
has a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year greater than 4% of 
APSH. 

 
Daylight and sunlight impact on existing properties 

 
198. Existing properties should be assessed against the BRE guidelines for VSC, 

NSL and ASPH. 
 
199. Of the 35 properties assessed, 100% are compliant in terms of VSC and APSH.   
 
200. Six of the properties assessed fail to meet BRE criteria on NSL, which has a 

target of attaining 80% of their former value.  Two of the properties which fail to 
meet these guidelines do so minimally and achieve a NSL reduction of between 
72% and 78%.  The remaining four properties which fail to meet the BRE NSL 
target values fail by a more significant degree:   
 

DWELLING  NSL 



LIT AREA 
EXISTING 

LIT AREA 
PROPOSED 

REDUCTION 

14 Trent 
Bridge Walk 
(B8) 

98% 70% 72% 

13 Trent 
Bridge Walk 
(B9) 

100% 77% 78% 

58 Great 
Stone Road 
(B22) 

97% 
98% 

49% 
77% 

50% 
78% 

56 Great 
Stone Road 
(B23) 

98% 
97% 

59% 
46% 

60% 
47% 

55 Great 
Stone Road 
(B25) 

 99%  
97% 

62% 
38% 

62% 
39% 

54 Great 
Stone Road 
(B24) 

98% 
96% 

55% 
66% 

56% 
69% 

     Table 1 

 
201. The windows affected by the reduction in NSL are all bedrooms.  The 

applicant’s Daylight and Sunlight Assessment concludes that where there are 
deviations from the BRE guidelines, the significance of the deviations are offset 
by the following factors: 

i. It is inevitable when constructing buildings in an urban environment 
that alterations in daylight and sunlight to adjoining properties can 
occur  

ii. Deviations from the BRE guidelines are generally very minor/marginal 
and good levels of natural light are retained by most 
properties/windows when taking into account the existing environment  

iii. The BRE guide states that “bedrooms should be analysed although 
they are less important” and the majority of rooms that experience any 
impact are bedrooms  

iv. The BRE guidelines indicate that in interpreting the results of an 
assessment, a degree of flexibility is required, especially in a dense 
urban environment where neighbouring properties are located within 
narrow streetscapes and with design obstructions restricting the 
availability of daylight or sunlight 

v. The new NPPF 2018 [now 2019] states that ‘’a flexible approach 
should be taken in applying policies relating to daylight and sunlight, 
where they would otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site’’  

vi. The BRE tests are based on a typical (two storey) suburban model of 
development and it is reasonable to assume that expectations of levels 
of daylight sunlight will be different in developing larger properties such 
as this. This is noted in the guide itself. 

 
Conclusion on daylight / sunlight impact on existing properties 

 
202. The Local Planning Authority acknowledges that some flexibility should be 

applied in the consideration of daylight and sunlight as set out in paragraph 123 
of the NPPF in order to facilitate the delivery of higher density developments.  



However, it should be borne in mind that this application site is located within 
(and impacts upon) a  low density suburban area and not an urban environment 
as implied within the submitted assessment, therefore it is considered that the 
proposed development should generally comply with the figures set out in BRE 
guidance.   

 
203. The impact of the proposed development is such that it fails to comply with the 

relevant BRE daylight criteria standards in relation to four existing properties on 
Great Stone Road and two existing properties on Trent Bridge Walk.   

 
204. Whilst it is acknowledged that the affected windows solely serve bedrooms, the 

degree of non-compliance is nonetheless concerning and a number of 
properties will have to rely more on electric lighting to achieve adequate internal 
lighting levels. This is considered to be an unacceptable impact on residential 
amenity, caused by the height, scale, massing and layout of the proposed 
development, particularly when the outlook from the ground floor level of these 
units is already compromised by the retaining structure of Great Stone Road as 
it forms the bridge over the Metrolink line. 
 
Daylight and sunlight impacts on proposed units 

 
205. Residential units within proposed developments should be assessed against 

the BRE guidelines for VSC, ADF and ASPH. 
 

206. As with existing developments a VSC of 27% should be achieved for the 
proposed units.  The applicant’s study shows that: 

 
- 192 out of 513 windows assessed have a VSC of greater than 27% and pass 

the BRE guidelines.   
- A further 122 windows have a VSC marginally below the required level.   
- 34 of the remaining 82 windows have a VSC value that is considered to be 

minor adverse.  
- 27 of the remaining 48 windows (5%) have a VSC value that is considered to 

be moderate adverse.  
- 21 windows (4%) have a VSC value that is considered to be major adverse. 
- 117 windows aren’t fully accounted for in the results section of the applicant’s 

report assessment and are simply noted as serving “bedrooms which the 
guide states are less important than other habitable rooms”.   

 
207. The analysis within the applicant’s Daylight and Sunlight Report only assesses 

those windows that did not pass the general rule of thumb, meaning all other 
windows in the development do by definition pass the BRE tests and a further 
599 windows in the development pass the BRE target VSC value of 27%. 

 
208. The applicant’s assessment concludes that “1064 of the 1112 windows (96%) 

therefore either fully pass the BRE guidelines, serve bedrooms which are 
deemed to be less important by the BRE guide or are negligibly or a minor 
amount below the required level.” 

 



209. Further analysis of the appendices to the submitted Daylight Sunlight Report 
indicates development will achieve the following VSC levels: 
 

Floor  No. of windows 
meeting VSC 
guidance  

No. of windows 
with VSC 17% -
27% 

No. of windows 
VSC 5% - 16% 

0 0/65 37/65 28/65 

1 3/72 53/65 16/72 

2 19/92 64/92 9/92 

3 31/92 56/92 5/92 

4 53/86 32/86 1/86 

5 45/59 14/59  

6 32/36 4/36  

7 10/11 1/11  

 
210. Although the figure of 27% is based upon a low density suburban model and 

some flexibility should be applied, BRE guidance states that where VSC figures 
are between 5% and 15% it is very difficult to provide adequate daylight unless 
very large windows are used and where less than 5% it is often impossible to 
achieve reasonable daylight levels. 

 
211. Average Daylight Factor (ADF) is also considered within the submitted Daylight 

Sunlight Report.  The ADF for 319 out of 428 rooms assessed exceed the 
minimum BRE guideline requirement.  There are 790 rooms in total throughout 
the proposed development.   

 
212. The ADF levels to the remaining 109 rooms were assessed with 57 being 

negligibly below the target value.  10 rooms were shown to suffer from a minor 
adverse impact, 8 rooms would suffer from a moderate adverse impact and 10 
rooms would suffer from a major adverse impact.  The ADF of 24 bedrooms not 
included in these figures were not fully analysed in the conclusion of the report, 
again on the basis that they are ‘less important than other habitable rooms’.   

 
213. The ADF recommendations are minimum values which should be achieved to 

provide an adequately daylit room.  This proposed development would not 
achieve the minimum recommended ADF values for 109 rooms (14%), where 
electric lighting would have to be more heavily relied on to light rooms.  An 
analysis shows that dwellings on most floors (ground to fifth floor) will be 
affected by poor ADF levels, however the vast majority affected are located on 
the ground, first and second floors of development. 

 
214. In terms of APSH, 258 of the 513 windows assessed did not fall within 90 

degrees of due south and were not assessed for APSH.   
 

215. Where measured, the APSH calculations to 253 of the 255 remaining windows 
are well above the BRE recommended levels of 25% in summer.  The 
remaining two windows are less than 20% below the BRE recommended levels 
of 25% in summer and are considered have a negligible adverse impact within 
the applicant’s report.  

 



216. Where measured, the annual probable sunlight hours calculations to 243 of the 
255 windows are well above the BRE recommended levels of 5% in winter.  
Nine of the remaining 12 windows serve bedrooms which the BRE guide states 
are less important than other habitable rooms.  The annual probable sunlight 
hours calculated to 2 of the remaining 3 windows (1%) are less than 20% below 
the BRE recommended levels of 5% in winter and are considered have a 
negligible adverse impact within the applicant’s report. 

 
Conclusion on daylight / sunlight for the proposed units 

 
217. From an analysis of the data contained within the submitted report it is clear 

that residents of the units on the lower floors of the proposed development, in 
particular the first to fifth floors would be subject to daylight and sunlight levels 
which are below the BRE guidance recommended values set out for VSC and 
ADF.  Whilst each impact on its own may not be considered to be an issue, 
when taken collectively, it is considered by the Local Planning Authority that a 
considerable number of the residents of the proposed development, would not 
benefit from an adequate level of daylight or sunlight and this would be 
detrimental to their residential amenity.  In summary, it is considered that these 
issues are a result of the inappropriate form, layout, height and scale of the 
proposed development.  

 
Wind Microclimate 
 

218. A Wind Microclimate Report was submitted in support of the planning 
application.  The report assesses the effect of the proposed development on 
the local microclimate against best practice guidelines for pedestrian comfort 
and safety. These two aspects are associated with pedestrian use of public 
open spaces. 

 
219. Wind environment is defined as the wind flow experienced by people and the 

subsequent influence it has on their activities. It is concerned primarily with 
wind characteristics at pedestrian level.  

 
220. The report assessed a number of receptors within and surrounding the 

proposed development, including within the LCC ground and around the nearby 
dwellings on Great Stone Road and Trent Bridge Walk.   

 
221. A baseline scenario model was produced to ascertain the existing conditions on 

the site before the proposed development was modelled.  This baseline model 
identified some zones at the surrounding areas where wind speeds tend to 
accelerate, particularly in the winter months such as to the south-west and 
south-east of the Site along Great Stone Road.  These areas are generally 
considered to be suitable for standing and sitting and therefore suitable for the 
existing uses. 
 

222. The proposed development scenario was then modelled and the pedestrian 
comfort and safety assessed. 

 
223. The comfort assessment indicates: 



 At the street level during Summer, the results show that the wind 
environment of the Site and its surroundings remains largely suitable for 
sitting and standing, indicating relatively calm wind conditions. 

 The results indicate an area of wind acceleration to the south of the Site 
(Receptor 57) with wind conditions suitable for “leisure walking”. 

 At terrace level the results indicate that, during Summer, on the 
accessible terraces (amenity spaces) the wind environment is largely 
suitable for “sitting” indicating relatively calm wind conditions.  There are 
some localised areas of seasonal wind acceleration to the south part of 
the terrace and to the north-west and south-east corners of the terrace, 
indicating conditions suitable for “standing”. 

 At the balconies levels during Summer, the results show that the wind 
environment is largely suitable for “sitting” and in some for “standing” 
indicating generally calm wind conditions and suitable for the intended 
uses. 

 The Summer wind comfort conditions at all accessible terrace levels is 
considered suitable for the intended uses, provided that the seating 
arrangements will be allocated within the areas suitable for “sitting”.  As, 
the remaining roof terraces are not accessible to people other than 
qualified maintenance personnel no mitigation measures are 
recommended. 

 
224. In terms of pedestrian safety the assessment indicates: 

 At street level, the results indicate that, within the Site and its close 
proximity, the recommended criteria for safety is not exceeded and the 
area is safe for all pedestrians. 

 At the terrace and balconies levels, the results indicate that the 
recommended criteria for safety are not exceeded at all levels accessible 
to the occupants and therefore no mitigation is required. 

 As, the remaining roof terraces are not accessible to people other than 
qualified maintenance personnel and therefore no mitigation measures 
are recommended. 

 
225. The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of impact 

on the local microclimate and the microclimate which would result within the 
proposed development.  
 
Amenity Space 

 
226. PG1: New Residential Development sets out the Council’s standards and 

states that most new dwellings should provide some private outdoor space and 
that this is necessary for a variety of functional requirements such as sitting out 
and children’s play.  The guidance sets out recommended garden area sizes 
and advises that for flats, 18 m2 of adequately screened communal area is 
generally sufficient for these functional requirements, with balconies counting 
towards this area of amenity provision. 

 
227. In line with the standards set out in PG1, this development should provide 

5,994m2 of communal amenity space.  However it is acknowledged that these 
standards should be applied flexibly. 



 
228. The proposed development provides a total of 5,329m2 amenity space through 

the provision of 3,549 m2 of communal roof terraces and 1,002 m2 of private 
terraced areas, largely at ground floor level where 36 units are proposed to 
have private amenity areas.   

 
229. The balconies are generally located on the outward facing external facades of 

the development with most balconies proposed on the north eastern and north 
western elevations.  Few balconies are provided on the internal courtyard 
elevations.  Generally the balconies are small in size, measuring between 4 
and 6.5 m2, although there are some exceptions to this with some balconies at 
fifth, sixth and seventh floor measuring up to 23 m2.  Although the majority of 
private balconies provided are small, they do provide enough space for a small 
table and chairs to be placed outside and an area for residents to sit. 

 
230. The proposed site layout provides two internal courtyard areas which are 

overlooked by all units which face onto these courtyard areas.  The internal 
separation distances within the northern courtyard measuring 34 metres by 30 
metres and the southern courtyard measuring 31 metres by 27 to 30 metres, 
which as previously covered within the report ensures a reasonable separation 
distance between apartments or balconies.   

 
231. A sunlight study was provided within the Landscape Design Statement.  During 

the course of the application an additional Sunlight Study and set of CGI videos 
looking at March to October from 9am to 8pm were provided in response to the 
Sport England comments.  The sunlight studies show the impact of the 
proposed development at 08:00, 09:00, 12:00, 15:00 and 18:00 hours on 22 
March, 22 June and 22 September and 22 December. 

 
232. Clarification was raised in relation to the two sunlight studies as they both 

indicate slightly different impacts, although taken at face value they do indicate 
that the courtyards will be shaded for much of the year throughout most times 
of day, with perhaps the exception of June. 

 
233. The submitted videos provide additional information and demonstrate in further 

details the impact of the proposed development on the amenity of future 
residents and the surrounding area in terms of daylight and sunlight.   
 

234. The BRE guidelines advise that for external amenity areas to appear 
adequately sunlit throughout the year, at least half of an amenity area should 
receive at least two hours of sunlight on 21 March.   
 

235. A review of this information indicates that with the exception of May, June and 
July, the development will be shaded for considerable parts of the day, 
particularly the courtyards and northern elevations of the central and southern 
blocks of development, although the areas of shade do of course move 
throughout the day.  

 
236. The roof top gardens by their nature will benefit from sunlight all year around 

and are considered to be an acceptable form of amenity space.  The 



Landscape Design Statement indicates that levels five and seven of the roof 
top terrace areas will create “intimate spaces through the use of raised planters 
and pergolas. Planters will support shrubs and perennials, offering year round 
interest with vibrant colours through the summer months. Moveable cube 
seating and large wooden loungers offer soft and informal seating areas. 
Contemporary pergolas create sheltered eating and social areas. Decking is 
used with bands of flag paving to create contrasting surfaces to the terrace 
floor.”  Levels six and eight would provide larger spaces and the LDS proposes 
“The west terrace houses a large open grassed area, which acts as a flexible 
space for all kinds of recreation. The central terrace creates more divided and 
private interconnected spaces with moveable cube seating, pergolas and large 
wooden loungers. Raised planters are used carefully to create intimate and 
sheltered spaces for outdoor recreation. The east terrace offers raised planters 
for resident growing areas, where people can use the comfortable and relaxing 
areas for use all year round.” 

 
237. Overall, it is considered that the amount of amenity space provided is 

acceptable, however there are concerns that the quality of the space provided 
within the internal courtyards will be poor due to a lack of sunlight.  Nonetheless 
there is sufficient private amenity space provided within the roof top garden 
areas for residents to access and it is considered that the level of amenity 
space provided on site is acceptable.   

 
238. The quality of the proposed amenity space is considered in greater detail in the 

‘Trees and Landscaping’ section, although the details of landscaping are not 
included for consideration in the determination of this outline application. 

 
Noise and Disturbance 

 
239. An Acoustic Design Statement, Vibration Assessment and Plant Noise Limits 

Report was submitted with the application.  The application site is located 
adjacent to Great Stone Road and the Metrolink which are the predominant 
noise sources which would affect occupiers of the proposed development.  The 
site is also located adjacent to LCC which would be a noise source with regard 
to cricket matches and occasional concert events.  The adjacent Metrolink line 
is also a potential source of disturbance in terms of vibration.  

 
240. The Acoustic Design Statement (ADS) includes the results of a monitoring 

exercise to establish noise levels affecting the site from local traffic and the 
adjacent Metrolink line.  An assessment of the results has confirmed that any 
impacts on the new occupiers of the development should not be significant, 
subject to the use of double glazing and acoustically rated trickle vents, which 
can be conditioned.  

 
241. The external amenity areas were also assessed and this has found that some 

roof terraces are likely to be affected by environmental noise that exceeds the 
recommended criteria of guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for 
buildings. However there is sufficient provision for outdoor recreation within the 
courtyard areas where noise levels would be compliant with the aforementioned 
recommendations across the majority of the space. 



 
242. The impact of crowd noise and announcements from cricket matches and 

concert events from the adjacent LCC was also assessed.  No significant 
impacts have been found that warrant special consideration. 

 
243. With regard to concert events the license agreement for this venue permits a 

maximum of seven outdoor concert events per annum, although typically only 
one or two events tend to be held per annum.  Premise License conditions also 
ensure that events of this nature are subject to a curfew of 10.30pm.  The ADS 
proposes to address the potential for any inconvenience brought about by such 
events through a noise management plan (NMP) for the development, with 
details to be confirmed but likely to take to form of a building management 
strategy providing early warning of concert dates to residents so that they are 
fully informed. 

 
244. Overall the impact of noise on proposed residents is considered acceptable and 

the majority of noise impacts can be overcome through the use of acoustically 
rated trickle vents and adequate sound insulation from the building fabric.  This 
can be conditioned if planning permission were to be granted. 

 
245. With regard to occasional noise from concert events, residents would be aware, 

by virtue of the sites location and as part of their tenancy agreement that noisy 
events will occur and the proposed Framework Management Plan will ensure 
relevant information is distributed appropriately.  This approach is considered to 
be acceptable to address this issue.  

 
246. A vibration assessment was also undertaken which assessed the adjacent 

Metrolink line, upon which trams run between 05:24 and 23:48 Monday to 
Thursday and 05:24 to 00:48 on Fridays and Saturdays and 06:29 to 23:48 on 
Sundays and bank holidays (based on a 2018 timetable).  The impact of 
vibration levels from the Metrolink line have been found to be insignificant. 
 

247. TfGM have requested that a condition is attached requiring the proposed 
development to be acoustically insulated against noise and vibration from the 
tramline, should planning permission be granted.  

 
248. Fixed plant would be required as part of the proposed development and it is 

currently proposed that this is located in the basement plant room, however 
detailed plant specification is not available at this stage of the design for 
consideration.  If planning permission were to be granted it is considered 
appropriate for a condition to be attached requiring details of any fixed plant to 
be submitted to the LPA for approval. 

 
249. Should planning permission be granted, a range of conditions would also be 

required to ensure the proposed commercial uses do not detrimentally impact 
on the amenity of future and existing residents.  These would need to relate to 
timings for servicing, opening hours and extraction equipment details should 
food and drink uses occupy any of the commercial units.  

 



250. In order to protect general amenity a range of conditions would also be required 
in relation to lighting and construction management plans 

 
251. It is not considered that occupiers of the proposed development would suffer 

from poor amenity as a result of noise or vibration, with the exception of 
occasional events at LCC, however tenants would be aware prior to moving in 
of this possibility. 

 
Conclusion on amenity 

 
252. The NPPF and Policy L7 of the Core Strategy requires development to provide 

places where high levels of amenity for future and existing residents are 
provided.  The assessment of this scheme demonstrates that the proposed 
development would not provide a satisfactory level of amenity for a significant 
proportion of future residents of the proposed development.   
 

253. Overall it is considered that the proposal would introduce a dominant and 
intrusive form of development which would appear overbearing to existing 
residents in the surrounding area, significantly affecting existing views and 
appearing completely at odds with the streetscene and character of the area. 

 

254. The proposed development would result in a poor outlook for prospective 
residents of the lower floors on the south eastern and north eastern elevations 
due to the proximity of the proposed development to the heavily landscaped 
Metrolink line and the ancillary LCC building.  

 
255. It has been established that the proposed development would have an 

overbearing and dominating effect on surrounding residential properties and the 
area in general.  The amenity of existing and future residents in terms of 
daylight and sunlight also causes serious concern.  The proposed development 
would in particular detrimentally impact on the NSL measurement to the extent 
that occupiers of existing properties on Trent Bridge Walk and Great Stone 
Road would have to rely more on electric lighting to achieve adequate internal 
lighting levels.  Residents of the proposed development, particularly those at 
the lower floor levels would also suffer from substandard daylight and sunlight 
levels which are below the BRE guidance, which when assessed collectively is 
considered to result in an environment where occupiers would suffer from 
inadequate levels of daylight or sunlight which would be detrimental to their 
residential amenity.  Officers have borne in mind the requirement for a flexible 
approach in applying policies or guidance relating to daylight and sunlight.   

 
256. It is considered the quantum of amenity space provided in the proposed 

development, through the internal courtyards, balconies, private and communal 
terraces is sufficient to address the needs of residents.   The detail and 
proposed quality of landscaping is considered in further detail later in this 
report.  

 
257. The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of noise, 

disturbance, subject to conditions securing further details.  Overall, it is 



considered that the proposed development fails to comply with Core Strategy 
Policy L7 and paragraph 127 f) of the NPPF. 

 
AIR QUALITY  

 
258. The existing and proposed entrance to the site lies within the GM Combined 

Authority Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) (2016), however the remainder 
of the application site lies outside of the AQMA.  

 
259. Paragraph 181 of the NPPF advises that planning decisions should sustain and 

contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives 
for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management 
Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in 
local areas. Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in Air 
Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air 
quality action plan.  

 
260. Paragraph 110 of the NPPF also requires applications for development to be 

designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in 
safe, accessible and convenient locations.  

 
261. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) has published a joint Air 

Quality Action Plan (AQAP) (2016-2021) which seeks to improve air quality 
across Greater Manchester and to embed low-emission behaviours into the 
culture of our organisations and lifestyles by 2025, whilst supporting the UK 
Government in meeting all EU thresholds for key air pollutants at the earliest 
date to reduce ill-health in Greater Manchester.  In managing new development 
the GMCA AQAP sets out a number of controls.  Of relevance to this particular 
application are assessment of local air quality impacts from the proposed 
development; construction management; encouraging travel planning; and, 
green infrastructure. 

 
262. Policy L5 requires developers to adopt measures identified in the Greater 

Manchester Air Quality Action Plan, to ensure that their development would not 
have an adverse impact on the air quality. In this respect, L5 can be considered 
to be up to date for the purposes of decision making and full weight attributed to 
it. 

 
263. An addendum to the Air Quality Assessment (AQA) submitted in support of the 

previous application on this site (94974/OUT/20) has been submitted in relation 
to this application.  The previous AQA and its conclusion that the scale of 
development would not create an adverse impact on local air quality was 
considered to be acceptable during the determination of 94974/OUT/20.   

 
264. The addendum to the original AQA concludes that due to the reduction in the 

level of car parking associated with the new site layout and the reported 
reduction in the background annual levels of nitrogen dioxide levels at this 
location the findings of the original report remain valid and there will be no 
adverse impacts on local air quality.  The Council’s Pollution and Licensing 
team are in agreement with this conclusion. 



 
265. If planning permission were to be granted a condition would be recommended 

to secure the submission of a Construction Management Plan prior to 
commencement of the development, which would include details of dust 
management measures during the demolition and construction phases of the 
development and waste handling and disposal measures, amongst others to 
minimise any potential amenity issues. 

 
266. The Pollution & Housing Team have requested that electric vehicle (EV) charge 

points (minimum 7 kWh) are provided within the development. As this 
application proposes the provision of unallocated car parking spaces for a 
limited number of tenants, one charge point per ten car parking spaces would 
be required. The provision of ten charging points would therefore be required to 
serve the residential scheme.  For commercial developments, one charge point 
per 1,000 m2 of commercial floorspace should be provided. The non-residential 
uses on site would generate a requirement for one charging point to be 
provided, bringing the total required across the site to eleven.  The submission 
does not specifically mention the inclusion of EV charging points, however it is 
considered that this requirement could be adequately addresses through the 
imposition of condition, should permission be granted. 

 
267. A Framework Travel Plan has been produced which encourages the use of 

sustainable travel options. The proposed development itself provides 98 car 
parking spaces for 333 residential units, which will also encourage the use of 
sustainable travel options for future residents.   

 
268. Overall it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable in terms of 

air quality impacts and the proposed development would contribute to the aims 
of the Greater Manchester AQAP. The proposed development is therefore 
considered to comply with the aims of the NPPF and Policy L5 in this respect.  

 
LAND CONTAMINATION 

 
269. A Phase 1 Environmental Risk Assessment was submitted in support of the 

proposed development. The report identified that the site may have been 
affected by localised contamination associated with commercial uses on the. 
The Phase 1 report recommended that a Phase 2 Intrusive Assessment is 
completed to obtain further geotechnical and geo environmental information to 
ensure that the site is suitable for a residential and commercial usage and does 
not present a risk to the local environment.  The submission of this report could 
be secured via condition should planning permission be granted.  The proposed 
development is considered to comply with Policy L7 in this respect.  

 
HIGHWAY MATTERS  

 
270. Policy L4 of the Core Strategy states that “when considering proposals for new 

development that individually or cumulatively will have a material impact on the 
functioning of the Strategic Road Network and the Primary and Local Highway 
Authority Network, the Council will seek to ensure that the safety and free flow 



of traffic is not prejudiced or compromised by that development in a significant 
adverse way”.  

 
271. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that “Development should only be prevented 

or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe”. Given the more stringent test for the residual cumulative impacts on 
the road network set by the NPPF, it is considered that the elements of Core 
Strategy Policy L4 which relate to impacts of a development on the road 
network should be considered to be out of date for the purposes of decision 
making, whereas those elements that relate to maximum parking standards and 
consideration of highway safety remain largely up to date. 
 
Trip Generation 

 
272. TfGM has raised concerns regarding the Great Stone Road / Talbot Road 

junction assessment within the Transport Assessment.  Although further 
information has been provided by the applicant, TfGM continues to raise 
concern over the information provided.  Additional information has since been 
received and passed to TfGM, an update on this issue will be provided in an 
additional information report if possible.   
 

273. It is noted that the LHA have reviewed the original data and consider the 
anomalies in the information presented to be so minor they are immaterial and 
have no further comments on this issue. 
 
Accessibility and Public Transport  
 

274. Policy L4 of the Core Strategy states that the Council will prioritise the location 
of development within the most sustainable areas accessible by a choice of 
modes of transport. The site is within a highly sustainable and accessible 
location given its proximity to the Old Trafford Metrolink stop, bus services and 
cycle infrastructure. The site is within walking distance of Old Trafford Metrolink 
stop (within a 10 minute walk) providing frequent services between Altrincham, 
Manchester and Bury). Trafford Bar is located within a 20 minute walk from the 
application site and provides additional links to the whole tram network 
providing links to Manchester Airport, Eccles, Bury, Rochdale Town Centre and 
Ashton-under-Lyne.  
 

275. The nearest bus stops are located on Great Stone Road, Talbot Road, Kings 
Road and Chester Road. Metrolink services will likely be the most utilised 
giving future residents’ access to a choice of travel mode which should help to 
reduce the amount of car travel otherwise generated by this development. 
There are also nearby services, amenities and employment opportunities 
available which will make walking and cycling genuine alternatives to travelling 
by car or public transport. Trip Generation and Traffic Impact. 

 
276. The application is accompanied by a Framework Travel Plan which represents 

a long term strategy for reducing the dependence of residents on travel by 
private car to and from the site.  The Transport Assessment Addendum v3 



outlines modal share targets, which the LHA has confirmed as acceptable.  The 
developer has also stated that a Travel Plan Coordinator would be appointed 
one month prior to the first occupation, which would promote sustainable travel 
modes from the outset. Future residents will therefore have access to a choice 
of travel mode which should help to reduce the amount of car travel otherwise 
generated by this development. 

 
277. If planning permission were to be granted a condition requiring the submission 

of a full Residential Travel plan would be required.  
 
Site Access 
 

278. Core Strategy Policy L7 requires development to incorporate satisfactory 
vehicular access and egress points. Vehicular access to the proposed 
development would be is via the existing access from Great Stone Road, which 
provides a suitable visibility splay of 2.4 x 43 metres. The Local Highway 
Authority has confirmed that the use of this existing vehicular access is 
acceptable.  
 

279. The proposed pedestrian and cycle access arrangements in to the site are 
considered acceptable in terms of highways. 

 
280. However, the LHA seek a developer contribution of £30,000 towards works to 

improve pedestrian and cycle accessibility to the three un-signalled arms of the 
Great Stone Road / Talbot Road junction. 

 
Car and cycle parking 

 
281. The Council’s car parking standards for this location are 1 space for 1 bedroom 

dwellings and 2 spaces for 2 to 3 bedroom dwellings, which results in a 
maximum requirement for 556 spaces based on the proposed number and mix 
of units.  The proposed level of car parking at 98 spaces is significantly below 
this maximum standard.  The 98 car parking spaces includes three accessible 
spaces for residents, three accessible spaces for the retail units and three car 
parking spaces for visitors to the retail units.    
 

282. The car parking spaces will be allocated on a permit basis and these would be 
issued on a first come first served basis.   
 

283. The applicant has considered car ownership levels across the ward using 2011 
Census data as suggested in the SPD3 and this data indicates that across the 
ward 59% of people living in apartments do not own a motor vehicle.  It is 
anticipated that the development would attract younger residents and the 
cohort of adults who are less than 30 has seen a marked reduction in car 
ownership, holding a licence and travelling less by car. The Transport 
Assessment (TA) Addendum v3 also notes that as this cohort gets older the 
effects continue compared with their peers. 

 
284. The LHA have advised that a greater understanding of whether nearby parking 

is available to residents must be considered by the applicant and that such an 



understanding is fundamental to a shortfall in parking provision being 
acceptable. The LHA would therefore require both a Car Park Management 
Plan for the car parking spaces proposed and a Parking Survey Strategy 
identifying areas that may be susceptible to on-street parking issues within a 1 
km walking distance of the proposed development. An initial survey would be 
required prior to occupation of the development to identify existing levels of on-
street parking. Subsequent surveys would be undertaken should three or more 
separate complaints that can be reasonably linked to the development site be 
made to Trafford Council within any single six month period.  These surveys 
could be required at any point from first occupation to a point two years after 
the point at which the development has been completed and the whole 
development available for let.  The surveys would need to be undertaken within 
six months of the third complaint being received for that zone (subject to neutral 
traffic conditions).  Following the results of any subsequent parking occupancy 
surveys, it may be appropriate for TROs to be amended/provided in any 
affected zone should it be proven that the parking complaint is reasonably 
linked to the proposed development. It would only be appropriate that the 
applicant covers the full cost of the surveys and any necessary subsequent 
amendments to the TROs. 

 
285. In support of the proposed reduced level of on-site parking it is also 

acknowledged that the site is located in a sustainable location as the site is 
within walking distance of both Old Trafford and Trafford Bar Metrolink stops. 
 

286. With regard to car parking to serve the commercial units, the six allocated 
parking bays will be signed so that there is a time limit of 1-hour parking during 
the day, 0900-1800 Monday-Saturday. This can operate on a pay and display 
arrangement where visitors will need to display a ticket or via an ANPR linked 
registration method operated at the commercial unit/reception.  The remainder 
of the time they will be available for permit holding residents to use.  The LHA is 
satisfied with the parking permit system as proposed and would recommend 
that car park management plan be secured through a condition.  

 
287. The car parking standards set out, that as a minimum, for A1, A3, D1 and D2 

uses the greater of the either three parking bays or 6% of the total capacity (six 
in this instance) shall be provided as accessible car parking spaces.  
Residential provision is to be provided on a case by case basis.  The scheme 
proposes the provision of six accessible car parking spaces in total with three 
accessible parking spaces provided permanently for residents and three for use 
by the proposed commercial units between the hours of 0900 – 1800.  Although 
the provision of six accessible spaces is policy compliant, it is considered that 
the allocation between the proposed residential and commercial units is not 
proportionate and amendments are required on this point.  The parking spaces 
are also not ideally located within the car park so as to provide easy access to 
the lifts, and so the layout would need to be revised to make this acceptable. 
 

288. The Council’s standards require one cycle space per dwelling where communal 
cycle parking is proposed, which results in a requirement for 333 cycle spaces 
to be provided.  The scheme proposes the provision of 400 secure, indoor cycle 



spaces within two cycle stores, one within the car park and one at ground level 
in the southern block of development for residential uses.  

 
289. Due to the flexible nature of the proposed commercial units, cycle parking 

needs to be based on the greatest requirement as cycle parking standards are 
minimum standards, which would equate to 1 cycle space per 50 sq m.  This 
result in a requirement for seven cycle parking spaces to be provided.  No cycle 
parking is proposed on the floorplans however, the TA Addendum v2 notes that 
there is scope to provide 3 x Sheffield Stands or similar and that this could be 
conditioned.  Four Sheffield stands would be required to provide a policy 
compliant level of cycle parking and it is considered that there is sufficient 
space in the public realm landscaping scheme to accommodate this level of 
provision and it is agreed that this could be satisfactorily addressed via 
condition in the event that the appeal is allowed. 

 
290. The submitted parking layout doesn’t indicate any motorcycle parking spaces, 

however there is scope within the car park to provide a number of spaces for 
residents.  The commercial units also need to provide a minimum number of 
motorcycle parking spaces.  As per the cycle parking spaces due to the flexible 
nature of the proposed commercial units, the number of motorcycle parking 
needs to be based on the greatest requirement, which in this instance is one 
motor cycle space per 125 sq m of floorspace.  This results in a requirement for 
three motorcycle spaces to be provided for use by the commercial units.  
Although these spaces are not indicated on the submitted plans, it is 
considered that they could be secured via condition in the event that the appeal 
is allowed.   

 
Conclusion 

 
291. The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of access, 

trip generation and overall accessibility in terms proximity to public transport 
options. The proposed level of residential car and cycle parking is also 
considered to be policy compliant. 

 
292. It is considered that due to the increase in pedestrian and cycle movements to 

and from the site, infrastructure improvements are required to the Talbot Road / 
Great Stone Road junction. A financial contribution of £30,000 would be 
required to contribute towards a safe pedestrian and cycle environment for the 
development.  The applicant’s agent has confirmed that they are willing to 
provide a contribution of £30,000 towards highways improvements. 
 

293. The proposed development is considered to comply with requirements of Core 
Strategy Core Strategy Policies L4, L7 and SPD 3.  

 
SPORT ENGLAND  
 

294. Old Trafford Place Objective OTO11 seeks to maximise potential of Lancashire 
Cricket Club (LCC) as a visitor attraction and its potential to lead major 
regeneration in the area.  Place Objective OTO11 supports Policy SL3 which 



seeks to provide an improved stadium at LCC with ancillary sports and leisure 
facilities. 

 
295. Policy R5 seeks to ensure that where necessary the Council will secure the 

provision and maintenance of a range of sizes of good quality, accessible, play, 
sport, leisure, informal recreation and open space facilities to ensure that 
appropriate facilities are available to meet the needs of its residents across the 
whole of Trafford. 

 
296. Policy R5.4 in particular states that development which does not preserve the 

quality of open space, sport or recreation facilities, will not be permitted.   

 
297. Sport England, who are a statutory consultee, have objected to the proposed 

development on three grounds, with the support of the English Cricket Board 
(ECB) as technical advisors: 

i. The proposed development will prejudice the use of the adjacent fine 
turf and non-turf training facility, due to the massing of the proposed 
development and the impact of the development on the sun path.  It is 
noted that this facility was recently redeveloped at a cost of over £500k 
and services the elite professional squads (men’s/women’s and 
international) alongside the wider cricketing community. 

ii. The impact of the proposed development on the access to the ground 
from Great Stone Road. 

iii. The proposed use conflicts with the aims of the Draft CQ AAP and 
LCC’s Master Plan, which seeks “to create outstanding sporting 
facilities with enhanced community engagement and superior transport 
links through opening out the site access Old Trafford tram stop and 
constructing a new leisure centre including wet and dry sport offers and 
an elite cricket training facility with community access.” 

 
298. Following these initial comments from Sport England, further information has 

been provided by the applicant in relation to point (i) (paragraph 297) in the 
form of a snapshot sunlight analysis which provided an analysis of the impact of 
the proposed development upon these facilities at 06:00, 09:00, 12:00, 15:00 
and 18:00 on the 22nd of March, June, September and December.   

299. In reaction to the submission of this information, Sport England advised that the 
analysis provides a snap shot at various times of the year and times of the day 
and shows that there will be some overshadowing of varying degrees 
throughout the year. This shadowing has two distinct prejudicial impacts: 

a) The current snap shot analysis shows that in September it will cause a 
contrast between the batters and bowlers making the ball difficult to see. 

b) During periods of time when the facility is not played the shadowing will 
affect the maintenance of the fine turf. Fine turf cricket surfaces use 
grasses unsuited to shading. Without external support (for example from 
Stadium Grow Lighting which is expensive to purchase and run) the 
facility may suffer qualitative issues that also affect capacity and usage. 

 
300. Following this review a 365 day animation was requested to show the impact 

and help inform any mitigation required.  Further information in the form of CGI 
videos, demonstrating the impact of the development on the surrounding area 



between the hours of 09:00 and 20:00 from March to October were 
subsequently submitted. 
 

301. An analysis of this information has not allayed the concerns raised and the ECB 
advice via Sport England that “there will be a serious negative effect on the 
facility during winter.  Fine turf grasses can be highly susceptible to disease if 
shaded during low growth periods and this could set the whole facility at 
risk.  Mitigation for these issues can be achieved through stadium growth lights 
but they are expensive to both purchase and run, and further contribute to the 
carbon footprint of any turf area.” 

 
302. With regard to point ii) at paragraph 297, further clarification was sought on this 

point from Sport England as the fall-back position of the existing use has to be 
taken into account and it is likely that access to the proposed development will 
generate fewer vehicle movements than the retail use.  Sport England 
confirmed that the previous operators of the site had a risk mitigation strategy 
agreed with LCC for site management measures on match days and possibly 
on training days, although this was agreed outside of the planning process.  It is 
considered this point could be addressed via condition, should an appeal be 
allowed. 

 
303. With regard to point iii), although the Draft CQAAP outlines the aspirations of 

Trafford Council, it is of limited weight in the determination of this planning 
application to its Draft status.  The LCC Masterplan is also not a material 
planning consideration in the determination of this planning application.   

 
304. To prejudice the training facilities at LCC which were recently redeveloped at a 

cost of over £500k and service the elite professional squads (men’s/women’s 
and international) alongside the wider cricketing community is not considered to 
be acceptable and would conflict with the aims of policies SL3 and R5 which 
seek to protect these facilities.   

 
LANCASHIRE CRICKET CLUB 
 

305. LCC is an internationally important sports venue which makes an important 
contribution to the character and identity of Trafford and the cultural heritage of 
the area.  As well as LCC’s importance in terms of its sporting history and 
cultural importance, the site is also a tourist destination which attracts a large 
number of visitors from within and outside the Borough.  Place Objective OTO 
11 seeks to maximise the potential of LCC as a visitor attraction whilst Policy 
R6 recognises the importance of tourist destinations such as LCC and seeks to 
protect and enhance the culture and tourism offer in the Borough.  Policy SL3.1 
sets out the vision for the wider Lancashire Cricket Club Quarter Strategic 
Location and states that “a major mixed-use development will be delivered in 
this Location to provide a high quality experience for visitors balanced with a 
new, high quality residential neighbourhood centred around an improved 
stadium at Lancashire County Cricket Club”. 
 

306. The proposed development will be highly visible from within and outside the 
cricket ground not only to spectators within the site but also to viewers watching 



cricket matches on TV.  It is considered that the scale, height and massing of 
the proposed development would adversely impact on views from within and 
outside the ground, an international tourist attraction, to the detriment of 
visitors’ experience of the ground and the wider Strategic Location.  It is 
therefore considered that the proposed development fails to uphold Place 
Objective OTO 11 and Core Strategy Policies SL3 and R6. 
 
WASTE MANAGEMENT 

 
307. Bin stores are proposed within the basement car parking area of the 

development, with the submitted plans indicating that the stores will 
accommodate 63 bins.  The bin stores would be maintained by on-site staff and 
servicing would occur from the within the basement car park where bin ‘drop 
areas’ are indicated on the basement floor plan. 

 
308. The proposed level of bin storage facilities is considered to be acceptable and 

the proposed development is to comply with Core Strategy Policy L7 in this 
respect.  
 
FLOODING AND DRAINAGE 

 
309. The NPPF sets strict tests in order to protect people and property from flooding, 

which all local planning authorities are expected to follow. In summary these 
tests are designed to ensure that if there are better sites in terms of flood risk, 
or if a proposed development cannot be made safe from the risks of flooding, 
then it should not be permitted. A similar approach is embodied in Core 
Strategy Policy L5 (and thus this aspect of Policy L5 is also up-to-date for the 
purpose of decision-taking).The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 
and is thus categorised as having the lowest probability of river or sea flooding. 
The site also sits within a Critical Drainage Area as defined by the Council’s 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA).  
 

310. The submitted Drainage Strategy assessed a number of options for surface 
water disposal, however the discharge of surface water to a public sewer is 
concluded to be to be the only appropriate option.  Attenuation tanks are 
proposed to restrict the flow of surface water drainage.  

311. The Local Lead Flood Authority have reviewed the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy and have recommended that should 
permission be granted, a condition is recommended in the event that the 
appeal is allowed requiring a scheme to improve the existing surface water 
drainage system based on the details within the Flood Risk Assessment to be 
submitted as well as a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of 
the development.    

 
312. Having regard to flood risk and drainage matters, the development is 

considered to be acceptable and compliant with Core Strategy Policy L5 and 
the NPPF.  

 
TREES AND LANDSCAPING 

 



313. An Aboricultural Impact Assessment was submitted in support of the proposed 
development. 19 individual trees, four groups of trees and one hedge were 
recorded within influencing distance of the site. The surveyed trees are 
primarily located outside the site boundary, except those on the south-eastern 
boundary and the occasional young self-seeded tree. None of the trees 
surveyed were classified as being Category A (high value), eight trees were 
classified as Category B (moderate value) and a further eight trees were 
classified as Category C (low value). Seven trees were classified as Category 
U (unsuitable for retention). One single Leyland cypress hedge on the north 
eastern boundary was also recorded but this was not assigned a quality 
category. 
 

314. Notable trees within the site comprise planted individuals on the south east 
boundary at the edge of the existing car park hard surfacing, adjacent to the 
Metrolink link. These trees were likely planted as part of the area's original 
landscaping and are made up of a range of species. Tree condition varies but 
the group contains several trees that have been subject to mechanical damage 
which has instigated overall deterioration. Three trees along the south eastern 
elevation are in reasonable condition with good form. 

 
315. Fourteen individual trees and three tree groups and approximately 17.5 metres 

of hedgerow would be removed to facilitate the proposed development. Of 
these however, eight are in poor condition and would be recommended for 
removal irrespective of development to remove the risk of future failure onto 
high value targets, these trees are located along the north eastern and south 
eastern boundaries.  

 
316. TfGM Metrolink have raised concerns in relation to the Root Protection Area 

(RPA) of some of the trees on the Metrolink boundary and whether they may be 
detrimentally impacted upon by the proposed development, which in turn could 
impact slope stability.  TfGM have however advised that [if the appeal were to 
be allowed] they subject to further information being secured by condition in 
relation to the trees concerned, work method statements and landscaping 
details these concerns could be mitigated through agreed works.  

 
317. Landscaping is not included within this outline application for consideration at 

this stage and is a ‘reserved matter’. A Landscape Design Statement (LDS) has 
been submitted in support of the proposed development, which suggests 
landscaping and planting along the embankments adjacent to Great Stone 
Road.  The LDS indicates some landscaping along the south eastern boundary 
adjacent to the small private garden areas.  Due to the layout of the site and 
proximity of the proposed development to the site boundaries, in particular the 
south eastern site boundary, it is not considered that the proposed site layout 
allows for sufficient space to accommodate a satisfactory landscaping scheme 
which would adequately soften and screen the development.  There are also 
serious concerns that, because of the extent of the footprint of the buildings, 
insufficient space is set aside on the north eastern and north western 
boundaries to accommodate a sufficient level of landscaping, including tree 
planting with appropriate species on land within the applicant’s control, to both 
soften and allow this development to be appropriately assimilated into its 



environment, whilst ensuring that tree canopies remain reasonable distance 
from habitable room windows.  
 

318. Should the appeal be allowed, as part of any reserved matters submission a 
detailed landscape plan, tree protection plan and method statement for all 
proposed works within tree protection areas would be required. 

 
319. There are no arboricultural objections to the proposals as the majority of the 

higher quality trees are proposed for retention, following the removal of the 
suppressed and poor quality specimens.  Replacement trees should be 
provided within a robust landscaping scheme but as expressed in the previous 
paragraph, there isn’t considered to be sufficient room available on the site for 
this to be delivered.  The proposed development is therefore considered to 
comply with Policy R2 in this regard. 
 
ECOLOGY AND BIODIVERSITY  

 
320. Core Strategy Policy R2 seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity of sites and 

their surroundings and protect the natural environment throughout the 
construction process. Policy R2 of the Core Strategy is considered to be 
compliant with the NPPF and therefore up to date as it comprises the local 
expression of the NPPF’s emphasis on protecting and enhancing landscapes, 
habitats and biodiversity. Accordingly, full weight can be attached to it in the 
decision making process. 
 

321. Section 15 of the NPPF requires planning decisions to contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment. Specifically paragraph 175 d) of the 
NPPF requires developments to take opportunities to incorporate biodiversity 
improvements in and around developments. 

 
322. An Ecological Assessment was submitted in support of the proposed 

development. This survey was considered to be acceptable and surveyed the 
habitats on site and assessed their suitability to support protected species of 
principal importance.   

 
323. The survey was conducted in February which is recognised as suboptimal for 

the majority of surveys. However, the Report is an update of an earlier survey. 
In addition, given the nature and size of the proposal this is not considered to 
be a constraint on the assessment and does not invalidate its findings.  The 
Report concluded that the site supports a building of negligible value to bat 
roosting, and the surrounding habitats within the site are of only local and in 
part limited value to biodiversity. All other protected species have been 
reasonably discounted.  

 
324. The Ecological Assessment makes recommendations in respect of biodiversity 

enhancement as guided by the NPPF and it is recommended that bat boxes, 
green trellising, seed mix for green roof terrace and use of bug hotels are also 
used.  Should the appeal be allowed, it is also recommended that any future 
landscape and planting scheme submitted under condition also incorporates 
the details of the biodiversity enhancements. 



 
325. The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of impacts 

on ecology and biodiversity and compliant with policy R2 in this regard, subject 
to a condition, should the appeal be allowed, securing the measures outlined in 
report recommendations within the scheme.  

 
CARBON BUDGET 

 
326. Core Strategy Policy L5 requires applicants to demonstrate how they have 

sought to minimise their contribution towards and / or mitigate their effects on 
climate change. It is considered that Policies L5.1 to L5.11, which addresses 
the issue of carbon emissions, are out of date as they do not reflect NPPF 
guidance on climate change.  

 
327. With regard to climate change and carbon emissions the NPPF states that new 

development should be planned for in ways that: a) avoid increased 
vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change. When new 
development is brought forward in areas which are vulnerable, care should be 
taken to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation 
measures, including through the planning of green infrastructure; and b) can 
help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, 
orientation and design. Any local requirements for the sustainability of buildings 
should reflect the Government’s policy for national technical standards. 

 
328. A Carbon Budget Statement (CBS) was submitted in support of this application, 

which details that the development design will focus on promoting a ‘fabric first’ 
approach to reduce the demand for heat and power through a well-insulated, 
energy efficient building fabric and services and the provision of energy efficient 
measures (services) within the development, such as: 

 

 100% high efficiency low energy lighting;  

 A full suite of heating controls to allow occupants to efficiently use their 
heating system; 

 Energy efficient mechanical ventilation systems with heat recovery; and  

 Where appropriate, specification of high energy efficient rated appliances 
that use less energy and water; 

 The use of electric panel heaters will be utilised to provide space heating 
and efficient electric cylinders will provide hot water to each apartment. 
This will be supported by the use of mechanical Ventilation with Heat 
Recovery (MVHR) to provide fresh air whilst reusing the majority of heat 
from the dwellings that would otherwise be lost. 

 
329. Whilst Core Strategy Policy L5 is out of date, this policy requires development 

to achieve a 5% improvement over the 2013 Building Regulations, when 
located outside a Low Carbon Growth Area, such as this application.  The 
report outlines that the development is aiming to achieve a 6.2% reduction in 
CO2 emissions, over Part L 2013 through the use of active and passive energy 
efficiency measures, to 421.78 tonnes per annum, which equates to a 27.88 T 
CO2 saving. 



 
330. In addition to the above measures, generating low carbon energy on site can 

reduce reliance on fossil fuels, minimises energy lost through transmission, 
contribute to security of supply and better connections between energy demand 
and generation.  

 
331. A renewables options assessment is provided in the CBS, which states that if 

further reduction in emissions are desired, then photovoltaic Solar Panels 
would be the most suitable solution on site due to the electrical heating 
dependence. The overall energy fuel use here is electrical and so electrical 
saving/generation renewables will be more applicable and best suited thus 
discounting and rendering not applicable all Biomass / CHP and gas fired 
technologies. 
 

332. No information regarding the installation of PV solar panels has been included 
within the scheme, however the proposed development would achieve a policy 
compliant level of CO2 reduction without the incorporation of PV solar panels at 
6.2% over the 2013 Building Regulation standards and would comply with 
Policy L5 and the NPPF in this respect.  

 
CRIME PREVENTION AND SECURITY MEASURES 

 
333. The NPPF advises at paragraph 127 that planning decisions should create 

places that are safe, inclusive and accessible where crime and disorder, and 
the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 
and resilience. A Crime Impact Statement was submitted as part the planning 
application submission, which assesses the scheme with regard to layout, 
physical security measures, landscaping, lighting and CCTV and advises on 
crime prevention methods which should be incorporated into the development. 

 
334. The scheme has been reviewed by Greater Manchester Police who have 

advised that a condition requiring the physical security specifications set out in 
the submitted Crime Impact Statement should be implemented as part of the 
development.  The proposed development is therefore considered to comply 
with the Core Strategy Policy L7.4. 

 
IMPACT UPON LOCAL SERVICES 

 
335. New development often creates new demands on local infrastructure, and the 

NPPF also recognises that it is right that developers are required to mitigate 
this impact. Core Strategy Policy L2 identifies that all new development should 
be appropriately located in terms of access to existing community facilities 
and/or it would deliver complementary improvements to the social infrastructure 
(including schools and health facilities) to ensure the sustainability of a 
development. Core Strategy Policy SL3 states that in order for development in 
this Strategic Location to be acceptable the provision of ancillary community 
facilities may be required. This would include the provision of health and 
education facilities. Revised SPD 1 also indicates that the provision of 
healthcare facilities may be required in the vicinity of Strategic Locations. 
 



336. Trafford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) have commented on the 
proposed development and advised that the population yield of the proposed 
development could be incorporated into existing local health centres without 
detrimentally impacting on local services.   
 

337. Policy SL3 of the Core Strategy also states that in order for development in this 
Location to be acceptable a contribution may be required towards increasing 
the intake of the existing Old Trafford Primary School and the provision of a 
new 1- form primary school to serve the new residential community in this and 
the Trafford Wharfside Strategic Location.   

 
338. A consultation with the School Admissions team advised that the proposed 

development would generate 47 primary school pupils and 33 secondary 
school pupils.   

 
339. A review of available secondary school places in the vicinity of this application 

site illustrates that there is a surplus of spaces at Lostock High School, 
Stretford High School and St Antony’s RC High School, although the latter two 
schools do not have a permanent surplus capacity.  Stretford High School is 
also noted to be oversubscribed in the lower year groups.  Lostock High School 
however has a permanent surplus of 285.  Permanent surplus is the sum of the 
number of places available in all year groups.   

 
340. A review of primary school places however demonstrates that no schools have 

a permanent surplus and the level of current vacancies is there is low with only 
St Hilda's CE (VA) Academy having any vacancies and potential for expansion.  
Given the current situation with primary school places, it is considered 
necessary for developer contributions to be sought towards primary education 
facilities.  The contribution required to mitigate the impact of the proposed 
development is £641,973. 

 

DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 

 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
341. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). In terms of 

residential development the site is located in the ‘cold zone’, consequently 
apartments will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £0 per square metre, in line 
with Trafford’s CIL charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations 
(2014). 
 

342. This proposal also includes development under the following categories 
‘public/institutional facilities’, ‘office’, ‘leisure’ and ‘all other’ development. This 
application seeks permission for these Use Classes to be flexible and it is not 
known at this stage what uses would occupy which unit. These non-residential 
elements (348 m2) of the proposed development are liable for CIL and the 
following charge rate would be applied in line with Trafford’s CIL charging 
schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014): 
Public/institutional facilities – £0 per square metre 
Offices – £0 per square metre 



Leisure – £10 per square metre 
All other development – £0 per square metre 

 
343. As the application seeks a flexible use for the commercial units, it is possible 

that all of the commercial floorspace could be used for leisure purposes, 
therefore all of the commercial floorspace would be subject to the leisure CIL 
rate of £10 per square metre. 
 
SPD1: Planning Obligations 
 

344. This supplementary document sets out Trafford Council’s approach to seeking 
planning obligations for the provision of infrastructure, environmental 
improvements and affordable housing required in relation to new development. 
Contributions sought through SPD1 will be through the established mechanism 
of a Section 106 agreement.  
 

345. Affordable Housing – as outlined in paragraphs 37 to 39, it is considered that 
the appropriate level of affordable housing required to serve the proposed 
development should be determined through the submission of a Financial 
Viability Appraisal, and that the level of provision should not normally exceed 
40%.  The applicant proposes the provision of 10% affordable housing on site. 
It is not considered that the submitted viability appraisal demonstrates 
unequivocally that the proposed development cannot deliver more than 10% 
affordable housing.  If there is any change in this position it will updated in an 
additional information report. 

 
346. Education - policy L2.2 states that residential development will be appropriately 

located in terms of access to existing community facilities and/or delivers 
complementary improvements to schools.  Policy SL3 states that in order for 
development in the Strategic Location to be acceptable, community facilities, 
including schools, should be provided.   

 
347. Based on the Department for Education’s 2021-22 rate per place, the 

calculation provided by Trafford Education shows that the expected primary 
pupil yield of the development would equate to a contribution of £641,973.  It is 
noted that Lostock School has sufficient permanent vacancies to accommodate 
the secondary yield of the proposed development, therefore a secondary 
contribution will not be required in this instance.  The will applicant has advised 
that they are not in a position to confirm whether they will provide this developer 
contribution.  If there is any change in this position it will updated in an 
additional information report. 

348. Health – Policy L2.2 states that residential development will be appropriately 
located in terms of access to existing community facilities and/or delivers 
complementary improvements to health facilities. Policy SL3 states that in order 
for development in the Strategic Location to be acceptable community facilities 
including health facilities, should be provided.   

 
349. Trafford CCG have been consulted and have confirmed that the population 

generated by the proposed development can be accommodated into the 
existing health facilities within the vicinity of the application site.  Consequently 



no developer contribution is required to mitigate the impact of the proposed 
development. 

 
350. Specific Green Infrastructure – This section of the SPD relates to appropriate 

tree planting and other forms of Green Infrastructure that would be appropriate 
to mitigate the impact of the development. The SPD advises what level of green 
infrastructure provision is required within developments. Tree planting is the 
predominant form of Green Infrastructure provision on development sites and is 
achieved through an appropriate landscape planning condition as the Council 
prefers to achieve planting on development sites, the SPD outlines that one 
tree per residential apartment should be provided. The provision of alternative 
green infrastructure treatments can also be provided in lieu of, or in 
combination with tree provision. Of relevance to a scheme of this nature, other 
Green Infrastructure that could be provided includes 5m of preferably native 
species hedge, per two apartment, and/or green roof/ green wall provided at 
1/10th of the area of the building footprint. 

 
351. Although landscaping is a reserved matter it is clear that 333 trees could not be 

provided on site. The development does however provide circa 780 m2 of 
green roof space in addition to 3,549 m2 as part of the roof terrace landscaping 
scheme.  The footprint of the proposed development is circa 3578 m2.  The 
level of green roofspace offered would therefore meet the green infrastructure 
requirement set out in SPD 1. 

 
352. Spatial Green Infrastructure – Spatial green infrastructure is the open and 

natural green space function of GI associated with the needs of residents of the 
development and includes Local Open Space and Semi Natural Green Space.  
Core Strategy Policy L8 states that the Council will seek contributions towards 
Spatial Green Infrastructure, such as parks, play areas and outdoor sports 
facilities. SPD1 accepts that if a sufficient level of local open space cannot be 
provided on site, off-site improvements to nearby open space can be made by 
way of a financial contribution. 

 
353. Local Open Space should be provided on site and a development of this size 

would be expected to provide an on-site local equipped area of play (LEAP) 
with a minimum size of 400m² and ‘buffer zone’ of 3,600 m2.  Clearly the 
proposed development site would not be able to accommodate the proposed 
LEAP and a developer contribution is required in this instance. Based on the 
proposed mix of 333 apartments, £252,837 would be required as a commuted 
sum towards facilities at Longford Park.  The applicant has confirmed that they 
are willing to provide a developer contributions of £252,837 towards spatial 
green infrastructure. 

 
354. SPD1 states that that very large developments (300 units and above) will also 

be required to provide mitigation measures for semi-natural greenspace.  It has 
however been confirmed by the Council’s Strategic Planning and Growth that 
no contribution towards semi-natural greenspace is required as there is 
sufficient semi natural greenspace sites within 3km of the development site. 

 



355. Sports Facilities – SPD1 states that very large developments in the region of 
over 300 units will need to provide on-site facilities, in line with the standards in 
Policy R5 and the deficiencies and needs identified as part of the Outdoor 
Sports Assessment of Need Study, and/or in line with the deficiencies and 
needs identified as part of any future needs assessments.  The proposed 
development exceeds this threshold for on-site sports facilities to be provided. 
The SPD also states that in exceptional circumstances it may be more 
appropriate to pay a commuted sum towards the provision of outdoor sports 
facilities and provides the example of where large development is phased so 
the provision can be delivered as part of a later phase, or provide the required 
provision on land outside of the boundary for planning permission but close to 
the development. It is considered this development site would be subject to a 
commuted sum for outdoor sports facilities. 

 
356. Based on Sport England’s Assessment of outdoor sports provision and 

information contained within the Council’s adopted Playing Pitch Strategy the 
following contribution has been calculated:- 

 
Outdoor sport provision - £121,110 (pitch provision/improvement cost of 
£107,153 and associated lifecycle cost of £13,957). 

 
357. The contribution would be used to make improvements to local grass and 

artificial pitch facilities to increase capacity and address highlighted issues and 
priorities in the adopted Playing Pitch Strategy and Local Football Facilities 
Plan. Recipient sites for improvements would include one or all of the following 
identified sites:  St Bride’s Fields (Old Trafford); Seymour Park pitches (Old 
Trafford) and Turn Moss Playing Fields (Stretford) within the North (Old 
Trafford/Stretford) study area.  The applicant has confirmed that they are willing 
to provide a developer contributions of £121,110 towards outdoor sports 
provision. 
 

358. Transport and Highways - the LHA have identified that due to the increase in 
pedestrian and cycle movements to and from the site, infrastructure 
improvements are required to the Talbot Road / Great Stone Road junction. A 
financial contribution of £30,000 would be required to contribute towards a safe 
pedestrian and cycle environment for the development. The applicant has 
confirmed that they are willing to provide a developer contributions of £30,000 
towards highways. 

 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 

 
359. S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that planning 

applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF at Paragraphs 2 
and 47 reinforces this requirement and at Paragraph 12 states that the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as a starting point for decision making, 
and that where a planning application conflicts with an up to date (emphasis 
added) development plan, permission should not normally be granted. 
 



360. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions, and as the 
Government’s expression of planning policy and how this should be applied, it 
should be given significant weight in the decision making process. As the 
Council does not have a five year supply of housing land, the tilted balance in 
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged. An assessment of the scheme against 
Paragraph 11(d)(i) identifies that there is a clear reason for refusal on heritage 
grounds as set out in the weighted balancing exercise carried out in the 
‘Heritage’ section. 

 
361. Nevertheless, as the tilted balance in Paragraph 11 of the NPPF is triggered in 

respect of other primary issues considered, and so it is necessary to carry out 
an assessment of whether the adverse impacts of the development would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits to establish whether any 
additional reasons for refusal are justified and appropriate. 

 
Benefits of the Scheme 

 
362. The main benefits that would be delivered by the proposed development are 

considered to be: 
 

 The delivery of 333 new homes on a brownfield site in a highly sustainable 
location. The proposals would contribute significantly towards addressing the 
identified housing land supply shortfall. 

 The provision of a mix of units that will provide a range of new homes for 
families and smaller households which are considered appropriate for this 
Strategic Location. 

 10 per cent of the total number of dwellings will be delivered as affordable 
units on site, albeit it is considered that the applicant has not demonstrated 
that the scheme couldn’t support a greater number of units. 

 Financial contribution towards off-site improvements to open space and 
facilities for children/young people, outdoor sports and highways 
improvements. 

 The construction phase is estimated by the applicant to generate 186.6 
person years of temporary construction employment, and create a Gross 
Value Added to the local economy of approximately £11.4 million. 

 The gross additional household expenditure generated by the new 
residential population at the proposed development site will be around £8.5 
million per annum. 

 New Homes Bonus. 
 
Adverse Impacts 
 

363. The following adverse impacts associated with the proposed development have 
been identified: 

 

 Significant harm to the character and appearance of the area by reason of a 
poor and contextually inappropriate design response including the layout, 
form, height, density, scale and massing of the development. 



 Overbearing and dominating effect on surrounding residential properties and 
the area in general. 

 Poor outlook for a number of future residents who would directly overlook a 
building which provides ancillary facilities to LCC at a separation distance of 
12.5 metres. 

 Unacceptable living standards for future occupiers of the development, by 
reason of inadequate daylight and outlook in apartments and sunlight to the 
internal courtyard amenity areas. 

 Harm to the amenity of existing residential properties on Great Stone Road 
and Trent Bridge Walk by reason of noticeable reductions in the amount of 
daylight that they receive. 

 Minor harm to the setting of the Longford Park Conservation Area. 

 Negligible harm to the setting of Trafford Town Hall, a Grade II listed 
building. 

 Negligible harm to the setting of the Pavilion at Lancashire Cricket Club, a 
non-designated heritage asset. 

 Significant harm to the interest and importance of Lancashire Cricket Club as 
a cultural and tourist attraction. 

 Failure to demonstrate a development plan policy compliant level of planning 
obligations in relation to affordable housing. 

 Failure to provide a development plan policy compliant level of planning 
obligations in relation to education provision. 

 Prejudicial to the use of the fine turf and non-turf training facility at 
Lancashire Cricket Club. 

 
Conclusion 
 

363. The main benefits of the scheme are the number of residential units that the 
scheme would deliver on a brownfield site in what is a highly sustainable 
location, to which substantial weight is given. The scheme will deliver a range 
of new homes for families and smaller households, 34 of which would be 
affordable.  Less weight is given to the provision of affordable housing than 
might otherwise have been the case had the applicant adequately 
demonstrated through the Financial Viability Appraisal the amount of affordable 
housing which could be provided.  There are also contributions offered in 
respect of open space, outdoor sport provision and highway improvements, 
which are required to mitigate the proposed development and thus have a 
neutral effect in the balancing exercise.  The other main benefits arising from 
the scheme relate to the employment benefit of the construction process and 
the increased spending power the development will bring to the area.  It is also 
acknowledged that the proposed scheme is considered to be acceptable in a 
number of respects, subject to appropriate mitigation, such as those relating to 
highways, noise and vibration, air quality, land contamination, waste 
management, flood risk, ecology and biodiversity, specific green infrastructure, 
and crime prevention.   
 

364. Whilst weight is apportioned to these benefits as described, it is considered that 
they are nevertheless significantly and demonstrably outweighed by the 
adverse impacts of the scheme.  The application site sits within the Lancashire 



Cricket Club Strategic Location, one of the most visited places in the Borough, 
with the cricket club itself a longstanding international sporting attraction.  
Policy SL3 seeks to deliver a major mixed use development to provide a high 
quality experience for visitors balanced with a new high quality residential 
neighbourhood centred around an improved stadium at the cricket club.  This 
vision is currently in the process of being taken to the next level through the 
Civic Quarter Area Action Plan, albeit this document is only at Regulation 18 
stage and so can carry limited weight in the consideration of this planning 
application.  Nonetheless the document illustrates the place and design 
aspirations that SL 3 seeks to deliver in this location.  The development is 
considered to be wholly inappropriate with regard to its context, layout, form, 
height, density, scale and massing, and will result in significant harm to the 
character and appearance of the area, to which substantial weight is given.  
Great weight is also attached to the harm identified to the designated heritage 
assets, specifically Longford Park Conservation Area and Trafford Town Hall. 
The development will result in an overbearing and dominating effect on 
surrounding residential properties and the area in general, and also adversely 
impacting on sunlight and daylight for both existing and prospective residents, 
to which substantial weight is attached.  Significant weight is also attached to 
the harm that will result to the setting and interest of Lancashire Cricket Club as 
an important cultural and tourist attraction which sits at the heart of the 
Strategic Location.  Moderate weight is also given to the harm to the setting of 
the Pavilion at Lancashire Cricket Club as a non-designated heritage asset.  
Significant weight is also afforded to the failure to provide a policy compliant 
level of affordable housing and education provision contributions. 
 

365. The adverse impacts of the scheme mean the development cannot be 
considered to be a sustainable form of development.  Many of the benefits of 
the scheme could equally be delivered from a scheme that was more 
sensitively designed and which offered a higher level of affordable housing 
provision and an appropriate contribution towards education provision. 

 
366. The report has identified that the proposed development will result in a 

significant number of harmful impacts, and assessed as a whole the proposed 
development is considered to conflict with a number of Core Strategy policies 
including L2, L7, SL3, R1, and the thrust of policies R6 and OTO 11.  It is 
therefore considered to be contrary to the development plan.  Moreover, albeit 
it can carry only limited weight at this juncture, the proposed development runs 
contrary to the aims and objectives of the Draft Civic Quarter Area Action Plan 
and the type and quality of place that it seeks to deliver. 
 

367. A clear reason for refusal has been identified in relation to heritage matters 
under paragraph 11 (d)(i)  and having carried out the weighted balancing 
exercise under Paragraph 11 (d)(ii) of the NPPF, it is considered that the 
adverse impacts of granting planning permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of doing so.  The application is therefore 
recommended for refusal. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE  
 



1. The proposed development would prejudice the use of the fine turf and non-
turf training facility at Lancashire Cricket Club. The proposed development 
therefore conflicts with Strategic Objective OTO11, Policies SL3 and R6 of the 
adopted Core Strategy. 
 

2. The proposed development would have a dominating and adverse impact on 
Lancashire Cricket Club (LCC) as well as its setting and cultural character and 
identity. LCC is an internationally significant visitor attraction, cultural and 
tourism venue. The impact on the visitor experience is considered to be 
sufficient to weigh strongly against the proposal.  The development is 
therefore contrary to Policies SL3 and R6 of the adopted Core Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3. The proposed development would represent poor design as its form, layout, 
height, scale, massing, density and monolithic appearance are inappropriate 
in its context and would result in a building which would be significantly out of 
character with its surroundings.  This would have a highly detrimental impact 
on the street scene and the character and quality of the area. This would be 
contrary to Policies SL3 and L7 of the adopted Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 

4. The proposed development would not provide a development plan policy 
compliant level of planning obligations in relation to affordable housing and 
education improvements to suitably and appropriately mitigate the impacts of 
the development.  The applicant has failed to demonstrate that there is a 
robust viability case to demonstrate that the scheme could not offer a policy 
compliant level of obligations. The proposed development is therefore 
contrary to Policies SL3, L2 and L8 of the adopted Core Strategy and the 
Council's adopted Revised Supplementary Planning Document 1 (SPD1) - 
Planning Obligations and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. The proposed development by virtue of its height, massing, scale and layout 
would result in a poor level of amenity and unacceptable living standards for 
future occupiers of the development, by virtue of inadequate daylight and 
outlook in both apartments and amenity areas. The proposed development is 
therefore contrary to Policies SL3 and L7 of the adopted Core Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

6. The proposed development by virtue of its height, massing, scale and layout 
would result in harm to the amenity of existing residential properties on Great 
Stone Road and Trent Bridge Walk by virtue of noticeable reductions in the 
amount of daylight and sunlight that they receive, and would also have an 
overbearing impact on these properties and other residential properties in the 
wider 'Gorses' area. The proposed development is therefore contrary to 
Policies SL3, L3 and L7 and the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

7. The proposed development by virtue of its layout, scale and massing would 
have a harmful impact on the setting of Longford Park Conservation Area 
equating to 'less than substantial' harm in National Planning Policy 
Framework terms.  The benefits of the scheme are not considered to 



outweigh the identified harm to a designated heritage asset. The proposed 
development is therefore contrary to Policies SL3 and R1 of the adopted Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



���

8

1

2

7

44

21

19

55

58

10

40

31

43

67

28 12

42
17

27.0m

R
O

A
D

Tr
en

t B
rid

ge
 W

al
k

L Twr

Shelter

Terraces

16

G
R

EAT STO
N

E

Tank

Mast (telecommunication)Mast (Telecommunication)

8

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

100400/OUT/20

Former B&Q Site, Great Stone Road, Stretford (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date 15/10/2020

Trafford Council

06/10/2020

100023172 (2012)



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 15th OCTOBER 2020    
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT  
 

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP, ETC.  
 

PURPOSE 
To consider applications for planning permission and related matters to be determined 
by the Committee.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
As set out in the individual reports attached. Planning conditions referenced in reports 
are substantially in the form in which they will appear in the decision notice. Correction of 
typographical errors and minor drafting revisions which do not alter the thrust or purpose 
of the condition may take place before the decision notice is issued. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
None unless specified in an individual report.  
 

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
None unless specified in an individual report.  
 
PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
None unless specified in an individual report.  
 

Further information from: Planning Services  
Proper Officer for the purposes of the L.G.A. 1972, s.100D (Background papers): Head 
of Planning and Development  
 

Background Papers:  
In preparing the reports on this agenda the following documents have been used:  

1. The Trafford Local Plan: Core Strategy. 
2. The GM Joint Waste Development Plan Document. 
3. The GM Joint Minerals Development Plan Document. 
4. The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (2006). 
5. Supplementary Planning Documents specifically referred to in the reports.  
6. Government advice (National Planning Policy Framework, Circulars, practice guidance 

etc.).  
7. The application file (as per the number at the head of each report).  
8. The forms, plans, committee reports and decisions as appropriate for the historic 

applications specifically referred to in the reports.  
9. Any additional information specifically referred to in each report.   

 
These Background Documents are available for inspection on the Council’s website.  

Agenda Item 8



  
TRAFFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 15th OCTOBER 2020   

 
Report of the Head of Planning and Development  

 
INDEX OF APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP etc. PLACED ON 
THE AGENDA FOR DECISION BY THE COMMITTEE 
 

Applications for Planning Permission  

Application 
Site Address/Location of 
Development 

Ward Page Recommendation 

100270 
Land Bound By Elsinore Road 
And Skerton Road, Stretford 
M16 0WF 

Longford 1 
Minded to Grant 
subject to Legal 
Agreement 

100835 
165A Marsland Road, Sale 
M33 3WE 

Brooklands 91 Grant 

101019 
4 Woodlands, Davyhulme 
M41 7AA 

Davyhulme 
East 

109 Grant 

101192 
26 Grangethorpe Road, 
Urmston, M41 9HT 

Urmston 122 Grant 

101371 
39 - 42 Ingleby Court, Stretford 
M32 8PY 

Longford 130 Grant 

101460 
1 Lichfield Road, Davyhulme 
M41 0RU 

Davyhulme 
East 

143 Refuse 

101467 
321 Moorside Road, Flixton 
M41 5PA 

Flixton 154 Refuse 

 
 

https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=Q6OB44QL01T00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QAQ95OQLLJ600
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QBYJLWQLM4200
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QCVVKQQLMKO00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QDTB82QL01T00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QE9X0HQLFKV00
https://publicaccess.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QEA8F7QL00Y00


WARD: Longford 100270/FUL/20 DEPARTURE: No 

Erection of a residential development (Use Class C3) for 367 units 
comprising five blocks between 6 and 10 storeys with associated 
access, parking and landscaping. 

Land Bound By Elsinore Road And Skerton Road, Stretford, M16 0WF 

APPLICANT:  CJM Investments Ltd 
AGENT:     Zerum 

RECOMMENDATION:  MINDED TO GRANT SUBJECT TO LEGAL AGREEMENT 

The application has been reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee due to six or more objections being received contrary to Officer 
recommendation and has also been ‘called in’ for consideration by the Planning 
Committee by Councillor Jarman. 

SITE 

The application relates to a 1.3 ha roughly triangular shaped site at the junction of 
Skerton Road and Elsinore Road in Stretford. The site was until recently occupied by 
various industrial buildings and silos associated with the site’s former use as a producer 
of ingredients for bakery products. Originally known as Arcady Soya Mills the former 
buildings housed a factory, offices, laboratory and test bakery facilities for the marketing 
of the product, Arkady a bread improver. The site has now been largely cleared and 
predominantly comprises hardstanding enclosed by palisade fencing.   

Immediately adjoining the site to the south is the site of CSM Bakery Solutions which 
produces bread and confectionary ingredients and used to form part of the wider Arkady 
site. This site is accessed off Elsinore Road to the north and down the western extent of 
the application site and contains manufacturing and warehousing space, silos and 
offices. Further south are two storey, semi-detached, terraced and detached residential 
properties on Lime Grove with further residential areas beyond. 

The site is bounded to the north by Elsinore Road, beyond which is the Metrolink line 
extending out from Trafford Bar station to the northeast. Further north is Trafford Hall 
Hotel and curtilage beyond which is Talbot Road. To the northwest is Old Trafford 
Bowling Club and grounds.  

To the west the site is bounded by a strip of land under separate ownership extending 
north-south from Elsinore Road and terminating close to the western end of Lime 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 1



Grove. Beyond this land is a vegetated buffer to the Metrolink line and to the southwest, 
the Metrolink Trafford Depot.  

The site is bounded to the east by Skerton Road. To the east of the northern corner of 
the application site are two storey residential properties. Opposite the majority of the 
eastern boundary of the site are commercial units (Iceland, Superdrug and Worldwide 
Foods) and associated yard areas. Beyond this is a local shopping parade fronting 
Seymour Grove. Opposite the south-eastern corner of the site is Grove House which is 
a nine storey former office building which has been extended and converted into 
residential apartments situated at the junction of Skerton Road and Tennis Street.  

The character of the area is mixed, comprising predominantly commercial, transport, 
office and industrial uses to the north, west and east. This includes the Worldwide 
Foods Store, Iceland and the Seymour Grove local shopping centre to the east. The 
character to the south, beyond the bakery building, is predominantly residential in 
nature.  

The nearest listed buildings are Trafford Town Hall and White City Entrance Portal and 
Lodges although there are a number of non-designated heritage assets to the north of 
the site on Talbot Road.  

PROPOSAL 

Planning permission is sought for a development comprising 367 residential units laid 
out in five blocks between 6 and 10 storeys in height. The application also applies 
retrospectively for the demolition of the industrial buildings that were on the site. 

Of the five blocks, three are located in the southern half of the site (Blocks C, D and E) 
and are parallel to one another forming two internal streets within the site. Block E fronts 
Skerton Road to the east and Block C fronts the access road to the CSM site on the 
western side with the third (Block D) situated in between the two.  

The remaining two blocks are linked at ground floor level and are at a roughly 45 degree 
angle in relation to one another. One block fronts Elsinore Road to the north (Block A), 
the other fronts Skerton Road to the east (Block B). 

The heights of the various blocks are as follows: 

Block A (fronting Elsinore Road) – 7 storeys 
Block B – (fronting Skerton Road) 6, 8 and 10 storeys 
Block C (W edge) – 7 storeys  
Block D (central to Blocks C and E) – 7 storeys 
Block E (fronting Skerton Road) – 6 storeys 

Block B would have a maximum height of 31.5 metres. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 2



 

 
 

Two main vehicular and pedestrian entrances are provided into the site: one towards 
the centre of the site on Skerton Road, and another on Elsinore Road towards the 
north-west of the site. Separate vehicular access to the CSM Bakery Solutions site 
would be retained down the western edge of the site and this also serves six car parking 
spaces. 
 
The main road frontage of Blocks A, B and C take the form of townhouses at ground 
and first floor levels and these have their own defensible space in the form of front 
gardens, paths and parking spaces. Entrance lobbies for upper floor flats are located on 
prominent corners and bin stores, plant space and bicycle storage and located on the 
ground floor of the accommodation blocks. 
 
As well as the building frontages being articulated at first floor level to highlight the 
domestic scale of the townhouses at street level, the upper floors of the blocks are also 
articulated to provide visual interest and reduce massing at height.  The tallest of the 
proposed blocks fronting Skerton Road has been broken down in three stages so that 
its height steps up from 6 storeys at the junction of Skerton Road and Elsinore Road to 
a maximum height of 10 storeys with an intervening 8 storey section.  
 
The mix of housing types is as follows: 
 
166 one bed apartments 
118 two bed apartments 
42 three bed apartments 
9 one bed ‘townhouses’  
25 two bed ‘townhouses’ 
7 three bed ‘townhouses’ 
 
Apartments of various sizes are located on each floor so as to encourage mixed 
communities. 
 
Although they form part of the larger blocks the ‘townhouse’ units are accessed at 
ground level and have their own external curtilages. Where reference is made to 
‘townhouses’ this is in terms of their external appearance as two storey and visually 
different in appearance to the rest of the apartment block not because they are 
physically separated from the rest of the block. 
 
The design of the buildings has a similar theme but utilises minor variations to suit 
particular blocks. The design approach seeks to draw on various characteristics of local 
buildings - their scale, form and use of materials, in combination with more 
contemporary elements.  
 
Brick, masonry and tiled elements, predominantly in red/pink/brown hues, will form the 
primary facing materials but there is also the potential to introduce options for terracotta, 
glazed brick or powder coated aluminium to match to provide variety and detailing.  
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 3



 

 
 

An external communal courtyard space is proposed in the centre of the site in addition 
to a ‘clubhouse’ building at the rear of Block A to provide internal communal space for 
occupiers of the development. A gym is also proposed at ground floor level to the rear 
of Block B.  
 
67 no. car parking spaces are proposed on the site and this includes 5 accessible 
parking spaces which are provided in each parking row area to ensure accessibility to 
all the blocks.  The ‘townhouses’ have dedicated off-street parking spaces within their 
curtilage. Parking for the apartments is located within the site. Parking is also provided 
for 418 bicycles in total located within the ground floor areas of each block. Electric 
vehicle charging points will be provided on site (one for every unit with dedicated 
parking and one for every 10 spaces in the unallocated parking areas).  
 
Internal landscaped areas with tree and shrub planting and various biodiversity 
enhancements and informal play elements are proposed, as well as tree and shrub 
planting around all the external boundaries of the site. Areas of green and brown roofs 
are also proposed on Blocks A and B. 
 
The total floorspace of the proposed development would be approximately 29,883 m2. 
 
Value Added: Amendments have been made throughout the consideration of the 
application and include the following: 
 
- Block B has been lowered from 11, 9 and 7 storeys to 10, 8 and 6 storeys. 
- This has resulted in a reduction of 13 apartments across the scheme 
- Increased level of detail to elevations, improved interest to silhouette of roof, 

improved proportions to bay windows 
- Removal of gates from the entrances to the development 
- Improvements to bin storage and access 
- Inclusion of 5 no accessible parking spaces in close proximately to the main 

entrances 
- Four additional cycle spaces have been introduced in Block C to ensure all blocks 

provide at least 1:1 cycle parking provision  
- Improved biodiversity measures around the site 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 4



 

 
 

saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L1 - Land for New Houses 
L2 - Meeting Housing Needs 
L3 – Regeneration and Reducing Inequalities 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility  
L5 – Climate Change 
L7 – Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations 
W1 - Economy 
R1 – Historic Environment 
R2 – Natural Environment 
R3 – Green Infrastructure 
R5 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation  
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Old Trafford Priority Area for Regeneration 
Main Industrial Area 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
None relevant 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE/DOCUMENTS 
SPG1 New Residential Development (2004) 
Revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014) 
SPD3: Parking Standards and Design (2012) 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016, and a further period of consultation on the revised draft ended on 18 
March 2019. A Draft Plan will be published for consultation in November 2020 before it 
is submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination. The weight to be 
given to the GMSF as a material consideration will normally be limited given that it is 
currently at an early stage of the adoption process. Where it is considered that a 
different approach should be taken, this will be specifically identified in the report. If the 
GMSF is not referenced in the report, it is either not relevant, or carries so little weight in 
this particular case that it can be disregarded. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 5



 

 
 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 19 February 
2019.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 

 
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) is a web-based resource which 
brings together planning guidance on various topics in one place.  The MHCLG 
published revised National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) on 29 November 2016 
although it has since been subject to a number of updates, the most recent of which 
was made on 01 October 2019.  The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the 
report.   
 
NATIONAL DESIGN GUIDE 
 
This document was published by the Government in October 2019 to illustrate how well 
designed places can be achieved in practice. It forms part of the Government’s 
collection of planning practice guidance. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site and adjacent site to the south have an extensive planning history 
from its former use as British Arcady. The applications below relate only to the past 20 
years.  
 
Application Site 
 
99871/SCR/20 - Request for a screening opinion for erection of residential development 
comprising five blocks (a, b, c, d & e) of between 6 and 11 storeys, providing circa 400 
residential dwellings (Use Class C3) with associated access, parking, servicing and 
landscaping – Screening Opinion Issued 17.02.2020 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
The applicant has submitted the following information in support of the application. 
Some of the reports have been amended / updated to reflect the changes to the 
scheme. These documents will be referred to as necessary within this report:- 
 
- Planning and Heritage Statement 
- Design and Access Statement 
- Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
- Daylight and Sunlight Assessments (Internal and External) 
- Wind Microclimate Assessment 
- Noise Impact Assessment 
- Tram induced vibration assessment 
- Supporting statements regarding Fire Safety and Accessibility 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 6



 

 
 

- Air Quality Assessment 
- Crime Impact Assessment 
- External Lighting and Security Statement 
- Transport Assessment and Addendum including Framework Travel Plan 
- Metrolink Impact Assessment  
- Flood Risk Assessment 
- Drainage Strategy 
- Phase 1 Contamination Assessment 
- Landscape Strategy 
- Open Space Statement 
- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report 
- Energy Statement 
- Waste Management Strategy 
- Viability Assessment 
  

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Cadent Gas - Advise that the development is in the vicinity of Low or Medium pressure 
(below 2 bar) gas pipes and associated equipment. As a result it is highly likely that 
there are gas services and associated apparatus in the vicinity and the contractor 
should contact Plant Protection before any works are carried out to ensure the 
apparatus is not affected by any of the proposed works.  
 
Electricity NW – Consider the planning application could impact on their infrastructure. 
The applicant should be made aware of the comments provided. 
 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) – Confirm they are 
satisfied that the proposed development does not threaten the known or suspected 
archaeological heritage and that there is no reason to seek to impose any 
archaeological requirements upon the applicant.  
 
GM Ecology Unit - No objection in principle as the ecological appraisal finds that the 
site has negligible ecological value. Comments are considered in more detail later in the 
report. 
 
GM Fire Authority - No objection in principle subject to the requirements for Fire 
Service access being met and the development being compliant with Section B5 of 
Approved Document B of the Building Regulations in relation to fire safety.  
 
GM Police (Design for Security) – No objection in principle subject to a condition 
requiring the development to reflect the physical security specifications set out in the 
Crime Impact Statement. 
 
Local Highway Authority – No objection in principle subject to conditions and a legal 
agreement relating to parking surveys and potential TROs. Comments are considered in 
more detail later in the report. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 7



 

 
 

 
Lead Local Flood Authority – No objection in principle subject to a conditions. 
Comments are considered in more detail later in the report. 
 

National Air Traffic Services (NATS) – No safeguarding objections. 
 
Trafford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) – No objection and no contribution 
required. Comments are considered in more detail later in the report. 
 
Sport England - Non-Statutory objection raised due to lack of contribution towards 
sport provision. Figures for contributions provided. 
 
Trafford Council, Arboriculturalist – No objection in principle as the trees are not 
protected and there are only a few low value, self-seeded specimens on the site. 
Comments are considered in more detail later in the report. 
 
Trafford Council, Education – No objection in principle. Contribution towards off-site 
primary school provision requested. Comments are considered in more detail later in 
the report. 
 
Trafford Council, Heritage Development Officer – Considers that the impact of the 
development will result in negligible harm to the setting of Trafford Bar and Trafford Hall 
Hotel and minor harm to the setting of Old Trafford Bowling Club. Comments are 
considered in more detail later in the report. 
 
Trafford Council, Housing Strategy and Growth - No objections in principle to the 
above application subject to provision of 10% affordable housing 
 
Trafford Council, Pollution & Licensing, Air Quality - No objection subject to a 
condition requiring dust suppression mitigation measures during construction and the 
provision of electric vehicle charge points.  
 
Trafford Council, Pollution & Licensing, Land Contamination – No objection in 
principle subject to contaminated land conditions.  
 
Trafford Council, Pollution & Licensing, Nuisance - No objection in principle subject 
to various conditions. Comments are considered in more detail later in the report. 
 
Trafford Council, Strategic Planning – No objection in principle. Comments are 
considered in more detail later in the report. 
  
Trafford Council, Waste – In relation to the plans as originally submitted, commented 
on the excessive number of bins and the accessibility of the bin stores. Comments are 
considered in more detail later in the report. 
 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) Highways – Awaiting comments on latest 
Highways Addendum. Any additional comments received prior to the Planning 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 8



 

 
 

Committee meeting will be included in the Additional Information Report.  
 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) Metrolink – No objection. Whilst the 
development proposals are unlikely to affect Metrolink operations due to the proximity of 
the site to the Metrolink boundary, the applicant should be aware of TfGM’s standard 
advice on working safely near Metrolink. 
 
United Utilities – No objection subject to conditions relating to surface water drainage 
and requiring that foul and surface water is drained on separate systems 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Cllr Jarman has objected to the application due to concerns regarding the aesthetics of 
the design and the proposed scale of the building. 
 
Neighbours: Objections from 23 separate addresses were received in relation to the 
plans originally submitted. Grounds of objection summarised as follows: 
 
Scale, Density and Design 
The development is too big, tall and high density 
Local residents don’t want high rise buildings there are enough in Old Trafford - areas in 
southern part of the Borough should take more high rise 
Inappropriate and out of keeping - low rise more appropriate to the area – terraced and 
semi’s more typical of the area.  
Ugly and an eyesore – very little architectural merit 
Need housing but should be more like Duerrs site 
Fear for the character of the area – too many bland soulless towers 
Looks industrial not residential and designed for 1820 no 2020. 
Should be more sensitive to local area and enhance it  
Not enough green space, landscaping - Covid 19 has shown that people are desperate 
for outside space 
Should contribute to the area in a positive way 
Creates a precedent for this height and density of development 
Poor ecological improvements 
In view of climate crisis should be more environmentally friendly.  
Close to the historic area – could be detrimental to the vision for the Civic Quarter. 
 
Amenity 
Overbearing for residents 
Will result in loss of privacy as the blocks tower over local residents – will be unsettling 
Loss of light / oppressive 
Will be difficult to live in as well as look at 
Will increase air pollution in an area where it is already a problem 
Will block out views 
Hazardous materials and ground contamination on site 
Health and wellbeing of locals is important 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 9



 

 
 

 
Highways and Parking 
Will exacerbate congestion in the area – particularly on cricket and football match days 
and during rush hour. Road junction close to Trafford Bar station is already difficult.  
Lack of parking in the development – will result in parking on-street 
Residential streets already used as ‘park and ride’ for the tram 
Need more people to walk or cycle 
 
Procedure and Covid 19 
Residents should have been given longer to comment given the Covid 19 pandemic. 
Too difficult to meet and organise at present 
Not procedurally fair – some people don’t have internet access and can’t get into library 
or Council buildings 
Should have been a public meeting 
Given the magnitude of the decision it should not be delegated to officers 
Council / developer trying to put through while residents can’t object 
 
Other Matters 
Don’t have the infrastructure to support this number of residents (500 plus). Not enough 
schools / doctors / dentists. Already lots of office to residential conversions in the area 
Should have to pay planning contributions or residents get no benefits from the 
development 
Won’t satisfy local housing needs – affordable housing required 
Why build flats when the supporting documents claim that the prices have decreased in 
the area in 2019 and house prices have increased.  
Site should have been included in the Civic Quarter Plan 
Piecemeal development – prevents proper planning 
Won’t promote a sense of community - Not family orientated 
Flats lead to transient residents who care less about the local area 
Sole purpose to maximise profit for developer  
Hope it’s kept clean – no fly tipping or litter 
 
An objection was also received from Emery Planning on behalf of Mr & Mrs Ahmed who 
are the owners of the strip of land to the west of the application site.  The concerns 
raised are summarised as follows: 
 
- As the landowner of adjoining site, they consider that they should have been 

consulted by the applicant on a proposal for a development of this scale. 
- Request Council facilitates contact between the applicant and adjacent landowner.  
- They do not oppose the principle of redeveloping the site but want it to be looked at 

comprehensively   
- Key concern is that the proposed development would compromise the primary 

function of the remainder of the employment allocation, and the operation of their 
site, the existing use of which is as a car park, linked to surrounding employment 
uses.  As an existing employment allocation our client could seek to redevelop the 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 10



 

 
 

site for a more intensive employment use and re concerned that this development 
could prejudice this contrary to the development plan  

 
The agent for the application has made the following (summarised) response to these 
comments: 
 
- Do not believe there is any issues or conflict with land ownership boundaries 
- There is no formal requirement by law to notify the adjacent landowner, however, 

prior to starting work on the application the applicant approached the owner to try 
and facilitate discussions about a comprehensive redevelopment of both sites but for 
financial reasons this option was not pursued and the application site was brought 
forward independently.   

- The land in question is a narrow strip with very minimal use potential (most likely car 
parking as it was previously) and it is difficult to see how the proposed development 
would have a detrimental effect on or compromise the use of the land.  If anything it 
would most likely benefit it. Given the narrow shape of the site it is difficult to see 
how this could be used for any intensive employment use.  

- They state their client’s site “may be prejudiced” but do not expand on how they 
believe this would actually occur and have not previously applied for a more 
‘intensive use’ of the site during their 14 year ownership.  

 
Objections from 32 addresses have been received in relation to the amended plans.  
 
The majority of the objections received reiterate those previously made and set out 
above however additional points raised are as follows:  
 
- The proposal is very similar to the previous proposal which was opposed by local 

people. The developers should not be allowed to make only superficial differences to 
the original plans. Fundamental issues with the development remain and to ignore 
these concerns shows disrespect and is an attack on people’s rights. 

- Contrary to Policy L2.2 as it results in harm to the area due to detrimental impact on 
character, increase in congestion and pollution and oversubscribed infrastructure 
such as schools, health centres and local parks 

- Contrary to Policy L2.7 in that the scheme contains too many 1 bed units which are 
not in keeping with local need and do not provide 2-3 bed houses to meet the 
requirements of specific cultural and religious family needs.  

- Lack of parking will cause friction in the area and increased traffic will be harmful to 
safety especially with regard to children.  

- Only in favour of low rise development. Some good examples elsewhere. The area 
has huge potential  

- Low quality, brutalist, high-rise flat developments like this decline and become crime 
hotspots. It is oppressive and gloomy and no-one will want to live there or near it. 

- The construction methods of modern modular high rise apartment blocks have a 
limited profitable life for the landlord so over time they become less inclined to 
maintain and keep the site in good order. This leads to tenants moving away, less 
desirable tenants moving in and the area as a whole suffering. Need a stable 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 11



 

 
 

community not a transient one. There are always a stream of flats to rent or buy in 
the area so this is not needed.  

- Most such flats are owned by landlords, and don’t help locals purchase affordable 
housing; instead they get trapped into a cycle of expensive rental properties. 

- People need real homes not blocks that reduce people to units who have to live out 
their lives limited by impoverished environments. 

- How does this development reduce carbon emissions and energy consumption 
levels to address the climate emergency? 

- Concerns about rainwater runoff due to lack of trees and soft landscaping.  
 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
The Decision-taking Framework 
 
1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 

planning applications should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 

2. The Council’s Core Strategy was adopted in January 2012, prior to the publication of 
the 2012 NPPF, but drafted to be in compliance with it. The NPPF is a material 
consideration in planning decisions. 

 
3. Paragraph 11 (c) of the NPPF states that development proposals that accord with an 

up-to-date development plan should be approved without delay. Paragraph 11 (d) 
states that where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, planning 
permission should be granted unless: 

 
(i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 
4. Policies relating to housing supply, highway matters, design, heritage and the 

economy are considered to be ‘most important’ for determining this application when 
considering the application against NPPF paragraph 11, as they control the principle 
of the development and are most relevant to the likely impacts of the proposed 
development on the surrounding area: 

 
- The Council does not, at present, have a five year supply of immediately 

available housing land and therefore the housing targets identified in Policies L1 
and L2 of the Core Strategy are out-of-date in NPPF terms, albeit other aspects 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 12



 

 
 

of the policies such as affordable housing targets, dwelling type, size and mix are 
largely still up to date and so can be afforded substantial weight. 

- Policy L4 is considered to be out-of-date but only so far as it includes reference 
to a ‘significant adverse impact’ threshold in terms of the impact of the 
development on the operation of the road network, whereas the NPPF refers to a 
‘severe’ impact’. Other aspects of Policy L4 are considered to be largely up to 
date and so can be afforded substantial weight. 

- Policy L7 of the Core Strategy is considered to be compliant with the NPPF and 
therefore up-to-date as it comprises the local expression of the NPPF’s emphasis 
on good design and, together with associated SPDs, the Borough’s design code. 
Full weight can be afforded to this policy. 

- Policy W1 of the Core Strategy is considered to be compliant with the NPPF by 
supporting economic growth and is therefore up-to-date and can be afforded full 
weight. 

- Policy R1 of the Core Strategy is not considered to reflect case law or the tests of 
‘substantial’ and ‘less than substantial harm’ to the significance of heritage assets 
in the NPPF. It is therefore considered to be out of date in that respect and 
cannot be afforded full weight.  

 
5. The footnote to paragraph 11 (d)(i) explains that the policies of the NPPF referred to 

include those which relate to habitats protection, heritage and flood risk. The 
assessment of the scheme on these areas and assets of particular importance does 
not lead to a conclusion that ‘provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed’. Paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the NPPF – the tilted balance – is therefore 
automatically engaged because the absence of a five year supply of immediately 
available housing land. Planning permission should therefore be granted unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. This 
exercise is set out within the ‘Planning Balance and Conclusion’ section of this 
report. 

 
HERITAGE ASSETS 
 
6. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

advises that “In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority … shall have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.” 

 
7. Policy R1 of the Core Strategy states that all new development must take account of 

surrounding building styles, landscapes and historic distinctiveness and that 
developers must demonstrate how their development will complement and enhance 
existing features of historic significance including their wider settings, in particular in 
relation to conservation areas, listed buildings and other identified heritage assets. 
As indicated above this policy does not reflect case law or the tests of ‘substantial’ 
and ‘less than substantial harm’ to the significance of heritage assets in the NPPF. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 13



 

 
 

As Policy R1 of the Core Strategy is out of date for decision making purposes, the 
requirements of Paragraph 11 of the NPPF are engaged. In view of this heritage 
policy in the NPPF can be given significant weight and is the appropriate means of 
determining the acceptability of the development in heritage terms. 

 
8. Paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires developers to 

describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution 
made by their setting.  

 
9. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF establishes that when considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The NPPF sets out that harm 
can either be substantial or less than substantial. There will also be cases where 
development affects heritage assets but from which no harm arises.  

 
10. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that “where a development proposal will lead to 

less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use”.  

 
11. Paragraph 197 identifies that the effect of an application on the significance of a 

non-designated heritage asset should also be taken into account in determining the 
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated 
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of 
any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 

 
12. There are no heritage assets included within the application site. The site is not in 

the vicinity of any Conservation Areas and GMAAS have confirmed that they 
consider the development would not impact on any remains of archaeological 
significance. 

 
13. The site does however lie within the setting of two designated heritage assets: 

Trafford Town Hall (Grade ll) and the Entrance Portal and Lodges to former White 
City Greyhound Track (Grade II). The site also lies within the setting of several non-
designated heritage assets: Old Trafford Bowling Club; Trafford Bar Station; Trafford 
Hall Hotel and No’s 30, 46, 52 - 64 Talbot Road. 

 
14. The applicant has submitted a Planning and Heritage Statement in support of the 

application and also a Townscape and Visual Appraisal. The Heritage Statement 
sets out that historic mapping indicates that the site was vacant until occupation by 
the Northern Lawn Tennis Club from some time prior to 1889 until around 1922. The 
site was then in industrial use from at least 1933, until the present.  

 
15. The Manchester South Junction and Altrincham Railway had been constructed by 

1851, with Old Trafford Station in the location of today’s Trafford Bar station. By 
1889, when the Northern Lawn Tennis Club had been established, detached 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 14



 

 
 

residential properties with large gardens had developed along Seymour Street (now 
Seymour Grove), and terraced properties had extended to the north and east. By 
1933, the built-up area had expanded southwards, principally with residential 
development. 

 
Designated Heritage Assets  
 
16. Trafford Town Hall (Grade II listed) was built in 1933.  Trafford Town Hall is 

significant for its aesthetic, historical and communal values. The clock tower in 
particular is an important local and distinctive landmark and views of this contribute 
greatly to its aesthetic value. Its landmark quality orientates residents and visitors 
and provides a focal point within the locality.  

 
17. The Entrance Portal and Lodges to former White City Greyhound Track are listed as 

Grade II. The structure dates to 1828 and was originally the grand entrance to the 
Royal Botanic Gardens, now White City Retail Park. The significance of this 
designated heritage asset derives from its connection with the history of the area as 
a large public garden, as the location of a number of exhibitions in the 19th century, 
and its association with later leisure activities during the 20th century. Whilst this 
original connection has been lost, it retains some communal and aesthetic value. 

 
Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
 
18. The Old Trafford Bowling Club and Green is located at 49A Talbot Road. It was 

founded in 1877 and is an unusually substantial and early example of its type within 
the national context and is still used today. Built in the Tudorbethan style, it remains 
relatively little altered with a traditional timber-framed aesthetic of two storeys with 
associated green, clubroom and billiard room. It also forms a notable part of the 
legacy of leisure and sport provision within the area.  

 
19. The Trafford Hall Hotel is located at 23 Talbot Road. It is a brick building with stone 

dressings to windows and decorative balustrading and parapet to roof. The raised 
ground floor has a decorative balcony above. It was constructed as civic offices, first 
appearing on a historic map of 1889-93 as Stretford Local Board Office. By 1968 it 
had become a hotel.  

 
20. Trafford Bar Station building is semi-circular in shape, presenting a five-sided 

frontage to the road and a straight element to the railway. It is of brick construction 
with stone detailing. The stone door case is intricately decorated. A station was 
opened in July 1849 to serve the Manchester, South Junction and Altrincham 
Railway, but historic mapping does not show a building in the station’s current 
location until 1891. While the station continues to be operational, the building itself is 
not currently in use. 

 
21. No. 30 Talbot Road appears to have been constructed as a pair of semi-detached 

dwellinghouses but has been subject to alteration. The building’s original gable 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 15



 

 
 

fronted form is still visible, but the detailing and original windows have been lost to 
the left-hand building, and two storey extensions added to both properties. Dwellings 
first appear in this location in historic mapping in 1889. In 1954, number 30 is 
labelled as a club. By 1968-84, it had been extended to the rear, and the buildings to 
either side had been demolished or redeveloped.  

  
22. There are eight Victorian villas in the vicinity of the site. These are numbers 46, 52, 

54, 56, 58, 60, 62 and 64 Talbot Road. These all appear to have been constructed 
as residential dwellings. They first appear on historic mapping dating to 1889-1893, 
filling the gap to the north of Talbot Road, on the southern side of the Botanical 
Gardens. 

 
23. The Victorian residences to Talbot Road make a considerable contribution to the 

heritage interest and historic character of the area. They are important surviving 
examples of the once prolific Victorian residential character of the area, and are of 
notable architectural quality. 

 
24. The Supporting Planning and Heritage Statement concludes that the proposed 

development would form a well-considered piece of new townscape and that the 
identified heritage assets will continue to be viewed and experienced as part of a 
contemporary streetscape. On this basis it concludes that the development will result 
in no harm to designated or non-designated assets 

 
25. The Council’s Heritage Development Officer has been consulted on the application 

and considers that elements of the design are welcomed, including the incorporation 
of details such as the canted bay from nearby Victoria villas, the proposed 
materiality which takes its cue from the local vernacular and the references to tennis 
and the proposed pavilion - Old Trafford has a long and rich history of association 
with sports and recreation including the Northern Lawn Tennis Club. The reduction 
in the height of Block B is noted as positive as it the inclusion of greater detailing on 
elevations at roofline level.  

 
26. It is considered that the proposed development would cause no harm to the Grade II 

Listed Buildings identified above. This is mainly due to their significant distance from 
the application site and the presence of a number of intervening buildings. Similarly 
the development would cause no harm to No. 30 Talbot Road or the eight Victorian 
Villas on Talbot Road identified above.  

 
27. However the Heritage Development Officer concludes that the development will 

result in minor harm to the setting of Old Trafford Bowling Club and negligible harm 
to the setting of Trafford Bar & Trafford Hall Hotel, all of which are identified as non-
designated heritage assets. With regard to the impact on Old Trafford Bowling Club, 
the response states that it is appreciated that the proposal is replacing a series of 
large industrial buildings and that Old Trafford Bowling Club currently sits within a 
fragmented urban landscape. Nevertheless, the full extent of the development is 
clearly visible in views of this non-designated asset from Talbot Road and due to the 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 16



 

 
 

proposed height, massing and form it will result in a visual impact on Old Trafford 
Bowling Club and its appreciation from the street scene.  

 

28. The minor harm to the significance of non-designated heritage assets identified 
above requires the development to be assessed against paragraph 197. 

 
29. The development will not result in the loss or physical alteration of any of the non-

designated heritage assets and it is the impact on views of Old Trafford Bowling 
Club from Talbot Road that has been identified as causing minor harm.  

 
30. There are considered to be numerous significant public benefits associated with the 

proposed development which would outweigh the minor harm to the non-designated 
heritage asset identified above. The proposals would deliver 367 no. much needed 
residential units in a highly sustainable location contributing towards meeting the 
Council’s housing land targets and housing needs. The development would utilise a 
brownfield site and would support aspirations for the regeneration of the area.  

 
Conclusion on Heritage Assets 
 
31. Para 197 of the NPPF requires that in weighing applications that directly or indirectly 

affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
The Old Trafford Bowling Club would continue to be viewed and experienced as part 
of a contemporary streetscape albeit in the context of altered wider views but there 
would be no impact on the physical structure and understanding of the asset and its 
purpose. It is concluded that the public benefits identified above are considered to 
clearly and demonstrably outweigh the minor harm to a non-designated heritage 
asset. On this basis, the proposed development is deemed to accord with the NPPF 
and is considered acceptable in this respect. Therefore in terms of paragraph 11 of 
the NPPF there is no clear reason for refusing the development on heritage grounds.  

 
LOSS OF EMPLOYMENT LAND 
 
32. The site is allocated on the Trafford Composite Proposals Map as a Main Industrial 

area. It comprises a vacant, cleared, previously developed former industrial site.  
 
33. Policy W1.12 of the Core Strategy states that in determining applications for non-

employment uses on sites outside of the Strategic Locations, developers will be 
required to provide a statement (an ‘Employment Land Assessment’) demonstrating 
that: 

 
- There is no need for the site to be retained for employment purposes and it is 

therefore redundant;  
- There is a clear need for the proposed land use(s) in this locality; 
- There are no suitable alternative sites, within the locality, to meet the identified 

need for the proposed development; 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 17



 

 
 

- The proposed redevelopment would not compromise the primary function of the 
locality or the operations of neighbouring users; and  

- The proposed redevelopment is in accordance with other policies in the 
Development Plan for Trafford 

 
34. The required assessment has been provided as part of the supporting Planning 

Statement. It is considered that this demonstrates that the site is no longer required 
for employment use for the following reasons. 

 
35. The site is not in one of the locations that Policy W1 states the Council will seek to 

focus employment uses in and does not form part of a wider employment park. 
Rather, its allocation reflects the historic evolution of this railway-side site and the 
industrial role of this area has shrunk over time. Policy W1 makes clear that the 
strategy for employment land in the borough is to focus on the creation of economic 
clusters where infrastructure is in place to attract key economic growth sectors, such 
as the Trafford Park Core. 

 
36. The bakery site to the south is currently still operational and the development has 

been designed in such a way to allow it to remain operational. There is no clear 
need to retain the application site for employment and the previous use on the site 
has been closed for some years and the buildings removed from site. 

 
37. National and local policies set out a clear need for new homes in the Borough and in 

the Old Trafford locality. Indeed the site has been identified for housing in the 
Trafford’s Strategic Housing Land Availability and in the Draft Land Allocations DPD. 
Although the latter is not adopted it is a clear indication of the aspirations for this 
site. 

 
38. The supporting statement considers that there are no other sites available locally 

which are vacant and can provide this scale of housing provision with landscaping 
and amenity space, in an equally accessible, brownfield location. 

 
39. The area around the site accommodates a mix of uses and the proposed residential 

use is considered compatible with nearby uses. The development would not impact 
upon the ability of neighbouring industry or shops to carry out their operations 
indeed the new residents will support local shops and services in the area. 

 
40. It is considered that for the reasons set out in this report the proposal represents the 

efficient re-use of a derelict brownfield site for much needed housing. It is therefore 
concluded that proposal meets the required tests in terms of loss of employment 
land and is appropriate for housing.  

 
PRINCIPLE OF HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 

 
41. The NPPF places great emphasis on the need to plan for and deliver new housing 

throughout the UK. The Government’s current target is for 300,000 homes to be 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 18



 

 
 

constructed each year to help address the growing housing crisis.  Local planning 
authorities are required to support the Government’s objective of significantly 
boosting the supply of homes. With reference to Paragraph 59 of the NPPF, this 
means ensuring that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where 
it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are 
addressed, and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay. 

 
42. As indicated above, policies controlling the supply of housing are also considered to 

be ‘most important’ for determining this application when considering the application 
against NPPF Paragraph 11. The Council does not, at present, have a five year 
supply of immediately available housing land and thus development plan policies 
relating to the supply of housing are ‘out of date’ in NPPF terms. 
 

43. Policy L1 of the Trafford Core Strategy seeks to release sufficient land to 
accommodate 12,210 new dwellings (net of clearance) over the plan period up to 
2026. Regular monitoring has revealed that the rate of building is failing to meet the 
housing land target and the latest monitoring suggests that the Council’s supply is in 
the region of only 2.4 years. Therefore, there exists a significant need to not only 
meet the level of housing land supply identified within Policy L1 of the Core Strategy, 
but also to make up for a recent shortfall in housing completions. 

 
44. Policy L2 of the Core Strategy indicates that all new residential proposals will be 

assessed for the contribution that would be made to meeting the Borough’s housing 
needs. The site is identified for housing within Trafford’s SHLAA (Strategic Housing 
Land Availability Assessment) and the Draft Trafford Land Allocations Plan. 

 
Housing Type and Mix 
 
45. Policy L2 indicates that the proposed mix of dwelling types and sizes should 

contribute to meeting the housing needs of the Borough as set out in the Council’s 
Housing Strategy and Housing Market Assessment.  Policy L2 as a whole is 
generally consistent with the NPPF however references to housing numbers and 
housing land supply are out of date and less weight should be afforded to Policy 
L2.5.   
 

46. The 367 no. dwellings proposed are made up of the following dwelling sizes: 
 

175 no. One bed units 
143 no.  Two bed units 
49 no. Three bed units 

 
47. These units are designed as a mix of apartments and ‘townhouses’ although they 

are all situated within the 5 blocks of development.  
 
48. Policy L2.4 of the Core Strategy sets out a target split of 70:30; small:large (3+ 

beds). While the proposed development has a greater proportion of one and two bed 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 19



 

 
 

units than the target split, the Council’s Housing Strategy and Growth Manager has 
confirmed that this is acceptable in the Stretford / Old Trafford area and notes that 
the developer is providing a significant proportion of  two and three bed units that 
can be occupied by families.  

    
Affordable housing 
  
49. The NPPF defines affordable housing as: housing for sale or rent for those whose 

needs are not met by the market (including housing that provides a subsidised route 
to home ownership and/or is for essential local workers). It includes affordable 
housing for rent (including affordable rented and social rented), starter homes, 
discount market sales housing, and other affordable routes of home ownership 
(including shared ownership and rent to buy). Paragraph 63 states that affordable 
homes should be sought within all new residential proposals for major development 
(i.e. developments for ten units or more). Paragraph 64 indicates that with major 
developments, at least 10% of the homes should be available for affordable home 
ownership as part of the overall affordable housing offer. Core Strategy Policy L2.3 
states that in order to meet the identified affordable housing need within the 
Borough, the Council will seek to achieve, through this policy, a target split of 60:40 
market:affordable housing.   

 
50. The site falls within a ‘Cold’ market location for the purposes of applying Policy L2 

and with the Borough now in ‘Good’ market conditions, this relates to a requirement 
for 10% of the proposed residential units provided to be delivered on an affordable 
basis. 

  
51. A Viability Appraisal was submitted with the application which initially did not offer 

any affordable housing. Following a robust review of the appraisal by the Local 
Planning Authority’s viability consultant and discussions with the applicant, 
agreement to deliver 10 per cent on-site affordable housing has been reached in 
accordance with policy.  

 
The Suitability and Sustainability of the Location at Present 

 
52. The housing policy objectives within the NPPF include providing new housing in 

suitable locations which offer a good range of community facilities and with good 
access to jobs, services and infrastructure, including public transport. With the Core 
Strategy (Policy L4) promoting development within the most sustainable locations. 
 

53. The site is considered to be in a highly sustainable location within the regional centre 
(inner areas) for transport and services including Trafford Bar Metrolink stop and 
nearby Seymour Grove Local Shopping Centre. There are also medical practices on 
Seymour Grove. Much of the surrounding area is already residential in character.  

 
54. The application site falls within the Old Trafford Priority Regeneration Area where 

Core Strategy Policy L3 is of relevance. This policy is generally consistent with the 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 20



 

 
 

NPPF however reference to housing numbers and housing land supply is out of 
date. Less weight should be afforded to this part of the policy. 

 
55. Within Regeneration Areas Policy L3 of the Core Strategy states that the Council will 

support appropriate development that will reduce inequalities, secure regeneration 
benefits and create truly sustainable communities. The proposal is high density, 
appropriate to its sustainable urban location and in accordance with the revised 
NPPF and Revised Draft GMSF (GM- H 4) in making the best use of brownfield 
sites. Additionally, the proposal would provide a mixture of housing types (L2) and 
contribute to meeting the housing needs in the area.  

 
Conclusion on Residential Development 
 
56. Whilst the Council’s housing supply policies are considered to be out-of-date in that 

it cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites, the scheme 
achieves many of the aspirations which the policies seek to deliver. Specifically, the 
proposal contributes towards meeting the Council’s housing land targets and 
housing needs identified in Core Strategy Policies L1 and L2 in that the scheme will 
deliver 367 no. new residential units on a brownfield site in a sustainable location 
within the urban area. It is also considered to be acceptable in relation to Policies 
L1.7 and L1.8, in that it helps towards meeting the wider Strategic and Place 
Objectives of the Core Strategy. The absence of a continuing supply of housing land 
has significant consequences in terms of the Council's ability to contribute towards 
the Government's aim of boosting significantly the supply of housing. Significant 
weight should therefore be afforded in the determination of this planning application 
to the scheme’s contribution to addressing the identified housing shortfall, and 
meeting the Government's objective of securing a better balance between housing 
demand and supply. 

 
Conclusion on Principle of Development 

 
57. For the foregoing reasons it is considered that in principle the proposed 

redevelopment of the site for housing is acceptable. However the following issues 
still need to be considered in detail: design and the impact on the character and 
appearance of the site and surrounding area, highways impacts, residential amenity 
impacts and ecology. These issues and others are considered in more detail in the 
following sections of the report.  

 
DESIGN  

 
58. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states: The creation of high quality buildings and places 

is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to 
live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 21



 

 
 

59. Paragraph 130 urges local planning authorities to refuse development of poor design 
that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of 
an area and the way it functions.  It continues in para 131 to state that when 
determining applications, great weight should be given to outstanding or innovative 
designs which promote high levels of sustainability, or help to raise the standards of 
design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in with the overall form and 
layout of their surroundings.  

 
60. The National Design Guide was published by the Government in October 2019 and 

sets out how well-designed buildings and places rely on a number of key 
components and the manner in which they are put together. These include layout, 
form, scale, appearance, landscape, materials and detailing. 

 
61. This states at para 120 that ‘Well-designed homes and buildings are functional, 

accessible and sustainable’ and goes on to state at para 122 that ‘Successful 
buildings also provide attractive, stimulating and positive places for all, whether for 
activity, interaction, retreat, or simply passing by.’ 

 
62. Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy reflects the importance of design quality to 

the Borough’s built environment and states: In relation to matters of design, 
development must: be appropriate in its context; make best use of opportunities to 
improve the character and quality of an area; enhance the street scene or character 
of the area by appropriately addressing scale, density, height, massing, layout, 
elevation treatment, materials, hard and soft landscaping works, boundary 
treatment; and, make appropriate provision for open space, where appropriate, in 
accordance with Policy R5 of this Plan. 

 
63. Policy L7 ‘Design’ is considered to be compliant with the NPPF and therefore up to 

date for the purposes of determining this application as it comprises the local 
expression of the NPPF’s emphasis on good design and, together with associated 
SPDs, the Borough’s design code. 

 
64. The application site sits within a mixed commercial, industrial and residential 

context. The scale of the surrounding buildings and sites also varies significantly 
ranging from areas of extensive low density built development such as the Metrolink 
site to the west, a substantial industrial building to the south, tower block apartments 
such as Grove House to low level suburban type residential houses on Lime Grove 
to the south and also at the junction of Elsinore Road and Skerton Road. This 
provides a mixed setting for the development. 

 
65. Changes have been made through the consideration of the application, most notably 

the reduction in Block B from 11, 9 and 7 storeys to 10, 8 and 6 storeys and the 
removal of gates at the site accesses to ensure free movement through the 
development and integration into the wider community.  

 
Design Intent 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 22



 

 
 

 

66. The supporting documentation in the Design and Access and Planning Statements 
sets out how the development has evolved through a detailed analysis of the site 
and local context and careful consideration of form and function. 
 

67. The site is not located within the proposed ‘Civic Quarter’ but is adjacent to it. The 
architect has therefore stated that in order to align with the future development of the 
area, the proposed development seeks to respect the design principles and 
character laid out in the Draft Civic Quarter Area Action Plan. This includes the need 
for high quality public realm, creation of distinctive neighbourhoods and the need for 
housing provision for a growing community located close to main transport nodes. 

 
68. Consideration of the history of the site and surroundings has influenced the design 

approach for the development. Until the 1920’s the application site was occupied by 
the Northern Lawn Tennis Ground and the vision for the development seeks to 
incorporate an element of this history through the proposed ‘clubhouse’ structure in 
the centre of the site. Since that time the site has been occupied by buildings 
associated with mainly industrial uses. The Design and Access Statement also 
refers to the ‘Royal Streets’ which historically ran perpendicular to Talbot Road and 
were lined with a variety of different, large semi-detached Victorian villas. The 
proposed development seeks to re-introduce that idea of the ‘Royal Streets’ as part 
of the layout, in the southern half of the site with Blocks C, D and E. The references 
to the history of the local area are considered to be a welcome addition to the design 
approach.   

 
69. The accommodation offering at the site aims to attract an array of occupiers at 

different stages in their life including graduate students, young professionals and 
families. Apartments of various sizes are located on each floor so as to encourage 
mixed communities. In this way the design of the development seeks to create a 
mixed group of occupiers who share amenity spaces to create a sense of 
community. 

 
Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment  
 
70. A Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (TVIA) which considers in detail the 

impact of the proposed development with respect to its ‘Townscape’ and ‘Visual’ 
effects. ‘Townscape effects’ relate to the impact on the physical characteristics or 
components of the environment which together form the character of that 
townscape. ‘Visual effects’ relate to impacts on individuals whose views of that 
townscape could change as a result of the proposed development. 
 

71. The TVIA considers a set area of 1km radius from the proposed development site in 
order to establish the spatial parameters of the appraisal and identify any potential 
townscape and visual effects around the application site. 33 no. representative 
baseline viewpoints have been selected and a number of photomontages have also 
been prepared comprising a combination of wireline images and massing model 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 23



 

 
 

images. Although not 'verified views', these images are considered to provide an 
accurate representation of the scale, massing and detailing of the proposed 
development within the local context, and particularly in respect of the setting of a 
range of listed buildings and local, non-designated heritage assets. 

 
Townscape Effects 
 
72. A detailed appraisal of the townscape effects from various character areas and 

features such as designated heritage assets and public rights of way has been 
provided. The assessment concludes that in terms of townscape character and 
features, the proposals would entail the redevelopment of the industrial site and the 
removal of detracting elements including remnants of industrial built form, piles of 
rubble associated with the demolition process, and metal palisade fencing to the site 
boundaries, and the replacement of these elements with a well-considered, 
architecturally ambitious development, utilising high-quality materials with 
appropriate planting to frontages and the introduction of a human-scale streetscape. 
The appraisal states that the development would result in an overall improvement to 
the local townscape and identifies some Neutral, Negligible, Minor (beneficial) and 
Moderate (beneficial) impacts as a result of the development.  
 

73. A minor adverse impact is predicted on the setting of Old Trafford Bowling Club and 
Green. The sensitivity of the setting of this receptor is considered to be Medium. The 
overall magnitude of effect is considered to be small (adverse) resulting in an overall 
minor (adverse) significance of effect. This is due to the distance to the development 
site and therefore the scale of the proposals would also constitute an increase in 
built form in these views, thus resulting in an overall significance of minor (adverse). 
This impact is not deemed to be of such significance to render the development 
unacceptable in this respect. A full assessment of the impact of the development on 
heritage assets is contained elsewhere in this report.  

 
Visual Effects 
 
74. A detailed appraisal of the visual effects has also been provided from the 33 

viewpoints identified.  
 

75. The assessments state that in terms of visual receptors, the proposed 
redevelopment of the site would give rise to a range of Neutral, Negligible, Minor 
(adverse) and Minor (beneficial) impacts. These impacts vary depending on the 
sensitivity of the receptor, the nature and proximity of their previous and existing 
views into and over the appraisal site, and the nature and proximity of the proposed 
development.  

 
76. The relativity flat topography of the land is such that taller elements of the scheme 

will be visible from certain viewpoints however the proposed development is 
considered to be in keeping with the context of the wider area in terms of the 
maximum heights proposed. The TVIA accepts that there will be changes in views 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 24



 

 
 

from throughout the study area, however the visual effects identified are not 
considered to be of a level to cause an unacceptable degree of harm, and in the 
majority of instances are likely to be neutral, negligible or beneficial. 

 
77. In view of the assessments undertaken, the proposed development is not 

considered to result in any unacceptable townscape or visual effects. 
 
Scale, Form and Layout  
 
78. The application proposes a mix of one, two and three bedroom apartments, 

arranged in 5 blocks and creating internal streets between the blocks. Where 
reference is made to ‘townhouses’ this is in terms of their external appearance as 
two storey through the use of materials and detailing which results in them  
appearing visually different to the rest of the apartment block, rather than because 
they are physically separated from the rest of the block. These townhouses also 
have dedicated curtilage areas forming small gardens with a parking space.  
 

79. The urban grain of the areas around the site is fragmented, with buildings of different 
heights and massing. As a response to this the development has been designed to 
comprise a number of blocks with varied height and massing.  

 
80. Of the five blocks three are located in the southern half of the site (Blocks C, D and 

E) and are parallel to one another forming two internal streets within the site. Block E 
fronts Skerton Road to the east and Block C fronts the access road to the CSM site 
on the western side with the third (Block D) situated in between the two.  

 
81. The remaining two blocks are interconnected at ground level and at a 45 degree 

angle in relation to one another. One block fronts Elsinore Road to the north (Block 
A), the other fronts Skerton Road to the east (Block B). 

 
82. The heights of the various blocks range from 6 storeys to 10 storeys with a 

maximum height at the top of Block B of 31.5 metres. The three blocks in the 
southern half of the site (Block C, D and E) are 6 and 7 storeys high with the 6 
storey block (E) fronting Skerton Road and the two 7 storey blocks behind.  

 
83. Block A which fronts Elsinore Road is 7 storeys high and is linked to Block B at 

ground level. At the junction of Elsinore Road and Skerton Road, Block B forms a 6 
storey corner feature. Block B then continues along Skerton Road stepping up from 
the 6 storeys at the corner to 8 and 10 storeys.  

 
84. A floor of the Block B was removed during consideration of the application as there 

were initial concerns about the 7, 9 and 11 storey height of Block B which was 
considered too high for the site. However the amended heights of 6, 8 and 10 
storeys, particularly in view of their stepped appearance, are considered appropriate 
to the setting. Buildings of this height and taller can be seen in the local area and it is 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 25



 

 
 

considered that this appropriately balances the impact on the streetscene with the 
need to provide a high density development in this sustainable location.  

 
85. Two main entrances are provided to the site: one towards the centre of the site on 

Skerton Street, and another on Elsinore Street towards the north-west of the site. 
These provide access for vehicles and pedestrians and form a thoroughfare through 
the site off which the two parallel streets formed by the blocks in the southern half of 
the site branch off resulting in good connectivity across and through the site. It is 
considered that the main site access and focus for activity would be between Blocks 
B and E on Skerton Road. This access provides a sense of arrival and there is a 
clear visual link from that point through the site. Vehicular access to the CSM Bakery 
Solutions site would be retained down the western edge of the site.  

 
86. The larger blocks, Block A and B front onto Skerton Road and Elsinore Road. The 

layout has been designed to provide a strongly defined edge to the site.  The smaller 
‘villa’ blocks are situated towards the southern end of the site and step down 
towards the two storey residential houses which characterise the area beyond the 
CSM bakery building. This results in the creation of streets within the development 
and the layout is clearly legible with structured view lines across the site.  

 
87. The ‘townhouses’ are located at ground level, fronting the adjacent roads and this is 

considered to integrate the development into the wider streetscene. The townhouses 
have their own defensible space in the form of front gardens, paths and parking 
spaces and all have access to their own front door at ground floor from the ‘street’. 
All of the blocks are ‘broken’ at first floor level to give a more domestic scale at street 
level. These active frontages contribute to the streetscene and wider area and give 
the development a sense of place rather than being insular.  

 
88. Entrance lobbies for upper floor flats are located on prominent corners so as to 

activate the site and its internal walkways.  The ground floor of the blocks house bin 
stores, plant space and bicycle storage and this ensures that clutter is kept away 
from the street frontages.  

 
89. To the rear of Block A the proposal includes what is referred to as a ‘clubhouse’ 

which is a flexible amenity space which can be used for sports or as a meeting 
space for residential groups. The inclusion of this space is driven by the idea of 
reintroducing a club back into the site. The ‘New Lawn Club’ is intended to be a 
multi-functional space which could be used by the residents as a place to meet and 
gather in the same way people would have congregated at the Lawn Tennis club in 
the 1870’s. The club or pavilion would be centred at the heart of the development 
and sits adjacent to the landscaped external areas of hard and soft landscaping to 
promote activity and health as well as providing an extra place to socialise and 
create a sense of community. The pavilion would have a covered colonnade around 
its exterior creating a boundary between the open and sheltered spaces. The 
maintenance and management of this space including the club house would be 
secured by way of condition. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 26



 

 
 

 
90. The larger areas of parking for the development are located away from the main 

road frontages so that the parking and hardstanding does not dominate the external 
streetscene. Internally these areas are broken up into smaller sections across the 
site rather than having one large area of parking and landscaping is also used to 
soften the appearance.  

 
91. The proposed buildings and open spaces are considered to effectively address both 

the streets within the development and adjacent external roads. Within the site the 
clear layout of the streets and the design of the building elevations provide active 
frontages onto the internal and external streets which allows for natural surveillance. 

 
92. The application is considered to successfully resolve the high density nature of the 

development with the need to respect the wider context of the site and create a 
sense of domestic scale. In combination, the clear street lines, active frontages, 
mixed unit sizes and the use of communal open space is considered to result in a 
secure and accessible development that seeks to create a sense of community. The 
development also proposes the reinstatement of the street edges and connectivity to 
the wider area in a manner that integrates and animates the existing streetscene 
with the proposed development in a positive manner.   

 
External Appearance  
 
93. The Design and Access Statement sets out how the architect has sought to use 

classic design principles, tying together ‘base and top’ of blocks and manipulating 
the middle through the use of detail and articulation.  
 

94. The larger blocks have been articulated by stepping the floorplates and using 
reveals and extrusions to manipulate the taller massing. Human scale is introduced 
at ground level through the ‘townhouse’ typology, allowing the block to both address 
the streetscape and create a distinctive feature on the local skyline. The design uses 
the idea of the townhouses to embed the scheme into the street at ground level 
through the use of bay windows, corner entrances and 2 storey extrusion to visually 
separate the townhouse units from the upper floors.  The incorporation of elements 
such as the canted bays from nearby Victoria villas references the historic character 
of the area and also results in a pronounced vertical emphasis. 

 
95. The upper floors are treated with the same principles of materiality but with less 

intricate detailing as the lower ground floors. Openable windows and Juliet balconies 
animate the facades and the use of materials helps break down the visual mass of 
the blocks. This also creates a relationship between the different blocks by unifying 
them through the use of materials.  

 
96. A number of the nearby heritage assets have a high level of architectural integrity 

and rich detailing. The repeating rhythm of the windows and articulation of the 
openings with headers and cornices is also an element which is present in the local 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 27



 

 
 

residential architecture.  Incorporating these details into the elevation reflects the 
wider context of the area.  

 
97. Amendments have been made to the roofline of some of the blocks to produce a 

more distinctive silhouette and elegance.  This has assisted in reducing the impact 
of formerly large expanses of flat roof to Block B which was initially a concern and 
has created a more interesting roofline through the inclusion of bay detailing and 
recesses preventing the rooflines appear unrelenting and plain. Where prominent 
blank elevations were included in the initial proposals these have been amended 
during the consideration of the application to include windows and additional 
detailing. The floor plans also diminishes in size as the storeys increase and this 
also helps to create some interest.    

 
98. The architect’s intention when designing the frontage of the Clubhouse was for it to 

be clearly identified as a separate function to the residential apartments. A pavilion 
typology to relate back to the site’s history as a tennis club is proposed. The strong 
graphical lines and form of a tennis ball were reinterpreted to be represented in the 
frontage to the pavilion with the circular form translated over a number of layers. The 
top curve forms the outline for the covered walkway and the lower curve being part 
of the feature manifestation to the set-back glazing. The two only align when the 
elevation is viewed head on. 

 
99. The Design and Access Statement indicates that a balanced palette of materials 

would be used that reflects the historic elements of the site whilst also bringing about 
a contemporary variation to the development.  A material palette of clay-based and 
red/pink/brown materials is proposed and while the material tone would vary this 
would be in a manner that is complementary across the site.  Brick, masonry and 
tiled elements would form the primary facing materials but options for terracotta, 
glazed brick or ppc aluminium to match will also be considered. The materials will 
seek to provide a sense of robustness and longevity.  

 
100. The proposed materiality is welcomed and takes its cue from the local vernacular 

as well as the assessment in the Civic Quarter AAP. There are local variations in the 
red brick used so there is some scope to create interest, however blue, grey, brown 
and buff bricks would not be considered appropriate. A materials condition is 
recommended to ensure the use of appropriate, quality materials. 

 
101. The design of the buildings has a similar theme but utilises minor variations to 

suit particular blocks. It is considered that the design approach seeks to draw on 
various characteristics of local buildings - their scale, form and use of materials, 
while introducing elements of innovation in the external appearance of the buildings 
ensuring that the apartment blocks do not appear standardised and bland.  

 
Landscaping and Public Realm 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 28



 

 
 

102. The landscaping scheme includes the creation of residential-scale street scenes 
along Skerton Road and Elsinore Road through the inclusion of small front gardens 
and driveways to the ground floor townhouses and semi-private defensible space to 
ground floor apartments. 
 

103. Shared space roads with pedestrian priority extend through the site from east to 
northwest and the landscape layout seeks to create easy and legible pedestrian 
links by encouraging low speeds and prioritising pedestrian movements through the 
site. The hard landscaping plans indicate the use of high quality paving blocks for 
the shared surface areas and limiting the use of tarmac across the site which is 
welcomed.  

 
104. A ‘spill out area’ is proposed immediately to the south of the Pavilion clubhouse 

and in addition to this a mainly grassed amenity space is formed in the courtyard 
area providing a central point for the community. The public realm is proposed to 
include street furniture such as benches and cube seats and also informal play 
elements such as Artform Rocks which are designed to looks like an iceberg that 
can be used as a seat or an object for creative playing and HopOp’s which are 
cylindrical forms of variable sizes to encourage people to sit, rest, play and jump. 

 
105. Landscape buffers of tree and shrub planting are combined with fencing to the 

southern and western external boundaries. Across the site it is proposed to 
incorporate tree planting, ornamental hedgerow planting, semi-native shrub planting, 
mixed ornamental and native shrub/herbaceous planting, grassed areas and 
green/brown roofs. The use of native and wildlife-friendly species in the soft 
landscaping plans is proposed to enhance on site biodiversity and green / brown 
roofs, bug hotels and bat and bird boxes are also proposed to form part of the 
landscape and increase biodiversity.  

 
106. It is considered that the application successfully utilises a range of habitats in 

combination with tree planting, across flexible, well-connected spaces that provide 
an opportunity for a wide range of activities within the external areas. This would 
result in high-quality public and semi-private areas that should improve the local 
streetscape as well as creating attractive amenity areas within the development for 
the future residents.  

 
107. It is considered that subject to appropriate conditions to secure the landscaping 

proposed and its long term maintenance that the development will incorporate good 
levels of native tree, hedge and shrub planting which will contribute to the visual 
amenity of the development and wider streetscene.  

 
Sustainability and Energy Efficiency 
 
108. Core Strategy Policy L5 states that ‘New development should ……..maximise its 

sustainability through improved environmental performance of buildings, lower 
carbon emissions and renewable or decentralised energy generation.’ While it is 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 29



 

 
 

noted that Policy L5 is out of date in relation to NPPF guidance on Climate Change it 
is considered that the environmental efficiencies that the scheme seeks to achieve is 
in accordance with the general thrust of the NPPF guidance. 
 

109. The application is supported by an Energy Statement and this sets out that the 
on-going de-carbonisation of the national grid in effect results, due to this 
development being ‘all electric’, in a large portion of the sites demand being met 
from centralised renewable energy sources.  

 
110. The energy assessment has established an annual energy usage of 

1,568,007kWh. The method of demonstrating that the design incorporates energy 
efficiency measures is by applying passive principles and incorporating a ‘fabric-first’ 
approach to achieve a highly-efficient thermal envelope and reduce primary energy 
requirements. The application of passive principles to maximise thermal efficiency 
means that electric heating is a valid and cost-effective proposal and will meet the 
requirements of Building Regulations with some Photovoltaic contribution.  

 
111. Water-efficient fittings will help to reduce electrical loads for water heating. The 

ventilation strategy includes a mix of openable windows and mechanical ventilation 
with heat recovery (MVHR). MVHR units will recover heat from air extracted from 
wet areas (bathrooms/kitchens) at approximately 94% efficiency, further contributing 
to reduced space heating demand. Electrical demand for lighting will be minimised 
using energy efficient lighting throughout all areas. The hot water cylinders will be 
insulated with low standing losses.  

 
112. The design is currently progressing based on achieving a consumption of 125 

l/p/d as required by Part G of the Building Regulations.  
 

The viable options for further consideration are summarised as: 
  

- centralised direct or indirect air source heat pumps  

- centralised solar thermal  

- Solar PV  

- centralised CHP  

 
113. All 4 options above are viable depending on factors not at this design stage fully 

defined including; ownership of properties both present and future, grid electrical 
power availability and relative cost and the developer’s sustainability aspirations.  
 

114. Each house with dedicated parking would have the provision of an electric 
vehicle (EV) charge point (minimum 7kWh) and 1 charge point (minimum 7kWH) per 
10 car parking spaces would also be provided for unallocated car parking. This 
potential demand could be significantly met from the PV output in summer months. 

 
115. The site is in a sustainable location which will help to reduce its impact on the 

environment. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 30



 

 
 

 
116. The sustainable technology options are not final at this stage given that there will 

be further detailed design development including consideration of Low and Zero 
Carbon Technologies. However the agent for the application has confirmed their 
agreement to a condition requiring a strategy for energy efficiency and low/zero 
carbon technologies to be submitted prior to above ground works commencing 
which demonstrates how carbon emissions of at least 30% below building 
regulations target will be achieved. As a result the development is considered to be 
compliant with the provisions of Policy L5 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF.   

 
Crime Prevention and Security 

 
117. The application was accompanied by a Crime Impact Statement prepared by 

Greater Manchester Police, Design for Security which states that the layout of the 
proposed scheme is acceptable but that further consideration should be given to the 
detail of the secure cycle store provision, access control for entrance lobbies and 
post and delivery arrangements for the apartment blocks. In addition the report 
states that the development should be built to Secured by Design standards. GMP 
Design for Security recommend a condition is attached requiring the physical 
specifications set out in the report to be implemented as part of the development and 
the condition is recommended accordingly.  

 
Accessibility 
 
118. Policy L7.5 of the Core Strategy states that development must be fully accessible 

and useable by all sections of the community.  
 

119. The supporting statement sets out that the design and layout of the proposals 
have been developed from first principles with an inclusive approach to allow easy 
and safe and secure access throughout the majority of the building and roof 
terraces. 

 
120. Access to all residential entrances will be via level thresholds and all lift lobbies 

are 1800mm wide. All apartments are fully DDA accessible to living areas, kitchens, 
main bedrooms and main bathrooms.  All apartments are capable of being fully 
compliant to DDA requirements and a dedicated number of such apartments will be 
agreed at building regulation approval stage. In addition there are five dedicated 
disabled spaces, all located to be a short distance to the main residential entrances. 

 
Fire Safety 
 
121. The GM Fire Authority have provided advice on their standard requirements for 

fire service access and this has been provided to the agent for the application. 
Although much of the detail is primarily a matter for the Building Regulations, the 
agent for the application has confirmed that in relation to fire safety, the proposed 
development has been designed with the guidance of an independent Fire 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 31



 

 
 

Consultant. They have undertaken a full design review of the scheme prior to 
submission and the building will be designed in accordance with BS 9991:2015 and 
other relevant British Standards. 

 
Conclusion on Design  

 
122. Good quality design is an integral part of sustainable development.  The NPPF 

and PPG including the National Design Guide recognise that design quality matters 
and that the planning process should be used to drive up standards across all forms 
of development. 
 

123. It is considered that the proposed development seeks to incorporate references 
to the history of the area and re-interpret them in a modern way. The scheme would 
deliver a well-conceived, secure, efficient development which uses street layout, 
landscaping and high quality materials and detailing to create a distinct sense of 
place. It is therefore concluded that development would meet the requirements of 
Policies L5 and L7 and the NPPF. In order to ensure that the design intent and 
quality of the external appearance of the buildings is retained it is recommended that 
through the use of a legal agreement the current architects are retained in the role of 
design certifier throughout the construction period. The applicant has agreed to this 
requirement. 
 

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY  
 
124. In addition to ensuring that developments are designed to be visually attractive 

Para 127 of the NPPF advises that planning decisions should create places that 
provide a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 
 

125. Policy L7.3 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that development must not 
prejudice the amenity of future occupants of the development and/or occupants of 
adjacent properties by reason of overbearing, overshadowing, overlooking, visual 
intrusion, noise and/or disturbance, odour or in any other way. As previously stated, 
L7 is considered to be up to date for decision making purposes and full weight can 
be attached to it. 

 
126. SPG1 New Residential Development sets out the guidelines that relate to all 

forms of new residential development. With regards to privacy, the Council’s 
Guidelines states that for new two storey dwellings, that the minimum distance 
between dwellings which have major facing windows is 21 metres across public 
highways and 27 metres across private gardens. The SPG states that ‘Where three 
storey dwellings (houses or flats) are proposed, the minimum distances are 
increased by 3 metres over the above figures and for four or more storeys, the 
figures as for 3 storeys apply. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 32



 

 
 

127. With regard to overshadowing SPG1 states that ‘In situations where 
overshadowing is likely with a main elevation facing a two storey blank gable then a 
minimum distance of 15 m should normally be provided.’ The SPG states that 
‘Distances to rear garden boundaries from main windows should be at least 10.5 m 
for 2 storey houses and 13.5 m for 2 storey flats or houses or flats with 3 or more 
storeys.  

 
128. A range of issues have been considered under the broad topic of residential 

amenity in this case.  All issues are considered in turn below, and with the impacts 
on both existing and prospective residents discussed.      

 
Daylight and Sunlight 
 
129. The application is accompanied by a Daylight and Sunlight Amenity Impact 

Assessment Report by Gray Scanlan Hill which has sought to establish the extent of 
any sunlight and daylight loss on surrounding properties, and whether any 
overshadowing would occur. An Internal Daylight and Sunlight Amenity Report has 
also been submitted to evaluate daylight and sunlight conditions for the proposed 
residential units.  
 

130. Daylight is the level of diffuse natural light from the sky that enters a building to 
provide satisfactory illumination of internal accommodation between sunrise and 
sunset.  Sunlight refers to direct sunshine and is much brighter than ambient 
daylight. A key difference is that sunlight is highly dependent on orientation whereas 
this has no effect on daylight. Overshadowing is a consequence of the loss of 
daylight and sunlight and can occur when buildings are in close proximity relative to 
their size.  

 
131. The Gray Scanlan Hill Report states that their appraisal is based on the 

provisions of the Building Research Establishment (BRE) report 'Site layout planning 
for daylight and sunlight - A guide to good practice'.  

 
132. The report refers to two measures to consider the potential for loss of daylight 

Vertical Sky Component (VSC) and No-Sky Line (NSL).  Sunlight is measured as 
Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH).  Each of these is explored in further detail 
below.  

 
133. Obstructions, such as new development, can limit access to the light from the 

sky. The VSC method measures the amount of visible sky that can be seen from the 
centre of an existing window and compares it to the amount of sky that would still be 
capable of being seen from that same position following the erection of a new 
building.  The BRE Report sets out at 2.2.21 that when assessing the VSC of 
existing developments, if the VSC, measured at the centre of an existing main 
window with the new development in place, is less than 27% and less than 0.8 times 
its former value, then the diffuse daylighting of the existing building may be 
adversely affected. In this regard, an aspirational target of 27% VSC is established 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 33



 

 
 

for each window. However, if a window already receives less than 27% VSC, then a 
reduction in the existing value of up to 20% (i.e. 0.8 x) is accepted as permissible on 
the basis that such a reduction is unlikely to be noticed by the room’s occupants. If 
the levels are below this then the occupants of the existing building will notice the 
reduction in the amount of skylight and the affected area may feel gloomier.  This is 
also stated in the submitted Gray Scalan Hill Report although they stress that should 
a window’s VSC value be reduced by more than 20%, this does not mean that the 
room will ordinarily be left with inadequate levels of daylight; it simply means that the 
reduction in light will be more noticeable to the occupants.  
 

134. The BRE Guidance confirms that the daylight distribution of an existing building 
can be found by plotting the No Sky Line (“NSL”) for each main room, which would 
include living rooms, dining rooms and kitchens (bedrooms are considered less 
important). NSL is a measure of daylight distribution within an existing building/room.  

 
135. When comparing the NSL for existing buildings against that proposed following 

development, BRE guidelines state that if the no-sky line moves so that the area of 
the existing room which does receive direct skylight is reduced by 20% (or to less 
than 0.8 times its former value), then this will be noticeable to the occupants, and 
more of the room will appear poorly lit..  

 
136. Annual Probability of Sunlight Hours (APSH) is a measure of sunlight that a given 

window may expect over a year period.  When assessing the impact of APSH in 
existing developments, BRE guidelines state at 3.2.11 that if a living room of an 
existing dwelling has a main window facing within 90 degree of due south, and any 
part of a new development subtends an angle of more than 25 degrees to the 
horizontal measured from the centre of the window, in a vertical section 
perpendicular to the window, then the sunlighting of the existing dwelling may be 
adversely affected. As a result the room may appear colder and less pleasant. 

 
137. This will be the case if the centre of the window receives less than 25% of APSH 

or less than 5% of APSH between 21st September and 21st March (acknowledged as 
the “winter months”) and receives less than 20% or 0.8 times its former sunlight 
hours during either period. 

 
138. The BRE guidelines suggest that APSH need only be assessed for windows 

serving main living rooms and conservatories if they have a room facing within 90 
degrees of due south.  

 
139. In relation to sunlight to garden areas, the BRE document states at 3.3.17 that for 

a garden to appear adequately sunlit throughout the year at least half of the garden 
should receive at least two hours of sunlight on March 21st. If, as a result of new 
development an existing garden or amenity area does not meet the above, and the 
area which can receive two hours of sun on 21 March is less than 0.8 times its 
former value, then the loss of sunlight is likely to be noticeable”. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 34



 

 
 

Impact on existing properties outside the site 
 
140. Existing properties should be assessed against the BRE guidelines for VSC, NSL 

and ASPH.  
 
141. The Gray Scalan Hill Report states that ‘It is clear from reading the BRE 

Guidance that it seeks to consider daylight and sunlight amenity for neighbouring 
buildings of residential use; it emphasises the availability of daylight and sunlight to 
living rooms, and daylight to bedrooms and family kitchens. For the purposes of this 
report, certain windows in the following neighbouring buildings have been identified 
as sensitive or key receptors: 

 
- 4-30 Seymour Grove; 
- 3-5 Skerton Road; 
- Grove House, 35 Skerton Road; and 
- 18-58 Lime Grove.’ 

 
 
Summary of the Results of the Assessments  
 
Daylight Amenity Impact 
 
142. The revised massing of the proposed development will not have a significant 

impact on the daylight amenity of 18-58 Lime Grove. These buildings are too far 
removed from the site to be materially impacted by the massing of the proposed 
development, and this has been demonstrated with reference to the BRE’s 25° block 
spacing test. 
 

143. The revised massing of the proposed development will also have non-significant 
impact on the daylight amenity of 3-5 Skerton Road, the residential rooms of 4-30 
Seymour and Grove House. Despite some minor measured reductions in baseline 
VSC levels, all windows (100%) of these buildings would continue to achieve the 
BRE’s 27% VSC target or experience a reduction in VSC of less than the 20% 
reduction that is accepted by the BRE on the grounds that it would not be noticed by 
the room occupants. Further, all rooms (100%) appraised in these neighbouring 
buildings will also satisfy the BRE’s NSL test, with the majority of rooms 
experiencing no reduction in the area / extent to which direct sky light is currently 
distributed within the room. Where rooms do experience an NSL reduction, this is by 
significantly less than the 20% reduction that is accepted by the BRE and would not 
be noticeable to the room occupants. 

 
Sunlight Amenity Impact 
 
144. The revised massing of the proposed development will have an appropriate and 

nonsignificant impact on the sunlight amenity of 3-5 Skerton Road and Grove 
House. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 35



 

 
 

145. All rooms (100%) of the 103 appraised within these two buildings would continue 
to achieve the 5% winter and 25% annual APSH targets, or experience reductions in 
existing APSH values of no more than the 20% reduction that is accepted by the 
BRE, on the grounds that it would not be noticed by the room occupants. 
 

146. The high majority of habitable rooms (35 rooms or 90%) within 4-30 Seymour 
Grove would continue to achieve the 5% winter and 25% annual APSH targets, or 
experience reductions in existing APSH values of no more than the 20% reduction 
that is accepted by the BRE, on the grounds that it would not be noticed by the room 
occupants. 

 
147. Of the 39 habitable rooms appraised, 4 rooms (10%) would achieve an Annual 

APSH value in excess of the BRE’s target. The Winter APSH of these rooms would 
be 3%, below the BRE’s aspirational target of 5%. These rooms are, however, 
inherently limited in their capacity to receive winter sunlight due to their recessed 
position between projecting parts of the terrace. The inherent limitation on these 
windows’ capacity to receive sunlight is evidenced by the low Baseline APSH results 
in that three of these rooms do not achieve the Winter APSH target even in the 
baseline condition, meaning that even modest reductions to APSH values appear 
proportionally large, and greater than the 20% considered to be noticeable by the 
BRE. This effectively places an additional burden on neighbouring development 
sites and in real terms, these reductions in winter APSH are small. 

 
148. Given the high overall BRE compliance, the report concludes that the impact of 

the revised massing of the proposed development on neighbouring daylight and 
sunlight amenity is appropriate and non-significant. 

 
Sunlight to Open Spaces 
 
149. The proposed development would not have a significant adverse impact on the 

extent to which the external amenity spaces associated with 3-5 Skerton Road 
would receive 2 hours of direct sunlight on 21 March (spring equinox), and based on 
the BRE’s Tie in Sun test will continue to appear adequately sunlight throughout the 
year. 

 
Conclusion on daylight / sunlight impact on existing properties 
 
150. The results of the assessments indicate the following: 
 

 100% of windows achieve the BRE’s VSC target 
 100% of rooms pass the BRE’s NSL test 
 100% of rooms achieve the BRE’s Annual APSH target 
 97% of rooms achieve the BRE’s Winter APSH target 

 
151. There are four rooms (<3%) that do not achieve the Winter APSH target. All four 

are set within a recess – limiting their capacity for direct sunlight in Winter even with 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 36



 

 
 

no change to the Site. Of these, three do not achieve the Winter APSH target in the 
Baseline condition.  The remaining one does but only just (a Baseline result of 5% 
Winter APSH against a target of 5%).  

 
152. It is noted that the provisions of the BRE are guidance and should be applied 

flexibly. In addition both local and national policy advises an uplift in density for 
residential development in town and city centres, and notes that a flexible approach 
should be taken in applying guidance relating to daylight and sunlight in such areas 
of high density. Given the minor impacts identified in terms of the BRE’s Winter 
APSH target on the four rooms in the properties on Seymour Grove, and the 
baseline position for these properties, it is considered that on balance the impact of 
the development of the daylight and sunlight in relation to existing offsite properties 
is acceptable.  

 
Daylight and sunlight impacts on proposed units 
 
153. Residential units within proposed developments should be assessed against the 

BRE guidelines for Average Daylight Factor (ADF) and ASPH. 
 
Average Daylight Factor (ADF) 
 
154. To achieve a predominantly day lit appearance, it is suggested that the ADF of a 

room should be at least 2%. However, there are the minimum recommended ADF 
values for dwelling houses, based on proposed room uses as follows: 

- Bedrooms 1%. 
- Living rooms 1.5%. 
- Kitchens 2%. 

 
155. The submitted report has adopted the 1% target for bedrooms and the 1.5% 

target for Living / Kitchen / Dining rooms (“LKDs”). They consider that in contrast to 
low rise dwelling houses, high density apartment developments typically employ an 
arrangement whereby kitchen facilities are located to the rear of the (often deep 
plan) combined room, with the living room / lounge area positioned closest to the 
windows. This arrangement provides most daylight to the most occupied living room 
area and offers the greatest benefit to residents / occupants of the apartments. 
 

156. The BRE Guidance confirms that where a room is served by more than one 
window, the ADF should be calculated separately for each window and then 
summed / added together. The ADF is measured at an internal working plane, which 
for habitable room uses is required to be 850mm above internal finished floor level. 

 
Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH)  
 
157. The BRE Guidance confirms that in general, a dwelling which has a particular 

requirement for sunlight will appear reasonably sunlit provided that: 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 37



 

 
 

“At least one main window wall faces within 90° of due south” 
and 
“The centre of at least one window to a main living room can receive 25% of Annual 
Probable Sunlight Hours, including at least 5% of Annual Probable Sunlight Hours in 
the winter months between 21 September and 21 March”. 

 
158. Those rooms served by windows looking inwards towards the central courtyard 

areas of the proposed development (“the internal facing rooms”) are the focus of the 
analysis as the windows on the outers elevations of the development are not as 
sensitive given the predominantly low rise nature / massing of the surrounding 
environment and the broad spacing/height ratios between the Site and its 
surroundings. 

 
Daylight Results   
 

159. 474 individual bedrooms and LKDs have been appraised. 420 rooms (89%) were 
found to be fully BRE Guidance compliant. There are a further 40 rooms (8%) that 
were identified as within an acceptable tolerance of the BRE targets. 
 

160. There is a minority of 14 rooms (3%) that do not achieve the aspirational design 
guidance targets. These 14 rooms are LKDs. 11 of these achieve ADF values of 1% 
< 1.2%. Whilst these rooms fall outside of the ‘Acceptable Tolerance’ value of 1.2% 
ADF, in real terms many are very close to achieving the acceptable tolerance ADF 
values and qualitatively would experience similar daylight levels. The remaining 3 
LKDs, achieve ADF values of between 0.7% < 1% as set out below: 

 
·        R5/512 (0.7% ADF), 2nd floor;  
·        R5/513 (0.85% ADF), 3rd floor; and 
·        R5/514 (0.99% ADF), 4th floor 

 
161. These rooms are all in Block B and are served by a window set within an 

elevational recess which reduces the angles of daylight measurement as shown 
below.  

 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 38



 

 
 

 
162. It should be noted that while a value of 0.7 to 1% is lower than aspirational, it is 

not very poor (0- 0.5% could be considered to be very poor). It is also of note that 
ADF is an average across the room, which conceals some of the nuance as to how 
these rooms are daylit. The arrangement of living room and kitchen into a single, 
deep plan room is a common arrangement for apartments. The effect this has on 
ADF is that the average across the room is lowered, in some cases below the values 
in the BRE Guidance, by the kitchen at the back of the room which often has very 
limited access to / expectation of skylight in this fairly typical arrangement.  If 
notionally subdividing / separating the deep plan, combined room into its constituent 
parts, with the living room portion appraised as its own room served by the same 
windows, the living room portion is likely to be reasonably well daylit, even at lower 
floor levels. 

 

163. It is also of relevance that where there is a room that does not achieve the 
Acceptable Tolerance value in relation to daylight, it is just one room per apartment 
and not the whole flat. This is relevant to the overall living conditions for the 
occupants of the unit.  

 
Sunlight Results 
 
164. The proposed sunlight conditions of 189 individual LKDs that are served by 

windows that are generally facing west, south or east have been appraised. The 
LKDs served by a north facing window have not been technically appraised as they 
can have no realistic expectation of sunlight due to orientation. 
 

165. The east facing windows serving LKDs located in Block C and Block D are, in 
reality, oriented east-north-east. On the basis that these windows are in fact 
orientated greater than 90 degrees from due south they have a reduced expectation 
of direct sunlight. 

 
166. 116 LKDs (61% of all appraised) are BRE compliant. There are a further 27 

LKDs (14%) that are identified as within an acceptable tolerance of the BRE’s APSH 
targets.  

 
167. There are a further 9 LKDs (5%) that achieve either the Winter or the Annual 

APSH target. 

 
168. 37 LKDs (20% of the rooms appraised) do not achieve the design guidance 

targets. Of these 37 LKDs, 22 would achieve an Annual APSH that is within an 
acceptable tolerance of the BRE targets only (≥20% APSH), and not Winter APSH. 
Of these 37 LKDs, 26 are served by a window oriented more than 90 degrees from 
due south, and on that basis should have a reduced expectation of sunlight. 

 
Combined Results 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 39



 

 
 

169. Although not set out in the amenity report as there is no formal means of 
assessing a combination of daylight and sunlight factors in the BRE Guidelines, 
additional analysis has been carried out to identify how many rooms would not meet 
acceptable tolerance values for daylight and sunlight.   
 

170. In terms of daylight and sunlight to LKDs considered together, there is a total of 4 
rooms (LKDs) that do not achieve the Acceptable Tolerance values below for ADF 
(<1.2%), Winter APSH (<4%) and Annual APSH  (<20%). 

 
171. These 4 ‘rooms are in Block B (R7/511 and R8/512), Block C (R2/520) and Block 

D (R7/530). 

 
172. However all of these four rooms have ADF values of between 1% and 1.2% 

which, in qualitative terms, would not appear much different to a room that achieves 
a 1.2% ADF. It is therefore considered that daylight levels would be acceptable.  

 
173. These 4 rooms represent a small minority of the rooms appraised (less than 1% 

of the 474 rooms) and when outward facing habitable rooms are included, these 4 
rooms represent circa 0.4% of the 975 habitable rooms of the Proposed 
Development. 

 
174. Again, it is of relevance that these four rooms are in four different apartments and 

just one room per apartment has these values and not the whole flat.  

 
175. It is noted that the BRE guidance is based upon a low density suburban model 

and some flexibility should be applied given the nature of the proposed 
development. On the whole, the proposed development is a well-lit scheme. 

 
Conclusion on daylight / sunlight for the proposed units 
 
176. Paragraph 123 of the NPPF promotes, where appropriate, an uplift in density for 

residential development in town and city centres. It notes that a flexible approach 
should be taken in applying guidance relating to daylight and sunlight in such areas 
and it should be acknowledged that it is not unusual for apartments in such locations 
to receive lower levels of daylight and sunlight than might be experienced 
elsewhere. 
 

177. Although a detailed breakdown of the impacts on individual flats has been 
undertaken, collectively, it is considered by the Local Planning Authority that the vast 
majority of the proposed residents would benefit from good levels of daylight and 
sunlight and that no units would experience poor amenity levels. Overall this is a 
well-lit scheme and this is compliant with the advice set out in NPPF in relation to 
high density development.  

 
Overlooking 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 40



 

 
 

178. Whether a new development would impact negatively on existing residential 
properties through adverse overlooking is an important consideration. Where there is 
the potential for direct interlooking between proposed windows and those in adjacent 
residential properties or between proposed windows and areas of private amenity 
space, consideration must be given to the separation distances, angles and any 
proposed methods of screening or obscuration proposed in order to protect the 
privacy of occupiers of adjacent residential properties.  
 

179. The Council’s New Residential Development Planning Guidelines document 
(PG1) is of relevance in considering the distances necessary to maintain good 
standards of residential amenity. The guidance document does not include specific 
guidelines for tall buildings and is therefore of more limited use in relation to high 
density development, but it does state that for development of four or more storeys 
where there would be major facing windows, flats should retain a minimum distance 
of 24m across public highways and 30m across private gardens.   

 
180. The impacts of the development on the privacy of adjacent properties is 

considered in more detail in turn below.  
 
Impact on Existing Offsite Properties 
  
Northern Elevation 
 
181. Beyond the northernmost external elevation of the proposed development is 

Elsinore Road which adjoins the Metrolink line and associated land either side.  
 

182. The buildings beyond the Metrolink line and Talbot Road are largely in 
commercial use and in any event are a significant distance away from the site 
(approximately 54 metres) which is well in excess of the recommended guidelines 
set out in SPG1. Given the distances involved it is not considered that meaningful 
views from the development could be gained into any properties to the north of the 
site.   

 
Eastern Elevation 
 
183. The easternmost external elevations of the development would be opposite 

commercial and residential buildings on the eastern side of Skerton Road. 
 

184. There are four, two storey residential properties in a small block at the junction of 
Skerton Road and Elsinore Road. These properties have clear glazed main 
habitable room windows in the elevation facing the application site at ground and 
first floor level. There are strips of landscaping on the main road frontages but the 
main curtilage area associated with these properties is to their rear. The site layout 
of the proposed development is such that there would be no built development 
directly opposite the west facing elevation of the existing properties at the junction of 
Skerton Road and Elsinore Road. The nearest part of the proposed development 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 41



 

 
 

would be Block B which at the north-eastern corner would be 6 storeys in height. 
Views from the development would be oblique and minimum distances of 26 metres 
would be retained between the nearest part of the external elevations of the 
proposed development and these existing properties. Consequently it is not 
considered that the development would result in a material loss of privacy to the 
residential properties to the northeast of the site.  

 
185. Adjoining these existing residential properties to the south are the gated rear 

yard areas of Iceland, Superdrug and Worldwide Foods commercial units, which 
have their publicly accessible frontages on their eastern elevations. These buildings 
and yards in combination extend across the majority of the eastern side of Skerton 
Road opposite the development site. It is not considered that these commercial uses 
could reasonably expect levels of privacy that would be afforded to private 
residential properties.  

 
186. Grove House is a 9 storey former office building that has been converted and 

extended to form an apartment block. The northern half of the site of Grove House is 
opposite the south-easternmost block on the development (Block E) which is 6 
storeys at this point.  The distances between the front elevation of Grove House and 
the proposed development would be approximately 31 metres and is therefore in 
excess of the guidelines set out in SPG1. There is a communal landscaped area to 
the front of Grove House but this would be approximately 20 metres away from the 
nearest front elevations of Block E and it is not considered that the development 
would result in a material loss of privacy for the occupiers of Grove House.  

 

Southern Elevation 
 

187. The entire southern boundary of the site adjoins the existing CSM Bakery 
Solutions site. This is a substantial commercial building comprising industrial, 
warehouse and office buildings and silos and again it is not considered that these 
commercial uses could reasonably expect levels of privacy that would be afforded to 
private residential properties. 

 

Western Elevation 
 

188. The western site boundary adjoins a strip of tarmacked land which appears 
historically to have been used for parking. Beyond this is a landscaped strip which 
runs adjacent to the Metrolink Tram Line, beyond which is the Metrolink Trafford 
Depot and grounds and further west the British Gas building and car park. Due to 
the absence of residential properties adjacent to the western boundary of the site 
and the distances involved it is not considered that there would be any offsite privacy 
concerns to the west of the site.   
 

189. In view of the nature of the relationships with existing offsite properties as set out 
above it is not considered that the development would result in unacceptable 
overlooking or loss of privacy to existing residents. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 42



 

 
 

Privacy levels for the Proposed Units  
 
190. Given the relationships between the proposed development and adjacent units 

outside the site set out in the foregoing section it is not considered that there would 
be unacceptable levels of overlooking into the outward facing blocks of the proposed 
development. Where there are commercial uses opposite, they generally are either 
low level, do not have windows facing the site or are an acceptable distance away 
from the proposed development. The exception is some ground and first floor 
windows in the northern elevation of one of the CSM Bakery Solutions buildings 
however the only windows in the adjacent end elevations of the proposed residential 
blocks are at ground level and these would be screened from overlooking by 
boundary fencing and tree planting and therefore it is not considered that there 
would be unacceptable levels of interlooking between the two sites.  
 

191. In terms of the potential for interlooking between the residential units within the 
site the proposed site layout is generally compliant with the requirements of SPG1 in 
terms of the relationships between the proposed residential units. For example the 
distances between the main elevations of the three Blocks in the southern half of the 
site (Blocks C, D and E) are 25-26 metres across the public parking areas.  

 
192. Due to the density of the development and the shape of the site there are 

however instances of shortfalls in the guidelines but this has been addressed in 
most instances by offsetting the windows in the adjacent blocks to prevent direct 
interlooking.  

 
193. This is the case between the southwestern side of Block A and the north-eastern 

corner of Block C and between the southern side of Block B and the northern side of 
Block E. The distance between the elevations is approximately 15 metres in both 
cases but the windows are positioned within the elevations so as not to be directly 
opposite each other and there are intervening public access roads. 16.5 metres is 
retained between the windows in the northern end of Block D and the windows in the 
nearest part of the rear of Block B opposite (15.5 metres from the balcony) but the 
blocks are at an oblique angle with the main thoroughfare and amenity areas 
through the site running between the two blocks. It is therefore considered that the 
privacy levels would be acceptable.  

 
194. No windows are proposed in the north-eastern side elevation of Block A and 

therefore there is no loss of privacy to the rear of Block B as a result of this 
relationship. However the rear elevation of the southern half of Block B would look 
onto the rear of Block A at shorter distances but as a result of the orientation of the 
blocks which follow the lines of the adjacent roads, the angles between the windows 
would be oblique rather than direct and this is considered to mitigate the privacy 
levels to an acceptable degree.  

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 43



 

 
 

195. It is considered that the layout makes effective use of the land and that the 
relationships between properties are acceptable for the foregoing reasons and they 
would be known to any future occupier of the development. 

 
Conclusion on privacy and overlooking 
 
196. For the reasons set out in detail in the foregoing section it is considered that the 

proposed development would not result in any undue overlooking or harm to privacy 
in relation to existing residents adjacent to the site. As this is intended to be a high 
density development there are instances where separation distances between new 
buildings do not meet the SPG1 guidelines for future occupiers of the properties. 
SPG1 does allow for a flexible approach within a development site, where good 
design or the particular circumstances of the site allow this and this is supported by 
the thrust of para 123 of the NPPF. It is therefore considered that the layout would 
provide acceptable amenity levels for future occupiers. 

 
Overbearing/Outlook 
 
197. New development should not have an overbearing impact on adjacent residential 

occupiers or result in a material loss of outlook as these are important residential 
amenity considerations.  Loss of outlook can occur where development, as a result 
of the impact of its height, scale, massing can have an adverse overbearing and 
over dominating effect resulting in unduly oppressive living conditions.   
 

198. SPG1 states that ‘There are many possible relationships of properties with each 
other, and so in these matters the Council will generally adopt a flexible approach. 
However, dwellings should not be grouped so closely that they unduly overshadow 
each other, their garden areas or neighbouring property. In situations where 
overshadowing is likely with a main elevation facing a two storey blank gable then a 
minimum distance of 15 m (49 ft) should normally be provided. It is noted that this 
relates to two storey walls however given the high density urban infill nature of the 
development it is considered that this is a reasonable approach for this 
development.  

 
Impact on existing offsite buildings 
 
199. As indicated in relation to overlooking and privacy issues in the foregoing section, 

the only residential units in close proximity to the external elevations of the proposed 
development are at the junction of Skerton Road and Elsinore Road to the northeast 
and at Grove House to the southeast. Residential properties on the northern side 
and eastern end of Lime Grove would have views of the development across the 
yard and parking areas a CSM Bakery Solutions but the distances are significant 
(approximately 90 metres). 
 

200. Therefore in view of this and the fact that the properties to the northeast are 
offset in relation to the development and the distance to Grove House would be 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 44



 

 
 

approximately 31 metres, it is not considered that the development would have an 
unduly overbearing impact on these properties or result in material detriment to their 
outlook.  

 
Impact on Proposed Units 
 
201. Again, in view of the relationships with adjacent units outside the site set out in 

the foregoing sections it is considered that the outlook for the units in the outward 
facing blocks on the site would be acceptable and would not be overbearing. There 
are ground floor windows in the southern elevation of the three blocks (C, D and E) 
however the nearest adjacent structures on the CSM bakery site are between 15 
and 20 metres away and therefore it is not considered they would be overbearing. 
There is also tree planting proposed in the intervening area. 
 

202. In terms of the potential for overbearing impacts or unacceptable outlook 
between the residential units within the site, as set out in relation to privacy, the 
distances are generally 15 metres or above. This is the case between the 
southwestern end of Block A and the northeast end of Block C, and between the 
southern end of Block B and the northern end of Block E. The relationships between 
the main elevations of the three blocks in the southern half of the site are well in 
excess of the requirements at 25-26 metres. There is a slight shortfall between a 
small section of the rear of Block B and the northern end of Block D but because the 
blocks are angled away from each other the rear of Block B benefits from a generally 
open aspect to the southeast across the site and the relationship is not considered 
overbearing.   

 
203. The greatest shortfall is at the rear of Block B where the apartments look onto the 

blank side wall of Block A. In some instances the gap is only 11 metres however 
again Block A is angled away from the rear of Block B providing a more open aspect 
towards Elsinore Road to the North and for this reasons it is considered that 
adequate light and outlook would be provided.  

 
204. It is accepted that there are some minor instances of shortfalls in the 15 metres 

set out in SPG1 for the future occupiers of the properties but these are relatively 
minor and SPG1 allows for flexible approach within a development site, where good 
design or the particular circumstances of the site allow this and it is considered that 
the layout would provide acceptable amenity levels for future occupiers. This is 
borne out by the daylight and sunlight report findings which considers that there are 
overall good levels of amenity and lighting across the site.  

 
Conclusion on Overbearing impact / outlook 
 
205. It is considered that the development would not be unduly overbearing or 

oppressive when viewed from adjacent offsite residential properties and that an 
acceptable outlook would be maintained. It is also considered that the proposed 
layout makes effective use of the land and that the relationships between properties 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 45



 

 
 

within the development are acceptable for the foregoing reasons and they would be 
known to any future occupier of the development. 
 

Wind Microclimate 
 
206. A desktop based Wind Microclimate Analysis Report has been submitted in 

support of the planning application.  The report assesses the potential wind effects 
of the proposed development on the local microclimate throughout the year against 
best practice guidelines for pedestrian comfort and safety. 
 

207. Wind environment is defined as the wind flow experienced by people and the 
subsequent influence it has on their activities. It is concerned primarily with wind 
characteristics at pedestrian level.  

 
208. To identify the likely effects of the development on the pedestrian level wind 

environment a 3D CFD (computational fluid dynamics) model of the development 
and surrounding site was created and this was combined with an analysis of wind 
data from a local weather station to provide a qualified assessment of any likely 
effects the development may have on local wind conditions. The study has been 
produced using the widely applied wind environment criteria for pedestrian comfort 
and safety developed by T.V. Lawson (Building Aerodynamics, 2001) and was 
carried out by an experienced wind engineer. The study considered the most 
common wind effects of downwash, corner flows and channelling and the Lawson 
Criteria (LDDC Variant) have been applied to determine the acceptability of wind 
conditions for pedestrian safety and comfort.  

 
209. Pedestrian comfort is assessed against wind speed and duration and is split into 

five ‘comfort categories’:  
 

 
 

Criteria 
 

Suitability  Threshold mean wind for 
5% of hours (ms-1) 

Sitting Acceptable for outdoor sitting use 
(e.g. cafes, benches, balconies) 

4 

Standing Acceptable for main building 
entrances, pick-up/drop-off points  

6 

Leisure Walking Acceptable for strolling  8 

Business 
Walking 

Acceptable for external pavements, 
walking purposefully without 
lingering 

 
10 

Uncomfortable  Not comfortable for regular 
pedestrian access. Mitigation is 
typically recommended. 

 
>10 

 
210. Additionally, the Lawson criteria identifies safety criteria defined based on 

approximately two hours’ exceedance per year. These are areas where someone 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 46



 

 
 

could find walking difficult or even lose their footing.  An additional “warning” criteria 
has been introduced which shows areas which are close to exceeding the S15 
criteria. 
 

Criteria  Threshold Mean Wind 
Speed for 2.2hr/year (ms-1) 
 

Wind conditions as 
experienced by people 

S15 15 Unsuitable for frail persons, 
cyclists etc  
 

S20 20 Unsuitable for all pedestrians 
 

 
 
Target Conditions 
 
211. The report states that for a mixed use urban area such as this, the desired wind 

microclimate would typically need to have areas suitable for sitting, standing 
(including at entrances of buildings) and walking use.  
 

212. Any areas which are predicted to be unsafe (annually) or uncomfortable (for 
winter) will require mitigation, unless they are in locations where pedestrian access 
can be controlled in the event of strong winds. This applies to all thoroughfares (for 
pedestrians) and roads (for cyclists) around the development. Any amenity spaces 
should be suitable for leisure walking in the winter, and for a mixture of sitting and 
standing in the summer. The areas immediately outside any building entrances 
should be suitable for standing use during winter to provide a “buffer” between the 
still conditions in interior spaces and the general thoroughfare. 

 
Results for Proposed Development 
 
General Thoroughfares 
 
213. The blocks of the development stand taller than is typical of the immediate area 

around the site. The modelling indicates that for most of the blocks at 6 storeys this 
is not so significant that it results in a substantial risk of downwash. For the 10 storey 
block the potential for downwash needs to be considered. 
 

214. When viewed from the dominant wind angle (190 degrees) the most western 6 
storey block in the development (marked as A below) is exposed to the oncoming 
wind which creates a risk of accelerations around the corners of this block at the 
southern end (marked in red below) although it should be noted that there are 
proposed to be trees at both corners, which will dissipate the flow and provide 
mitigation. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 47



 

 
 

 
 
215. The tallest block (10 storeys) is sheltered by the neighbouring 6 storey south-

eastern block and this creates a “stepping” effect for the flow path onto the southern 
face of the 10 storey block (marked B). This acts as a significant mitigating factor 
against downwash from this face. 
 

216. From the second dominant wind angle (290 degrees) the stepped north-
easternmost block is sheltered by the 7 storey northern block (highlighted in blue 
below). This would significantly disrupt the onset flow and provide mitigation against 
potential downwash effects. There is a gap (highlighted red below) which is relatively 
tight and carries a risk of channelling. However there are trees currently located 
within this gap, which will dissipate the wind and provide some mitigation against this 
effect. The report advises that further mitigation could be achieved by further tree 
planting in this area. 

 

 
 
 
Amenity Spaces and Entrances  
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 48



 

 
 

217. The majority of entrances are not considered to carry a risk of accelerated wind 
speeds, but there are two (marked A and B on the ground level plan below) at the 
southern end of the western block which are relatively exposed to the onset wind 
from 190 degrees and therefore carry a risk of higher wind speeds. There are 
proposed trees upwind of these entrances which will provide mitigation against this. 

 

 
 
218. The image below shows the location of the balconies within the site (highlighted 

in blue). There are certain balconies (highlighted red), which are exposed to the 
onset wind. However these balconies are proposed to have glass balustrades, which 
will provide mitigation against this. 

 

 
 
Conclusion on Wind Microclimate 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 49



 

 
 

219. The report concludes that the conditions are expected to be suitable for the 
intended use of the development and the risk of adverse wind effects is low. 
 

220. Although potential adverse wind effects were identified at the base of the north-
eastern block and at the southern end of the western block, mitigating factors 
(shelter provided by neighbouring block and tree planting respectively) were 
identified for each of these effects and on this basis the risk is not considered 
significant. 

 
221. Potential adverse wind effects were also identified between the western and 

northern blocks and further tree planting in this region is recommended in the report. 
Since that time the landscaping layout for the site has been updated and this has 
included additional trees which the wind consultant has confirmed would provide the 
appropriate mitigation required.  

 
222. Potential adverse wind effects were also identified at 2 entrances to the western 

block, but mitigating factors (tree planting upwind) were identified for these effects 
and the risk is not considered significant. Potential adverse wind effects were 
identified on the most southerly and westerly balconies on the development, but 
mitigating factors (glass balustrades) were also identified for these effects and the 
risk is not considered significant. 

 
223. Overall, it is concluded that the proposed development contains mitigating factors 

that can be ensured through the design and layout of the buildings and a 
landscaping condition. On that basis the wind conditions are expected to be suitable 
for the intended use of the site and no further wind studies are required. 

 
Amenity Space 
 
224. SPG1: New Residential Development sets out the Council’s standards and states 

that most new dwellings should provide some private outdoor space and that this is 
necessary for a variety of functional requirements such as sitting out and children’s 
play.  The guidance sets out recommended garden area sizes and advises that for 3 
bedroom semi-detached houses 80 sq. m of garden space will normally be 
acceptable but smaller houses may be acceptable with less. For flats, 18 sq. m of 
adequately screened communal area is considered generally sufficient for these 
functional requirements.   
 

225. The proposed landscaping scheme seeks to provide some small garden areas 
for the houses, balcony areas for some of the flats and communal external hard and 
soft landscaped areas across the development but mainly centred around the area 
outside the ‘clubhouse’. The clubhouse itself, while internal is for communal amenity 
use for residents of the development and looks out onto the external areas.  

 
226. Currently, the proposals include provision of 4,478 m2 of external open space, 

(excluding access roads and parking areas). In addition, the proposed buildings 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 50



 

 
 

provide further 390 m2 of internal amenity space in the form of Club House and 
Gym/Amenity Area, and 263 m2 of private balcony space, bringing the overall area 
of amenity & open space to the total area of 5,131 m2 (0,5131 ha). Given the high 
density nature of the development this is considered acceptable and it is noted that 
the site is located is close proximity to Seymour Park and Hullard Park.  

 
Noise, Disturbance, Light and Vibration 
 
227. Core Strategy Policy L5.13 states that development that has the potential to 

cause adverse pollution (of air, light, water, ground) noise or vibration will not be 
permitted unless it can be demonstrated that adequate mitigation measures can be 
put into place. 

 
Noise and Disturbance 
 
228. The site shares a southern boundary with a large industrial bakery products 

manufacturer whilst Metrolink tramlines run along the north and west of the site in 
close proximity.  There are a number of retail uses and associated service yard 
accessed off Skerton Road to the northeast. 

 
229. The application is supported by a Noise Impact Assessment (NIA) to determine 

the extent of environmental, commercial and industrial noise impacts onto the site 
and to consider any impacts that may be introduced by the development itself, 
having regard to various standards and guidelines concerned with the measurement 
and assessment of noise. The Pollution and Housing section have been consulted 
on the results of this. 

 
Environmental and Commercial Noise 
 
230. The NIA considers the potential impact of overnight HGV deliveries to Iceland 

and the former Aldi premises now occupied by Worldwide Foods.  Preliminary 
mitigation measures have been recommended for the affected proposed dwellings to 
control noise ingress to a suitable level and the Pollution and Housing section 
consider that a suitable mitigation scheme to deal with this aspect of noise impact 
can be agreed by an appropriate planning condition. 

 
Industrial noise from CSM Bakery Solutions 
 
231. The NIA has found that elevated levels of relatively constant plant noise 

emanating from the CSM site, including a pronounced low frequency tonal 
component, continuing over 24 hours on most days of the week, has the potential to 
cause a significant adverse impact to a proportion of the application site. 
 

232. In addition, the NIA has found that a high level of noise, including pronounced 
tones, from regular daytime bulk road tanker deliveries to the CSM site has the 
potential to cause a significant adverse impact over much of the application site. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 51



 

 
 

 
233. The Pollution and Housing section have therefore recommended that a façade 

noise reduction mitigation scheme should be provided which should achieve a level 
which is 5dB below the acoustic internal ambient criteria BS 8233: 2014 Guidance 
on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings.  

 
234. The applicant’s noise consultants have provided supplementary information 

confirming that the mitigation scheme will also be designed to comply with an 
internal acoustic noise target in order to address the impact of discrete tones found 
to be emanating from the factory site. 

 
235. Any residual noise ingress is predicted by calculation to be masked by the 

background noise from the operation of an internally operated MVHR (Mechanical 
Ventilation with Heat Recovery) system. It is proposed that such a system be 
provided to each apartment to achieve background ventilation rates in accordance 
with current Building Regulations requirements. Façade wall and preliminary glazing 
specifications have been provided, incorporating high performance acoustic double 
or secondary glazing, to those elevations likely to be potentially impacted, in order to 
achieve the required criteria. 

 
236. However, due to the high noise levels incident to a number of elevations, a 

further solution is required to reduce and in some cases, eliminate the need to open 
windows to provide summertime cooling, through the installation of options such as 
solar rated glazing, MVHR with a summer boost function and air conditioning. 
Clearly there will be a number of apartments where it will not be feasible to open 
windows for any length of time due to the ingress of potentially high levels of 
external noise.  The noise consultant has clarified that ventilation needs can be 
addressed by the installation of a bespoke designed MVHR system, thereby 
eliminating the reliance on opening any windows for ventilation in these apartments.  

 
237. It is considered by the Pollution and Housing section that the noise consultants 

have demonstrated that a technical solution is available to deal with the worst 
impacts of noise emanating from the factory site.  However, work remains to finalise 
the exact specification of mitigation measures required for each dwelling.  There are 
also aspects of the building design and management that would require agreement 
as well as a satisfactory level of mitigation, to ensure that external spaces including 
apartment balconies are not planned or intended to be used by residents for 
relaxation and recreation in adversely noisy locations. In order to ensure that these 
mitigation measures are appropriate and approved prior to installation by the Local 
Planning Authority, conditions are recommended accordingly.  

 
Fixed plant noise emissions 
 
238. Although a full external plant schedule is not yet available, the NIA specifies 

target criteria to ensure that plant noise levels are kept below the measured site 
background noise level and this can be conditioned accordingly.  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 52



 

 
 

 
Clubhouse 
 
239. The development includes a ‘Clubhouse’ to provide a community space for use 

by residents.  A condition is recommended requiring that a management strategy for 
the clubhouse is submitted and agreed prior to first use of the clubhouse. 

 
 Amenity Space/Gym 
 
240. The NIA confirms that an amenity space/gym is proposed at ground floor level 

which introduces the potential for impact noise and operational noise transfer to 
apartments above and townhouses adjacent.  Since the intended operation and 
construction details are not currently known, a detailed noise assessment is required 
to consider the risk of adverse impacts, particularly to structurally connected 
apartments which may be affected by impact noise generated from general gym 
activities and rhythmic slab excitation from the use of treadmills and cycle machines. 

 
241. The NIA recommends that the slab within the gym is suitably isolated from the 

structure of the building in order to ensure that impact noise and slab excitation from 
typical gym activities can be readily controllable.  The detailed noise assessment 
may recommend that a mass barrier ceiling is incorporated into the gym if high noise 
levels are expected. The Pollution and Housing Section consider that the matter can 
be addressed by the attachment of relevant conditions.  

 
Construction Phase 
 
242. With regard to concerns raised about the construction phase, noise and 

disturbance is an unfortunate side effect of all new construction development but if 
properly controlled, the impacts can be mitigated. The Pollution and Housing section 
have recommended a condition requiring a management plan relating to the 
environmental impacts of the demolition and construction phases and this would 
cover issues such as hours of construction works, areas for parking of site 
operatives’ vehicles and for loading and unloading, measures to control dust and dirt 
emissions and to prevent undue disturbance to adjacent dwellings from noise and 
vibration.  

 
Vibration 

 
243. With regard to potential vibration impacts a Tram Induced Vibration Assessment 

Report was submitted to determine the impact of ground-borne vibration from tram 
movements along the Metrolink line adjacent to the site. The Pollution and Housing 
section have confirmed that the report follows the assessment procedures of a 
relevant British Standard BS 6472: 2008 Guide to Evaluation of Human Exposure to 
Vibration in Buildings to conclude that the site should not be subjected to any such 
adverse impact and that any re-radiated low frequency noise arising from tram 
movements would be within reasonable margins. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 53



 

 
 

 
Lighting  
 
244. The application is supported by an External Lighting and Security Statement. 

This confirms that the external lighting design will confirm with appropriate criteria of 
relevant guidelines. However detailed lighting proposals are not currently available 
and therefore the Pollution and Housing section recommend a condition requiring 
that prior to installation an Exterior Lighting Impact assessment shall be submitted 
for approval to the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the impact of new 
exterior lighting into habitable windows, either within or off-site, would be within 
acceptable margins, following the Institution of Lighting Professionals (ILP) 
Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011.  

 
 
Air Quality 
 
245. Paragraph 181 of the NPPF advises that planning decisions should sustain and 

contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for 
pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and 
Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas.   
Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in Air Quality 
Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air quality action 
plan.  Paragraph 110 also requires applications for development to be designed to 
enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible 
and convenient locations.   
 

246. Policy L5 requires developers to adopt measures identified in the Greater 
Manchester Air Quality Action Plan, to ensure that their development would not have 
an adverse impact on air quality. In this respect, L5 can be considered to be up to 
date for the purposes of decision making and full weight attributed to it. 

 
247. The site is not located within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) but is 

situated in relatively close proximity to AQMAs on Talbot Road and at the junction of 
Elsinore Road and Seymour Grove. 

 
248. The application is supported by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA), to establish 

the impact of the development on local air quality and to consider the suitability of 
the site for future users in accordance with relevant national standards and 
guidelines. The AQA also addresses temporary effects on air quality during the 
construction phase. 

 
249. The AQA concludes that local pollutant levels subject to control by national Air 

Quality Objectives would not be significantly changed as a result of the operation of 
the development and future users of the site would not be exposed to unsatisfactory 
air quality. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 54



 

 
 

250. In addition, construction dust impacts would be rendered insignificant subject to 
the implementation of a scheme of good practice control measures. The pollution 
and Housing section have confirmed that these impacts can be controlled through 
the use of the condition recommended above in relation to construction and pre-
construction phase impacts. 

 
251. The Pollution and Housing section also comment that the development should 

comply with current Institute of Air Quality Management planning guidelines that 
require the provision of electric vehicle (EV) charge points in every new house 
(minimum 7kWh) with dedicated parking or 1 charge point (minimum 7kWH) per 10 
car parking spaces for unallocated car parking. The matter can be addressed by the 
attachment of a condition and subject to these conditions the development will be 
compliant with the NPPF and Policy L5 with regard to air quality. 

 
Conclusion on Residential Amenity Impacts 
 
252. A suite of reports assessing the impacts of the development on the amenity of 

existing and future residential occupiers have been submitted in support of the 
application. They demonstrate that the scheme will have an acceptable impact on 
the amenities of existing occupiers of residential properties in the vicinity. It is 
acknowledged that there are some shortfalls in the guidelines set out in SPG1 in 
relation to the amenity of future occupiers of the development. However these 
shortfalls would not result in poor living conditions and the properties have been 
designed to provide adequate levels of privacy, daylight and sunlight. Given the 
approach of creating a high density development in a sustainable location, this is 
considered to be acceptable. 

 
253. It is considered that the scheme overall represents a well-designed development 

that makes effective use of brownfield land, provides a pleasant place to live and 
contributes to the wider residential area. For the foregoing reasons and subject to 
appropriate conditions, the impact of the proposed development on the residential 
amenity of both existing adjacent occupies and future occupiers of the development 
is considered to be compliant with Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
and the NPPF. 

 

HIGHWAYS IMPACTS, PARKING AND SERVICING 
 
254. Core Strategy Policy L4 states: [The Council will prioritise] the location of 

development within the most sustainable areas accessible by a choice of modes of 
transport. Maximum levels of car parking for broad classes of development will be 
used as a part of a package of measures to promote sustainable transport choices. 
The aim of the policy to deliver sustainable transport is considered to be consistent 
with the NPPF. 
 

255. Para 103 of the NPPF states ‘Significant development should be focused on 
locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 55



 

 
 

and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce 
congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public health.’ 

 
256. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that ‘Development should only be prevented 

or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe’. 

 
257. Policy L4.7 states that ‘The Council will not grant planning permission for new 

development that is likely to have a significant adverse impact on the safe and 
efficient operation of the Strategic Road Network, and the Primary and Local 
Highway Authority Network unless and until appropriate transport infrastructure 
improvements and/or traffic mitigation measures and the programme for the 
implementation are secured.’ Given the more stringent test for the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network set by the NPPF, it is considered that Core 
Strategy Policy L4 should be considered to be out-of-date for the purposes of 
decision making. 

 
258. Core Strategy Policy L7 states: In relation to matters of functionality, 

development must incorporate vehicular access and egress which is satisfactorily 
located and laid out having regard to the need for highway safety; and provide 
sufficient off-street car and cycle parking, manoeuvring and operational space. 

 
259. The application is supported by a Transport Assessment and following requests 

for additional information from the LHA and TfGM, an addendum to the Transport 
Assessment and a Metrolink Impact Assessment have also been submitted. These 
documents consider the relevant traffic and transport matters relating to the site and 
also consider the potential cumulative impact of this and other proposed and 
approved development in the area in relation to highway and parking matters.  Other 
relevant developments include the proposed redevelopment of the Kellogg’s site, the 
ongoing development at 86 Talbot Road and the CQAAP. This suite of documents 
seeks to demonstrate that the proposed development is acceptable with regard to 
impacts on the local highway network, tram capacity, access, parking and 
accessibility by sustainable modes of transport. 

 
Traffic Generation and Impact on Highway Network 
 

Traffic Modelling  

Seymour Grove/ Talbot Road Junction  

260. The LHA have analysed the submitted data which indicates the Talbot Road East 
and Seymour Road arms of the junction are currently operating above capacity 
during the AM and PM peak periods (i.e. degree of saturation (DoS) above in excess 
of 100%).  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 56



 

 
 

261. As a result of the development the mean maximum queue (MMQ) lengths on the 
Talbot Rd East arm in the AM would increase by 7 vehicles and in the PM by 14 
vehicles.  The Talbot Road West arm is below 100% capacity in the AM and above 
in the PM with an additional 7 vehicles.  Seymour Grove is above 100% capacity in 
both peaks with an additional 8 vehicles in the AM and 2 vehicles in the PM.  
 

262. Whilst it is noted that the queue lengths would increase, the LHA are satisfied 
that the additional traffic at this junction would not result in a severe impact on the 
highway network. 

 

White City Way / Talbot Road Junction Traffic  

263. This junction is shown to operate over capacity in the AM peak only. The Talbot 
Road East queue length increases by 16 vehicles as a result of the development.  
The Talbot Road West queue length increases by 2 vehicles and White City Way 
increases by 1 vehicle.   
 

264. The LHA conclude that the junction would operate within capacity in the PM peak 
and that the impact of the development in the AM peak is not severe. 

 
265. At the request of the LHA a cumulative assessment has also been undertaken by 

the Transport Consultant for the application which concludes that the proposal will 
not have a severe impact on highway operation when compared to the baseline 
situation. It is shown that the Talbot Road corridor is subject to baseline delay and 
operation issues, and the addition of the development traffic doesn’t significantly 
change this situation. Therefore, no mitigation is required or proposed at either 
location. Furthermore the Civic Quarter AAP proposals are forecast to significantly 
reduce traffic on the Talbot Road corridor and in line with this, the AAP Transport 
Assessment does not identify a need to improve either the Seymour Grove junction 
or the White City Way junctions to accommodate future development in the area. 

 
266. Overall, while forecast traffic flows show the proposed development would 

increase traffic in the area, the LHA are satisfied that the impact of the development 
would not be severe and is therefore compliant with the provisions of the NPPF in 
terms of the impact on the highway network.  

Access and Servicing 

Main Site Accesses 

267. It is proposed to provide three access points for vehicles and pedestrians. Two 
access points would be provided off Elsinore Road and it is proposed to utilise two 
existing points of access, although the design includes minor changes to the location 
of each access in addition to changes in width and general alignment.  One access 
would be located at the end of Elsinore Road and would serve six proposed parking 
spaces as well as maintaining access to the bakery to the south of the site.  Another 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 57



 

 
 

access would be located further east along Elsinore Road and would serve parking 
spaces between Blocks C and D. A third access to the site would be provided off 
Skerton Road, and would form a new access into the site. These access points are 
considered acceptable.  

 

Elsinore Road Maintenance Access 

268. The LHA initially had concerns about the proposed provision of a maintenance 
vehicle access and working/parking area off Elsinore Road, adjacent to an existing 
electricity substation, and to the rear of a proposed bin collection area.  The 
maintenance working/parking area would have been shared with a proposed 
pedestrian access and the concerns were that the proposed maintenance 
arrangements may create vehicle-pedestrian conflict, or provide a barrier to 
movement for pedestrians, including disabled and visually impaired pedestrians.  

 
269. However the developer has since confirmed vehicle maintenance access is not 

required, and the substation would be serviced from the kerbside as per existing 
access arrangements and this arrangement is therefore considered acceptable.  

 

Access to Townhouse Parking 

270. Each of the proposed townhouses along Elsinore Road and Skerton Road would 
be provided with its own ‘front door’ street access, and one car parking space, also 
accessed from the street.  The LHA initially raise concerns that the proposals would 
create a significant length of vehicle crossover and numerous locations for vehicle 
access and refer to SPD3 which states “Vehicle crossings compromise highway 
safety by creating turning movements on the carriageway and permitting vehicles to 
travel over the footway, which otherwise is restricted for pedestrians only”.   
 

271. The applicant’s highways consultant has, in response, commented that 
driveways are characteristic of the existing local area and also are common features 
in development street scenes. This is largely because of the benefits brought in 
terms of placemaking and the subsequent removal of the need to provide large 
areas of hardstanding for parking at the rear of properties. They refer to the fact that 
the use of driveways is supported by the Government document ‘Manual for Streets’ 
and that the guidance therein shows that research into the relationship between 
traffic flow and road safety for 30mph streets with continuous houses with direct 
frontage access (driveways) found that very few accidents occurred involving 
vehicles turning into and out of driveways, even on heavily trafficked roads. It also 
states that this potential is minimised further on roads with a 20mph speed limit, 
such as those surrounding this site.  

 
272. The application site is fronted by two minor roads that are subject to 20mph 

limits. The driveways have been designed to allow pedestrian visibility and a short 
distance between the property boundary and the carriageway.  

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 58



 

 
 

273. The LHA note and accept the guidance provided within Manual for Streets. They 
do however request that the proposed drives onto both Elsinore Road and Skerton 
Road are designed so that they are clearly provide good vehicle/pedestrian inter-
visibility. 

 
274. At detailed design stage suitable surfacing and boundary treatments will be 

provided to emphasise the pedestrian routes and this can be submitted for approval 
via a landscaping condition.  In addition it is noted that the footways on the Skerton 
Road frontage are currently consistently blocked by parked vehicles and that this 
situation would be resolved by the proposal, providing a betterment in terms of street 
scene and amenity levels. 

 
275. It is considered that inclusion of driveways for the townhouses is an intrinsic part 

of the design of the development which seeks to achieve good place making through 
the avoidance of dead street frontages and sterile environments with large areas of 
parking and hardstanding within developments. The driveways would generate 
activity in the streetscene and in view of the 20mph speed limit on the relevant road 
frontages, this approach is supported.  

 

Bakery Access 

276. It is confirmed as part of the application that vehicular access to the existing 
bakery will be retained through the site from Elsinore Road, and the proposed 
access and internal development road layout has been designed to fully 
accommodate bakery vehicles and servicing of the bakery site. 

 

Street Lighting and Redundant Footways 

277. The LHA initially commented that streetlights located at the proposed vehicle 
access points would need to be relocated as they would be likely to impact on 
visibility and noted that a 2m wide footway would need to be provided along the 
whole frontage of the development. Subsequent information provided by the 
developer confirms the relevant street lighting columns would be appropriately 
relocated as part of the development proposals. 
 

278. The additional information received from the developer also confirms that where 
existing access points are proposed to be closed as part of the development, the 
footway would be fully reinstated including the provision of a lifted kerbline and this 
is considered appropriate.  

 

Servicing  

279. The LHA initially raised concerns about the potential for refuse vehicles to 
reverse into the site and as a result of the potential resultant safety hazards, 
required the applicant to demonstrate that the refuse vehicle would be able to 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 59



 

 
 

access and egress the site in a forward gear, with both movements clearly illustrated 
on plan for all relevant points of access. As a result the traffic consultant proposed 
that the bins be moved to an area on the access road within 10m of Skerton Road 
for collection. This would negate the need for the refuse vehicle to move on to the 
access road.  Similarly, the bins could be moved to an area on access road within 
10m of Elsinore Road for collection. This would mean that a refuse vehicle only has 
to reverse using the access road to exit Elsinore Road in a forward gear, a common 
movement type in a residential environment. Given the minor status of the road, the 
minimal amount of traffic and pedestrians using it, and the infrequency of refuse 
collection movements, this is not considered to present a safety or amenity issue 
and the exiting manoeuvre would be equivalent to that which would be undertaken 
using a turning head. The LHA considers that the servicing arrangements are 
acceptable on this basis. 

 
Waste Management  
 
280. Refuse storage within each apartment would include separate containers or 

caddies for each category of waste. The separate blocks will house a recycling and 
refuse area in a dedicated bin store at ground floor, which is accessible from the 
circulation cores. The arrangements will be monitored by building management and 
the refuse containers will be presented at the designated locations on collection 
days. It is recommended that a waste management strategy condition is attached to 
ensure that a clear strategy is in place that can be retained over time.  

Car Parking 

281. The car parking standards as detailed in SPD3 state that for this location each 
one-bedroom dwelling unit the maximum standards require one car parking space, 
and each two or three-bedroom dwelling unit requires two car parking spaces 

282. The proposals have been amended to reduce the number of dwelling units to 367 
(previously 380), for which it is proposed to provide 67 spaces.  This represents a 
significant shortfall from the maximum standards and the LHA note that this is a 
location that already suffers from commuter and matchday parking pressures due to 
the proximity to the sports stadiums, and the Metrolink station at Trafford Bar 

283. The site is located in a highway sustainable location close to public transport 
infrastructure and shops and service. In terms of public transport it is in close 
proximity to Trafford Bar Metrolink stop and bus stops on Talbot Road and Chester 
Road. The existing infrastructure serving the site was audited as part of the 
supporting TA and this shows that the site immediately fronts residential character 
streets that provide a suitable environment for pedestrians and cyclists. These 
streets link to wider network including existing infrastructure that provides pedestrian 
crossing points and high standard cycle routes. The proposal includes reinstatement 
of the footways bounding the site on Elsinore Road and Skerton Road and will 
remove parking activity on the Skerton Road western carriageway footway which will 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 60



 

 
 

improve the environment for active road users. The site also includes a high level of 
cycle parking and is considered as a result to have a very high level of accessibility 

284. The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) states “A review of Census car 
ownership levels for apartment/maisonette residents in the local area show that 75% 
of residents live without a car. This data is nearly ten years old and in line with 
current thinking (set out in research by The Commission for Travel Demand, CIHT 
and TRICS) it is likely that car ownership levels at the proposal site will be lower due 
to the socio-demographic effects set out previously in Section 4”. 

285. The LHA have commented that as might be expected for a mixed-use industrial 
and residential area at this location, car ownership levels are low, but if the 25% 
Census car ownership level is applied (the data is still considered relevant), this 
would result in 91 of the proposed 367 households owning a car. The addendum to 
the TA appears to show a reliance on other future proposals across Trafford to 
justify a parking level below 25%, including reference to the Civic Quarter Area 
Action Plan which is still in the consultation phase 

286. It is noted that the draft CQAAP supports re-balancing and downgrading of the 
car infrastructure in the area to prioritise and support sustainable trip and place 
making and also seeks to rationalise and reduce parking in the area to encourage 
mode shift from reliance on the car to improve walking, cycling and public transport 
access to and movements around the area. 

287. The Transport Consultant for the application identifies that the site is located on 
the edge of the Regional Centre and the Civic Quarter AAP and has a Greater 
Manchester Accessibility Level of 7 which is comparable to the accessibility levels 
found in Manchester city centre. In line with the research set out in the TA they 
consider that the site is patently suitable for a reduced level of site car parking and 
state that it is the intention for the development to create space for people, rather 
than one dominated by cars. 

288. Historic Census data in relation to car ownership levels is noted and does allow a 
starting point of 25 % car parking for consideration but the area within which the site 
is located is highly accessible and the level proposed is in line with other comparable 
residential developments in the area and is higher than the level proposed in the 
Civic Quarter AAP. The Transport Consultant also points to low parking precedents 
at the Kellogg’s site (10%) and the Civic Quarter AAP Transport Assessment states 
that 15% parking provision is suitable in the AAP. As the site sits on the edge of the 
AAP and has the same, or better, accessibility than sites in the AAP, the level of 
parking is therefore considered appropriate.  

289. In relation to parking controls the TA indicates that Elsinore Road and Skerton 
Road are both used extensively during the day by commuter fly parking and in the 
evening that these roads are generally clear of parking activity. The applicant’s 
consultant argues that existing daytime parking practices have a very real impact on 
local amenity and pedestrian safety as the cars currently block the footways on 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 61



 

 
 

Skerton Road and impact on the pedestrian environment. They go on to state that 
this proposal offers an opportunity for the Local Highway Authority to resolve this 
existing problem and the TA sets out a possible solution to this by the applicant 
funding changes to the TRO to allow these to be brought better in line with the TRO 
across this area of the Borough 

290. The applicant has agreed to fund a review of the TROs fronting the site via legal 
agreement with the Local Highway Authority. 

291. The applicant has stated that parking provision at the development will be clearly 
outlined to prospective residents, including emphasis that there is no guarantee that 
they can park on street. Parking spaces will be allocated to specific residents and 
this will limit the number of residents with a car who do not have use of a parking 
space. 

292. The LHA does note confirmation from the developer that future residents of the 
proposed development would not be entitled to a resident’s permit nor would they be 
able to park on-street during restricted hours (and outside of the restricted hours 
anyone would be entitled to park in the spaces, including commuters and visitors).  
The LHA accept that the site is in a sustainable location with access to good 
transport links. They state they would be willing to accept a proposed parking level 
below 25%, but note the existing high demand for on-street parking at this location 
and that the proposed development would reduce the number of on-street parking 
spaces.  

293. As set out above the developer has agreed to pay for a TRO and parking review 
and this is accepted by the LHA. 

294. The LHA would suggest that a number of parking surveys are undertaken 
throughout the construction phase of the development, whereby any resultant 
parking from the development within any of the following roads; Elsinore Road, 
Skerton Road, Tennis Street, Seymour Grove, Lime Grove and Addison Crescent, 
could be liable to changes in parking restrictions to protect the streets from 
unacceptable parking associated with the development.  The LHA would suggest 
that the following strategy should be secured via a section 106 agreement: 

Parking Survey Strategy – Before the first occupation of the proposed 
development site, a Parking Survey Strategy will be produced which identifies zones 
within the previously agreed 1km walking catchment would be used as (as per 
Drawing 72559-CUR-00-XX-DR-TP-06004-P01). The Parking Survey Strategy 
would need to be agreed with the LHA.  

 
Initial Survey – Parking occupancy surveys to be undertaken for each zone before 
any occupation of the proposed development site, recording the existing level of on-
street parking within the 1km walking catchment as a baseline level of on-street 
parking; 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 62



 

 
 

Subsequent Surveys – Parking occupancy surveys will be undertaken should three 
or more separate complaints that can be reasonably linked to the development site 
be made to Trafford Council within any single 6-month period. These surveys could 
be required at any point from first occupation to 2-years post completion. The 
surveys would need to be undertaken within 6 months of the third complaint being 
received for that zone (subject to neutral traffic conditions); and 

 
TRO Amendments – Following the results of any subsequent parking occupancy 
surveys, it may be appropriate for TROs to be amended/provided in any affected 
zone should it be proven that the parking complaint is reasonably linked to the 
proposed development. 

 
295. The strategy would need to be secured through a S106 Agreement as the LHA 

would require that the applicant pays the full cost of any amendments. The applicant 
has agreed to this requirement. Subject to this TRO and Parking review as mitigation 
should the reduced level of parking associated with the development results in 
unacceptable levels of on street parking, the LHA raise no objections on parking 
grounds.  
 

296. It is the case that the overarching design concept of this development relies on 
low car ownership and this has assisted in providing pleasant streetscapes within 
the site by avoiding large swathes of hardstanding for parking. The site is in a highly 
sustainable location with excellent connectivity via tram or bus, as well as being 
highly accessible for pedestrians and cyclists. This means that sustainable methods 
of transport are a genuine option for journeys to and from the site and it is 
considered that this site typifies the thrust of the NPPF to focus significant 
development in sustainable locations in order to help reduce congestion and 
emissions, and improve air quality and public health.  

 
297. On balance and subject to appropriate conditions and a legal agreement 

requiring the funding of a parking review as set out above, officers consider that 
appropriate supporting evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the level of 
car parking proposed is sufficient and would mitigate for any potential for overspill 
onto surrounding streets.  

 

Accessible Parking  

298. SPD3 includes standards for disabled parking provision and for most uses, 
relates to a proportion of the overall parking provision. For residential development, 
SPD3 states that the level of disabled parking provision will be negotiated on a case-
by-case basis.  
 

299. Following initial comments from the LHA the layout has been amended and now 
includes five disabled parking spaces. This equates to 11% of the apartment parking 
area and 7% of the total parking provision. The disabled bays are provided on each 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 63



 

 
 

parking row area. The LHA notes and accepts the developer’s proposal to provide 
accessibility parking spaces within the development.  

Cycle Parking and Storage Arrangements  

300. SPD3 sets out cycle parking standards for residential development and also 
contains guidance relating to the detailed design of cycle parking facilities to ensure 
these are accessible and secure in the interest of encouraging sustainable travel. 
The minimum cycle parking standards as detailed within SPD3 state one cycle 
parking space is required for each one-bedroom dwelling unit, and one communal or 
two allocated spaces are required for each two or three-bedroom dwelling units. 

  
301. Whilst the overall number of proposed cycle spaces in the original submission 

met the minimum standards (418 spaces), the LHA initially noted that Block C did 
not have the required number of proposed parking spaces for that block. Whilst 
cycle parking across the site exceeds standard requirements as a result of these 
comments the provision in Block C has increased by four spaces so that a cycle 
space is proposed for each residential unit and this is now acceptable.  

 

Elsinore Road  

302. Elsinore Road is a no through route which terminates at a private entrance to 
what appears to be a car park. The LHA initially queried whether or not the land 
owner/authorised users of the parking area still require access along Elsinore Road, 
however the agent for the application has confirmed that the applicant has no control 
over the parking area and as such, it is not possible at this time for the road to be 
stopped up and a turning head provided. 

Adoption 

303. The agent has confirmed that there is no intention by the developer to submit any 
of the internal roads or footways for adoption by the LHA. 

Tram Capacity Survey 

304. TfGM requested a tram capacity survey to ascertain user levels during the AM 
and PM commuter travel peaks and this request was supported by the LHA. A 
Metrolink Impact Assessment was subsequently undertaken and submitted by the 
applicant’s Highways Consultant to examine the impact of the proposed 
development on the Metrolink network in the AM and PM peak hours and the LHA 
and TfGM were consulted on the results. TfGM confirmed that the modal share used 
in the assessment is considered reasonable and the impact is not sufficient to cause 
Metrolink concern and as a result they do not wish to raise an objection to the 
proposal. It is therefore concluded that the information submitted indicates sufficient 
capacity to accommodate future users of the Metrolink generated by the proposed 
development.  

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 64



 

 
 

Proposed Stopping Up of Adopted Highway 

305. A plan indicating areas to be retained and improved and areas to be stopping up 
has been submitted. The agent for the application has stated that no changes to the 
adoption status are proposed to the footway on Skerton Road. The adopted footway 
on Skerton Road is 2m wide and it is the intention to resurface and reinstate the 
footway and retain it all as adopted highway. An area of the western end of Elsinore 
Road is proposed to be stopped up. The footway area to be stopped up is currently 
up to 6m wide and is not required to be this width to accommodate pedestrian flow 
as it leads to a dead end therefore it is proposed to stop this up and but to leave a 
2m footway in the adopted highway. This is in line with the requirements set out in 
the LHA’s original highway comments. The retained adopted footway will be 
resurfaced and reinstated. 
 

306. The red line boundary covers all footways including those that are to be retained 
in the adopted area as works are proposed to these footway areas. As shown on the 
plan, the position of the red line boundary does not infer that the applicant will 
propose stopping up all of the footway area. The stopping up procedure is separate 
to the planning application and the Local Highway Authority will be consulted on that 
application, however the plans has been submitted for clarification purposes and to 
provide reassurance that 2m footways will be retained in adoption on both frontages. 

 
307. The LHA has advised that any proposed stopping up of the adopted highway 

would be subject to an order under S247 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 
1990 and that the LHA and statutory undertakers would be consulted by the 
Department for Transport National Transport Casework Team during the stopping up 
process. Therefore in the event that planning permission is granted, the LHA seek 
an informative advising the applicant of the procedure for a stopping up order.  

 
308. The LHA note that a framework travel plan has been provided in support of the 

application which at this stage, concentrates primarily on providing background 
information and expected deliverables but omits robust targets, measures, and 
incentives to reduce car journeys and promote non-sustainable methods of 
transport. Therefore, the LHA requests a condition requiring a full travel plan to be 
submitted for review and approval in writing within 6 months of the first date of 
occupation. The LHA also request the submission of a Construction Method 
Statement prior to work commencing to ensure that the construction phase of the 
development does not result in any unacceptable highways or amenity impacts. 
These conditions are recommended accordingly.  

 
Conclusion on Highways Impacts  
 
309. It is considered that on balance enough supporting evidence has been provided 

to demonstrate that the ‘residual cumulative impacts’ of the development are not 
considered to be ‘severe’ (as set out in NPPF paragraph 109). The proposed 
development is deemed to be in accordance with local and national planning policy 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 65



 

 
 

in respect of highway impacts and subject to a number of appropriately worded 
planning conditions and obligations, the proposed development is considered to be 
acceptable in this respect. 

 
TREES, LANDSCAPING AND OPEN SPACE 
 
310. Policy R3 of the Core Strategy seeks to protect and enhance the Borough’s 

green infrastructure network. Policy R5 states that all development will be required 
to contribute on an appropriate scale to the provision of the green infrastructure 
network either by way of on-site provision, off-site provision or by way of a financial 
contribution. Both policies are considered to be up to date in terms of the NPPF and 
so full weight can be afforded to them. 

 
Trees and Landscaping 
 
311. The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has considered the application and has 

commented that the existing trees on the site are not protected and are low value, 
self-seeded specimens. There is no objection to their removal.  

 
312. The application is also accompanied by a detailed landscaping plan which 

proposes a good mix of species. The species selection and planting size of the trees 
in and around the site is also considered appropriate and in total 152 new trees are 
proposed across the site. 

 
313. Due to scale and characteristic of the site, a mixture of green infrastructure 

habitats are proposed within the landscaping scheme as follows: 
 

• 152 individual trees; 
• 484 linear meters of ornamental hedgerow planting; 
• 265 m2 of semi-native shrub planting along the site boundaries; 
• 1190 m2 of mixed ornamental and native shrub/herbaceous planting; 
• 300 m2 of grassed areas; and 
• 864m2 of green/brown roofs. 

 
314. The proposed landscaping scheme is considered to provide a robust network of 

green spaces and in combination, the above elements are considered to provide a 
well-structured and diverse GI network and are considered satisfactory in terms of 
the specific Green Infrastructure requirement.  
 

315. Overall, the proposed landscaping scheme is considered to complement and 
enhance the development whilst also contributing to the improvement of the 
Borough’s green infrastructure network and biodiversity. Conditions are 
recommended requiring the implementation and maintenance of the landscaping 
proposed, as well as adequate landscape maintenance for the site. Subject to this, 
the application is considered to be acceptable in this respect. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 66



 

 
 

Open Space and Sports Facilities  
 
Open Space Provision 
 
316. The Council’s adopted SPD1: Planning Obligations states that “large residential 

developments of approximately 100 units, or that provide homes for 300 people or 
more, will need to provide new open space as part of the site design”. Core Strategy 
Policies R3 and R5 provide further clarification on how this could be provided.  
 

317. In accordance with the Core Strategy Policies and SPD, the projected population 
within the proposed development has been estimated to equal 614 people, and the 
requirement is to provide 0.8289 ha of local open space based on the standard of 
1.35ha / 1000 population. Currently, the proposals include the provision of 4,478 m2 
of external open space, (excluding access roads and parking areas). In addition, the 
proposed buildings provide a further 390 m2 of internal amenity space in form of 
Club House and Gym/Amenity Area, and 263 m2 of private balcony space, and the 
open space statement concludes that the overall area of amenity and open space to 
the total area of 5,131 m2 (0.5131 ha). Given the nature and location of the site the 
open space provision is considered to reflect the type of development proposed with 
communal outdoor and indoor space of a high quality. So whilst in terms of quantity 
the development appears to fall short, the quality is considered to be significantly 
higher than in other similar high density schemes. The offer of indoor facilities and 
the reference to the history of the site is all considered to result in high quality, site 
specific open space provision for the residents of the development.  A detailed 
landscaping plan has been provided which indicates considerable thought has been 
given to materials for hard surfacing and species for the soft landscaped area which 
further adds to the high quality environment being proposed. 
 

318. However the internal amenity space/club house, gym/amenity and private 
balcony space are not considered to be local open space in line with Core Strategy 
Policy R5 and SPD1 definitions. On this basis it is considered that the quantum of  
open space provision falls short of the level set out in Core Strategy Policy R2 and 
SPD1 by  3,811sqm (0.381 ha). The shortfall in provision should be met through a 
contribution to the improvement of the quality of open spaces in the locality, due to 
the increased pressure placed on these facilities from new residents.  

 
Play Space Provision  
 
319. The central amenity space has incorporated elements of informal play that fall 

within the category of Local Area of Play (LAP) and covers an area of 436 m2 
(0.0436 ha). This play provision falls short of the standards in R5 and SPD1 for the 
proposed number of new residents, although the informal play provision in the 
central external amenity space is welcomed. The required play provision for the site 
has been estimated to be 570m2 (0.057 ha). The residential capacity of the 2 and 3 
bedroomed units falls just short of the guide numbers for provision of a LEAP 
standard play facilities as per SPD1, so based on the figures in the assessment, 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 67



 

 
 

there is a stated shortfall of play space of 134 sqm and this should be met through a 
contribution towards offsite facilities.  

 

Sports Facilities Provision 
 

320. As the development exceeds 300 no. residential units, Sport England has been 
consulted to provide an initial assessment of outdoor sports provision to be 
assessed against information contained within the Council’s adopted Playing Pitch 
Strategy, in order to determine whether and how the additional demand arising from 
the development can be accommodated locally. 
 

321. No formal on-site sports provision is proposed, and in view of the nature of the 
development in terms of its intended high density, this is considered a reasonable 
approach.  

 
322. Sport England have objected to the application on the basis that no contributions 

are proposed towards formal sports facilities. However this is not a statutory 
objection and would be overcome by the provision of a contribution.  The National 
Planning Practice Guidance states that Sport England’s comments in respect of this 
issue is  advisory only so the decision lies with the Local Planning Authority as to 
what weight this should be given.  

 
323. Based on Sport England’s assessment of additional capacity arising from the 

proposed development, compared with the information in Trafford’s Playing Pitch 
Strategy, a contribution should be sought from the scheme towards the 
provision/improvement of local outdoor sports facilities (pitch cost and associated 
lifecycle cost). This is the only contribution required for outdoor sport and reflects the 
council’s updated approach working with Sport England through the Playing Pitch 
Strategy/Sports Facility Planning model.  

 
Active Design Principles 
 

324. Sport England have also commented that, in conjunction with Public Health 
England, they have produced ‘Active Design’ (October 2015), a guide to planning 
new developments that create the right environment to help people get more active, 
more often in the interests of health and wellbeing. The guidance sets out ten key 
principles for ensuring new developments incorporate opportunities for people to 
take part in sport and physical activity. They comment that the development should 
seek to incorporate these principles.  
 

325. Following these comments the supporting open space statement has set out 
how, in order to encourage the informal uses for physical activities, the site’s layout 
seeks to achieve the Active Design Principles. This states that the proposed 
landscaping scheme envisions a series of flexible, well-connected spaces that 
provide an opportunity for a wide range of activities within the external areas and the 
scheme prioritises pedestrian movements over vehicles.  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 68



 

 
 

 
326. Key external areas are linked to the central courtyard and have been designed 

as simple, multi-functional spaces that allow flexibility and can be easily adapted to 
suit resident’s needs. These areas will be equipped with high quality street furniture, 
including informal play elements. The proposals include provision of the Clubhouse 
and a gym and the internal and external areas will be well connected and spill out 
and to encourage active use of the spaces. Community involvement and active 
participation in shaping of the external communal areas will be encouraged and the 
site will be subject to a management and maintenance regime, ensuring all the 
proposed elements are of high standard and safe to use. 

 
Conclusion on Open Space and Sports Facilities  
 

327. The proposed indoor and outdoor communal spaces are considered to be high 
quality and well thought out in view of the high density nature of the scheme. While it 
is acknowledged that the provision doesn’t technically comply with the SPD in terms 
of quantity, what is proposed is considered to be an appropriate and carefully 
conceived response to the site. The position in relation to specific planning 
contributions and viability are set out within the ‘Developer Contributions and 
Viability’ section of this report and this concludes that the provision of the required 
contributions towards open space and sports provision, in addition to the education 
contribution and provision of on-site affordable housing would not be viable and 
Officers are satisfied with this conclusion based on the viability information 
submitted.  
 

328. It is of relevance that the site is located in Longford Ward, where access to open 
space is sufficient due to the presence of large parks and open spaces such as 
Seymour Park, Longford Park and Turn Moss playing fields further away to the 
south. It is also acknowledged that more immediate access, in line with the Council’s 
Core Strategy and SPD1 policies, is more limited and that residential developments 
can have a cumulative effect. 

 
329. The proposals are considered to make best use of the site by delivering a 

significant number of new homes on a brownfield site in a location that is well served 
by public transport. This accords with the Government’s aim of achieving appropriate 
densities, particularly in the case of new residential development and in 
circumstances where brownfield land can be exploited.  

 
330. Some of the proposed areas of amenity space and public realm such as the 

colonnade and clubhouse are considered positive aspects of the scheme but do not 
technically perform the role of recreational open space as described in council 
policy. The provision of these areas has not therefore been taken into account in the 
calculation of the contributions. Therefore whilst the level of open space and play 
space does not meet the standards in SPD1 it is considered that the proposed 
landscaping and communal amenity spaces are well considered, appropriate and 
will result in a pleasant environment for future occupiers. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 69



 

 
 

 
ECOLOGY 
 
331. Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy seeks to ensure that all developments 

protect and enhance the Borough’s biodiversity. In addition, Paragraph 175 of the 
NPPF states that “if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development 
cannot be avoided…adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then 
planning permission should be refused”. 
 

332. Policy R2 of the Core Strategy (Natural Environment) is considered to be 
consistent with the NPPF and therefore up to date as it comprises the local 
expression of the NPPF’s emphasis on conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. Accordingly, full weight can be attached to it in the decision making 
process. 

 
333. Paragraph 175 d) of the NPPF requires developments to take opportunities to 

incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around developments.  

 
334. The application was accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report. 

The GM Ecology Unit (GMEU) have been consulted and have stated that the 
ecological consultants have undertaken a detailed and an appropriate level of 
survey. The appraisal found the site to have negligible ecological value and the 
buildings on site were in the process of being demolished. 

 
335. The GMEU go on to state that they would expect any redevelopment scheme to 

include measures to enhance biodiversity at the site, in line with the requirements of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. The supporting appraisal makes 
recommendations for such biodiversity enhancement measures to be included within 
the redevelopment scheme and these include native species planting, bug hotels, 
living walls and integrated bat and bird boxes. 

 
336. The GMEU commented in relation to the original submission that these 

recommendations did not appear to have been included in the landscaping plans 
which should therefore be amended to include these measures. 

 
337. The landscape plans have subsequently been amended to incorporate the 

recommendations of the ecology report through the use of an increased percentage 
of native species within the planting mixes, including many species which have a 
high wildlife value due to their flowers and berries, the provision of 5 no. bug hotels 
along the site perimeters and indicative locations for 10 No. bird/bat boxes within the 
layout (details to be confirmed by an ecologist). These measures to improve 
biodiversity can be secured through planning conditions.  

 
338. Given the quality of the existing site in biodiversity terms, subject to the 

abovementioned condition requiring biodiversity enhancements it is considered that 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 70



 

 
 

the scheme would deliver net gain for biodiversity, compliant with Policy R2 of the 
Core Strategy and the NPPF.  

 
FLOODING, DRAINAGE AND CONTAMINATION 
 
Flooding and Drainage 
 
339. Policy L5 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that “the Council will seek to 

control development in areas at risk of flooding, having regard to the vulnerability of 
the proposed use and the level of risk in the specific location”. At the national level, 
NPPF paragraph 155 has similar aims, seeking to ensure that development in high 
risk areas of flooding is safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  
 

340. The site is located within flood zone 1 and the probability of flooding is low. 
Additional drainage information has been submitted at the request of the LLFA which 
states that the surface water system will accommodate flows on-site up to and 
including the 1 in 100-year critical duration event, with an allowance for climate 
change. A total storage capacity of approximately 190m3 Blue Roof and 240m3 
cellular storage will be provided and the system will have a flow control device 
limiting surface water discharge to 26.5l/s, equivalent to the 1:100 greenfield run-off 
rate. Where possible all hard landscaping will be laid to fall towards areas of soft 
landscaping. Roads will be positively drained through the use of road gulleys and 
attenuation tanks will utilise silt traps. 

 
341. The Lead Local Flood Authority has commented that they have no objections in 

principle to the development on this basis subject to a conditions requiring the 
development to be carried out in accordance with the submitted Drainage Strategy 
and Addendum and requiring long term maintenance and management 
arrangements to be submitted and agreed.     United Utilities have also commented 
that sustainable drainage techniques for surface water drainage should be 
incorporated and that foul and surface water should be drained on separate 
systems.  

 
Contamination  
 
342. Policy L5 also states that ‘Development that has potential to cause adverse 

pollution (of air, light, water, ground), noise or vibration will not be permitted unless it 
can be demonstrated that adequate mitigation measures can be put in place’. 
 

343. In relation to site contamination the Council’s Pollution and Housing section have 
considered the content of the Phase 1 contaminated land review submitted in 
support of the application. The review states that the site has undergone multiple 
stages of development in different locations within the site. This includes an 
Engineering Works, Electricity Substation, Research Laboratory and a Flour Mill and 
confirms the potential presence of contamination across the site which will require 
further investigation to ensure that the site can be made suitable for the proposed 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 71



 

 
 

residential usage. The Pollution and Housing section have stated that to ensure that 
suitable investigation and remediation takes place to deal with any contamination 
present across the site, contaminated land conditions are required and they are 
recommended accordingly. 

 
344. Subject to the conditions recommended above is it is considered that the scheme 

is compliant with the requirements of Policy L5 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF.  
 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
345. A number of comments received in relation to the first round of neighbour 

consultation carried out in March 2020 related to concerns about the impact of Covid 
19 on procedural matters. A second full 21 day neighbour re-consultation has been 
carried out in order that residents have had time to further consider the proposals. In 
addition, the application is being considered by the Planning and Development 
Management Committee at a public meeting and is not being determined under 
delegated powers. The Council has fulfilled its statutory requirements in relation to 
consultation and publicity.  
 

346. Comments have been received which state that the site should have been 
included in the Civic Quarter Plan. The site is not located in the Civic Quarter 
Masterplan and such comments are a matter for the Civic Quarter AAP consultation 
process and not for the consideration of this specific application.  

 
347. In relation to comments that the development should be kept clean, the site 

would be operated by a management company who would be responsible for this.  

 
348. It is not considered to be the case that apartments by their nature, result in 

substandard conditions for occupiers and transient communities. This development 
has been designed to provide good quality accommodation to address local housing 
need. This reflects Government advice in relation to the provision of high density 
developments in sustainable locations close to transport links and local services. 

 
349. With regards to the issues raised by the adjacent landowner, the Council has 

facilitated contact between the two parties and it is understood that discussions have 
since taken place. It is considered that this is essentially a private matter between 
the two parties and for the reasons set out under the ‘Principle’ section of this report 
it is not considered that the proposal is contrary to policy.  

 
 

DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS AND VIABILITY 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
350. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and is 

located in the cold charging zone for residential development, consequently private 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 72



 

 
 

market houses will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £20 per square metre, and 
apartments will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £0 per square metre, in line with 
Trafford’s CIL charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014).  
 

351. However developments that provide affordable housing can apply for relief from 
paying CIL on those affordable units. Subject to the relevant criteria being met, relief 
from paying CIL can be granted and there the CIL payments will be reduced 
according. 

 
Affordable Housing 
 
352. The site falls within a ‘Cold’ market location for the purposes of applying Core 

Strategy Policy L2 and with the Borough now in ‘Good’ market conditions, this would 
in most cases relate to a requirement for 10 per cent of the proposed residential 
units provided to be delivered on an affordable basis. 
 

353. The applicant’s submitted Viability Appraisal has been reviewed by the Local 
Planning Authority’s viability consultant and following discussions with the applicant, 
agreement to deliver 10 per cent on-site affordable housing (intermediate housing) in 
accordance with L2, has been reached to be secured via a section 106 legal 
agreement.  

 
Education 

 
354. Policy L2.2 states that residential development will be appropriately located in 

terms of access to existing community facilities and/or delivers complementary 
improvements to schools. 

 
355. Based on the Department for Education’s 2021-22 rate per place, the calculation 

provided by Trafford Education shows that the expected primary pupil yield of the 
development would equate to a contribution of approximately £573,678. It is noted 
that Lostock School has sufficient permanent vacancies to accommodate the 
secondary yield of the proposed development. Therefore a secondary contribution 
will not be required in this instance. The applicant has agreed to provide the full 
education contribution of £573,678 to be secured via a section 106 legal agreement. 

 
Health 

 
356. Policy L2.2 states that residential development will be appropriately located in 

terms of access to existing community facilities and/or delivers complementary 
improvements to health facilities.  
 

357. No healthcare facilities are proposed as part of the development and as such, it 
is necessary to consider whether a financial contribution towards off-site 
improvements would be appropriate. Trafford CCG has been consulted and advises 
that Old Trafford and North Trafford Medical Practices on Seymour Grove and the 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 73



 

 
 

Limelight Health and Wellbeing Hub on Shrewsbury Street are all in the vicinity of 
the application site and have the capacity to absorb the residents generated by this 
development. Consequently no financial contribution is sought towards health 
provision. 

 
Open Space and Sport 

 
358. Core Strategy Policy L8 states that the Council will seek contributions towards 

Spatial Green Infrastructure, such as parks, play areas and outdoor sports facilities. 
SPD1 accepts that if a sufficient level of local open space cannot be provided on 
site, off-site improvements to nearby open space can be made by way of a financial 
contribution. 
 

359. As set out elsewhere in this report the proposed on-site open space provision 
includes both internal and external communal amenity spaces and this includes 
areas of open space and informal play provision.  

 
360. In total 5131 m2 of amenity space would be provided although only 4478 m2 is 

considered to constitute policy compliant local open space. 436 m2 of play space 
provision is proposed. Whilst this is considered to be a reasonable amount for a site 
of this size, the level of open space and play provision does fall short of the level set 
out in Core Strategy Policy R2 and SPD1, largely due to the high density of 
development proposed. For the same reason no formal outdoor sports provision is 
proposed on the site.  

 
361. The relevant policy documents advise that the development should provide 

approximately 8289 m2 of recreational open space on site and 570 m2 of play 
provision on site. This would represent a small shortfall of 3,811 m2 of open space 
and 134 m2 of play provision.  

 
362. SPD1 accepts that if a sufficient level of local open space, play space provision 

or outdoor sport facilities cannot be provided on site, off-site improvements to nearby 
open space and facilities can be made by way of a financial contribution. 

 
363. The required contributions payable have been calculated as follows based on 

SPD1: 
 

Open Space provision - £45,617.67 
Play Space provision - £36,271 

 
364. Based on Sport England Assessment of outdoor sports provision and information 

contained within the Council’s adopted Playing Pitch Strategy the following 
contribution has been calculated:- 

 
Outdoor sport provision - £208,866 (pitch cost of £184,903 and associated 
lifecycle cost of £23,963). 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 74



 

 
 

 

365. The applicant’s submitted Viability Appraisal has demonstrated that payment of a 
spatial green infrastructure contribution in addition to the provision of policy 
compliant on-site affordable housing and education contributions, would not enable 
the development to be viably delivered.  
 

366. Overall it is considered that the development will contribute on a reasonable 
scale to open space and informal play facilities on-site and the site is within a ward 
where there is significant access to open space due to the existence of large parks 
and open spaces. It is however acknowledged that that the proposed provision does 
not comply fully with the requirements of SPD1. Similarly no outdoor sports provision 
is provided on site.  

 
367. The viability position has been assessed and is accepted based on the submitted 

information and it is considered that the need for affordable housing and education 
contributions are greater in this location. Therefore when the viability position is 
taken into account and the shortfall in the provision of local open space and outdoor 
sport facilities is weighed against the benefits of the scheme as a whole the proposal 
is considered acceptable. It is however the case that the lack of a financial 
contribution toward open space and sports would result in a level of harm and will be 
considered as part of the overall planning balance below. 

 
Summary of developer contributions 
 
368. Following a robust review of the submitted Viability Appraisal and subsequent 

discussions between the Local Planning Authority and the applicant, together with 
their respective viability consultants, Officers are satisfied that the maximum viable 
level of developer contributions will be provided. This comprises a policy complaint 
10 per cent of on-site affordable housing (intermediate housing), together with a 
financial contribution of £573,678 towards primary education provision in the area. 
 

369. Officers are satisfied that the appraisal has demonstrated that any greater level 
of contributions would render the scheme unviable and given the benefits of the 
scheme as a whole listed elsewhere in this report, it is considered that the proposed 
level of contribution  should be supported. The lack of a financial contribution toward 
open space and sports provision are however noted and this would result in some 
adverse impact and this will be considered as part of the overall planning balance 
below. 

 
 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
370. Paragraph 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 

planning applications should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 75



 

 
 

371. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions, and as the 
Government’s expression of planning policy and how this should be applied, should 
be given significant weight in the decision making process. As the Council does not 
have a five year supply of housing land, the tilted balance in Paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF is engaged. An assessment of the scheme against Paragraph 11(d)(i) does 
not suggest that there is a clear reason for refusal of the application when 
considering habitat protection, heritage or flood risk.  
 

372. The proposal complies with the development plan which would indicate that 
planning permission should be granted. There are no material considerations, either 
in the NPPF or otherwise which would suggest a different decision should be 
reached.  

 
373. However, as the tilted balance in Paragraph 11 of the NPPF is triggered it is 

necessary to carry out an assessment of whether the adverse impacts of the 
development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

 
Adverse Impacts 
 
374. The following adverse impacts of granting permission have been identified:  
 

- Minor harm to the setting of Old Trafford Bowling Club, a non-designated 
heritage asset. This represents ‘less than substantial harm’ in NPPF terms. 

 

- Lack of contributions towards off-site open space, play space and sports 
provision which has raised a non-statutory objection from Sport England 

 
- Amenity impacts on future occupiers of the development are not fully compliant 

with the guidelines set out in SPG1 resulting in minor harm 
  

375. These adverse impacts must be assessed as to whether they outweigh the 
benefits of granting permission when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a 
whole.  

 
 
Scheme Benefits 

 
376. The main benefits that would be delivered by the proposed development are 

considered to be as follows: - 
 

- The delivery of 367 no. new homes on a brownfield site in a highly sustainable 
location. The proposals would contribute significantly towards addressing the 
identified housing land supply shortfall and the Council’s policy aspiration to 
maximise the use of previously developed land for housing. Substantial weight 
has been given to this benefit and the contribution of the development to the 
regeneration of the area. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 76



 

 
 

 
- 10 per cent of the total number of dwellings will be delivered as affordable units 

on-site and substantial weight is afforded to this. 
 

- Provision of the full contribution required towards the improvement of off-site 
primary education facilities. 
 

- Delivery of a well-designed, high quality development for future occupiers 
 

- The proposals would maximise the benefits associated with a brownfield site in a 
highly accessible location, re-using significant areas of previously developed 
land, for housing which will contribute positively to the Council’s policy aspiration 
to maximise the use of previously developed land for housing. 

 

- Biodiversity improvements and significant tree planting  
 

- Social and environmental benefits associated with the provision of on-site 
publicly accessible open space and public realm 
 

- New homes bonus 
 

- Improved pedestrian and cycle connectivity 
 

- Economic benefits that will flow from construction and occupation. Additional 
expenditure into the local economy will support existing services in the area. 

 
 
Conclusion 
 
377. The main adverse impacts, relate to the inability of the development to provide a 

contribution towards off site open space and sports improvements and the less than 
substantial harm identified to a non-designated heritage asset.  
 

378. The benefits arising from the scheme are numerous and a number of them can 
be given significant weight. Substantial weight is given to the contribution the 
scheme will make to the Council’s five year housing land supply, the high quality 
development of previously developed land in a highly sustainable location and the 
regenerative benefits of the scheme overall. Substantial weight is also afforded to 
the provision of on-site affordable housing provision and full education contribution. 
Significant weight is also given to the economic benefits of the scheme, arising both 
during construction and following completion of the development. Weight is also 
afforded to the other benefits listed above. 

 
379. Having carried out the weighted balancing exercise under Paragraph 11 (d)(ii) of 

the NPPF, it is considered that the adverse impacts of granting planning permission 
would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of doing so. Indeed 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 77



 

 
 

the benefits of the scheme are considered to significantly outweigh the adverse 
impacts identified above. The application is therefore recommended for approval. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Members resolve that they would be MINDED TO GRANT planning permission for 
the development and that the determination of the application hereafter be deferred and 
delegated to the Head of Planning and Development as follows:- 
 

(i) To complete a suitable legal agreement under S106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to secure: 

 

 The provision of 10 per cent affordable housing on site  

 A financial contribution of £573,678 towards off-site primary education 
facilities; 

 A commitment to undertake and/or fund parking surveys on surrounding 
streets and where necessary, to seek and fund Traffic Regulation Orders 
and extensions to resident parking schemes. 

 The retention of Tim Groom Architects in the role of design certifier 
throughout the construction period, or alternatively to secure a commuted 
sum to cover the professional fees required to enable the local planning 
authority and developer to work together to secure the involvement of an 
architectural practice of their choice in the role of design certifier; 

 
(ii) To carry out minor drafting amendments to any planning condition. 

 
(iii) To have discretion to determine the application appropriately in the 

circumstances where a S106 agreement has not been completed within three 
months of the resolution to grant planning permission. 

 
(iv) That upon satisfactory completion of the above legal agreement that planning 

permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions (unless amended by 
(ii) above): 

 
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 

of this permission. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans:- 
 
DR_A_0300 – Ground Floor Plan P5 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 78



 

 
 

DR_A_0301- First Floor Plan P4 
DR_A_0302 - Second Floor Plan P4 
DR_A_0303 -Third Floor Plan P4 
DR_A_0304 - Fourth Floor Plan P4 
DR_A_0305 - Fifth Floor Plan P4  
DR_A_0306 - Sixth Floor Plan P5 
DR_A_0307 - Seventh Floor Plan P5 
DR_A_0308   - Eighth Floor Plan P5 
DR_A_0309 - Ninth Floor Plan P5 
DR_A_0310 - Tenth Floor Plan P5 

 
DR_A_0400 - Site Section AA & BB P3 
DR_A_0401 - Site Section CC & DD P3  

 
DR_A_0500 - East & West Elevation - Skerton Road P5 
DR_A_0501 - East Elevation - Internal Street P5 
DR_A_0502 - North & South Elevations P5 

 
DR_A_0510 - Detailed Strip Elevations P3 
DR_A_0511 - Town House Types P3 

 
DR_A_0520 - GA Elevations Block A P3 
DR_A_0521 - GA Elevations Block B (1) P5 
DR_A_0522 - GA Elevations Block B (2) P4 
DR_A_0523 - GA Elevations Block C P4 
DR_A_0524 - GA Elevations Block D P4 
DR_A_0525 - GA Elevations Block E P4 

 
DR_A_2100 – Strip Sections A1-A3 P1 
DR_A_2101 – Strip Sections D1-D2 P1 

 
DR_A_1001 – Street Views P2 
DR_A_1002 – Clubhouse Views P1 
DR_A_1005 – Clubhouse Views 02 P1 
DR_A_1006 – Clubhouse Views 03 P1 
DR_A_1007 – CGI View P3 
DR_A_1008 – CGI Townhouse P2 
DR_A_1010 - Axo Upper Floors P2 

 
CGI_A_00_P1_VIEW 1 P1 
CGI_A_00_P1_VIEW 2 P1 
CGI_A_00_P1_VIEW 3 P1 
CGI_A_00_P1_VIEW 4 P1 
CGI_A_00_P1_VIEW 5 P1 
CGI_A_00_P1_VIEW 6 P1 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 79



 

 
 

UG_384_LAN_DET_DRW_06 P01 – Town House Front Garden  
UG_384_LAN_GA_DRW_01 P03 - General Arrangement  
UG_384_LAN_HL_DRW_02 P03 – Hard Landscape Plan 
UG_384_LAN_SL_DRW_03 P03 - Soft Landscape Plan 
 
SK21975-102 - Swept Path Analysis Western Access - Elsinore Road 
SK21975-201 – Highway Stopping Up and Improvement Proposals  
  
TB-REN-ZZ-00-DR-C-0050 Rev. P03 (Below Ground Drainage Strategy)  
TB-REN-ZZ-00-DR-C-0056 Rev. P01 (Blue Roof Storage Estimates)  
 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application, no above-ground 

construction works shall take place until samples and full specifications of all 
materials to be used externally on all parts of the buildings hereby approved have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
specifications shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. The 
samples shall include constructed panels of all proposed brickwork illustrating the 
type of joint, the type of bonding and the colour of the mortar to be used, with these 
panels available on site for inspection, and retained for the duration of the build. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. No above-ground construction works shall take place unless and until a detailed 
façade schedule for all elevations of the building has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The schedule shall be provided in 
tabulated form with cross referencing to submitted drawings, include the provision of 
further additional drawings and the building of sample panels on site as necessary 
and shall include: 
(i) All brickwork detailing 
(ii) All fenestration details and recesses 
(iii) All entrances into the buildings 
(iv) The siting of any equipment on the roofs of the development  
(v) The means of dealing with rainwater and any necessary rainwater goods that 
may be visible on the external façade of the building 
(vi) The siting of any external façade structures such as meter boxes 
 
Development shall proceed in accordance with the approved detailed façade 
schedule. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 80



 

 
 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in protecting the original design intent 
and quality of the proposed development, having regard to Core Strategy Policy L7 
and the National Planning Policy Framework 

 
5. a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the development 

hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of both hard and soft 
landscaping works including green / brown roofs have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include a full 
specification of all boundary treatments across the site, details of street furniture and 
play equipment, the formation of any banks, terraces or other earthworks, hard 
surfaced areas and materials, planting plans, specifications and schedules (including 
planting size, species and numbers/densities), existing plants / trees to be retained 
and a scheme for the timing / phasing of implementation works. Any trees to be 
planted must have adequate rooting volume available to so that they can grow for 
the whole of their lifespan. Where this is not possible, raft systems shall be used, 
details of which shall be provided,  including technical drawings of the type of system 
to be used, the area that the system will cover and the type and volume of soil to be 
used (structural soils will not be acceptable). 
(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the next planting season 
following final occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the 
sooner.  
(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition which 
are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or become 
seriously diseased shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees or 
shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies L7, 
R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
6. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a schedule of 

landscape maintenance for the lifetime of the development has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The schedule shall include 
details of the arrangements for its implementation. Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved schedule. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies L7, 
R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
7. No above ground construction works shall take place unless and until a Movement, 

Parking and Servicing Management Strategy for the development has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 81



 

 
 

include plans showing details of the areas for the movement, loading, unloading and 
parking of vehicles. The submitted Strategy shall also include details of how any 
parking spaces will be allocated and appropriately managed and shall include details 
for the provision, access and management of disabled parking facilities and 
servicing arrangements. The approved Strategy shall be implemented upon first 
occupation of the development and adhered to at all times thereafter. 

 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made within the site for the 
accommodation of vehicles attracted to or generated by the proposed development, 
having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, Supplementary 
Planning Document 3: Parking Standards and Design and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
8. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans no dwellings shall be 

occupied unless and details of the proposed secure cycle storage for each block has 
first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented before the development is brought into use 
and shall be retained at all times thereafter.  
 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory cycle parking provision is made in the interests 
of promoting sustainable development, having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document 3: 
Parking Standards and Design and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. No above-ground construction works shall take place unless and until detailed plans 

and a schedule of necessary highway works (including a timetable for the works) 
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The works 
shall include: 
- reinstatement of redundant vehicular crossovers to adoptable standard 
- relocation of street lighting columns  
- provision of new vehicular crossovers to adoptable standards 
 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
timetable and retained thereafter. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and visual amenity having regard to 
Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 

10. Within 6 months of the first date of occupation of the development hereby permitted 
a full Travel Plan, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The plan shall include :  
- Realistic and quantifiable targets to reduce car travel and increase use of non-car 
modes; 
- Targets to be continuously reviewed and monitored against the baseline which will 
be established within 3 (three)-months of the first date of occupation; 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 82



 

 
 

- Effective measures and incentives to promote sustainable transport options for 
residents and visitors; 
- Residents travel surveys to be completed every 12 months from the date of first 
occupation. 

 

The approved Full Travel Plan shall thereafter be implemented for a period of not 

less than 10 (ten) years from the first date of operation. 

 

Reason: To reduce car travel to and from the site in the interests of sustainability 
and highway safety, having regard to Policy L4 and Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11. Other than the demolition of buildings and structures down to ground level, and site 

clearance works, including tree felling, no development shall take place until an 
investigation and risk assessment in relation to contamination on site (in addition to 
any assessment provided with the planning application) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall 
investigate the nature and extent of any contamination on the site (whether or not it 
originates on the site). The assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons 
and a written report of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any development takes place other than the excluded 
works listed above. The submitted report shall include: 

 
i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination  
ii) an assessment of the potential risks to human health, property (existing or 
proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland, and service lines 
and pipes, adjoining land, ground waters and surface waters, ecological systems, 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 
proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site.  
iv) a remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures required 
and how they are to be undertaken 
v) a verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy are complete and 
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the approved 
remediation strategy before the first occupation of the development hereby 
approved.  

 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the health of future occupiers in 
accordance with Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. The assessment is required prior to development taking 
place on site to mitigate risks to site operatives.  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 83



 

 
 

 
12. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a verification report 

demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy and 
the effectiveness of the remediation has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall include results of sampling and 
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to 
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include 
any plan, where required (a "long-term monitoring and maintenance plan") for 
longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action, as identified in the verification plan. The long-term monitoring 
and maintenance plan shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the health of future occupiers in 
accordance with Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
 

13. The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Site Wide Drainage Strategy Rev 02 (issue dated 07/04/20) by 
Renaissance and Technical Addendum  ref. TB-REN-ZZ-ZZ-RP-C-0001 dated 
10/06/20 by Renaissance and the following mitigation measures detailed within the 
Drainage Strategy: 

 

 Limiting the surface water run-off to: 1:1  - 14.7 l/s 

1:30 - 24.4 l/s 
1:100 - 26.5 l/s 
 

 Provision of attenuation flood storage on the site to a 1:100 year plus climate 
change standard: 

190m3 Blue Roof Storage 
240m3 Cellular Storage 
 
In accordance with the Drawing Numbers: 
TB-REN-ZZ-00-DR-C-0050 Rev. P03 (Below Ground Drainage Strategy)  
TB-REN-ZZ-00-DR-C-0056 Rev. P01 (Blue Roof Storage Estimates)  

 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the approved 
details before the first occupation of the development hereby approved and retained 
thereafter.  

Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of 
surface water from the site having regard to Policy L5 and Policy L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 84



 

 
 

14. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a management and 
maintenance plan for the sustainable drainage scheme for the lifetime of the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The plan shall include the arrangements for adoption by an appropriate 
public body or statutory undertaker, management and maintenance by a Residents’ 
Management Company or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the 
sustainable drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 

 

Reason: To prevent increased risk of flooding; to improve and protect water quality; 
to improve habitat and amenity; and to ensure the future maintenance of the 
sustainable drainage structures having regard to Policy L5 and Policy L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
15. The site shall be drained via separate systems for the disposal of foul and surface 

water. 
 

Reason: To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of the 
water environment, having regard to Policy L5 and Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
16. Prior to any above ground construction work first taking place, a scheme detailing 

the Biodiversity Enhancement Measures proposed on the site, which shall include 
bat and bird boxes / bricks and bug hotels, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented 
prior to first occupation and retained thereafter. 

 
Reason:  In order to enhance the biodiversity of the site and to mitigate any potential 
loss of habitat having regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
17. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until full 

details of the provision of at least one electric vehicle (EV) charge point (minimum 
7kWh) for every residential dwelling with dedicated parking or one electric vehicle 
(EV) charge point (minimum 7kWh) for every 10 car parking spaces for unallocated 
parking has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The EV charging facilities shall thereafter be installed in accordance with 
the approved details before the development is first occupied or brought into use 
and retained thereafter in working order.   

 
Reason: In the interests of environmental protection having regard to Policy L5 of 
the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18. The development hereby approved shall be designed and constructed in accordance 

with the recommendations contained within sections 3.3 of the submitted Crime 
Impact Statement Version B: 28/02/20 Reference: 2020/0054/CIS/01 and the 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 85



 

 
 

physical security specifications set out in section 4  of that document. The approved 
measures shall be retained and maintained thereafter.  

 
Reason: In the interests of crime prevention and community safety, having regard to 
Core Strategy Policy L7 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
19. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout 
the demolition/construction period. The Statement shall provide for: 
 
i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors (all within the site) 
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials (all within the site) including times of 
access/egress 
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
iv. the erection and maintenance of security hoardings including decorative displays 
and information for members of the public, including contact details of the site 
manager  
v. wheel washing facilities, including measures for keeping the highway clean 
vi. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works 
vii. proposed days and hours of demolition and construction activity (in accordance 
with Trafford Councils recommended hours of operation for construction works) 
viii. measures to prevent disturbance to adjacent dwellings from noise and vibration 
and details as to how this will be monitored, including the impact of any piling activity 
and plant such as generators,  
ix. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt throughout the demolition, 
earthworks and construction phases of the development and procedures to be 
adopted in response to complaints of fugitive dust emissions. The measures shall 
reflect the Fugitive Dust Emission Mitigation Measures detailed the Air Quality 
Assessment prepared by Redmore Environmental Ltd. (Ref: 2932 r3, 25th February 
2020) 
 
Reason: To ensure that appropriate details are agreed before works start on site and 
to minimise disturbance and nuisance to occupiers of nearby properties and users of 
the highway and in the interests of air quality having regard to Policies L4, L5 and L7 
of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
details are required prior to development taking place on site as any works 
undertaken beforehand, including preliminary works, could result in adverse 
residential amenity and highway impacts. 

 
20. Prior to the development being brought into use, a waste management strategy shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
submitted plan shall include hours for collection or disposal and details of bin stores 
for both the gym, clubhouse and residential units, which shall include 
accommodation for separate recycling receptacles in addition to other household 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 86



 

 
 

waste. The details / measures set out in the approved scheme shall be implemented 
and adhered to thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and residential amenity and to ensure 
satisfactory arrangements are in place for the disposal of refuse (including 
recyclables), having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
21. No above ground construction works shall take place until a full external lighting 

scheme and a Lighting Impact Assessment has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority in respect of exterior lighting installations. 
The assessment should demonstrate that the impact of proposed exterior lighting 
into habitable windows, either within or off-site, would be within acceptable margins, 
in compliance with the Institution of Lighting Professionals’ Guidance Note 01/20 
‘Guidance notes for the reduction of obtrusive light’.  The approved details, including 
any necessary mitigation measures, shall be implemented in full before the 
development hereby permitted is first occupied and shall be retained thereafter in 
working order.  

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and safety having regard to Policy L7 
of the Trafford Council and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
22. No above ground construction works shall take place until a strategy for energy 

efficiency and low/zero carbon technologies for the development has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This strategy shall 
demonstrate how carbon emissions of at least 30 per cent below the Building 
Regulations Target Emissions Rate shall be achieved. The approved strategy shall 
be implemented in full prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted 
or in accordance with a phased approach that has first been submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be retained thereafter.  

 
Reason: In the interests of achieving a reduction in carbon emissions, having regard 
to Policy L5 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
23. No works to the superstructure above ground floor slab (excluding the core) or to the 

envelope of the residential apartments shall take place until an external noise 
mitigation scheme for the residential apartments has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall, as a 
minimum, demonstrate the following: 
 
- Detailed (1/1 and 1/3 octave band) sound reduction performance specifications 

for the external walls, windows and exterior doors  
- Calculations to demonstrate compliance with the internal noise level criteria of 

section 9.2 of the Noise Impact Assessment (NIA) prepared by Hann Tucker 
Associates Ltd. (ref: 26911/NIA1, date: 13 May 2020)     

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 87



 

 
 

- Calculations to demonstrate that external industrial noise ingress to the 
residential apartments will not exceed an internal noise limit derived from a 
subtraction of 5 dB from Noise Rating curve NR25 in each 1/1 octave band 
spectrum  

- A strategy for the alternative means of ventilation of the residential apartments 
and mitigation measures to address the possibility of overheating, where 
windows and doors are required to remain closed, in order to achieve compliance 
with the above internal noise criteria and having regard to the ANC / IOA 
Acoustics Ventilation and Overheating Residential Design Guide (January 2020 
Version 1.1)  

- Details of measures to protect outdoor living areas, including apartment 
balconies intended to be used by residents for relaxation and recreation, from 
excessive noise impact 

 
All mitigation measures shall be installed in accordance with the approved scheme, 
and a verification report providing sufficient information to demonstrate compliance 
with this requirement, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any of the residential apartments hereby approved are 
occupied. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the 
Trafford Council and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
24. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a report shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate 
how the noise level (LAr) from all external fixed plant and machinery, when rated in 
accordance with BS 4142: 2014, will not exceed 44dB between 07:00-23:00 hrs and 
38dB between 23:00-07:00 hrs at 1m from residential windows.  Any mitigation 
measures required to achieve compliance with this requirement shall be retained 
thereafter in working order. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and safety having regard to Policy L7 
of the Trafford Council and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
25. Prior to the first operation of the ‘Clubhouse’ at the development hereby permitted, a 

Clubhouse Operator’s Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This plan shall detail controls to protect local 
residential amenity (including hours of use) from undue impact, including from any 
entertainment, organised activities and events, the use of external areas by users 
and from servicing, waste collections and deliveries.  The operation of the 
Clubhouse shall be in carried out in accordance with the approved Operator’s 
Management Plan thereafter. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and safety having regard to Policy L7 
of the Trafford Council and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 88



 

 
 

26. No development shall take place until details of the ground floor slab for the 
gym/amenity space have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The submitted information shall demonstrate that the slab will be 
sufficiently isolated from the remaining structure in order to suitably restrict the 
transfer of structural-borne noise from the operation of the gym/amenity space to 
adjoining dwellings. Development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.  

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and safety having regard to Policy L7 
of the Trafford Council and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
27. Prior to any works taking place to the superstructure above ground floor slab 

(excluding the core), an assessment of the noise impact from the operation of the 
gym/amenity space into adjoining and adjacent dwellings shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall detail a 
scheme of mitigation measures to suitably address any potential for adverse noise 
impact.  The approved mitigation scheme shall be implemented prior to the first 
operation of the gym/amenity space and retained thereafter in working order. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and safety having regard to Policy L7 
of the Trafford Council and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
28. The use of parts of the development as a Clubhouse and Gym shall remain ancillary 

to the main residential use of the wider development hereby permitted and shall not 
be occupied or operated independently of the main residential use of the site.  

 
Reason: To prevent the establishment of a separate Clubhouse or Gym operation in 
the interests of the residential amenities of the area, having regard to Policy L7 of 
the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

 
 
 
JJ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 89



��

5

3

SL

Tu
n

n
el

Morton House

Garage

El S
ub S

ta

7

Mill

WB

TENNIS STREET
Tks

G
ro

ve H
o

u
se

ELSIN
ORE R

OAD

ELSIN
ORE R

OAD

Tanks

Station
Ambulance

Carlton Ave

23

5

El S
ub S

ta

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

100270/FUL/20

Land Bound By Elsinore Road And Skerton Road, Stretford (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date 15/10/2020

Trafford Council

06/10/2020

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 90



 

 
 

WARD: Brooklands 
 

100835/FUL/20 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Alterations to existing dwelling to form 2no. dwellings. Remodelling 
works to include; raising of ridge height from 7.8m to 9m, 2 and 2.5 
storey extensions to front, part two storey, part single storey 
extensions to the rear and side and 2 no. dormers to the rear, 
associated external works and alterations to existing garage to 
form a double carport. 

 
165A Marsland Road, Sale, M33 3WE 
 

APPLICANT:  Mr Middlebrook 
AGENT:  Howard & Seddon ARIBA 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT  
 
 
SITE 
 
The site is currently host to a five bedroomed detached dwelling known as no.165A 
Marsland Road. The property is situated to the rear of 165 Marsland Road, a semi-
detached dwelling fronting onto the public highway. The site is accessed via a shared 
access to the side of 165 Marsland Road with parking provided in a detached garage to 
the front of the dwelling. This site would have once formed part of the larger curtilage 
associated with no. 165.   
 
The site is relatively level with mature tree/hedgerow planted boundaries to the rear 
(south) and side (west) boundaries and fence line along the side (east) boundary.  
There are three notable trees in the rear garden.   
 
The site is characterised by residential property with private dwellings on all side and a 
block of apartments (Saxon Court) to the front and side of the site. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
Permission is sought for the creation of two dwellings through external alterations and 
extensions to the existing building as follows: 
 
 - Raising ridge height from 7.8 metres to 9 metres; 
 - Extensions to front, side and rear; 
 - 2 no. dormer windows to rear to facilitate roof space accommodation; 
 - Alterations to existing garage to form double car port; 
 - Associated external works. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 91



 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L1 - Land for New Houses;  
L2 - Meeting Housing Needs;  
L4 - Sustainable Transport and Accessibility;  
L5 – Climate Change  
L7 - Design;  
L8 - Planning Obligations;  
For the purpose of the determination of this planning application, Policy L1 is 
considered to be partly out of date and Policy L2 is considered out of date in NPPF 
Paragraph 11 terms. This is addressed in more detail in the Principle section of this 
report. Policies L4, L7, and L8 are considered ‘up to date’ in NPPF Paragraph 11 terms.  
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
None  
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
None  
 
SUPPLMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE 
Revised SPD1 - Planning Obligations;  
SPD3- Parking Standards & Design;  
SPD4- Extensions  
PG1 - New Residential Development 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 92



 

 
 

31 October 2016, and a further period of consultation on the revised draft ended on 18 
March 2019. A Draft Plan will be published for consultation in autumn/winter 2020 
before it is submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination. The weight 
to be given to the GMSF as a material consideration will normally be limited given that it 
is currently at an early stage of the adoption process. Where it is considered that a 
different approach should be taken, this will be specifically identified in the report. If the 
GMSF is not referenced in the report, it is either not relevant, or carries so little weight in 
this particular case that it can be disregarded. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 19 February 
2019.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, and is 
updated regularly. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
99328/FUL/19 – Alterations to existing dwelling to form 2 no. dwellings. Remodelling 
works to include; raising of ridge height from 7.8m to 9m, 2 and 2.5 storey extensions to 
front, part two storey, part single storey extensions to the rear and side and 3 no. 
dormers to the rear, associated external works and alterations to existing garage to form 
a double carport. 
Refused 27 January 2020 for the following reason: 
 

1. The application has failed to demonstrate that the proposed development would 
not have a detrimental impact on Schedule 2 protected bat species or their 
roosting habit. On this basis it is not possible to conclude that the development 
would not result in loss or harm to individual species, or disturbance and/or loss 
of their breeding site, or resting place. Therefore the development would fail to 
accord with the NPPF, NPPG, Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) (as amended). 

 
98041/FUL/19 - Erection of a pair of two storey semi-detached houses with 
accommodation within the roof space, including associated car parking, new vehicular 
accesses, landscaping and boundary treatment – Withdrawn  
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
The following documents have been submitted in support of the application: 
 
 - Design and Access Statement; 
 - Ecological Impact Assessment; 
 - Dusk Survey 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 93



 

 
 

 - Arboricultural Impact Assessment; 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
None 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Letters of representation have been received from 6 neighbouring properties. The main 
points raised are summarised as follows: 
 

 The plans are not up to date – changes made to 3 Greystoke Avenue in the 1990’s 
are missing, the Chapel was demolished in the 90’s. Other details are wrong e.g. 
they refer to 3 not 2 dormer windows on the first floor instead of the second; 

 Increased overlooking of neighbouring properties from this infill plot; 

 Loss of privacy and amenity; 

 Increased disturbance from change from one family to two; 

 Overdevelopment; 

 Cramped development with inadequate private garden space; 

 Out of character with surrounding detached properties with large plots; 

 Loss of light and overshadowing; 

 Increased traffic with associated increases in noise and pollution; 

 Major disruption during construction phase; 

 Adverse impact on biodiversity and landscape features; 

 Would be beneficial to have tree number T11 removed as it is diseased and the 
leaf canopy overhangs the neighbouring garage with leaf litter and seed pods 
falling onto the garage roof; 

 Adverse impact on property value; 
  

OBSERVATIONS 
 
BACKGROUND 
 

1. Permission for the same development proposal as the current application (ref 
99328/FUL/19) was refused in January 2020 as the application had failed to 
demonstrate that the proposed development would not have a detrimental 
impact on Schedule 2 protected bat species or their roosting habitat. 

 
2. As part of the previous application the applicant provided an assessment in 

relation to impacts on bats and breeding birds.. The assessment concluded 
that the property holds ‘moderate’ bat roost suitability. On this basis the 
applicants ecologist recommended that two dusk and/or dawn emergence/re-
entry surveys were to be conducted during the active season of bats (May-
August) prior to development in order to establish if the building is being used 
by bats, and if so to identify species, abundance, roost locations and flight lines 
following emergence/re-entry. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 94



 

 
 

 
3. As part of the assessment process Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) 

were consulted. They confirmed, given the findings and conclusion of the 
applicant’s ecologist further survey work would be required prior to 
determination.  

 
4. The applicant’s agent was informed of the need to provide this further survey 

work prior to determination. In response they stated due to time constraints in 
getting further survey work commissioned they were not willing to wait and 
provide same. It was requested that the matter was dealt with by way of a pre-
commencement condition. 

 
5. Regard was given to Government Guidance on Protected Species: How to 

review planning applications (October 2014) and Circular 06/05: Biodiversity 
and Geological Conservation – Statutory Obligations and their impact within the 
Planning System. It was considered that without the further surveys prior to 
determination   the Local Planning Authority would be failing to exercise its duty 
under the Regulations. To take such an approach would compromise the 
planning authority and potentially put at risk European Protected Species. The 
application was refused on this basis. 
 

6. Further survey work has now been carried out and submitted with the current 
application. The rest of the application remains as per the original submission 
under 99328/FUL/19. 

 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 

7. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 states that planning 
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF at Paragraphs 2 
and 47 reinforces this requirement and at Paragraph 12 states that the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as a starting point for decision making, 
and that where a planning application conflicts with an up to date (emphasis 
added) development plan, permission should not normally be granted.  

 
8. The Council’s Core Strategy was adopted in January 2012, prior to the 

publication of the 2012 NPPF, but drafted to be in compliance with it. It remains 
broadly compliant with much of the policy in the 2019 NPPF, particularly where 
that policy is not substantially changed from the 2012 version. Nevertheless, 
without a five year housing land supply, where applications include housing 
development, the NPPF advises in Paragraph 11 and the associated footnotes 
that all relevant development plan policies should be deemed to be out of date. 
This means that unless NPPF policy that protects areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed the 
tilted balance is engaged i.e. any adverse impacts of granting planning 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 95



 

 
 

permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. For the avoidance 
of doubt, there are no NPPF policies which provide a clear reason for refusing 
this scheme and so the tilted balance is engaged. 

 
9. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions, and as the 

Government’s expression of planning policy and how this should be applied, 
should be given significant weight in the decision making process. 

 
Housing Land Supply 
 

10. The NPPF places great emphasis on the need to plan for and deliver new 
housing throughout the UK, and local planning authorities (LPAs) are required 
to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of 
homes. The responsibility of local planning authorities in supporting the 
Government’s ambitions include identifying and updating annually a supply of 
specific deliverable sites to provide five years’ worth of housing against their 
housing requirement. However, latest housing land monitoring for Trafford 
indicates a supply of only some 2.4 years. 

 
11. Policy L2 of the Core Strategy indicates that all new residential proposals will 

be assessed for the contribution that would be made to meeting the Borough’s 
housing needs. The proposal would deliver one new residential unit. Whilst this 
is a modest figure in the context of the overall housing requirement, 
nonetheless the proposal would make some contribution to housing supply 
targets, and would deliver new housing on an unexpected ‘windfall’ brownfield 
site. The site is located in a sustainable location with good links to public 
transport and local services. The site can therefore be considered to be a 
suitable and sustainable location for meeting housing need as set out in the 
NPPF. 

 
12. The NPPF also requires policies and decisions to support development that 

makes efficient use of land. In this respect, the NPPF, at paragraph 118, gives 
substantial weight to the value of using suitable previously developed land 
within established locations to provide new homes. 

 
13. Whilst the scheme provides only one (net) dwelling it is below the national 

threshold requiring the provision of affordable housing. Given it would support 
housing and brownfield targets in an appropriate location weighs in its favour. 
In acknowledging that ‘the presumption in favour of sustainable development’ 
applies to this application, the significance of this benefit will be returned to in 
due course as part of the planning balance. 

 
 
 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 96



 

 
 

DESIGN AND IMPACT ON THE STREETSCENE 
 

14. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality buildings 
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process 
should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities”. Paragraph 130 states that “Permission should be 
refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities 
available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions”. 

 
15. Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that “In relation to matters of 

design, development must: Be appropriate in its context; Make best use of 
opportunities to improve the character and quality of an area; Enhance the 
street scene or character of the area by appropriately addressing scale, 
density, height, massing, layout, elevation treatment, materials, hard and soft 
landscaping works, boundary treatment; and, Make appropriate provision for 
open space, where appropriate, in accordance with Policy R5 of this Plan”. 

 
16. The Council’s adopted planning guidance for new residential development 

(PG1) notes that “development should complement the characteristics of the 
surrounding area” and that “if a taller building is to be allowed it will normally 
need significantly more space around it than would a lower building for it to be 
properly assimilated in the area”. 

 
17. The proposed development would see the existing dwelling remodelled and 

extended to provide two, five bed dwellings. The bulk of the additional floor 
area will be created through extending upwards and rearwards although 
additional space will also be created to the side and front.   

 
18. The extension of the existing property would extend it closer to the site 

boundaries. However given the scale of the existing plot and design of the 
extensions it is considered that the dwellings would not appear cramped within 
the plot, set away from the side boundaries and with adequate gardens to the 
rear of each of the proposed dwellings, at approximately 98sqm each. 

 
19. The existing external materials finishes consist of brick and render on the 

external walls with the flat grey/black roof tiles. It is proposed to finish the new 
built elements in render.  This would be an inconsistent finish with the buildings 
surrounding the site and the wider area character. In this regard the 
development should incorporate brick into the overall scheme and significantly 
reduce the amount of render proposed.  As such in the event of an approval it 
will be necessary to include a condition for all materials to be agreed prior to 
any works above ground level.    

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 97



 

 
 

20. The existing dwelling already has two front projections and whilst the 
extensions would add to this it is considered that the proposal provides a more 
balanced appearance to the property, which would be distinguishable as two 
properties. The proposed extensions to the front and rear of the property, whilst 
alter the form and massing of the existing dwelling are considered to have been 
sensitively designed for the character of the area and scale of the plot. The 
change in height to allow for living accommodation within the roof is not 
considered to unbalance the appearance of the property, but to be 
proportionate and appropriately designed. Whilst materials require further 
approval the simple fenestration and subservient additions provide a scheme 
that would enable an increase in housing provision, albeit only a very minimal 
increase, that is considered appropriate within the setting.  

 
21. Subject to the agreement of final material finishes it is considered that the 

development would improve the overall appearance of the existing building and 
therefore have a positive effect on the wider area. 

 
22. The proposed works to the existing garage are relatively minor.  The applicant 

proposes to remove the existing vehicular garage personal doors to make a 
more accessible car port.  These works are considered acceptable.   

 
23. The submitted Tree Survey/Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree 

Protection Plan indicates that one tree, a holly in fair condition will needed to be 
removed to facilitate the development of the rear extension. These details have 
been assessed by the Council’s Tree Officer who has raised no objection 
subject to a condition relating to tree protection for those trees shown to be 
retained.   

 
24. In relation to the wider landscaping of the site the applicant has provided no 

detail.  In this regard conditions will be needed requiring the applicant to submit 
a landscape scheme and boundary treatment details which will need to be 
agreed and implemented prior to first occupation.   

 
25. It is considered overall that the proposed design is sympathetic to the massing 

and scale of the surrounding buildings. The design achieves successful 
balance in terms of respecting traditional features whilst incorporating more 
contemporary fenestration to the rear. In this regard it is considered that the 
proposed dwelling complies with the NPPF and the Council’s Core Strategy 
Policy L7 in that the scheme will enhance the street scene and character of the 
area by having appropriately addressed scale, height, massing and detail. 

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 

26. The third party objections relating to impact on residential amenity are noted.   
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 98



 

 
 

27. Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that “In relation to matters of 
amenity protection, development must: Be compatible with the surrounding 
area; and not prejudice the amenity of the future occupiers of the development 
and / or occupants of adjacent properties by reason of overbearing, 
overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, noise and / or disturbance, odour 
or in any other way”. 

 
28. The Council’s adopted planning guidance for new residential development sets 

out minimum separation distances which will be sought in order to protect 
residential amenity. These are as follows: 

 

 21m between facing habitable room windows across public highways 

(increased by 3m for three or more storeys) 

 27m between facing habitable room windows across private gardens 

(increased by 3m for three or more storeys) 

 15m between a main elevation with habitable room windows and a facing 

blank elevation 

 10.5m between habitable room windows and garden boundaries 

+(increased by 3m for three or more storeys) 

 
29. In addition to the above the Council’s supplementary guidance document SPD4 

is used in assessing impact of extensions on neighbouring properties.   
 

30. In relation to front extension paragraph 3.7.2 notes they may be acceptable if:  
 

- They are designed to harmonise with the character of the dwelling, and 

neighbouring houses, by reflecting the design, detailing, and proportions of 

the existing dwelling. This will often include incorporating a pitched or lean-

to roof which can complement the original dwelling and lessen 

maintenance requirements.  

- The materials match those on the original house. The use of different 

materials should be avoided or it may appear out of character with the 

appearance of the house or the street scene.  

- The front door is retained in the front elevation so that the house has a 

legible entrance.  

- They are modest in scale, predominantly single storey, and do not project 

excessively forward so as to not detract from the house or streets 

character.  

- They are restricted in width so as to not detract from the design of the 

original house.  

 
31. In relation to the rear extensions paragraph 3.4.2 of SPD4 notes: Normally, a 

single storey rear extension close to the boundary should not project more than 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 99



 

 
 

3m from the rear elevation of semi- detached and terraced properties and 4m 
for detached properties. If the extension is set away from the boundary by more 
than 15cm, this projection can be increased by an amount equal to the extra 
distance from the side boundary (e.g, if an extension is 1m from the side 
boundary, the projection may be increased to 4m for a semi-detached or 
terraced extension).  

 
32. And at paragraph 3.4.3: For two storey rear extensions, normally extensions 

should not normally project more than 1.5m close to a shared boundary. If the 
extension is set away from the boundary by more than 15cm, this projection 
can be increased by an amount equal to the extra distance from the side 
boundary (e.g, if an extension is 1m from the side boundary, the projection may 
be increased to 2.5m). 

 
33. The proposed two storey rear extensions project out by 3 metres with 

approximately a 3.6 metre set in from the east boundary and approximately a 
2.8 metre set in from the west boundary. The single storey rear extension 
projects out approximately 6 metres out from the existing rear elevation with 
the same separation distance as the rear first floor elements. On this basis it is 
considered that all rear extension elements would accord with the Council’s 
guidance. These setbacks together with the general circulation available 
around the building and generous separation distance with neighbouring 
dwellings is considered sufficient as to not cause any meaningful negative 
impacts on third party residential amenities.   

 
34. Neighbouring properties do not hold horizontal building lines with the host 

property.  Those closest to the west are perpendicular at a distance in excess 
of 24 metres from the side boundary while the nearest property to the east is at 
an oblique angle with the rear elevation facing away from the side projection of 
the host property looking south west with a separation distance of 
approximately 35 metres. The is only one side facing window above ground 
level and that is looking east and would serve an en-suite, which would be 
conditioned as obscure glazed and as such is it not considered there would be 
a loss of privacy to the properties to the east or west of the site. 

 
35. Number 165 Marsland Road would have a more direct view of the proposed 

development with a separation distance of 37 metres at the closest point. At 
this distance it is considered that any impact from the increased massing and 
scale would be minimal. The nearest property to the rear is number 3 
Greystone Avenue at over 34 metres from the original rear elevation of the 
subject dwelling. This property is also at an oblique angle and has mature 
planting along the party boundary. As such any impact would again be minor in 
nature.  

 
36. The single storey side extension on the west elevation projects out by 

approximately 3 metres with a separation distance of approximately 1.1metres 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 100



 

 
 

to the common boundary and the two storey extension by 1.5m, with a 
separation of 3m to the side boundary. Therefore, given the scale and 
separation to the boundary it is not considered that either the single or two 
storey side extensions would have an overbearing impact on residents in the 
properties to the west on George’s Road.  

 
37. The objections in relation to the raising of the height of the building are noted.  

The proposed works would see the ridge height rise from 7.8 metres to 9 
metres.  The objectors note that the proposed increase in height would detract 
from third party views and lead to a loss of light and cause shadow cast. It is 
noted that the nearest residential property is the block of apartments to the 
north which is offset to the east of the subject site.  In this regard while 
residents in the apartments to the rear would have views of the property they 
are not directly facing.   

 
38. Notwithstanding this there are already a number of mature trees along the 

boundary with the apartments which will cast shade and reduce natural light. 
The closest part of the proposed development to this boundary would be a front 
projection which would be within 4.3 metres while the highest point (ridge level) 
of the building would be approximately 9.8 metres from this boundary. In this 
regard it is considered than any shadow cast would be retained within the 
building plot and would not cause any undue harm on the apartment block.   

 
39. The application does not include any details as regards proposed waste 

storage.  This detail would be required prior to first occupation of the dwellings 
to ensure a suitable location is found on site which will not be to the detriment 
of neighbouring properties either in terms of noise or odour generation.   

     
40. For the reasons set out above, it is considered that the proposal would not 

have a detrimental impact on the amenities of the neighbouring properties and 
would therefore accord with local CS policy L7 and national policy contained in 
the NPPF.   

 
PARKING AND HIGHWAYS 
 

41. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF notes that “Development should only be prevented 
or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe.” 

 
42. Policy L4.6 of the Core Strategy states “The Council will protect and support 

the maintenance and improvement of the Strategic Road Network and the 
Primary and Local Highway Authority Network, to ensure they operate in a 
safe, efficient and environmentally sustainable manner.” 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 101



 

 
 

43. The application will see the existing detached, 5 bedroom property become two 
separate 5 bedroom properties over three floors. The Council’s car parking 
standards, as set out in SPD3, require three parking spaces to serve a dwelling 
of this size in this location. The site layout provides this requirement with two 
spaces provided in the carport with a further four spaces provided in curtilage. 
In addition to this there is additional space on site should visitor parking be 
required. 

 
44. The site layout does not detail any cycle parking, however there is sufficient 

space on site for cycle storage without the need to require a specific area as 
part of any approval. 

 
45. In terms of the third party concerns regarding construction activity, a 

Construction Management Statement condition is recommended. This is to 
include details such as parking, deliveries, wheel washing and waste 
management. 

 
46. Having regard to the above it is considered the proposal would be in 

accordance with the provisions of SPD3, Policy L3 of the Core Strategy and the 
NPPF. 

 
ECOLOGY/BIODIVERSITY 
 

47. Policy R2 of the Council’s Core Strategy notes ‘Where the council considers it 
necessary, in order to protect the natural environment, developers will be 
required to provide an appropriate ecological assessment report to enable the 
Council to properly assess and determine the merits or otherwise of the 
development proposal.’ 

 
48. Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) have been consulted and their 

comments incorporated into the following section of this report. 

 
Trees 

49. The proposed development involves the removal of trees. The Council’s 
Arboriculturalist has been consulted and raises no objection. A condition is 
recommended for the submission of a landscaping scheme to mitigate the loss 
of trees on site. 

 
Bats 

50. The building was assessed as having moderate bat roosting potential. In-line 
with best practice two emergence surveys have been carried out in the optimal 
period for such surveys. No emerging bats were identified. It was therefore 
concluded that there was no evidence that the building as acting as a bat roost 
and that reasonable survey effort had occurred. As individual bats can turn up 
on occasion in low risk sites it is recommended that an informative is applied to 
any permission requiring work to cease immediately if a bat is found and a 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 102



 

 
 

suitably licensed bat worker employed to assess how best to safeguard the 
bat(s). 

 
Nesting Birds 

51. No evidence of nesting birds was identified but potential nesting habitat is 
present around the existing dwelling that is likely to be lost as a result of the 
development. A condition is therefore recommended preventing works to trees 
or shrubs during the bird nesting season (March to August). 

 

Mammals 
52. Previously a neighbour raised concerns regarding foxes. Hedgehogs may also 

be present. Unfortunately foxes and hedgehogs receive no legal protection 
under wildlife legislation and would not be regarded as a material reason for 
objection from an ecological point of view. They are however protected under 
general mammal welfare legislation. An advisory information is therefore 
recommended. 

 
Rhododendron  

53. One rhododendron was identified on the site and assumed to be R.ponticum 
listed under Schedule 9 Part 2 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended). It is an offence to introduce or cause to grow wild any plant listed 
under this Schedule. However it is equally likely that the rhododendron is an 
ornamental variety and therefore not covered by this schedule and second it is 
clearly avoidable being set well back from the existing dwelling. An advisory 
informative is therefore recommended. 

 
Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment 

54. Section 170 of the NPPF 2019 states that the planning policies and decisions 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. The 
proposed development is unlikely to have any significant negative impacts on 
the natural environment with impacts restricted to loss of ornamental shrubs 
and potential bird nesting habitat. It is considered that these issues can be 
mitigated through suitable replacement planting and provision of bird boxes on 
the retained trees which should be dealt with by way of condition. 

 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

55. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and is 
located in the ‘moderate zone’ for residential development, consequently 
private market houses will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £40 per square 
metre, in line with Trafford’s CIL charging schedule and revised SPD1: 
Planning Obligations (2014).  

 
56. In accordance with Policy L8 of the Trafford Core Strategy and revised SPD1: 

Planning Obligations (2014) it is necessary to provide an element of specific 
green infrastructure in the form of six additional trees. In order to secure this, a 
landscaping condition will be attached to make specific reference to the need to 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 103



 

 
 

provide six additional trees net of clearance on site as part of the landscaping 
proposals.  

 

57. No affordable housing provision is required as the development falls below the 
thresholds set within the Core Strategy and the NPPF. 

 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

58. The proposed development would provide an additional much needed family 
dwelling within the Borough. All detailed matters have been assessed, 
including visual amenity and design, highway safety, parking, trees ecology 
and residential amenity. These have been found to be acceptable with, where 
appropriate, specific mitigation secured by planning condition. All relevant 
planning issues have been considered and representations and consultation 
responses taken into account in concluding that the proposals comprise an 
appropriate form of development for the site. There are no adverse impacts 
that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the 
development (the provision of an additional residential unit that would make a 
small contribution to the Borough’s housing supply and the economic benefit 
associated with the construction process) with reference to NPPF paragraph 11 
(d) ii). 

 
59. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable with reference to Core 

Strategy Policies L1, L2, L4, L5, L7, L8, R2 and R3, the Planning Obligation 
SPD1, the Parking Standards and Design SPD3, the New Residential 
Development PG1, and the NPPF. 

      
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions  
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 

of this permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers 205 Rev A; 206 
Rev A; 207 Rev B and 9586/OS Rev A. 

 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
3. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no works involving the 

use of any materials listed below shall take place until samples and full specification 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 104



 

 
 

of materials to be used externally on the buildings have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the 
type, colour and texture of the materials. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
4.  a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the development 

 hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of both hard and soft 
 landscaping works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
 Planning Authority. The details shall include the formation of any banks, terraces 
 or other earthworks, hard surfaced areas and materials, planting plans, 
 specifications and schedules (including planting size, species and 
 numbers/densities), existing plants / trees to be retained and a scheme for the 
 timing / phasing of implementation works.  

 (b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
 scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the next planting season 
 following final occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the 
 sooner.  
 (c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition 
 which are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or 
 become seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the 
 next planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those 
 originally required to be planted. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its location, 
the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies L7, R2 and R3 of 
the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
5. No development or works of site preparation shall take place until all trees that are to 

be retained within or adjacent to the site have been enclosed with temporary 
protective fencing in accordance with BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction. Recommendations'. The fencing shall be retained 
throughout the period of construction and no activity prohibited by BS:5837:2012 
shall take place within such protective fencing during the construction period.  

 
Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the amenities 
of the area having regard to Policies L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. The fencing is required prior to development 
taking place on site as any works undertaken beforehand, including preliminary works, 
can damage the trees. 
 
6. No part of the development shall be occupied [or brought into use] until details of the 

type, siting, design and materials to be used in the construction of boundaries, 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 105



 

 
 

screens or retaining walls have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and the approved structures have been erected in 
accordance with the approved details. The structures shall thereafter be retained.  

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
7. No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for (or during the course of) 

development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March-July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority to establish whether the site is utilised for bird nesting. 
Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no development 
shall take place during the period specified above unless a mitigation strategy has 
first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which 
provides for the protection of nesting birds during the period of works on site. The 
mitigation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

 
Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds having regard to 
Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
8. Prior to any above ground construction works taking place, a scheme for biodiversity 

enhancements at the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved details shall be installed prior to the development 
be first brought into use and shall be retained thereafter. 

 
Reason: To enhance the biodiversity value of the site, having regard to Policy R2 of the 

Trafford Core Strategy and relevant sections of the NPPF. 

9. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for: i. the parking of 
vehicles of site operatives and visitors ii. loading and unloading of plant and 
materials iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development iv. 
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate v. wheel washing facilities, including 
measures for keeping the highway clean vi. measures to control the emission of dust 
and dirt during construction vii. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting 
from demolition and construction works. viii hours of construction activity. 

 
Reason: To ensure that appropriate details are agreed before works start on site and to 
minimise disturbance and nuisance to occupiers of nearby properties and users of the 
highway, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 106



 

 
 

10. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the means of 
access and the areas for the movement, loading, unloading and parking of vehicles 
have been provided, constructed and surfaced in complete accordance with the 
plans hereby approved. 

 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made within the site for the 
accommodation of vehicles attracted to or generated by the proposed development, 
having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
11.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order amending or replacing that 
Order), the flat roof area of the extension hereby approved shall not be used as a 
balcony, terrace, roof garden or similar amenity area, and no railings, walls, 
parapets or other means of enclosure shall be provided on that roof unless planning 
permission has previously granted for such works. 

 
Reason: To protect the privacy and amenity of the occupants of the adjacent 
dwellinghouse, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's 
adopted Supplementary Planning Document 4: A Guide for Designing House 
Extensions and Alterations and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
12. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until a scheme 
for the provision and implementation of electric vehicle charging points has first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall 
proceed in accordance with the approved scheme and retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable travel having regard to Policies L4 
and L5 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Informatives 
1. Bats 

 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 107



���

���

3

4

1

6

2

7

70

20
22

33

30
32

24

13

14

1a

60
62

2a

26
12

21
25

69

16

584a

1b

11

LB

172

185
163

30
a

182

187

188 160 158186 170178

177

T
H

E
 G

R
O

V
E

G
E

O
R

G
E

'S
 R

O
A

D

26.4m

Garage

2a
 t

o
 2

c

169 to 175

Childrens Nursery

26.4m

1

2

1

1a

3

2

1

4

1

6

4

163

18
16

10

28

165167

152

PO

165a

Saxon Court

A
Y

LW
IN

D
R

IV
E

7a

4
24

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

100835/FUL/20

165A Marsland Road, Sale (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date 15/10/2020

Trafford Council

06/10/2020

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 108



 

 
 

WARD: Davyhulme East 
 

101019/VAR/20 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Application for Variation of Conditions 2 and 3 on planning permission 
95935/HHA/18 (Remodelling of existing dwelling to include the erection of: 
single storey front, first floor front, two storey side and front extensions 
including a new garage. Conversion of the garage into habitable living 
accommodation. Erection of a front dormer following conversion of the loft 
space. External alterations to the property to include new and replacement 
windows and doors.) to vary the approved plans to change footprint, height, 
internal layout and other elevational details. 

 
4 Woodlands, Davyhulme, M41 7AA 
 
APPLICANT:  Mr & Mrs Patel 
AGENT:    Q+A Planning Ltd 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT  
 
 
This application has been called in by Councillor Winstanley on the grounds that 
it would result in loss of light and loss of privacy to No. 5 Woodlands.  
 
SITE 
 
The application refers to a two storey, detached property located on the north east side 
of Woodlands, Davyhulme. Woodlands is a small private (un-adopted) road accessed 
from Old Crofts Bank and comprises of 4no. detached properties, which vary in design. 
Furthermore, the narrow access road and trees contribute to the impression of a 
secluded and private area. The surrounding area is predominantly residential in nature. 
 
At the time of the site visit – 20th July 2020 – the property had been substantially 
extended with works ongoing. The external appearance consists of red multi facing 
brickwork, windows are now grey uPVC and the roof is hipped with a shallower gradient 
at the eaves and includes gables. Previously, the property’s external appearance 
consisted of dark red multi brickwork with mostly white uPVC windows and a hipped 
tiled roof. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application proposes to vary conditions 2 and 3 of planning permission ref: 
95935/HHA/18 to allow for minor material amendments to the approved scheme 
drawings for the extension at No. 4 Woodlands.  
 
The proposed alterations, which have mostly been completed, are as follows: 

 Change to footprint, which involves: 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 109



 

 
 

o Larger porch – from 1.1m x 2.3m to 2m x 3m (D x W) 
o Increased depth/front extension – depth from 8.4m to 8.7m 
o Infill adjacent to garage for relocated WC 
o Reduction to width of garage – from approx. 7.2m to 5.5m (excluding infill 

WC)– and change from double doors to single door 

 Change to elevations, which include: 
o Removal of first floor extension, including oriel bay window, above front 

door 
o Removal of ground floor window on side lean-to extension 
o Amended windows with respect to sizes, positioning and design 
o Reduced number of bi-fold doors on rear and side elevation 
o Cill and header detail omitted 
o Additional roof lights to the eastern elevation 
o Removal of 3 no. rooflights on rear (west) elevation and addition of a large 

rooflight to front and rear (east and west, respectively) 
o Amended front dormer design – from flat roof to mono-pitched roof 
o Repositioning of rooflights on north side elevation (due to extended 

second floor area) 
o Removal of garage rear door 

 Increased height of lean-to side extension, resulting in a differing roof profile – 
eaves height increased from 2.9m to 4.6m 

 Increased height of garage – from 2.8m to 3m 
 
Plans have been amended during the application process to accurately represent what 
has been built on site.  
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L7 – Design 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 110



 

 
 

OTHER LOCAL POLICY DOCUMENTS 
SPD3 – Parking Standards and Design  
SPD4 – A Guide for Designing House Extensions & Alterations 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
None  
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
None  
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016, and a further period of consultation on the revised draft ended on 18 
March 2019. A Draft Plan will be published for consultation in autumn 2020 before it is 
submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination. The weight to be given 
to the GMSF as a material consideration will normally be limited given that it is currently 
at an early stage of the adoption process. Where it is considered that a different 
approach should be taken, this will be specifically identified in the report. If the GMSF is 
not referenced in the report, it is either not relevant, or carries so little weight in this 
particular case that it can be disregarded. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The MHCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 19 February 
2019.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 

 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, and was 
updated on 1st October 2019. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

95935/HHA/18 - Remodelling of existing dwelling to include the erection of: single 
storey front, first floor front, two storey side and front extensions including a new 
garage. Conversion of the garage into habitable living accommodation. Erection of a 
front dormer following conversion of the loft space. External alterations to the property 
to include new and replacement windows and doors. 
Approved – 18.12.2018 
 
94926/HHA/18 - Remodelling of the existing dwelling to include the erection of: single 
storey front, first floor front, two storey side and front extensions including a new 
garage. Conversion of the garage into habitable living accommodation. Erection of a 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 111



 

 
 

front dormer following conversion of the loft space. External alterations to the property 
to include new and replacement windows and doors. 
Approved – 03.09.2018 
 
94145/HHA/18 - Remodelling of the existing dwelling to include the erection of: single 
storey front, first floor front, two storey side and front extensions including a new garage 
and a front juliet balcony. Conversion of the garage into habitable living 
accommodation. Erection of a front dormer following conversion of the loft space. 
External alterations to the property to include new and replacement windows and doors 
and the rendering of the dwelling. 
Withdrawn – 29.05.2018 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
Images of rooflights (taken internally) showing obscure glazing 
 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
None  

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

A total of 4 letters have been received in relation to this application. Two of which are 
objecting to the proposed changes, whilst two are in support of the development. The 
following summarises the concerns raised: 

 Loss of light to living room at No. 5 – due to increased height of lean-to side 
extension 

 Loss of privacy to rear private garden at No. 5 – due to additional rooflights on 
side elevation 

 Misleading and inaccurate plans submitted  

 The development has reverted back to many components which were featured 
on the withdrawn planning application – 94145/HHA/18 

 The adjustments are not minor 

 The whole development is overbearingly dominant within the close 

 The [southern] aspect, in particular, has an appreciably differing roofline profile 
and perception of bulkiness to that side of the development, in contrast to the 
opposite side (NB – representation referred to East aspect, however it is thought 
that the South was the intention of comments) 

 Could the large skylight be obscurely glazed? 

 The front window in place of the oriel window is believed to be sited lower and 
thus views to the underside of the stair are possible and therefore should be 
obscurely glazed  

 Deterioration of the private road and general drainage 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 112



 

 
 

 Additionally the neighbour highlights the strain of the development/construction works 
as it has been ongoing for over a year, although notes that it is not a material planning 
consideration. Representations also refer to the numerous planning applications 
submitted on this site and state that this, in their mind, has been done to achieve the 
maximum possible level of scale, which is not in keeping with the ambient environment 
on the close.  

OBSERVATIONS 
 
BACKGROUND 
 

1. Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows an applicant to 
seek minor amendments to an approved scheme by varying the relevant 
condition.  Where an application under section 73 is granted, the effect is the 
issue of a new planning permission, sitting alongside the original permission, 
which remains intact and unamended.   

 
2. This application seeks approval under Section 73 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act (1990) (as amended) for minor material amendments following a 
grant of planning permission reference 95935/HHA/18 granted on 18th December 
2018 under delegated powers.  Permission was granted for Remodelling of 
existing dwelling to include the erection of: single storey front, first floor front, two 
storey side and front extensions including a new garage. Conversion of the 
garage into habitable living accommodation. Erection of a front dormer following 
conversion of the loft space. External alterations to the property to include new 
and replacement windows and doors. 

 
3. Condition 2 of the approval (95935/HHA/18) states that: 

 
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 
accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers: (T17-05) 04 
Rev C and 02 Rev E 
. 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. Condition 3 of the approval (95935/HHA/18) states that: 
 
The materials used in any exterior work must be of a similar appearance to those 
used in the construction of the exterior of the existing building. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's 
adopted Supplementary Planning Document 4: A Guide for Designing House 
Extensions and Alterations and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 113



 

 
 

5. The extensions and house re-model has not been constructed in accordance 
with the approved plans listed within condition 2 of permission 95935/HHA/18..  
This application therefore seeks to vary this condition to approve the 
amendments to the extension. The development has also installed grey uPVC 
windows and doors, and therefore seeks to amend condition 3, which required 
materials to be of a similar appearance to the existing building.  

 
PRINCIPLE OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

 
6. The proposal is a residential extension within the built up area and therefore 

needs to be assessed in terms of design and visual amenity and impact on 
residential amenity, having regard to Policy L7 and the NPPF. 
 

DESIGN AND APPEARANCE 
 

7. Paragraphs 124 and 130 of the NPPF states: “Good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and 
helps make development acceptable to communities. Permission should be 
refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities 
available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions, taking into account any local design standards or style guides in plans 
or supplementary planning documents. Conversely, where the design of a 
development accords with clear expectations in plan policies, design should not 
be used by the decision-maker as a valid reason to object to development. Local 
planning authorities should also seek to ensure that the quality of approved 
development is not materially diminished between permission and 
completion, as a result of changes being made to the permitted scheme (for 
example through changes to approved details such as the materials used).” 
(Emphasis added) 

 
8. Trafford Core Strategy Policy L7 states that “In relation to matters of design, 

development must: Be appropriate in its context; Make best use of opportunities 
to improve the character and quality of an area; Enhance the street scene or 
character of the area by appropriately addressing scale, density, height, massing, 
layout, elevation treatment, materials, hard and soft landscaping works, boundary 

treatment; and, Make appropriate provision for open space, where appropriate, in 
accordance with Policy R5 of this Plan”. 

 
9. The application proposes a number of alterations to the approved scheme as 

listed within the proposal section. The application site is located on a small 
private road and therefore although the site is prominent from neighbouring 
properties, views from the wider public domain are limited.  

 
10. It is considered that the proposed alterations have resulted in the loss of a 

number of features which were considered to enhance the approved scheme, 
such as the window design and configuration (including the stone headers and 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 114



 

 
 

cills), eaves detail (particularly around the garage), stepped link connecting the 
garage (it is now flush with the garage and stepped in height), and double garage 
(including 2no. openings). The development as built has also increased the 
eaves height of the side lean-to extension, which has resulted in a differing roof 
profile. The front window has been omitted from the side extension. The changes 
have made this side extension more dominant, however it still remains 
subservient to the main house. Grey window frames have also been installed, 
which are considered to be acceptable in terms of visual appearance. 

 
11. The front extension, including the porch, is slightly larger in footprint than the 

approved scheme, however it is now fully single storey with a mono-pitched roof.  
 

12. Although a number of positive features have been omitted from the development, 
the overall scale and proportion of the extensions is similar to that previously 
approved. Furthermore, the changes to the external appearance would have a 
limited visual impact within the wider area, given the secluded and private setting 
of the property. 

 
13.  On balance, it is considered that the revised scheme, although missing a 

number of the higher quality design features previously approved, would not 
have an unacceptable impact on the visual appearance and character of the 
street scene and the surrounding area. It is therefore considered that the 
proposed development is acceptable in terms of design and visual amenity, 
having regard to Policy L7 of the Core Strategy and guidance in the NPPF. 

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 

14. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in relation to matters of amenity 
protection development must not prejudice the amenity of future occupiers of the 
development and/or occupants of adjacent properties by reason of overbearing, 
overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, noise or disturbance, odour or in 
any other way. 

 
15. Guidance contained within SPD4 states: 

 
a. positioning an extension too close to a neighbouring boundary can result 

in an uncomfortable sense of enclosure for the neighbouring property. A 
large expanse of brickwork can be overbearing to the amenities of a 
neighbouring property. Windows and gardens of neighbouring properties 
will be protected from undue overbearing.  

 
b. For two storey side extensions with a blank gable wall that would face a 

neighbouring main habitable room window, a 15m minimum separation 
distance would be required. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 115



 

 
 

c. Extensions which would result in the windows of a habitable room (e.g. 
living room or bedroom) being sited less than 10.5m from the site 
boundary overlooking a neighbouring private garden area are not likely to 
be considered acceptable…(Paragraph 2.15.2) 

 
d. Window to window distances of 21m between principal elevations 

(habitable room windows in properties that are directly facing each other) 
will normally be acceptable as long as account is taken of the fact that the 
facing properties may need, in fairness to be extended also. (Paragraph 
2.15.3) 

 
e. Windows close to a boundary that are likely to cause a loss of privacy, can 

sometimes be acceptable if fitted with obscure glazing and top-hung 
opening windows however this would not be acceptable if it was the main 
window providing light into a habitable room. (Paragraph 2.15.5) 

 
Impact to No 5 Woodlands: 
 

16. The amended scheme has resulted in additional built form above the existing 
lean-to extension. This element of the development is sited approximately 2.2m 
from the shared boundary at a point in line with No. 5’s rear elevation. The lean-
to extension extends beyond the rear building line at No. 5 by approx. 2.4m and 
due to the layout the distance from the shared boundary increases (to 
approximately 3m) towards the rear.   

 
17. It is noted that No. 5 has two small windows either side of (what appears to be) a 

redundant chimney breast plus two small corner/Inglenook windows towards the 
rear. The increased height to the side lean-to extension is considered to have an 
additional impact compared to the previously approved scheme, however it is not 
considered to have resulted in an undue loss of light or overbearing impact to the 
occupiers at No. 5, since the windows in the side elevation of that property are 
secondary windows with a large window (including a glazed door) on the rear 
elevation. Although not a standard two storey side/rear extension, the amended 
extension would be in line with guidance in relation to two storey rear extensions 
and it is therefore considered that its rear projection would also not result in any 
unacceptable overbearing or overshadowing impact on the rear windows or rear 
amenity space of No. 5. (SPD4, paragraph 3.4.3. For two storey rear extensions, 
normally extensions should not normally project more than 1.5m close to a 
shared boundary. If the extension is set away from the boundary by more than 
15cm, this projection can be increased by an amount equal to the extra distance 
from the side boundary (e.g, if an extension is 1m from the side boundary, the 
projection may be increased to 2.5m).) 

 
18. The amended scheme has introduced a total of 4 no. additional roof lights to the 

side elevation facing No. 5 (south). The first floor roof lights are positioned 1.9m 
above finished floor level and the second floor rooflights would be 1.5m above 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 116



 

 
 

internal finished floor level and are obscurely glazed with restricted openings of 
100mm. It is therefore considered that, subject to a condition being attached 
requiring the rooflights on the second floor to remain obscurely glazed with 
restricted openings throughout their lifetime, the development would not result in 
undue overlooking or loss of privacy to the occupiers at No. 5. 

 
19. The larger porch, given its position approximately 6m distance from No. 5, is not 

considered to result in any harm in terms of overbearing impact or loss of light to 
the neighbouring property.  

 
Impact to Nos. 1 & 3 Woodlands: 
 

20. The development, including the new windows to the front elevation would be over 
21m from the boundary of no.1. The distance from the garage to the shared 
boundary of No. 3 has increased and is between 2.8m and 3.8m. Furthermore, 
the proposed windows would be approximately 26.5m from the facing windows in 
the principal elevation of no.3. As such the proposed alterations would not result 
in an adverse impact to the amenity of occupiers at Nos. 1 & 3 Woodlands. 
 

21. Given the above, it is considered the neighbouring properties on Woodlands 
would not be adversely harmed as a result of the proposed development, having 
regard to its siting, scale and form.  

 
Impact to Nos. 7, 9 and 11 Ledbury Avenue: 
 

22. The properties to the rear of the proposed development are Nos. 7 and 9 
Ledbury Avenue. These dwellings are situated to the west and are non-adjoining 
semi-detached properties. The dwellings share a uniform building line, almost 
parallel to No.4 Woodlands. No.7 has a larger rear garden, approx. 15m in depth, 
than No. 9, which is approx. 7m long.  

 
23. The changes have included the introduction of a large rooflight on the second 

floor on the rear elevation, which would be approx. 10.5m from the rear 
boundary. As such the opening would not comply with guidance contained within 
SPD4, which requires any window at second floor or above to be 13.5m from a 
boundary overlooking a private garden. It is therefore recommended that a 
condition is attached requiring the rooflight to be obscurely glazed and fixed shut 
to provide adequate screening.  

 
Impact to No. 27 Old Crofts Bank: 
 

24. The entertainment suite on the second floor has extended to the north. The 
rooflights on the north elevation were previously above the first floor master 
bedroom within a vaulted ceiling, however two roof lights have been repositioned 
to serve the second floor. The cill levels of these rooflights are 1.5m above 
internal finished floor level. The rooflights would be approx. 5.8m from the shared 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 117



 

 
 

boundary and therefore a condition requiring these to be obscurely glazed and 
fixed shut would be attached to ensure adequate screening. 

 
Conclusion 
 

25. Given the above, it is considered that the proposed development, subject to 
conditions, would not have an unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of 
neighbouring dwellings and would be in accordance with policy L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy, SPD4 and government guidance contained within the NPPF. 

 
ACCESS, HIGHWAYS AND CAR PARKING  
 

26. The proposed changes include the reduction to the size of the approved garage. 
The garage is now a large single garage, rather than a double garage. The 
application site can still accommodate at least 3 parked vehicles and therefore is 
in line with Policy L4 and L7 of the Core Strategy and SPD3. 

 
Other matters 
 

27. There are no changes in relation to ecology or trees. 
 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

28. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), however it is 
exempt with a completed self-build declaration form. 

 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

29. The proposed alterations to the extension, subject to conditions, are considered 
to be acceptable and in accordance with Policy L7, guidance from SPD4: A 
Guide for Designing House Extensions & Alterations and relevant sections of the 
NPPF. It is therefore concluded that the application should be approved subject 
to appropriate conditions.   

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT subject to the following conditions  
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 
accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers: (T17-05) 02 
Rev J and 04 F. 

 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

2. With the exception of the windows and doors which shall be grey upvc, the 
materials used in any exterior work must be of a similar appearance to those 
used in the construction of the exterior of the existing building. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 118



 

 
 

 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's 
adopted Supplementary Planning Document 4: A Guide for Designing House 
Extensions and Alterations and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof), within three months of the 
date of this permission,  the windows in the first floor on the rear elevation of the 
extension facing west, shall be fitted with 

a) non-opening lights to a height of no less than 1.7m above finished floor 
level; 

b) textured glass which obscuration level is no less than Level 3 of the 
Pilkington Glass scale (or equivalent);  

and shall be retained as such thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof), within three months of the 
date of this permission,  the second floor rooflights in the side elevation facing 
south shall be fitted with 

a) a restricted opening mechanism restricting the opening of the windows by 
more than a gap of 100mm ; 

b) textured glass which obscuration level is no less than Level 3 of the 
Pilkington Glass scale (or equivalent);  

and shall be retained as such thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof), within three months of the 
date of this permission, the second floor rooflights in the rear elevation facing 
west and in the side elevation facing north shall be 

a) fixed shut ; 
b) fitted with textured glass which obscuration level is no less than Level 3 of 

the Pilkington Glass scale (or equivalent);  
and shall be retained as such thereafter.  
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 119



 

 
 

Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. No development or works of site preparation shall take place until all trees that 

are to be retained within or adjacent to the site have been enclosed with 
temporary protective fencing in accordance with BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation 
to design, demolition and construction. Recommendations'. The fencing shall be 
retained throughout the period of construction and no activity prohibited by 
BS:5837:2012 shall take place within such protective fencing during the 
construction period.  
 
Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the 
amenities of the area having regard to Policies L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. The fencing is 
required prior to development taking place on site as any works undertaken 
beforehand, including preliminary works, can damage the trees. 
 

7. No vehicular movements or use of machinery shall be allowed within the 
currently grassed area within the 'Areas of Special Construction' as detailed on 
the Tree Protection Plan (Drawing: MY665/WU/03 REV D) until the proposed 
protective surface, detailed within Section 6.7 of Arboricutural Report (Ref: 
PM/FULL/22/10/18), has been constructed.   
 
Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the 
amenities of the area having regard to Policies L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. The fencing is 
required prior to development taking place on site as any works undertaken 
beforehand, including preliminary works, can damage the trees. 

 
 
 
LT 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 120



���

2

3

4

1

5

16

53

54

24

33

14

52

61

4537

13

35

62
50

12

15

57
59

27

95

55

21.9m

105
103

15
a

120

114

103a

O
L

D
 C

R
O

F
T

S
 B

A
N

K

C
R

O
F

T
S

 B
A

N
K

 R
O

A
D

Shelter

Day Nursery

L
E

D
B

U
R

Y
 A

V
E

N
U

E

BENDEMEER

24

4

33

13

1

1
27

Day Nursery

4

46

W
O

O
D

LA
N

D
S

RBURY ROAD

Bowling

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

101019/VAR/20

4 Woodlands, Davyhulme (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date 15/10/2020

Trafford Council

06/10/2020

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 121



 

 
 

WARD: Urmston 
 

101192/HHA/20 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Erection of a single storey rear extension. 

 
26 Grangethorpe Road, Urmston, M41 9HT 
 

APPLICANT:  Mr & Mrs McBurnie 
AGENT:  AGSD 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT  
 
This application is being reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee as the applicant is an employee of the Council. 
 
SITE 
 
The site relates to a two storey detached dwellinghouse in Urmston. The property 
benefits from an existing rear conservatory and two storey front, side and rear 
extension.  
 
No 26 Grangethorpe Road is located on the northern side of Grangethorpe Road and is 
bound by residential properties on all sides. No 35 Cumberland Road is located to the 
rear (north), No 24 Grangethorpe to the east and No 28 Grangethorpe to the west. The 
host dwelling looks onto properties located on the southern side of Grangethorpe Road. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The existing conservatory at the rear elevation is to be demolished and would be 
replaced by the proposed flat roof rear extension. 
 
The proposed rear extension would project 4m from the existing rear elevation, and 
measure 8.7m in width and would have a flat roof with a height of 3.15m. The proposed 
rear extension would not project to the side of the existing property, and would not be 
visible in the streetscene. 
 
Bi-folding glazed doors and two single glazed windows are proposed on the rear 
elevation, with no additional windows proposed on the side elevations. 3 rooflights are 
proposed on the extension.  
 
The proposed materials are to match those of the existing property. 
 
Internally the extension would accommodate an extended kitchen and living area. 
 
The increase in floor space of the proposed development would be 35.36m2. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 122



 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  
 

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L7 – Design 
For the purpose of the determination of this planning application, this policy is 
considered ‘up to date’ in NPPF Paragraph 11 terms  
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION  
CDZ – Critical Drainage Zone  
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
Community Forest / Tree Planting - ENV15/ENV16 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016, and a further period of consultation on the revised draft ended on 18 
March 2019. A Draft Plan will be published for consultation in autumn 2020 before it is 
submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination. The weight to be given 
to the GMSF as a material consideration will normally be limited given that it is currently 
at an early stage of the adoption process. Where it is considered that a different 
approach should be taken, this will be specifically identified in the report. If the GMSF is 
not referenced in the report, it is either not relevant, or carries so little weight in this 
particular case that it can be disregarded. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 123



 

 
 

The MHCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 19 February 
2019.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 

 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, and was 
updated on 1st October 2019. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
80170/HHA/2013 - Erection of a conservatory to rear of dwelling to form additional living 
accommodation – Approved with conditions 26/074/2013 
 
74506/HHA/2009 - Erection of two storey front, side and rear extension including 
increase in height of roof and erection of single storey extension and chimney stack to 
side elevation to form additional living accommodation - Approved – 09/02/2010 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
Site visit photos 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
None 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

None 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 

1. The proposal is for an extension to an existing residential property within an established 
built up area and therefore extensions and alterations are acceptable in principle subject 
to there being no harm to the character and appearance of the property through 
unsympathetic design or harm to the amenity of neighbouring properties. The proposed 
development needs to be assessed against the requirements and limitations of Policy 
L7 of Trafford’s Core Strategy. 
 
DESIGN AND APPEARANCE 
 

2. The NPPF, Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and SPD4 all require that proposed 
development strives to achieve the highest level of design. Development should 
improve the character of both the host dwelling and immediate street scene. 
 

3. SPD4 ‘A Guide to Designing House Extensions and Alterations’ sets out specific 
requirements that all householder developments should strive to achieve in terms of 
how an extension relates and responds to the character of the existing dwelling house. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 124



 

 
 

 
4. The proposed extension would be single storey and would project 4m from the existing 

rear elevation, with a flat roof with a height of 3.15m. Two vertical glazed windows and a 
set of bi-folding glazed doors are proposed across the rear elevation. 

 
5. One roof lantern is sited above the flat roof element and two flat glazed rooflights are 

sited on the flat roof element either side of the lantern. While the proposed extension 
would have a flat roof, it is considered that this is acceptable given its single storey 
height and position on the rear elevation. Proposed materials would be to match with 
glazing designed in relation to the existing property, which would be considered 
acceptable. The proposals would not result in the overdevelopment of the site.  

 
6. As such, it is considered the proposed works would result in no harm to the character, 

design or appearance of the host dwelling, complying with all guidance as laid out within 
SPD4; and achieving the overall aims of Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
NPPF. 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 

 
7. In relation to householder extensions, both the NPPF and Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 

Strategy strive to ensure that development has no unacceptable negative impacts upon 
neighbouring or future occupiers. As the development is for a residential extension 
within an established residential area, the main areas of consideration are 
overshadowing, overbearing and overlooking. 
 

8. SPD4 sets out specific tests that should be applied to a variety of types of householder 
extensions to assess their impacts. Paragraphs 3.4.1 – 3.4.9 of SPD4 set out the 
relevant tests to ensure that rear extension do not have any materially negative impacts. 
 

9. Specifically, Paragraph 3.4.2 states, in relation to the projection of rear extensions, ‘The 
most common situation where harm may be caused to the neighbouring property is in 
the instance of terraced and semi-detached properties however these guidelines also 
apply to detached properties. Normally, a single storey rear extension close to the 
boundary should not project more than 3m from the rear elevation of semi- detached 
and terraced properties and 4m for detached properties. If the extension is set away 
from the boundary by more than 15cm, this projection can be increased by an amount 
equal to the extra distance from the side boundary (e.g, if an extension is 1m from the 
side boundary, the projection may be increased to 4m for a semi-detached or terraced 
extension). 

 
10. The property has an existing two storey side and rear extension, approved under 

permission 74506/HHA/2009, which projects approximately 2.2m from the original rear 
elevation. Consequently the cumulative impact of the existing two storey rear extension 
and the proposed extension must be taken into consideration. The total projection from 
the original elevation would therefore be 6.2m. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 125



 

 
 

11. The relationship between the proposed development and adjacent Nos. 24 and 28 
Cumberland Road, Nos. 35 Cumberland Road and properties located on the southern 
side of Grangethorpe Road, shall be assessed. 
 
No 24 Grangethorpe Road 

 
12. The proposals would not project to the side of the host dwelling, and would only project 

0.2m beyond the rear elevation of the single storey rear extension at No 24, maintaining 
the existing 2m distance to the side elevation of No 24. As such, it is not considered the 
proposed extension at No 26 would have any unacceptable impact on this property. 
 
No 28 Grangethorpe Road 
 

13. The proposals would not project beyond the side of the existing extensions located on 
the application property and would maintain the current 1m distance to the side 
boundary, and 2.6m distance to the side elevation of No 28 Grangethorpe.  
 

14. There is an existing 4m long single storey rear extension on No 28 but this is sited away 
from the shared side boundary with No 26 and there is a kitchen window on the rear 
elevation of No. 28 between the extension and the boundary with the application 
property and patio doors on the facing elevation of the extension. The SPD4 guidelines 
would normally allow a 4m long extension on a detached property plus the gap to the 
boundary (1m). Given the siting of the original properties, whereby No 28 originally 
projected 1m further to the rear than the application property, the proposed extension 
would project approximately 200mm further than the SPD4 guidelines would normally 
allow.  

 
15. Taking into account the gap to the side elevation of No. 28, it is considered that the 

200mm projection over and above the SPD4 guideline would not result in any undue 
overbearing or overshadowing impact on the rear window or amenity space of No 28. 
Furthermore, whilst there are patio doors in the facing elevation of the extension at No. 
28, there are also glazed doors in the rear of this extension, and therefore there would 
also be no undue impact in this respect. It is therefore considered that there would not 
be any unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of No. 28. 
 
No 35 Cumberland Road 
 

16. The proposed extension would maintain a 15.6m distance to the rear boundary of the 
site, and a 28m minimum distance to the rear elevation of No 35 Cumberland Road. An 
1800mm fence is located onsite as existing and would mitigate any overlooking impact 
from glazing proposed on the rear (northern) elevation of the property, and as such, it is 
not considered this would have any unacceptable privacy impact. 
 
Properties located on the southern side of Grangethorpe Road 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 126



 

 
 

17. The proposed extension would be located at the rear elevation of the property behind 
the existing two storey side extension, and would not project past the sides of the 
existing property. As such, the proposed extension would have no unacceptable impact 
on properties on the opposite side of Grangethorpe Road.  

18.  
It is recommended that a condition is attached preventing the use of the flat roof of the 
extension as a balcony in order to protect the amenity of neighbouring properties. 
Subject to this condition, it is considered that there would be no unacceptable impacts 
on the residential amenity of any neighbouring property and that the proposed extension 
would comply with Policy L7 of the Core Strategy.  
 
PARKING 
 

19. No new bedrooms are proposed and no existing parking provision would be lost. SPD3 
requires a three bedroom dwelling to provide a maximum of two off road parking spaces 
and two spaces would be retained on the frontage. 
 

20. As such, the development would maintain an adequate provision of off road parking 
spaces, complying with Policy L4 of the Trafford Core Strategy and national guidance. 
 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 

 
21. The proposed development will increase the internal floorspace of the dwelling by less 

than 100m2 and therefore will be below the threshold for charging. No other planning 
obligations are required.  
 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
22. The proposed extension would be acceptable in terms of design and visual 
amenity and would have no unacceptable impacts on the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties. The proposed development would be acceptable in terms of 
parking provision. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would 
comply with Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and guidance in the NPPF and it is 
recommended that permission is granted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the 
date of this permission. 

 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 127



 

 
 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers 02S1 and 
01S1, received by the local planning authority on 3rd July 2020. 

 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. The materials used in any exterior work must be of a similar appearance to those 

used in the construction of the exterior of the existing building. 
 

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's 
adopted Supplementary Planning Document 4: A Guide for Designing House 
Extensions and Alterations and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order amending or replacing that 
Order), the flat roof area of the extension hereby approved shall not be used as a 
balcony, terrace, roof garden or similar amenity area, and no railings, walls, 
parapets or other means of enclosure shall be provided on that roof unless 
planning permission has previously granted for such works. 
 
Reason: To protect the privacy and amenity of the occupants of the adjacent 
dwellinghouse, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the 
Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document 4: A Guide for Designing 
House Extensions and Alterations and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
RGR 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 128



���

4

1

3

2

8

9

21

24

14

25

30

12

54

18

55

29

22

40

19

20

37

44

39

53

34

CEDAR DRIVE

C
A

R
LT

O
N

 R
O

A
D

CUMBERLAND ROAD

GRANGETHORPE ROAD

TCB

21.9mG
R

A
N

G
E

4

30

14

1

21

12

22

Drain

A
N

G
E

 R
O

A
D

56

CRESCENT

CARLTON CRE

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

101192/HHA/20

26 Grangethorpe Road, Urmston (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date 15/10/2020

Trafford Council

06/10/2020

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 129



WARD: Longford 101371/FUL/20 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Application for Alterations to roof and exterior of building to 

accommodate one-bedroom flat within the roof space, new porch, 

rendering and associated landscaping improvements. 

39-42 Ingleby Court,  Stretford M32 8PY  

 

APPLICANT:  Mr Roman Khripko  

AGENT:  N/A  

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS  

 

 
 
This application is reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee as the application has received six or more letters of objection 
contrary to the Officer recommendation of approval. 

SITE 
 
The subject building is located on Ingleby Court, a private road which is accessed off 
the A5145 (Edge Lane) being located approximately 1 km east of Stretford Mall and 
1 km west of Chorlton Town Centre.   
 
The two storey building is of buff brick (wall) and concrete tile (roof) construction, 
with four garages in two detached pairs to the rear and side of the main building with 
access to either side of the building. There is a small green area to the front with 
pedestrian access running down the middle.  A privet hedge runs along the front 
boundary of this area creating a defensible space.   
 
To the rear there is a communal garden area, bounded by a mature hedgerow/tree 
line along the rear (west boundary). To the rear there are several large detached 
properties which run perpendicular to the site located on Edge Lane.   
 
Ingleby Court is in an established residential setting with the residential development 
opposite the site to the east made up of a mix of single and two storey buildings, 
providing bungalows and apartment units, all of red brick construction.  At the end of 
the road there is a pedestrian access which leads through to the Streford Grammar 
School.  
 
It is understood that the applicant is the lessor with residents being lessees via either 
a landlord or leasehold estate purchase.   
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant is seeking permission to alter the existing roof design to provide a 
mansard roof with five dormers on the front elevation and roof lights on the flat roof 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 130



top of the roof providing additional light and ventilation.  This alteration does not 
result in any increase in height.   
 
The purpose of the roof alterations is to provide a one apartment in the roof space; 
this will take up approximately half of the space with the remainder being reserved 
as storage.   
 
In addition it is proposed to create a stone porch projecting out by approximately 
0.6m, 2.6 m wide and 2.8 m high. Other works external works proposed include 
elevational changes to introduce stone window mouldings and plastered panels 
between and below windows the front elevation and a stone cornice around the 
building.  
 
In order to accommodate the additional apartment the applicant is proposing to 
provide 1no. additional off street parking space to the north of the building.   
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
The Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially 
supersedes the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see 
Appendix 5 of the Core Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by 
Trafford LDF. 

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
 
L1 - Land for New Houses 
L2 - Meeting Housing Needs 
L4 - Sustainable Transport and Accessibility  
L5 – Climate Change  
L7 – Design  
L8 – Planning Obligations  
R3 - Green Infrastructure  
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
 
Critical Drainage Area 
Smoke Control Zone  
  
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 131



ENV15/16 – Community Forest/Tree Planting 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, 
will be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework 
for individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was 
published on 31 October 2016, and a further period of consultation on the revised 
draft ended on 18 March 2019. A Draft Plan will be published for consultation in 
autumn / winter 2020 before it is submitted to the Secretary of State for independent 
examination. The weight to be given to the GMSF as a material consideration will 
normally be limited given that it is currently at an early stage of the adoption process. 
Where it is considered that a different approach should be taken, this will be 
specifically identified in the report. If the GMSF is not referenced in the report, it is 
either not relevant, or carries so little weight in this particular case that it can be 
disregarded. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 19 
February 2019.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, and is 
updated regularly. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
99758/FUL/20 – Alterations to roof and exterior of building to accommodate one 
bedroom flat within the roof space, new porch, parking pit, solar panels, rendering 
and associated landscape improvements – Withdrawn due to lack of bat survey.   
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 

 Bat Survey  

 Parking Survey  

CONSULTATIONS  
 
Local Highway Authority:  No objections, conditions recommended. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit:  No objection, conditions and informative 
recommended. 

REPRESENTATIONS  
 

Objections have been received from 6 addresses (8 individuals).  The following is a 
summary of the points made:  
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 132



 Road not suitable for further development  

 Potential to cause drainage issues  

 The construction phase would have a detrimental impact on living and 
working conditions of current residents of the building 

 Negative impact on the streetscene and general appearance  

 Cause damage to the existing building  

 The development gives no thought to existing residents  

 The road already suffers from parking problems, this development will 
exacerbate the issue 

 Overdevelopment and out of context with the scale of neighbouring properties  

 Will have a negative impact for residents , insufficient private open space for 
any further apartment 

 Will cause increased insurance costs  

 Asbestos risk due to the age of the building  

 Will devalue property  
 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
Principle of Development 
 

1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 states that 
planning applications should be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
NPPF at Paragraphs 2 and 47 reinforces this requirement and at Paragraph 
12 states that the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not 
change the statutory status of the development plan as a starting point for 
decision making, and that where a planning application conflicts with an up to 
date (emphasis added) development plan, permission should not normally be 
granted.  
 

2 The Council’s Core Strategy was adopted in January 2012, prior to the 
publication of the 2012 NPPF, but drafted to be in compliance with it. It 
remains broadly compliant with much of the policy in the 2019 NPPF, 
particularly where that policy is not substantially changed from the 2012 
version. Nevertheless, without a five year housing land supply, where 
applications include housing development, the NPPF advises in Paragraph 11 
and the associated footnotes that all relevant development plan policies 
should be deemed to be out of date. This means that unless NPPF policy that 
protects areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed the tilted balance is engaged i.e. any 
adverse impacts of granting planning permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
the NPPF taken as a whole. For the avoidance of doubt, there are no NPPF 
policies which provide a clear reason for refusing this scheme and so the tilted 
balance is engaged. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 133



3 The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions, and as the 
Government’s expression of planning policy and how this should be applied, 
should be given significant weight in the decision making process 

 
Housing Supply 
 

4 The NPPF places great emphasis on the need to plan for and deliver new 
housing throughout the UK, and local planning authorities (LPAs) are required 
to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of 
homes. The responsibility of local planning authorities in supporting the 
Government’s ambitions include identifying and updating annually a supply of 
specific deliverable sites to provide five years’ worth of housing against their 
housing requirement. However, latest housing land monitoring for Trafford 
indicates a supply of only some 2.4 years. 

 
5 Policy L2 of the Core Strategy indicates that all new residential proposals will 

be assessed for the contribution that would be made to meeting the Borough’s 
housing needs. Whilst the proposal would only deliver one additional 
significant weight must be given to this, especially as it would be in a 
sustainable location close to local services and transport routes. 

 
6 The NPPF also requires policies and decisions to support development that 

makes efficient use of land. In this respect, the NPPF, at paragraph 118, gives 
substantial weight to the value of using suitable previously developed land 
within established locations to provide new homes. 

 
7 As the scheme provides only one dwelling it is below the national threshold 

requiring the provision of affordable housing. Given it would support housing 
and brownfield targets in an appropriate location weighs in its favour. In 
acknowledging that ‘the presumption in favour of sustainable development’ 
applies to this application, the significance of this benefit will be returned to in 
due course as part of the planning balance. 
 

Design and Impact on the Streetscene  
 

8 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality buildings 
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process 
should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities”. Paragraph 130 states that “Permission should be 
refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities 
available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions”. 
 

9 Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that in relation to matters of 
design, development must: 
• Be appropriate in its context; 
• Make best use of opportunities to improve the character and quality of an 
area; 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 134



• Enhance the street scene or character of the area by appropriately 
addressing scale, density, height, massing, layout, elevation treatment, 
materials, hard and soft landscaping works and boundary treatment. 
 

10 The proposed alterations to the appearance of the building would notably 
change the character and appearance of the existing building through the 
addition of a mansard roof. This alteration to the form roof would facilitate the 
provision of an additional one bedroom flat within the roofspace, along with 
space storage. Whilst the roof form and massing would be altered the overall 
height would remain the same as the existing and there would be no 
alterations to the footprint of the existing building. 
 

11 Whilst mansard roofs are not a feature within the immediate local area it is not 
considered the proposal would harm the character of the wider area or that 
the mansard roof would be overly dominant within the streetscene.   

 
12 The proposed dormers would introduce a new aspect but in the context of the 

overall design would be in proportion. Subject to final material specifications 
being agreed the dormers would be acceptable. The planning authority sought 
a minor amendment to remove the hipped roof element off the two larger 
dormers and replace with flat roof to provide consistency and a more coherent 
design approach.   
 

13 The proposed porch is modest in scale and will improve the overall entrance 
arrangement to the building.  It is noted that no objections are raised to this 
element of the scheme. The proposed stone window surrounds and cornice 
would need to be agreed by condition, this should be natural stone and 
indigenous to the local area. High quality finishes will be necessary to 
achieving a well-executed scheme.   

 
14 Having assessed the design, scale and appearance it is considered the 

proposal is in line with the NPPF and policy L7 of the Core Strategy. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 

15 Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that “In relation to matters of 
amenity protection, development must: Be compatible with the surrounding 
area; and not prejudice the amenity of the future occupiers of the 
development and / or occupants of adjacent properties by reason of 
overbearing, overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, noise and / or 
disturbance, odour or in any other way”.   
 

16 The Council’s adopted planning guidance for new residential development 
sets out minimum separation distances which will be sought in order to protect 
residential amenity. These are as follows: 

 

 21m between facing habitable room windows across public highways 
(increased by 3m for three or more storeys) 

 27m between facing habitable room windows across private gardens 
(increased by 3m for three or more storeys) 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 135



 15m between a main elevation with habitable room windows and a facing 
blank elevation 

 10.5m between habitable room windows and garden boundaries 
(increased by 3m for three or more storeys) 

 
17 The five dormers, two of which would directly serve the apartment look out 

across the access road towards the Ingleby Court.  The two windows serving 
the apartment would look out towards a bungalow at a distance of 
approximately 15 metres in line with existing windows in the apartment block. 
While this is below the recommended distance there are no directly opposing 
windows given the differential in height. In this regard the relationship would 
be acceptable.   
 

18 The applicant does not propose any additional rear or side facing windows 
with additional light and ventilation sought via proposed roof lights.  
 

19 The comments regarding potential impact from the construction phase are 
noted.  While accepted there will likely be some disturbance throughout the 
construction phase this will be relatively short.  Any construction will be 
expected to meet nationally set standards.   

 
20 In terms of future occupiers of the proposed apartment, the space provided is 

adequate and in accordance with the nationally set space standards with 
approximately 58m2 of internal space provided. The issue of external 
communal space is raised in the objections received.  While the garden space 
is modest it is considered sufficient for the proposed unit, along with the 
existing units.  In addition the site is less than a five minute walk from 
Longford Park which offers a large outdoor amenity and recreation space.  In 
this regard the amenity for existing and future residents is considered 
acceptable in accordance with policy L7 of the core strategy.   
 

Highway and Parking Matters 
 

21 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF notes that ‘Development should only be 
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe.’ 
 

22 Policy L4.6 of the Core Strategy states ‘The Council will protect and support 
the maintenance and improvement of the Strategic Road Network and the 
Primary and Local Highway Authority Network, to ensure they operate in a 
safe, efficient and environmentally sustainable manner.’  
 

23 The application proposes the creation of a one bed apartment.  The Council’s 
car parking standards, as set out in SPD3, require one parking space be 
provided to serve this, which is to be provided.   
 

24 The applicant was requested to provide a swept path analysis to show how 
cars exiting the existing garages would manoeuvre in light of the proposed 
surface parking space.  The LHA note in response to the detail provided “the 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 136



tracking drawing is not optimal especially phase 3. However, the scale, 
location and proposed development have been taken into consideration. The 
development is served off a private road (Ingleby Court) which offers on-street 
parking in the event of an overspill parking.” On this basis the layout is 
considered acceptable.  It should be noted that should the applicant seek to 
create any further dwelling(s) on site in the future this position would need to 
be revisited.   
 

25 It is recommended that should the application be approved, a condition be 
attached limiting the use of the created storage space as ancillary storage 
space in connection with the dwelling created as part of this proposal and for 
no other purpose.  This is required to ensure orderly development is achieved 
on site removing the potential for ancillary accommodation to be created 
which could result in negative highway (parking), along with amenity impacts. 

 
26 The site plan indicates cycle parking to the rear of the site along with 

refuse/recycling facilities.  It would be preferable to have these to the side of 
the building rather than in the communal open space.  Final details should be 
agreed and provided prior to first occupation of the proposed dwelling.   

 
27 The LHA have requested a condition be included as part of any approval 

requiring the four garages on site be retained for the sole use of the residents 
of 39-42 Ingleby Court for the life time of the development. However these 
units and garages are existing and therefore such a condition is not 
considered reasonable or enforceable. Should a future scheme to change the 
use or redevelop these garages come forward consideration of the parking 
impacts would then be considered.   

 
28 Having regard to all of the above the development is considered to be in 

accordance with Policy L4 of the Local Plan and the NPPF.   
 
    Ecology  

29 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) (As amended) 
and referred to as “the Regulations” hereafter is the statutory instrument that 
transposes EU Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats 
and wild fauna and flora (the habitats directive) into UK law.  This directive is 
the means by which the European Union meets its obligations under the Bern 
Convention, which is a binding international legal instrument signed in 1979.   
Under this legislation those most vulnerable and rare international species are 
protected and are listed under schedule 2 being termed “European Protected 
Species”. 
 

30   Regulation 9 - (3)  states that ‘Without prejudice to the preceding provisions, 
a competent authority, in exercising any of its functions, must have regard to 
the requirements of the Directives so far as they may be affected by the 
exercise of those functions.’ 

 
31 In terms of national policy, Paragraph 170 d) notes planning decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by…. d)  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 137



minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current 
and future pressures… 

 
32 Paragraph 175 of the NPPF notes that ‘when determining planning 

applications, local planning authorities should apply the following principles: 
if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be 
avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), 
adequately mitigated, or as a last resort, compensated for, then permission 
should be refused’.   
 

33 At a local level, Policy R2 notes ‘Where the council considers it necessary, in 
order to protect the natural environment, developers will be required to 
provide an appropriate ecological assessment report to enable the Council to 
properly assess and determine the merits or otherwise of the development 
proposal.’ 
 

34 The submitted bat surveys conclude that while there has been some bat 
emergence activity the building provides only occasional roosting 
opportunities for individual or low numbers of bats.  The GMEU find the 
surveys acceptable.  On the basis of the information provided a license will be 
required from Natural England.  Given the occasional nature of the roost the 
GMEU are satisfied that the nature conservation of the pipistrelle bat will not 
be impacted on by the proposed development. To ensure this the GMEU 
recommend a condition that the planning authority be provided with written 
confirmation that either a license has been issued by Natural England or a 
further report from the relevant licensing body that it does not consider a 
license is required in this instance.   

 
35 The application does not include any evidence that nesting birds have been 

found on site.  Notwithstanding, there are shrubs and trees which provide 
potential nesting opportunities.  Additionally, the GMEU conclude the 
submitted roof space photos indicate birds are at least accessing the roof 
space.  In this regard a condition should be attached restricting the 
commencement of clearance and shrub/tree removal between 1st March and 
31st August in any year unless a detailed bird nesting survey by a suitably 
experienced ecologist has been carried out.  

 
36 Finally, to contribute to enhancing the natural environment in line with the 

NPPF it is recommended that bird nesting and bat roosting opportunities be 
incorporated into the new roof.   
 

37 Having regard for the above it is considered that the potential impacts on bats 
and birds identified can be satisfactorily mitigated by condition and further 
enhancement can be achieved.    The development is therefore considered to 
accord with policy R2 of the Core Strategy, the NPPF and The Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) (As amended).   

 
Other Matters  
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 138



38 Other objector concerns include, damage to existing building fabric, asbestos 
removal, negative impact on property value and rising insurance costs.  These 
matters are not material planning considerations.   
 

39 Any concerns regarding the building fabric will be covered by building 
regulations which the developer must adhere to where relevant.  As part of 
this, the removal of any hazardous materials such as asbestos will be the 
developer/contractor’s responsibility. 

 
40 The comments regarding drainage are noted, however as there are no 

alterations to the footprint the proposal is not considered to change the 
existing surface drainage. Any changes to the drainage system (downpipes) 
on the existing building would be minimal and would be considered through 
Building Regulations.  

 
Planning balance and conclusion  
 

41 Consideration has been given to all comments received on the proposal, in 
light of the adopted policies within the Council’s Development Plan. The 
proposed alterations to the existing building and creation of an additional 
apartment are considered appropriate given its location in an established 
residential area. The proposed external alterations are considered to be of an 
appropriate design and scale and any increase in vehicular movements, 
would be relatively minor. Coupled to this the site is in a sustainable location 
with good links to public transport and cycling being a realistic option. Through 
the implementation of appropriate conditions, the proposal is considered to 
have an acceptable impact on the building design, amenity of future and 
existing residents and highway safety. As such the proposal is considered to 
be compliant with Policies L4, L7 and W2 of the Trafford Core Strategy. 
 

42 In respect of the Paragraph 11 tests, the benefits of the scheme, namely 
contributing to housing need, significantly and demonstrably outweighs the 
increased impacts on the built environment, which are not considered 
significantly adverse. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires development 
proposals that accord with the development plan to be permitted without 
delay. The application is therefore recommended for approval subject to 
appropriately worded conditions being attached to a grant of permission.  The 
application is therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions.  

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the 

date of this permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans: amended elevations, 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 139



received by the local planning authority on 31st August 2020, bin store elevations 
and amended site plan, received by the local planning authority on 5th August 
2020, amended floor plans, received by the local planning authority on 22nd May 
2020 and Location Plan and Block Plan, received by the local planning authority 
on 12th May 2020.  
 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. No development involving the use of materials to be used in the construction of 

the external surfaces of the building hereby permitted (including rainwater goods 
and joinery details of windows and doors) shall take place until details of the 
materials have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory external appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity, having regard to Policy L7 and R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4. The development shall not be occupied until the approved bin stores, which shall 

include accommodation for separate recycling receptacles for paper, glass and 
cans in addition to other household waste, have been completed and made 
available for use and shall be retained thereafter.   
 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made for refuse and recycling 
storage facilities at the design stage of the development, having regard to Policy 
L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the approved car 

parking and cycle storage scheme has been constructed and is ready for first use 
and shall be retained thereafter.  

 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory cycle [and motorcycle] parking provision is 
made in the interests of promoting sustainable development, having regard to 
Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's adopted 
Supplementary Planning Document 3: Parking Standards and Design, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

6. The second floor storage space permitted as part of this development shall not 
be used for any purpose other than as ancillary storage in connection with 
existing and approved apartments and shall not form a separate residential unit.   

 
Reason: To ensure adequate garaging/off street parking provision is retained 
and thereby avoid the harm to amenity, safety or convenience caused by on 
street parking, having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, 
and Supplementary Planning Document3: Parking Standards and Design and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 140



7. No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for (or during the course of) 
development or conversion/demolition works shall take place during the bird 
nesting season (1st March-31st August inclusive) unless an ecological survey 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to 
establish whether the site is utilised for bird nesting. Should the survey reveal the 
presence of any nesting species, then no development shall take place during the 
period specified above unless a mitigation strategy has first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which provides for the 
protection of nesting birds during the period of works on site. The mitigation 
strategy shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds having 
regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

8. The development shall not in any circumstances take placee unless and until the 
local planning authority has been provided with either: 
 
a) a license issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 55, of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 authorising the specified 
activity/development go ahead: or 
b) a statement in writing form the relevant licensing body to the effect that it does 
not consider that the specified development will require a license 
 
Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to roosting bats having 
regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

9. Prior to any works to the roof taking place the applicant shall submit to the 
planning authority, for agreement in writing a scheme of bird nesting and bat 
roosting opportunities which shall be integrated into the roof design and remain in 
place for the life time of the development.    
 
Reason: In order to mitigate disturbance and enhance the local natural 
environment having regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 141



���

2

9

97

37
38

94

95

105

102

112

Rylands Hall

111

IN
G

L
E

B
Y

 C
O

U
R

T

Ingleby Court

TCB
26.2m

1 to 36

Lodge

Nursery

Shelters

The Hawthorns

El Sub Sta

Rylands Hall 2

TCB

1

42
39 41

40

etford Grammar School

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

101371/FUL/20

39 - 42 Ingleby Court, Stretford  (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date 15/10/2020

Trafford Council

06/10/2020

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 142



 

 
 

WARD: Davyhulme East 
 

101460/HHA/20 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Erection of a first floor side extension, with a new pitched roof to 
the existing porch and garage projection. 

 
1 Lichfield Road, Davyhulme, M41 0RU 
 

APPLICANT:  N/A 
AGENT:    

RECOMMENDATION:  REFUSE  
 
This application has been called in by Councillor Dillon on the grounds that it 
would be unreasonable to withhold the granting of planning permission by 
reason of the effect on the street scene and the living conditions of the residents 
of neighbouring properties. 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to a two storey semi-detached property located on the western 
side of Lichfield Road, close to its southern junction with Canterbury Road and thereby 
sited at right angles to its immediate neighbours 135, 137 and 139 Canterbury Road 
which have their rear boundaries sharing its southern side boundary. Another 
neighbouring property, 133 Canterbury Road, shares part of its eastern side boundary 
with the rear boundary of the application site. 
 
The application property itself is a 1930’s semi-detached dwelling that is two storeys in 
height, with a hipped roof and a two storey canted bay and associated apex roof design 
to its principal elevation. The property has been extended via a flat roof single storey 
front, side and rear extension that forms part of the rear boundary shared with Nos.137 
and 139 Canterbury Road. 
 
The rear boundaries of the properties to the south along Canterbury Road that back 
onto the application site are not parallel to their rear elevations. No. 137 Canterbury 
Road has a conservatory to its rear. No. 139 Canterbury Road has a brick built single 
storey extension with habitable room windows facing towards the application site with a 
projection of 3.2m, retaining 9.5m to the southern boundary of 1 Lichfield Road.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The proposal comprises the erection of a first floor side extension directly above an 
existing single storey side extension to create a fourth bedroom and associated ensuite 
towards its rear. It would be on the southern side of the dwelling, with a recessed front 
elevation of 0.3m from the front main corner, and the proposed rear elevation being 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 143



 

 
 

aligned with the main rear wall of the property. The width of the extension would be 
2.5m and its side wall would form 7m of the common boundary with both Nos. 137 and 
139 Canterbury Rd with it being centrally placed against the common boundary 
between these two neighbours. An existing single storey flat roof rear extension across 
the full width of the application property would remain, with a depth of 1.7m. The 
existing single storey front projection would be retained and a pitched roof provided 
above the existing flat roof. 
  
The eaves height of the first floor extension would be 4.6m with a hipped roof design 
and roof pitch to match the host building. The extension’s ridge would be set below the 
main roof ridge by 0.1m. The development would be constructed in similar materials to 
the existing dwelling and a bay window is proposed within the principal elevation to an 
additional bedroom; whilst an ensuite window is proposed within the rear elevation.  
 
The increase in floor space of the proposed development would be less than 100m2. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L7 - Design  
 
For the purpose of the determination of this planning application, this policy is 
considered ‘up to date’ in NPPF Paragraph 11 terms. 
 
OTHER POLICY DOCUMENTS 
SPD4 – A Guide for Designing House Extensions & Alterations (February 2012). 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
None 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
None 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 144



 

 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016, and a further period of consultation on the revised draft ended on 18 
March 2019. A Draft Plan will be published for consultation in Autumn 2020 before it is 
submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination. The weight to be given 
to the GMSF as a material consideration will normally be limited given that it is currently 
at an early stage of the adoption process. Where it is considered that a different 
approach should be taken, this will be specifically identified in the report. If the GMSF is 
not referenced in the report, it is either not relevant, or carries so little weight in this 
particular case that it can be disregarded. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The MHCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 19 February 
2019.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
DCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014 and was 
last updated on 01 October 2019. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the 
report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
1 Lichfield Road 
99090/HHA/19 - Erection of a first floor side and rear extension, with a new pitched roof 
to the existing porch and garage projection. Withdrawn December 2019. 
 
H09126 - Erection of extension to garage. New front porch and conversion of existing 
outbuilding to dining room. Approved March 1979. 
 
139 Canterbury Road 
H/59140 - Erection of a single storey side extension to create garage and additional 
living accommodation. Approved May 2004. 
 
135 Canterbury Road 
H45664 - Erection of single storey side and rear extension for garage and additional 
living accommodation. Approved June 1998 
 
133 Canterbury Road 
H15661 - Demolition of garage and wash house & erection of extension to form new 
garage and extension to kitchen. Approved January 1982. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 145



 

 
 

APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
None. 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
None 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Councillor Dillon has called in the application on the grounds that “it would be 
unreasonable to withhold the granting of planning permission by reason of the effect on 
the street scene and the living conditions of the residents of neighbouring properties. It 
is therefore respectfully requested that planning officers recommend that this planning 
application be approved”. 
 
The application was advertised by way of neighbour notification letters. 5 no. letters of 
objection from 4 no. different addresses have been received. The main points raised are 
as follows: 
 

 The view from the rear kitchen and conservatory will be a high brick wall and 
neighbours would feel hemmed in by the extension. 

 Impact of noise, pollution, traffic and parking issues as a result of building works. 

 The original application (withdrawn) was only 0.3m longer than the currently 
proposed scheme and the proposal has therefore not “significantly reduced”. The 
overall size has not been altered when viewed from neighbouring properties 
where they would look out onto a large gable wall. 

 Only one of the 14 properties within the neighbourhood as stated within the 
submission has a double height extension which was only actually approved for a 
single storey extension, nonetheless has a separation distance of 1m more than 
this proposal and is not on the boundary line. 

 The eaves and gutters will cross the boundary line and overhang adjacent 
property. 

 Room above the garage would overlook neighbouring living room, main bedroom 
and box room. 

 Extension would cause overbearing, overshadowing and visual intrusion to 
properties along Canterbury Road. 

 Off street parking is already a problem in Lichfield Road and the proposed 
development would potentially create the need for 4no. parking spaces which 
would add to the ongoing issue. 

 Reduction in spaciousness between properties. 

  All first-floor extensions that have been built above a garage on Lichfield Road 
are set back from the front face of the dwelling; and the ridge lines on these are 
much smaller and therefore not as prominent.  

 Less light especially in the later months when the sun is at a lower position.  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 146



 

 
 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 

1. The proposal is for an extension to an existing residential property within a built 
up area and therefore extensions and alterations are acceptable subject to there 
being no harm to the character and appearance of the property through 
unsympathetic design or harm to the amenity of neighbouring properties and 
residential areas. The proposed development needs to be assessed against the 
requirements and limitations of Policy L7 of Trafford’s Core Strategy.   

 
DESIGN AND APPEARANCE 

 
2.  Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality buildings 

and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities.” Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that “Permission should be 
refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities 
available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions.” 
 

3. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in considering applications for 
development within the Borough, the Council will determine whether or not the 
proposed development meets the standards set in national guidelines and the 
requirements of Policy L7. The relevant extracts of Policy L7 require that 
development is appropriate in its context; makes best use of opportunities to 
improve the character and quality of an area by appropriately addressing scale, 
density, height, layout, elevation treatment, materials, landscaping; and is 
compatible with the surrounding area. 

 
4. SPD 4: A Guide for Designing House Extensions and Alterations requires 

extensions to reflect the character, scale and form of the original dwelling by 
matching and harmonising with the existing architectural style and detailing and 
the SPD sets out specific guidance in order that proposals can successfully do 
this.   

 
5. With regard to the design of side extensions, SPD4 sets out the following 

relevant guidance: 
 

3.1.2. Proposals for two storey side extensions or first floor additions will 
normally be acceptable with regard to the following:  

- Extensions should be in keeping with the prevailing pattern of residential 
development and should not erode the amount of space surrounding the 
dwelling.  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 147



 

 
 

- A gap of a minimum of 1m should be retained between the side elevation 
of an extended property and its side boundary, to retain the impression of 
space to the side of the dwelling. This is particularly important within a row 
of closely spaced detached or semi-detached houses.  

- Extensions should not be taller than the existing property or extend above 
the main ridge line of the property.  

- The eaves level of the extension should correspond with the original 
house.  

 

6. The application site is perpendicular to properties along Canterbury Road and 
therefore, in this case, whilst the above guidelines state that a gap of a minimum 
of 1m should normally be retained to the side boundary, it is considered that the 
proposed development would not have a harmful impact on the spaciousness of 
the area or result in a terracing effect, due to the fact that it would be sited 
adjacent to the rear gardens of these neighbouring properties rather than 
adjacent to other built development.  

 
7. The eaves and roof design of the development would match the existing property 

and would not appear over-dominant or incongruous in relation to this. The 
extension is proposed in matching materials and the fenestration on the principal 
elevation would incorporate a bay window that would reflect the character of the 
canted bay windows of the existing property without unduly competing with these 
features. The proposed rear facing ensuite bathroom window would also be sited 
within an appropriate position without being over dominant as a design feature.  

 
8. As the proposed extension would be to the side of the existing property and close 

to the southern junction of Lichfield Road and Canterbury Road, it would be 
prominent within the street scene, with a range of views available along both of 
these roads and across the junction. However, it is considered that, given the 
12.5m separation distance as measured along the common boundary between 
Nos. 137 and 139 Canterbury Road and the southern elevation of the proposed 
development, it would not be unduly dominant within the streetscene and would 
not have an unacceptable impact upon the spaciousness of the surrounding 
area. The siting of the extension would also retain sufficient space towards its 
rear. 

  
9. It is therefore considered that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of 

design and visual amenity and would comply with Policy L7 of the adopted Core 
Strategy and guidance in the NPPF in terms of its design and general 
appearance.  

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY   

 
10. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in relation to matters of amenity 

development must be compatible with the surrounding area; and not prejudice 
the amenity of future occupiers of the development and/or occupants of adjacent 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 148



 

 
 

properties by reason of overbearing, overshadowing, overlooking, visual 
intrusion, noise and/or disturbance, odour or in any other way.  
 

11. Guidance contained within SPD4 states it is important that extensions or 
alterations do not impact adversely upon neighbour amenity. The relevant 
sections of SPD4 are included below for clarity: 
  

2.14. Protecting neighbouring amenity  
2.14.1. The Council will seek to protect the amenities of neighbouring occupiers 
and ensure that any domestic alteration does not have an adverse overlooking, 
loss of light or overbearing impact on neighbouring properties.  
 
2.14.2. It is important that extensions or alterations:  

 - Do not adversely overlook neighbouring windows and/or private gardens 
areas.  

- Do not cause a significant loss of light to windows in neighbouring 
properties and/or their patio and garden areas.  

- Are not sited so as to have an overbearing impact on neighbouring amenity.  
 
2.18. Private garden areas  
2.18.1. The protection of neighbours’ garden areas from adverse overlooking, 

overshadowing and overbearing impacts is important in relation to well-
used garden areas, such as sitting out areas. 

 

2.16. Loss of light  
2.16.1. An extension positioned too close to a boundary, may cause a loss of 

sunlight and/or daylight to a neighbour’s window or garden. An extension 
that would overshadow your neighbour to an unreasonable extent would 
not be considered acceptable. Care should be taken that the extension is 
not positioned in such a way as to cause unreasonable overshadowing to 
a neighbouring house or a well-used part of a garden, e.g. siting a tall wall 
in close proximity to a boundary.  

 

2.17. Overbearing  
2.17.1. In addition to the above, positioning an extension too close to a 

neighbouring boundary can result in an uncomfortable sense of enclosure 
for the neighbouring property. A large expanse of brickwork can be 
overbearing to the amenities of a neighbouring property. Windows and 
gardens of neighbouring properties will be protected from undue 
overbearing. The maintenance of adequate separation distances may help 
to avoid overbearing relationships between properties.  

 
2.17.2. The factors that may be taken into account when assessing a potential 

loss of light or overbearing impact include: 
  

 The size, position and design of the extension  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 149



 

 
 

 Orientation of the property  

 Presence of other habitable room windows/sources of light in 
neighbouring rooms  

 Relative position of neighbouring houses and existing relationship  

 Size of the garden  

 Character of the surrounding area  
 

2.17.3. For two storey side extensions with a blank gable wall that would face a 
neighbouring main habitable room window, a 15m minimum separation 
distance would be required. However, there may be exceptions and every 
application will be considered on its own merits having regard to:  

 

 The size of the extension  

 Its relationship with the affected window(s) including orientation  

 Its impact on the spaciousness of the area  
 

12. The proposed development would have a depth of 7m and would be centrally 
positioned in relation to the common boundary between Nos. 137 and 139 
Canterbury Road to the south. A separation distance of 12.45m would be 
retained between the main rear elevations of these properties and the 
side/southern elevation of the proposed extension. This distance would reduce 
by 3.2m when measured from the single storey rear extension of No.139 
Canterbury Road. Therefore, the separation distance between the single storey 
rear extension to the rear of No.139 Canterbury Road and the two storey gable 
wall of the proposed development would be reduced to 9.25m and even less 
regarding the conservatory to the rear of No.137 due to the common boundary 
not being parallel to the proposed development. In relation to the recommended 
15m minimum separation distance referred to within section 2.17.3 of SPD4 to 
maintain a reasonable standard of outlook and amenity for neighbouring 
residents, there would be a substantial shortfall of 5.75m in relation to the 
extension at No. 139 and 2.55m relating to the main rear wall of both 137 and 
139 Canterbury Road. 
 

13. It is recognised that the proposed development would be positioned to the north 
of Nos. 137 and 139 and therefore would not result in loss of direct sunlight to 
these properties. It is nevertheless considered that the side elevation of the 
proposed development would be visually intrusive, overbearing and over-
dominant when viewed from within ground floor and first floor rear facing 
windows and the rear amenity space of these neighbouring properties, 
regardless of their orientation. Being centrally located between these neighbours, 
there would be no visual relief from the scale of development which would be a 
large mass of brickwork as viewed from the rear windows and gardens of these 
adjoining dwellings and, as a consequence, it is considered that the proposed 
extension would have a harmful impact upon the amenity of the occupiers of 
these properties. 

  

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 150



 

 
 

14. The proposed development would incorporate a glazed window within the rear 
elevation which would relate to an ensuite and would be positioned no further to 
the rear than the existing first floor windows. It is therefore considered that this 
would not result in any undue overlooking of neighbouring properties  

 
15. Due to the siting of No.135 Canterbury Road to the south west of the application 

site, it is considered that the proposed development would not harm the 
occupiers of that property due to its siting and juxtaposition.  

 
16. In conclusion, it is considered that the proposed extension would have an 

overbearing and visually intrusive impact on the rear windows and rear gardens 
of the neighbouring properties at Nos 137 and 139 Canterbury Road. As such, 
the proposed development would not comply with the guidance recommended 
within SPD4, Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and relevant paragraphs 
within the NPPF. 

 
PARKING PROVISION 
 

17. The proposal would not reduce the depth of the existing driveway which can 
currently accommodate two vehicles in addition to a parking space provided 
within the attached garage. The existing provision would be retained and there is 
some scope for on street car parking in addition to this in the vicinity. Therefore, it 
is considered that this level of parking provision would be acceptable. 
  
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

18. The proposal is for less than 100 square metres and would not therefore be liable 
for the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 
 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

19.  It is considered that the proposed extension would not cause harm to the 
character and spaciousness of the streetscene; and the design and appearance 
of the development itself is considered to be acceptable. However, the   
separation distance between the proposed two storey side elevation of the 
extension and the main rear elevations of Nos.139 and 137 Canterbury Road 
would be significantly less than the SPD4 guideline. This would be further 
reduced when the single storey rear projections of both Nos.137 and 139 
Canterbury Road are taken into account and it is considered that this would have 
an unacceptable overbearing impact on these properties when viewed from their 
rear windows and rear garden areas.  
 

20.  As such, the proposal would fail to comply with Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning Document 4: A 
Guide for Designing House Extensions and Alterations and guidance in the 
NPPF. It is therefore recommended that planning permission should be refused. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 151



 

 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
REFUSE for the following reason:- 
 
1. The proposed first floor side extension, by reason of its size, scale, height, 

massing and proximity to the common boundaries with both Nos. 137 and 139 
Canterbury Road, would result in an unacceptable overbearing impact and   
undue visually intrusion when viewed from the rear windows and rear gardens 
of these properties. The proposal would therefore have a detrimental impact 
on the amenity that the occupiers of these dwellings could reasonably expect 
to enjoy.  As such, the proposal would be contrary to Policy L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy, relevant paragraphs of the NPPF and the Council's 
Supplementary Planning Document SPD4: A Guide for Designing House 
Extensions & Alterations. 

 
 
GD 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 152



2

1

16

17

15

12

24

36
40

43

20

22

19

13

21

23

27

11

El

129
153

127

138

151

150

141139

134132

11
a

117
W

IM
B

O
R

N
E

 A
V

E
N

U
E

B
E

V
E

R
L

E
Y

 A
V

E
N

U
E

16

12

2

11

1615

1

1

2

12 11

C
H

F
IE

L
D

 R
O

A
D

Sub Sta

17

1

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

101460/HHA/20

1 Lichfield Road, Davyhulme (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date 15/10/2020

Trafford Council

06/10/2020

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 153



 

 
 

WARD: Flixton 
 

101467/HHA/20 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Erection of a two storey side and rear extension and single storey 
front extension. 

 
321 Moorside Road, Flixton, M41 5PA 
 

APPLICANT:  Mr Rowe 
AGENT:    

RECOMMENDATION:  REFUSE  
 
 
The application is being reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee because six or more letters of support have been received, contrary to 
the officer recommendation of refusal. In addition to this, the application was also 
called in by Councillors Proctor and Thomas. 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to a two storey semi-detached dwelling house, located on the 
south side of Moorside Road. Trevor Road runs along the eastern edge of the plot. 
Residential land uses surrounded the east, south and west of the dwelling, with a golf 
course opposite. Due to the angle of the junction of Trevor Road and Moorisde Road, 
the plot increases in width to the south. 
 
The front and eastern side plot boundary is demarcated by a low brick wall and 
hedgerow. The rear and western side plot boundary is demarcated by a mixture of low 
brick wall with 1.8m close boarded fencing above, and close boarded fencing.  
 
The existing dwelling house has a single storey outrigger located at the rear, with a 
lean-to extension extending to the side of it. 
 
The front garden has been part laid to hardstanding to provide off road parking. There is 
also a driveway at the rear of the plot, with access from Trevor Road. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The single storey outrigger and lean-to side extension are proposed to be demolished. 
 
A new window is proposed on the newly ‘made good’ rear elevation following demolition 
of the outrigger. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 154



 

 
 

A two storey side extension, projecting beyond the main dwelling house rear elevation 
and set back from the main dwelling front elevation, is proposed. A hipped roof is 
proposed, sitting below that of the main dwelling house, to two separate ridge heights. 
The proposed eaves height would be consistent with the main dwelling house. Two 
windows, one at first floor and one at ground floor are proposed in the front and rear 
elevations of the extension. A ground floor side facing window and door are proposed.  
 
A front porch is proposed sited around the existing front door. A pitched roof is 
proposed.  
 
All materials are proposed to match the existing.  
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L7 – Design  
 
For the purpose of the determination of this planning application, these policies are 
considered ‘up to date’ in NPPF Paragraph 11 terms with the exception of maximum 
parking standards in L4. 
 
OTHER LOCAL POLICY DOCUMENTS  
SPD3 – Parking and Design 
SPD4 – A Guide for Designing House Extensions and Alterations 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Critical Drainage Area 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
None 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 155



 

 
 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The MHCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on the 19th 
February 2019.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
MHCLG published the National Planning Practice Guidance on the 6th March 2014, and 
is updated regularly. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 
 
The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework is a joint Development Plan Document 
being produced by each of the ten Greater Manchester districts and, once adopted, will 
be the overarching development plan for all ten districts, setting the framework for 
individual district local plans. The first consultation draft of the GMSF was published on 
31 October 2016, and a further period of consultation on the revised draft ended on 18 
March 2019. A Draft Plan will be published for consultation in summer 2020 before it is 
submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination. The weight to be given 
to the GMSF as a material consideration will normally be limited given that it is currently 
at an early stage of the adoption process. Where it is considered that a different 
approach should be taken, this will be specifically identified in the report. If the GMSF is 
not referenced in the report, it is either not relevant, or carries so little weight in this 
particular case that it can be disregarded. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
99421/HHA/19. Erection of a two storey side and single storey front extension. 
Withdrawn 21/01/2020.  
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
Plans, Application Form and Planning Statement.  

CONSULTATIONS 
 
None. 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

8 representations from neighbouring properties have been received in support of the 
application. All representations focus on there being no perceived harm to the street 
scene, amenity, visual appearance of the area, etc. These issues will be assessed in 
the corresponding subsections of the Observations section of the report. 2 elected 
Councillors have also expressed support for the application, stating that the plans will 
enhance the appearance of the streetscene and that there are numerous much larger 
extensions in the vicinity. 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 156



 

 
 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
Principle of Development 

 

1. The application relates to a residential extension within a predominantly 

residential area. Therefore, the development should be assessed against the 

requirements of Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy in relation to amenity 

impacts and the design and appearance of the proposal. The proposal would 

increase the proposed number of bedrooms, so should also be assessed against 

the requirements of Policy L4 of the Trafford Core Strategy. 

 
Design and Appearance  

 

2. National guidance requires all development be of good design. Policy L7 of the 

Trafford Core Strategy requires development take inspiration from, enhance and 

protect the character and appearance of the host dwelling and wider area. SPD4 

lays our specific requirements that most householder developments should 

adhere to in order to achieve this. 

 

3. The proposed front porch adheres to all the guidance as laid out within the SPD, 

complying with the overall aims of Policy L7 and national guidance. The scale, 

massing and bulk of this element would be proportionate to the dwelling house; 

the roof would be pitched; and materials would match existing finishes. The 

construction of the porch would result in no harm to the design and appearance 

of the host dwelling or street scene.  

 

4. In terms of the proposed side extension, the front elevation would be set back 

from that of the dwelling house; the proposed eaves height would match that of 

the original dwelling house with ridge heights set below; the width would be less 

than half of the original dwelling house, windows would be appropriately scaled 

and sited; and materials would match the existing finish.  

 

5. However, No. 321 Moorside Road is also sited on a corner. As such, section  ‘3.3 
Corner Properties’ of SPD4  lays out the requirements for corner properties as 
follows: 

 
6. 3.3.1 Extensions on corner properties, between the side of the house and the 

road, can appear unduly prominent and obtrusive, particularly if they come 
forward of the general line of the fronts of neighbouring properties. Extensions in 
these locations should not be visually over-dominating or disrupt the sense of 
openness between the properties and the street scene. 
 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 157



 

 
 

7. 3.3.2. Each case must be considered individually, however a proposal is more 
likely to be acceptable if:  
- There is plenty of space between the property and the back of the pavement on 
the road and the extension only takes up a small proportion of this space, which 
in most cases will not be more than 50% of the garden  
- The proposal is in keeping with the building line and does not appear over-
dominant in the street scene  
- There is sufficient space left between the extended property and the back of the 
pavement to maintain the character of the surrounding area  
- If the extension is set back from the front corner of the house  
- If the extension is single storey rather than two storey  
- The design of the proposal helps to minimize the visual impact on the street 
scene  
 

8. 3.3.3. As well as satisfying the above criteria, generally, a minimum separation 
distance of 2m must be maintained between the edge of any single storey 
extension and the site boundary. These minimum separation distances may need 
to be exceeded however for two storey extensions or to safeguard the prevailing 
spacious character, and in any case will take into account the building line and 
extent of side garden remaining. 

 
9. The proposed extension would conflict with the majority of these guidelines – 

with the exception being the fact that it would be set back from the front corner of 
the house. The proposed side elevation would be sited between 1.1m and 3.4m 
from the side plot boundary facing Trevor Road. Although a portion of the 
development would be over 2m back from the plot boundary, a significant 
proportion (2.85m of the entire depth of the side extension) would not. Moreover, 
the extension would be projecting towards this boundary at two storeys, 
exacerbating the visual impact of this shortfall and it is considered that a further 
set back beyond the minimum 2m from the boundary would be required in order 
for the extension to be in keeping with the character of the area. The point at 
which the extension would be only 1.1m from the side road would be at the front 
of the extension, closest to the junction of Moorside Road and Trevor Road and 
the proposed extension would therefore appear over-dominant and obtrusive in 
the street scene at this prominent location. The side elevation would also feature 
limited points of architectural interest, or detailing, with only a single door and 
window at ground floor to break up a large two storey plain brick elevation. In 
addition, the extension would project beyond the existing rear elevation, 
increasing the scale and massing of the proposal.   
 

10. It is recognised that the site does increase in width to the rear with the side 
boundary splaying out to the east and that there would therefore be a wider gap 
at the rear of the site. However, it is considered that this would not overcome the 
harm to the street scene identified above. 

 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 158



 

 
 

11. Additionally, the extension would also step forward of the adjacent Trevor Road 
main building line. Although it is noted that the two storey side elevation of the 
original dwelling house already steps forward of this visual line, at present this is 
limited to the depth of the original dwelling house, with the conflicting portion of 
the house having a width of 0.35m at the rear elevation increasing to a width of 
3.2m at the front elevation. The proposed extension would project 3m forward of 
the building line and would increase the depth of the dwelling house stepping 
forward of the building line by 2m.  It is considered  that the fact that the existing 
building already steps forward beyond the Trevor Road building line does not 
justify this additional projection but only serves to emphasise how dominant the 
proposed extension would be. 

 
12.  It is therefore considered that the proposed development would appear unduly 

cramped and out of keeping with the spacious character of the area. The 
extension would be visually over-dominant and obtrusive and would disrupt the 
sense of openness within the street scene. Therefore, it is considered that the 
development would have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance 
of the street scene and the surrounding area and would fail to comply with Policy 
L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and guidance in the NPPF in relation to good 
design.  

 
Amenity Impacts 

 

13. National Guidance and Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy require 

development to result in no detrimental amenity impacts. As the development 

relates to a residential extension within a predominantly residential area the key 

amenity considerations are overlooking, overshadowing and overbearing.  SPD4 

lays out specific tests and requirements that development should adhere to in 

order to ensure amenity is safeguarded. 

 
Golf Course 
 

14. The proposed front elevation of the two storey extension would be set 
considerably behind the front elevation of the original dwelling house and would 
face towards the golf course, ensuring no negative amenity impacts.  

 
15. The proposed front porch, owing to its overall scale and massing would not result 

in any amenity concerns.  
 
No. 319 Moorside Road 
 

16. At their closest points (front elevation corners) the two storey extension would 
have a separation distance of 17.3m to the neighbouring property on the 
opposite side of the junction. Neither elevation would feature primary windows to 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 159



 

 
 

habitable bedrooms.  The extension would result in no undue amenity impacts to 
this neighbour.  

 
No. 91 Trevor Road 
 

17. There would be a separation distance between the two storey extension and the 
neighbouring plot boundary of 13.9m and to the neighbouring side elevation of 
16m. The extension would result in no undue amenity impacts to this neighbour.  

 
No. 323 Moorisde Road 
 

18. The two storey extension would have a set back from the rear building line of 2m 
and would be set 5.7m away from the plot boundary. The front porch would have 
a depth of 1m and be set 3.5m away from the plot boundary. The extensions 
would result in no undue amenity impacts to this neighbour.  

 
Conclusion  
 

19. The proposed development would not result in any unacceptable amenity 
impacts on any neighbouring properties, complying with the tests set out within 
SPD4, and the overall aims of Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and 
national guidance in terms of impact on residential amenity.  

 
Parking 
 

20. The proposed extension would increase the number of bedrooms from three to 
four. SPD3 sets out a maximum parking requirement of three spaces for a four 
bedroom house. One parking space is located at the rear of the plot and, 
although off road parking is restricted along parts of Moorside Road (including 
directly outside the application site), there is unrestricted kerbside parking 
available on Trevor Road (including next to the rear garden of the application 
site).  

 
21. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would be acceptable 

in terms of parking provision.  
 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

22. The total additional floor space proposed is approximately 30.40sqm, which at 
less than 100sqm is not subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

23. The proposed development would result in no harm to neighbouring amenity and 
would be acceptable in terms of parking provision, in line with the relevant 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 160



 

 
 

elements of Polices L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and national 
guidance in these respects.  

 
24. However, due to its height, scale, massing, design and proximity to the side 

boundary with Trevor Road, it is considered that the proposed extension would 
result in a cramped and over-dominant form of development that would be out of 
keeping with the spacious character of the area.  Therefore, it is considered that 
the development would have a detrimental impact on the character and visual 
appearance of the street scene and the surrounding area, and would fail to 
comply with Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and guidance in the NPPF 
relating to good design.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE for the following reason: 
 
 

1. The proposed development, by reason of its height, scale, massing, design and 
proximity to the side boundary with Trevor Road, would result in a cramped and 
over-dominant form of development that would be out of keeping with the 
spacious character of the street scene and the surrounding area.  As such, the 
proposed development would have a detrimental impact on the character and 
visual appearance of the street scene and the surrounding area and would fail to 
comply with Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and guidance in the NPPF 
relating to good design.  

 
 
 
 
SM 

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 161



���

���

1

82

9

84

91

74

80

96

82

73
69

81

62
58

10

20.7m

317 313

304

333

296

331

319

339

302

311

304a

302a

T
R

E
V

O
R

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
D

A
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

Flixton Infant School

Track

21.1m

T
H

E
 F

O
L

D

80

1

2

1

321

Laneheads Allotm

Allotme
Lanehea

V
E

N
U

E

69

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

101467/HHA/20

321 Moorside Road, Flixton (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date 15/10/2020

Trafford Council

06/10/2020

100023172 (2012)

Planning Committee 15th October 2020 162


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	Agenda Item 3 - Minutes 24th September 2020

	6 PLANNING OBLIGATIONS: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS TOWARDS THE CARRINGTON RELIEF ROAD
	7 APPLICATION FOR OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION 100400/OUT/20 - FORMER B&Q SITE, GREAT STONE ROAD, STRETFORD M32 0YP
	Agenda Item 7 - Former B&Q Site Location Plan

	8 APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP ETC
	Agenda Item - Applications for permission to develop etc
	100270D
	100270P
	100835D
	100835P
	101019D
	101019P
	101192D
	101192P
	101371D
	101371P
	101460D
	101460P
	101467D
	101467P





